This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Identifying patterns of healthcare use and exploring indicators of quality of care among people with dementia nearing the end of life using routine data

Yorganci, Emel

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Identifying patterns of healthcare use and exploring indicators of quality of care among people with dementia nearing the end of life using routine data

A thesis incorporating publications submitted to King's College London for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

February 2024

Emel Yorgancı

Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, Policy and Rehabilitation, Florence Nightingale Faculty of Nursing, Midwifery & Palliative Care, King's College London

Supervised by:

Professor Katherine E. Sleeman

Professor Robert Stewart

Professor Elizabeth L. Sampson

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author, and no quotation or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

Lay summary

Lay summary

People with dementia can use many healthcare services during their lives after diagnosis. However, healthcare services for people with dementia can be expensive, bring them little benefit, and not be what they would choose. If we want to improve the quality of care for the growing number of people with dementia, we need to develop a better understanding of how people use multiple services.

There are elements of care that we can measure to help us understand how good the care we are providing to a group of people is. These measures are called 'quality Indicators'. Quality indicators can help healthcare staff and planners understand the quality of the care delivered, compared to the recommended good practice. Based on existing scientific evidence, I found 71 quality indicators that we can collect from the regular electronic information we have about people living in different care settings (e.g., home or hospital). For example, if a lot of people with dementia have unplanned admissions to hospital or intensive care towards the end of their lives, that is an indication of poor quality of care. Looking at the services people with dementia have used will help us understand how to improve the quality of care we offer.

This thesis aims at identifying and describing patterns of healthcare use; and investigate indicators of quality of care that people experience when they are near the end of life.

The thesis comprised of three parts:

- i. I first looked at how patterns of unplanned hospital admissions change among people with dementia between the time they are diagnosed and when they die. I found that among 19,221 people with dementia, rates of unplanned hospital admissions were relatively low and steady after the diagnosis but increased steeply as they got near death. For example, people with dementia spent on average 20% of their last six months of life in hospital.
- ii. I next explored trends in intensive care use among people with dementia. This study showed that of 19,787 people, 726 (4%) had one or more intensive care unit admissions at any time after receiving their dementia diagnosis. The use of overall intensive care decreased over the years, but an increase was observed in intensive care admissions which took place within the last year of life of people who died with dementia.
- Finally, I looked at people with dementia in groups according to which services they used (including community care, hospital care, and specialist mental health support) in the year after their diagnosis and in the last year of life.

Lay summary

Based on data from 8,623 people who died with dementia, I identified three groups of people with dementia based on the patterns of healthcare use in the first year after dementia diagnosis: low healthcare use after diagnosis, planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis, and mental healthcare use after diagnosis.

I Identified four groups of people with dementia based on the patterns of healthcare use in the last year of life: low healthcare use in the last year of life, moderate hospital use in the last year of life, high hospital use in the last year of life, and community mental healthcare use in the last year of life.

The chance of being in each group was associated with different demographic, social and illness-related characteristics. For example, being diagnosed with dementia at an older age, being male, and having dementia diagnosis other than Alzheimer's Disease were associated with an increased possibility of being in a group characterised by high unplanned hospital use in the year after diagnosis.

I looked at what sort of a person with dementia was in each group. For instance, older men whose dementia was diagnosed at a later age and those who had a diagnosis other than Alzheimer's disease were more likely to be in the group that had more unplanned admissions to the hospital in the year after their diagnosis.

This PhD thesis contributes new knowledge to the services used by people with dementia from diagnosis to the end of life. People with dementia are often in hospital towards the end of life. We need to prioritise training for hospital staff in palliative and end-of-life care for patients with dementia. The findings also show that if we want to reduce unplanned hospital admissions, we need to improve the knowledge of staff who work in the community about what services are available (e.g. post-diagnostic support) when people are at an earlier stage in their illness.

Clinicians, commissioners, and policymakers who want to improve the quality of care will benefit from knowing more about the different experiences of care for people in the end stage of life. To provide better care for people with dementia towards the end of life, we need to consider different patterns from the time of diagnosis onwards.

This thesis provides innovative examples of how electronic information from different sources and statistical ways can be used to identify how healthcare services fit together to meet the needs of people with dementia who are near the end of life. Regularly collected, clinically important information about people affected by dementia can help us understand and improve the quality of care towards the end of life.

Abstract

Abstract

Background: People with dementia access multiple healthcare services. The type of care needed among people with dementia may vary significantly and change over time. Among people with dementia nearing the end of life, many may not access the services they need at the right time and place, and instead access costly emergency or unplanned healthcare services that may be of limited benefit and not in line with their preferences. Improving service planning and the quality of care for the growing number of people with dementia nearing the end of life requires a better understanding of patterns of different healthcare service use over time. By using quality indicators across care domains relevant to people with dementia nearing the end of life, a more comprehensive understanding of the overall care quality can be obtained. Routine data can provide detailed information regarding the characteristics of people with dementia and robust quality indicators about the care they receive across care settings.

Aim: To identify and describe patterns of healthcare use; and investigate indicators of care quality experienced among people with dementia nearing the end of life using routine data.

Methods: This thesis is composed of three observational studies using secondary analysis of routine data. Individuals with a dementia diagnosis (1995-2020) were assembled from the Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS), a de-identified electronic patient records system within South London and Maudsley (SLaM) in London, United Kingdom. The existing linkages between CRIS and the Office for National Statistics (ONS) for mortality data, and Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) datasets (inpatient hospital, adult critical care, accident & emergency (A&E) visits, and outpatient appointments) for hospital data were obtained. Three studies are considered:

Study 1: A retrospective cohort study to describe the patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia from diagnosis to death.

Study 2: A retrospective cohort study to describe the trends in critical care admissions among people with dementia and explore the association between dementia severity and survival following discharge from a critical care unit.

Study 3: A retrospective cohort study aiming to bring together multiple measures of healthcare use and biopsychosocial factors to identify whether latent subpopulations are present within a large sample of people with dementia, characterised by different patterns of healthcare use which took place in the first year after dementia diagnosis and in the last year of life. This analysis also explores whether a relationship between group memberships in the first year after dementia diagnosis and in the last year of life may exist.

Abstract

Results: Results from the studies show variability in the patterns of healthcare use among people with dementia, with an increase in unplanned hospital use in the last year of life, and potentially sub-optimal care quality experienced by a proportion of those nearing the end of life.

Study 1 is based on data from 19,211 people with dementia and 57,017 unplanned hospital admissions. This analysis shows that the cumulative incidence of unplanned hospital admissions (n=14,759) was 76.8% (95% CI 76.3% - 77.3%). Rates and lengths of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia remained relatively low and short in the months after the dementia diagnosis, both increasing only as people approached the end of life. Admissions in the last year of life accounted for 37.3% of all unplanned hospital admissions for the whole cohort. Over a third of decedents (38.1%, n=4,697) died in hospital and 24.5% of these people (n=1,153) died during their first admission after diagnosis. The percentage of time spent as an inpatient was <3% for people who were alive at the study end but was on average 19.6% and 13.3% for the decedents in the last six and twelve months of life, respectively. Variations in the rates of unplanned hospital admissions were observed among decedents with dementia depending on their proximity to death at the time of diagnosis.

In the second study of the thesis, which included 19,787 people diagnosed with dementia, 726 (3.7%) individuals had one or more critical care admissions at any time after receiving their dementia diagnosis. Compared to unplanned hospital admissions, critical care admissions were a rare event among the dementia cohort. The overall one-year survival of people with dementia who had a critical care admission was 47.5% (n=345). Dementia severity was not associated with one-year survival following critical care admission (mild dementia vs. moderate-severe dementia odds of one-year mortality OR: 0.90, 95% CI [0.66-1.22]). Over the 12-year period (2008-2019), overall critical care use decreased (β =-0.05; 95%CI -0.01, -0.0003; p=0.03). The consistent increase in the rates of unplanned hospital admissions in the last year of life identified in Study 1, prompted the investigation of the trends in critical care admissions in the last year of life. Critical care admissions occurring during the last year of life increased (β =0.11, 95%CI 0.01, 0.20, p=0.03).

In the final study of the thesis, based on data from 8,623 decedents diagnosed with dementia, latent class analyses revealed three distinct groups of people with dementia based on the patterns of healthcare use in the first year after dementia diagnosis (*Low healthcare use after diagnosis* (*n=1426, 49%*), planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis (2,939, 34.1%), and mental healthcare use after diagnosis (*n=1,426, 16.5%*)).

In the last year of life, four distinct groups of people with dementia were identified based on the patterns of healthcare use (*Low healthcare use in the last year of life (n=2756, 32%), moderate hospital use in the last year of life (n=3,689, 43%), high hospital use in the last year of life (n=754,*

9%), and community mental healthcare use in the last year of life (n=1,423, 17%)). The risk of being in each group was associated with different biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia. Being diagnosed with dementia at an older age, being male, and having a non-Alzheimer's disease dementia diagnosis were associated with a higher risk of being in a group characterised by high unplanned hospital use in the first year after diagnosis and in the last year of life.

Conclusions: This thesis contributes new insights into the scope of services used by people with dementia by focusing on several validated quality indicators, identifying variations in the patterns of healthcare use as people live and die with dementia. Methodologically, this thesis provides innovative examples of the use of routine data linkages and structural equation modelling such as latent class analysis to identify and describe patterns of healthcare and how services fit together in the delivery of care for people with dementia nearing the end of life.

Hospitals remain a significant place of care for people with dementia towards the end of life. Embedding dementia end-of-life care training across hospitals should be prioritised to improve the quality of care for all. Unplanned hospital use (i.e., admissions and A&E visits) was more common compared to the use of other services (planned admissions, critical care admissions and outpatient visits) towards the end of life. Almost one in six people with dementia access specialist mental health services in the first year following their dementia diagnosis, and in the last year of life. Unplanned healthcare use, which is associated with burdensome care experiences and poor care quality, were observed among approximately one in ten people with dementia nearing the end of life. This has implications for improving knowledge about available services in the community earlier in the disease trajectory, and access to community services to reduce potentially avoidable hospital use.

Clinicians and policymakers may find value in being aware of the differences in the care experiences leading up to the end of life, considering different timelines and pathways from diagnosis onwards, when planning high-quality care provision for people with dementia who may be nearing the end of life. Further research is needed to understand why variations in healthcare use leading to burdensome care experiences among a subgroup of people with dementia nearing the end of life exist, and how these can be minimised. Routine collection of information about people with dementia and their care, and access to data linkages between relevant health and social care services, are needed to improve our understanding of quality indicators relevant to end-of-life across care domains, including care preferences, psychological, cultural and communication aspects of care.

Table of contents

Lay summary	. 2
Abstract	.4
Table of contents	.7
List of Figures1	2
List of Tables1	13
Publications and presentations1	4
Publications in peer-reviewed journals incorporated in the thesis1	4
Other related publications1	4
Presentations at scientific meetings and conferences1	15
Statement of contribution1	17
Acknowledgements1	8
Abbreviations1	19
Glossary2	21
Chapter 1: Background2	23
1.1 Population2	23
1.1.1 People with dementia and demographic changes2	23
1.1.2 Risk factors, and health and care needs2	23
1.1.3 People with dementia nearing the end of life2	25
1.2 Healthcare2	26
1.2.1 Health and social care system in England2	26
1.2.2 Conceptual models of healthcare and healthcare use2	29
1.2.3 Patterns of health and care use among people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life	d 30
1.2.3.1 Diagnosis and post-diagnostic care3	31
1.2.3.2 Specialist care3	32
1.2.3.3 Health and social care of people with dementia towards the end of life	33
1.2.4 Hospital care of people with dementia3	34
1.2.4.1 Unplanned hospital use3	35
1.2.4.2. Critical care admissions3	37
1.2.4.3 Hospital deaths among people with dementia3	37
1.2.5 Dynamic patterns of multiple healthcare use3	38
1.3 Quality of care4	10

1.3.1 Defining quality of care	40
1.3.2 Measuring quality of care	41
1.3.3 Quality of quality indicators	42
1.4 Policy priorities for the care of people with dementia towards the end of life	43
1.4.1 The role of routine data in dementia care and policy	44
1.5 Summary	45
Chapter 2: Systematic review – Quality indicators	46
2.1 Introduction	46
2.2 Publication 1: Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review	47
2.2.1 Identification of the included papers	75
2.2.2 Assessing the psychometric properties of the quality indicators	77
2.3 Discussion	80
2.3.1 Healthcare processes and outcomes of interest for this thesis	81
2.4 Summary	82
Chapter 3: Rationale, aim and objectives of this thesis	83
3.1 Rationale for thesis	83
3.2 Aim and Objectives	84
Chapter 4: Methods	85
4.1 Thesis design, studies and links to objectives	85
4.2 Evolution of the thesis protocol	85
4.3 Population of interest	86
4.4 Ontological and epistemological considerations	86
4.5 Alternative methodological approaches	87
4.6 Retrospective cohort studies	88
4.6.1 Identification of people with dementia in palliative and end-of-life care retrospective cohort studies	88
4.7 The use of routine data in dementia research	89
4.8 The research methodology	90
4.8.1 Routine datasets used in this thesis	90
4.8.1.1 Dementia cohort dataset and setting: South London and Maudsley and CRIS data	90
4.8.1.2 Illness and sociodemographic variables	91
4.8.1.3 Datasets for the healthcare use: Hospital Episode Statistics	93
4.8.1.4 Death registry	95
4.9 Methodological challenges	95
	96

4.11 Reflexivity in quantitative research	98
4.12 Ethical considerations and governance	99
4.13 Summary	100
Chapter 5: Results Study 1 – Unplanned hospital admissions	
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Methods	
5.2.1 Design and data sources	
5.2.2 Setting and cohort	
5.2.3 Sociodemographic and clinical variables	
5.2.4 Unplanned hospital admissions	
5.2.5 Outcomes	104
5.2.6 Statistical analyses	104
5.3 Results	105
5.3.1 Cohort Description	105
5.3.2. Main findings	106
5.3.3 Patient and public involvement	
5.3.4 Publication 2: Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with of from diagnosis to the end of life	dementia: 107
5.4 Summary	
Chapter 6: Results Study 2 – Critical care admissions	132
6.1 Introduction	132
6.2 Methods	
6.2.1 Design and data sources	
6.2.2 Setting and cohort	
6.2.3 Clinical variables	
6.2.4 Outcomes	134
6.2.4.1 Critical care admissions	
6.2.4.2 Survival	
6.3 Statistical Analysis	
6.4 Results	136
6.4.1 Cohort Description	136
6.4.2 Critical care admissions following dementia diagnosis	138
6.4.3 Critical care admissions in the last year of life	138
6.4.4 Survival	140
6.4.5 Sensitivity analysis for the survival analysis	140
6.4.6 Patient and public involvement	140

6.4.6 Publication 3: Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a la cohort	rge English 141
6.5 Summary	
Chapter 7: Result Study 3 – Variations in healthcare use	
7.1 Introduction	
7.2 Methods	158
7.2.1 Study design and data sources	
7.2.2 Setting and cohort	159
7.2.3 Selecting the latent class indicators	
7.2.4 Selecting the sociodemographic, illness-related and environmental variables	
7.3 Statistical analysis and background for the statistical analysis methods	
7.3.1 Structural equation modelling	
7.3.2 Latent class analysis	
7.3.3 The application of latent class analysis to healthcare data	
7.3.4 Latent transition analysis	
7.3.5 Latent transition analysis compared to other longitudinal analysis methods	
7.3.6 Statistical analysis methods used in the Study 3	
7.3.6.1 Missing data	
7.3.6.2 Identifying the optimal number of classes	
7.3.7 Sensitivity and exploratory analyses	
7.4 Results	
8.4.1 Cohort description	
7.4.2 Model fit	
7.4.3 Subgroups of healthcare use in the first year after dementia diagnosis	
7.4.4 Subgroups of healthcare use in the last year of life	
7.4.5 Transitions between classes over time	
7.4.6 Sensitivity and exploratory analyses	
7.4.7 Patient and public involvement	
7.5 Discussion	
7.5.1 Strengths and limitations	
7.5.2 Implications for clinical practice, policy and research	
7.6 Summary	
Chapter 8: Discussion	196
8.1 Overview	
8.2 Discussion of key findings	
8.2.1 Patterns of healthcare use	

8.2.1.1 Hospital use	197
8.2.1.2 Specialist mental healthcare use	199
8.2.1.3 Interpreting appropriateness of care	200
8.2.2 Quality of care	200
8.2.3 People with dementia approaching the end of life	202
8.2.4 Biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia at risk of poor-quality care	203
8.3 Strengths and limitations	204
8.3.1 Identification of people with dementia and longitudinal retrospective study design	205
8.3.2 Use of routinely collected data and novel data linkages	206
8.3.3 Models of healthcare, healthcare use and the quality of care	207
8.3.4 Validity and consistency of findings	208
8.3.5 Engagement with public, people affected by dementia, clinicians and policymakers	208
8.4 The COVID-19 pandemic, people with dementia, and its implications for the thesis findings	209
8.5 Implications for research	210
8.6 Implications for policy and clinical practice	211
8.6.1 Improved recognition of dementia trajectories and its life-limiting nature	212
8.6.2 Variations in healthcare use	212
8.6.3 Hospital care provision	213
8.6.4 Community care provision	213
8.6.5 Integration of dementia and end-of-life care provision	214
8.6.6 Monitoring the quality of care provided to people with dementia across care domains	215
8.6.7 Interoperability of information systems	215
Chapter 9: Conclusion	210
	217
References	218
Appendices	242
Appendix 1. Definitions of different domains of quality of care	242
Appendix 2. Supplementary material for the systematic review	243
Appendix 3. CRIS data application form, the approval email, honorary SLaM contract	328
Appendix 4. Supplementary material for Study 1	339
Appendix 5. Supplementary material for Study 2	364
Appendix 6. Supplementary material for Study 3	365

List of Figures

Figure	1-1.	NHS	services 28	and	wider	systems	that	support	health	and	care
Figure 1 [.] conditio	-2. Mu ns	rtagh e	et al 2012 1	model o	f factors	affecting p	lace of	care and d	leath in n	on-mali	gnant 31
Figure 4-	-1. Ove	erview	of the thes	is design	and obje	ectives					87
Figure 4-	-2. Pop	ulatior	n of interes	t for each	n study c	of this thesi	s				88
Figure 5-	-1. Flov	wchart	of identify	ing the nu	umber o	funplanne	d hospit	al admissio	ons		105
Figure 5	-2. Der	mentia	incidence	per 100,0	000 indi	viduals age	d 50 or	older (Bet	tween 199	95 and	2016) 118
Figure 6-	-1. Flov	wchart	of identify	ing the nu	umber o	f critical ca	re admi	ssions			119
Figure 6 2008 and	-2. An d 2019	nual a	ge-sex-star	ndardised	critical	care use	among	people wi	th demer	ntia bet	ween 123
Figure 6 that too	-3. The k place	e trend in the	l in the pe last year o	rcentage f life betv	s of crit veen 20	ical care ao 08 and 201	dmissioı 9	ns among	people w	ith dem	entia 126
Figure 6 2008 and	-4. An d 2019	nual a	ge-sex-star	ndardised	critical	care use	among	people wi	th demer	ntia bet	ween 141
Figure 6 admissic	5-5. Ka on in pe	aplan-N eople w	Aeier survi vith a previ	ival plot ous demo	showin entia dia	g the one Ignosis grou	-year s uped by	urvival fol dementia	lowing a severity	critical	care 142
Figure 7-	-1. Dat	asets a	nd linkages	s used in	the stud	y					161
Figure 7-	-2. Coh	ort flo	wchart								161
Figure 7 [.] dementi	-3. Rad a diagr	lar plot nosis	t showing h	nealthcar	e use cla	asses of peo	ople wit	h dementi	a in the fi	rst year	after 178
Figure 7	-4. Rad	lar plot	showing h	ealthcare	e use cla	sses of pec	ple wit	h dementia	a in the la	st year (of life 184
Figure 7 the	-5. Sar last	nkey di	agram for year	transitior of	ns betwo life	een first ye based	ar aftei d	r diagnosis on	classes a healthca	nd class re	ses in use 188

List of Tables

Table 2-1. Eligibility Criteria
Table 2-2. Electronic search strategy for OVID Medline database
Table 2-3. Assessment of psychometric properties to evaluate the quality indicators
Table 5-1. Cohort characteristics (N=19,221)106
Table 5-2. Interpretation of the study findings in relation to the quality of care of people withdementia who may be approaching the end of life (Study 1)130
Table 6-1. Cohort characteristics (n=19,787)137
Table 6-2. Interpretation of the study findings in relation to the quality of care of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life (Study 2)
Table 7-1. Descriptions for latent class indicators 162
Table 7-2. Fit indices and criteria for model selection 167
Table 7-3. Cohort characteristics (N=8,623)173
Table 7-4. Age-standardised healthcare use of people with dementia in the first year after diagnosis& in the last year of life mean (SD) (N=8,623)174
Table 7-5. Fit indices for latent class models with 1-6 classes (N=8,623)
Table 7-6. Descriptives for the first year after dementia diagnosis classes 186
Table 7-7. Healthcare use of people with dementia in the first year after diagnosis (n=8,623)188
Table 7-8. Multinomial logistic regression with age and sex adjusted coefficients showing patientcharacteristics associated with the year after diagnosis classes: reference class: Class 1 Lowhealthcare use (N=8,623)
Table 7-9. Descriptives for the last year of life classes 191
Table 7-10. Healthcare use of people with dementia in the last year of life (n=8,623)
Table 7-11. Multinomial logistic regression with age and sex adjusted coefficients showing patientcharacteristics associated with the last year of life class: reference class: Class 1: Low healthcare use(N=8,623)
Table 7-12. Interpretation of the study findings in relation to the quality of care of people withdementia who may be approaching the end of life (Study 3)194

Publications and presentations

Publications in peer-reviewed journals incorporated in the thesis

Publication 1

Yorganci E, Sampson EL, Gillam J, Aworinde J, Leniz J, Williamson LE, Cripps RL, Stewart R, Sleeman KE. Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2021 Dec;69(12):3650-60. DOI:

https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17387

Publication 2

Yorganci E, Stewart R, Sampson EL, Sleeman KE. Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia: from diagnosis to the end of life. Age and Ageing. 2022 May;51(5):afac098. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afac098</u>

Publication 3

Yorganci E, Sleeman KE, Sampson EL, Stewart R. Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a large English cohort. Age and Ageing. 2023 Sep 1;52(9):afad157. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093%2Fageing%2Fafad157

Other related publications

Leniz J, Yi D, Yorganci E, Williamson LE, Suji T, Cripps R, Higginson IJ, Sleeman KE. Exploring costs, cost components, and associated factors among people with dementia approaching the end of life: A systematic review. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions 2021; 7(1): e12198. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/trc2.12198</u>.

Williamson LE, Evans CJ, Cripps RL, Leniz J, Yorganci E, Sleeman KE. Factors associated with emergency department visits by people with dementia near the end of life: A systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2021; 22: 2046-2055.e2035. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2021.06.012</u>

Aworinde J, Ellis-Smith C, Gillam J, Roche M, Coombes L, Yorganci E, Evans CJ. How do person-centred outcome measures enable shared decision-making for people with dementia and family carers?—A systematic review. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions. 2022;8(1):e12304. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/trc2.12304</u>

Gillam J, Davies N, Aworinde J, Yorganci E, Anderson JE, Evans C. Implementation of eHealth to support assessment and decision-making for residents with dementia in long-term care: systematic

review. Journal of medical Internet research. 2022 Feb 3;24(2):e29837. DOI: https://doi:10.2196/29837

Yorganci E. Empowering better end-of-life care for people with dementia. British Geriatrics Society Blog. 2022 June. DOI: <u>https://www.bgs.org.uk/blog/empowering-better-end-of-life-care-for-people-</u> with-dementia

Yorganci E, Sleeman KE. Palliative care can benefit people with dementia. BMJ. 2023 Mar 31;380. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.p754</u>

Williamson L, Yorganci E, Martelli LL, Sampson EL, Evans C, Sleeman K. A Right to be Heard: Better palliative and end-of-life care for people affected by dementia: Policy Brief. 2023 May DOI: https://doi.org/10.18742/pub01-165

Yorganci E. Critical care admissions for people with dementia are increasing for those in their last year of life. British Geriatrics Society Blog. 2023 Nov. <u>https://www.bgs.org.uk/blog/critical-care-admissions-for-people-with-dementia-are-increasing-in-the-last-year-of-life</u>

Crawley S, Yorganci E, Farnood A. A night at the museum: Engaging young people about dying with dementia. EAPC Blog. 2024 Jan <u>https://eapcnet.wordpress.com/2024/01/16/a-night-at-the-museum-engaging-young-people-about-dying-with-dementia/</u>

Presentations at scientific meetings and conferences

Yorganci et al., "Challenges of engaging with public about research with routine data" The London Interdisciplinary Social Science Doctoral Training Partnership (LISS DTP) Meeting 2021 – Oral Presentation

Yorganci et al. "Quality indicators for care of older people and people with dementia who are approaching the end of life applicable for use with routinely collected electronic datasets: A systematic review" Postgraduate Research Conference 2021 – Oral Presentation

Yorganci et al., "Quality Indicators for Palliative Care of Older, Frail People and People with Dementia Using Routinely Collected Electronic Datasets: A Systematic Review" European Association for Palliative Care World Congress 2021– Poster Presentation

Yorganci et al., "Patterns of Unplanned Hospital Admissions among People with Dementia: From Diagnosis to the End of Life" European Association for Palliative Care World Congress 2021– Oral Presentation Yorganci et al. "Identifying subgroups of people with dementia who has distinct patterns of healthcare use over the course of the illness" SEMantics (invited speaker) monthly seminar at the Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London – Oral Presentation

Yorganci et al., "Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a large English cohort" EPA Section of Epidemiology & Social Psychiatry 20th Biennial Congress 2022 - Oral Presentation

Yorganci et al., "Identifying Distinct Profiles of People with Dementia Based on their Healthcare Use in the Last Year of Life Using Routine Data" European Association for Palliative Care World Congress 2023– Poster Presentation

Yorganci et al., "Trends in Critical Care Admissions of People with Dementia in the Last Year of Life in a Large English Cohort Using a Novel Data Linkage" European Association for Palliative Care World Congress 2023– Poster Presentation

Yorganci et al., "Empowering better end of life dementia care: The EMBED-Care programme" ECHO Hub - Palliative, End of life care and Dementia ECHO Knowledge Network Training Day 2023 – Oral Presentation (Presented findings of the three studies from this thesis)

Statement of contribution

This PhD was conducted while I was working as an ESRC PhD Training Fellow as part of the Empowering Better Dementia End of Life Care (EMBED-Care) programme at the Cicely Saunders Institute, King's College London. I was responsible for designing and undertaking the work detailed in this thesis under the supervision of Professor Katherine Sleeman, Professor Robert Stewart, and Professor Elizabeth Sampson.

For the systematic review (Publication 1) included in the background chapter of this thesis, I was responsible for writing and registering the study protocol, the search strategy, article screening, data extraction, quality appraisal of studies, analysis and write-up of the paper. Dr Javiera Leniz Martelli, Dr Lesley Williamson, and Rachel Cripps contributed to double screening the included studies. Jesutofunmi Aworinde and Juliet Gillam contributed to the data extraction of the psychometric properties of the quality indicators.

For study 1 (Publication 2), the retrospective cohort study of unplanned hospital admissions using data linkages between clinical and administrative records from South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and national hospital and death registries, I was responsible for the protocol writing, access application, data curation, data cleaning, analysis plan, analysis, and write-up of the paper. CRIS Data Extraction team, namely Megan Pritchard, provided guidance on the data curation stage.

For study 2 (Publication 3), the retrospective cohort study of critical care admissions using data linkages between clinical and administrative records from South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and national hospital and death registries, I was responsible for the protocol writing, access application, data curation, data cleaning, analysis plan, analysis, and write-up of the paper. CRIS Data Extraction team, namely Dr Daisy Kornblum and Hitesh Patel, provided guidance on the data curation stage.

For study 3, the retrospective cohort study using multiple data linkages between clinical and administrative records from South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and national hospital and death registries, I was responsible for the protocol writing, access application, data curation, data cleaning, analysis plan, analysis and write-up of the paper. CRIS Data Extraction team, namely Dr Daisy Kornblum and Hitesh Patel, provided guidance on the data curation stage. Dr Ewan Carr provided guidance on the statistical analyses.

Acknowledgements

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not be possible without the people with dementia who received care in the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust who contributed their data throughout the years. I would also like to thank all professionals who contributed to the CRIS, those involved in data collation, management, and extraction. Within the CRIS team, I would like to thank to Megan Pritchard, Amelia Jewel, Hitesh Shetty, Daisy Kornblum and Debbie Cummings for their contributions data extraction and secure access.

Thank you to my PhD supervisors Katherine Sleeman, Robert Stewart and Liz Sampson for their patience, support, encouragement, expertise, and valuable clinical insights throughout the conduct of this thesis. Their contributions are invaluable – I cannot thank them enough. I would also like to thank my Thesis Progression Committee: Katherine Bristowe, Emeka Chukwusa and Jonathan Koffman for their wisdom, support, and contributions. I am grateful to be part of the Empowering Better End of Life Care (EMBED-Care) programme and for all the support I received from the wider team. I would like to thank my colleagues from the Cicely Saunders Institute and UCL, and all the amazing people who gave me inspiration and shared their experiences with me. I would like to thank my fellow EMBED-Care PhD/RAs for their contributions, for giving me the space to share issues I faced and for their companionship throughout this journey. I am indebted to all the Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) members who shared their valuable experiences and knowledge with me, and who gave their time generously to discuss my studies.

I would like to acknowledge Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) for funding my PhD.

I would like to thank to my friends, in particular to Seniha, Emma, Nikki, and my partner Conor for their continuous love, encouragement, patience and humour on the more challenging days. Finally, I would like to thank my family, in particular to my parents, my brother and my aunt Ilkay for their unconditional love, support, and belief.

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my mother, Selma Yorgancı.

Abbreviations

A&E	Accidents and Emergency Departments
ACC	Adult Critical Care
ACSC	Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions
APC	Admitted Patient Care
AOR	Adjusted Odds Ratio
BRC	Biomedical Research Centre
CDLS	Clinical Data Linkage Service
CI	Confidence interval
CQC	Care Quality Commission
CRIS	Clinical Records Interactive Search
EAPC	European Association for Palliative Care
HER	Electronic health records
EMBED-Care	Empowering Better End of Life Dementia Care
GATE	General Architecture for Text Engineering
GP	General Practitioner
HES	Hospital Episode Statistics
HoNOS	Health of Nation Outcome Scales
HSCIC	Health and Social Care Information Centre
ICD-10	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems
	10th Revision
IMD	Index of multiple deprivation
IQR	Interquartile range
LCA	Latent class analysis
LPA	Latent profile analysis
LSOA	Lower Super Output Area
LTA	Latent transition analysis
MMSE	Mini Mental State Examination
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NHS	National Health Service
NLP	Natural Language Processing
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
ONS	Office for National Statistics
OP	Outpatient Care
PPI	Patient and Public Involvement

QI	Quality indicator
RA	Research assistant
RI-LTA	Random-intercept Latent Transition Analysis
REC	Research Ethics Committee
RECORD	The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected
	health Data (RECORD)
RRR	Relative Risk Ratio
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
SEM	Structural equation modelling
SLaM	South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organisation

Glossary

Conceptual model	A visual representation of variables, factors, outcomes and
	relationships between them.
Dynamic cohort	Where the study participants can join or leave the cohort at different
	times. Individuals within the cohort are followed up to determine the
	incidence of an event.
Epidemiology	The study of the distribution and determinants of health-related states
	and events in specified populations. ²
Epistemology	The nature of knowledge and how it can be acquired ³
Exploratory research	Research which investigates questions that have not been studied in
	depth. The preliminary results often lay the groundwork for future
	analysis.
Frailty	A state of increased vulnerability to stressors, frailty is characterised by
	an accumulation of deficits, diminished strength and endurance, and
	reduced physiological function. ⁴
Health and care needs	A need is something essential. Healthcare needs are related to
	treating, controlling, preventing, and caring for a disease, illness, injury,
	or disability. Social care needs are related to those which involve
	performing activities of daily living, remaining independent, taking a
	fuller part in society, being safe in vulnerable situations, managing
	complex relationships, and accessing a care home or other supported
	accommodation. ⁵
Health inequality	Uneven distribution of health or health resources as a result of genetic
	or other unavoidable factors
Health inequity	Avoidable, unfair differences in health and distribution of health
	resources arising from factors such as poor governance, corruption, or
	cultural exclusion
Informal care	Vital, unpaid care and support provided by family members, friends for
	people with dementia living in the community.
Integrated care systems	Partnerships of organisations that come together to plan and deliver
	joined up health and care services, and to improve the lives of people
	who live and work in their area. ⁶
Interoperability	Allowing people involved in the provision and receipt of care to
	seamlessly exchange and access the data they need to inform care
	decisions across a whole pathway. ⁷

Glossary

Longitudinal study	A study where researchers observe and collect data on several
	variables without trying to influence those variables.
Multimorbidity	The coexistence of two or more chronic conditions within one person. ⁸
Ontology	The nature of the social world and what can be known about it ⁹
Palliative care	An approach to care that improves the quality of life of patients and
	their families facing challenges associated with life-threatening illness,
	whether physical, psychological, social or spiritual. ¹⁰
People affected by	The term "people affected by dementia" in the thesis refers to the
dementia	individuals who have dementia and their friends and family who are
	also affected
Quantitative research	The process of collecting and analysing numerical data. Quantitative
	research methods are appropriate for finding patterns, making
	predictions and generalising results to wider populations.
Routinely collected	Administrative data that were not predominantly collected for
electronic data	research purposes, those including electronic medical records, and
	data collected for insurance purposes such as mandated minimum
	datasets. ¹¹
Secondary research	Use of data for research gathered for other purposes.

Chapter 1: Background

Chapter 1: Background

This chapter begins with a broad overview of people with dementia, the changing demography and those who might be nearing the end of life, followed by an overview of the healthcare system in England, and conceptual models of healthcare systems and healthcare use. The dementia pathway followed by most people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life is introduced, further focusing on the evidence regarding the patterns of healthcare among people with dementia. Healthcare use relevant to policy including different aspects of hospital and specialist healthcare service use among people with dementia are discussed. Finally, the quality of care, the quality indicators in relation to the care of people with dementia who may be nearing the end of life and their importance in policy are presented.

1.1 Population

1.1.1 People with dementia and demographic changes

Since the 19th century, mortality has declined, meaning that the number of people living into older ages has increased.¹² As older age is the strongest determinant of risk for dementia,¹³ the prevalence and the incidence of people with dementia is also increasing, with 1.6 million people expected to be living with dementia in the United Kingdom by 2040.^{14, 15} Having dementia, which is a life-limiting condition, is associated with a decreased life expectancy compared to people without dementia.¹⁶ Differences in life expectancy among people with dementia exist and are affected by the dementia type, sex, age, cognitive problems, frailty and multimorbidities.^{17, 18}

People with dementia constitute a heterogenous group in terms of dementia aetiology, comorbidities and other sociodemographic factors. Similar to many other countries, the population of England is now more diverse.¹⁹ It is estimated that 25,000 people living with dementia are from a minority ethnic background in England and Wales, which is expected to increase to seven-fold in the next 40 years, to over 170,000.²⁰ Furthermore, with societal changes to family structures, more people with dementia are living alone and away from their families; currently, over 120,000 in England and, set to double by 2040, with consequent increasing demands for formal care.²¹

1.1.2 Risk factors, and health and care needs

Although no cure for dementia exists, our understanding of risk factors for developing dementia, the presentation and the management of symptoms to maintain quality of life is expanding. Along with age, genetics and family history of dementia are non-modifiable risk factors for developing dementia, accounting for around 60% of dementia incidents in the population. Around 40% of the dementia incidence on the other hand are attributable to the potentially modifiable risk factors occurring during the life course of the individuals.²² The factors which contribute to increased dementia risk can be found across an individual's life stages; these are education (early life),

hypertension, obesity, hearing loss, traumatic brain injury, and alcohol misuse (midlife) and smoking, depression, physical inactivity, social isolation, diabetes, and air pollution (later life).²² Dementia prevention efforts are predominantly focused on managing modifiable risk factors in effort to reduce or delay the occurrence of dementia.²²

Yet, as people are living longer, many people will continue to live and die with dementia, and often with multimorbidities.²³ On average, people with dementia have three or more illnesses.²⁴ Dementia can be caused by and complicate other conditions and vice versa; chronic conditions such as hypertension, coronary heart disease, and diabetes, can exacerbate cognitive dysfunction and other symptoms, and dementia can increase the chances of further complications and lead to quicker functional decline.²⁴ People who have cardiovascular conditions such as heart disease and high blood pressure are at a higher risk of developing vascular dementia.²⁵ Conditions such as Parkinson's disease also increases the chances of their other health conditions, co-occurrence of dementia requiring healthcare interventions for their other health conditions, co-occurrence of dementia often necessitates adjustments to standardised treatment and care provision.²³ Managing multimorbidities of people with dementia can lead to polypharmacy which could have more harm than benefits, if not monitored regularly.²⁷

Dementia imposes a significant impact on individuals and their families.²⁸ Cognitive impairment and the combination of dementia and other comorbidities are associated with disability and dependency. Although multimorbidity may play a role in the association between dementia and functional disability, dementia is the main driver of disability.²⁹ Dementia may directly cause memory loss, executive dysfunction and impaired judgement leading to self-neglect.³⁰ Behavioural and psychological symptoms experienced by people with dementia, which include a spectrum of non-cognitive and non-neurological symptoms such as agitation, aggression, psychosis, depression, and apathy can influence their daily lives and relationships with others.³¹ As the condition progresses, complications may occur due to management of needs with multiple medications (polypharmacy), and people may no longer be able to perform daily tasks such as bathing and dressing, often requiring assistance from relatives or formal carers. The level of disability increases as the condition progresses. The wide array of health and care needs experienced by people with dementia often necessitates input from health and social care services. To be able to tailor the care to the needs of people with dementia and deliver high quality interventions, a better understanding of the diversity among people living and dying with dementia, the complexity of their care needs, and experiences is urgently required.

Chapter 1: Background

1.1.3 People with dementia nearing the end of life

Dementia is the leading cause of death in the UK³² and ranks seventh globally.³³ According to a projection model based on annual deaths which occurred in England and Wales over an eight-year period, by 2040, the number of people dying with dementia may increase to 220,000 people annually.³⁴ Over a quarter (27.4%) of people with dementia live until advanced stages, but many die in the early or moderate stages from diseases other than dementia.³⁵ For people with dementia, death is unpredictable, and uncertainty is inherent, making identification of people with dementia who are thought to be approaching the end of life complicated.^{36, 37} Most people will live with dementia for many years before receiving their diagnosis (on average 2.2 for people older than 65 years old, and 4.4 years for people with dementia who are younger than 65 years old).³⁸

Prediction models have been developed in sub-groups of people with dementia, such as those who live in a nursing home with advanced dementia, with good external validity to predict who might be approaching death, however, these models are rarely generalisable or used in clinical practice.³⁹ Attributes associated with approaching the end of life, such as where people live (e.g., living in community or institutional settings),⁴⁰ change in their health and care needs,³¹ and their healthcare interactions,⁴¹ can inform the identification of those who may be approaching the end of life among people with dementia.

Progressive decline in cognitive and physical functioning and increased health and care needs may also signal that a person with dementia may be approaching the end of life. Weight loss, pain, and behavioural and psychological symptoms, including agitation, could become more frequent towards the end of life. In a prospective cohort study of people with advanced dementia, aspiration, dyspnoea, septicaemia and pneumonia were more frequent in those who died compared to those who did not.³⁶ Decrease in ability to perform daily tasks such as dressing, washing, eating or walking, presence of pressure sores, falls, incontinence, and fractures are also likely to precede the death of people with dementia. However, assessing and routinely recording symptoms of people with dementia is challenging, especially at the advanced stages of the condition where verbally raising concerns may no longer be possible.⁴² Despite technological developments enabling people with dementia and their family to record their health and care needs towards the end of life at home,⁴³ capturing the population-level healthcare use and needs relies predominantly on getting in contact with the health and care system. Understanding that these changes may lead to death often requires expert knowledge on dementia progression and an understanding of the inherent uncertainty that may occur when trying to predict mortality. Over-reliance on cognitive and functional decline may also lead to under-recognition of other complexities and unmet needs relevant to dementia and end of life.⁴⁴ Even, when the deterioration is recognised, the imminence of death for people with dementia may be difficult to establish. Understanding who are the people

with dementia approaching the end of life remains challenging, despite the growing number of people dying with dementia. While the differences in needs and service provision as people with dementia approach the end of life are acknowledged, there is no consensus in defining end of life in dementia.

Dementia is common in older adults living in care homes, with a predicted prevalence of 40-70%.⁴⁵ While some care home residents will have a formal diagnosis of dementia, people's dementia might be undetected in care homes, especially among those older (\geq 90 years old), unmarried, with fewer years of education, and with less severe presentation of dementia.⁴⁶ People with dementia, family members, or care professionals may initiate the transition from community accommodation to a care home in response to increased care needs or limited ability of informal care at home. It is challenging to determine which individuals with dementia who move to a care home are nearing the end of their lives. A systematic review focusing on the factors associated with the length of stay in care homes showed that median time from care home admission to death for older people with dementia is 4.1 years (IQR 2.5 -7.6) for men and 4.6 years (IQR 2.9 – 7.0) for women, and substantially longer for those who were diagnosed at a younger age (65-69 years).⁴⁷ In the UK, between 26%⁴⁸ and 56%⁴⁹ of care home residents die within the first year of admission.

A 'one-size-fits-all' approach to dementia care from the moment of diagnosis to the end of life, which relies on clear stages of dementia progression is not suitable. There is great clinical heterogeneity in how health and illness trajectories of people with dementia progress. Dementia is a condition which often requires input from multiple care professionals across various settings. Exploring the heterogeneity of experiences among people with dementia nearing the end of life is crucial for informing the adaptation of the healthcare services to address complex and varying needs efficiently and equitably as they approach the end of their lives. To be able to understand how people with dementia might be accessing healthcare services in England, and where disparities may arise, the next sections will introduce the healthcare system and where it sits among wider systems which support health and care.

1.2 Healthcare

1.2.1 Health and social care system in England

Dementia care is provided by health and social care services, private and informal caregivers. Although this thesis will solely focus on healthcare, gaining a wider understanding of the health and social care system is necessary. The primary aim of health care is to provide high quality of care to its recipients.⁵⁰ Health care is defined as systems and actions to improve health or well-being.⁵¹ In England, health and social care systems are often managed separately, while in some instances delivered in an integrated way, such as at care homes. People can access the National Health

Services (NHS) based on clinical needs, free of charge at the point of delivery.⁵² The healthcare ecosystem includes primary care, secondary care, tertiary care, and community health services, and is supported by wider systems including social care and care provided by family members and other carers (Figure 1-1). Primary care services include access to doctors, predominantly general practitioners (GPs), nurses and other allied-health professionals, and links to community groups. Primary care is available to all residents of England and it is the first point of contact for non-urgent health concerns. Secondary care refers to hospital care, including emergency services and mental health care mostly accessed via referrals. Finally, tertiary care services, which are rarely relevant to people with dementia, include more specialist services (e.g., renal dialysis, transplants) often prescribed to those with chronic conditions are only accessed via referrals.

Community health services are increasingly preferred by people with long-term health conditions, addressing their complex health and care needs via services delivered mainly at people's homes, primary care, community hospitals and care homes. Care providers within the healthcare ecosystem do not operate in isolation, but as part of an integrated care system where patients can be referred from one provider to the other as needed.⁵³ Community health services play an essential role in addressing the needs of people with dementia at their usual place of care.



Figure 1-1. NHS services and wider systems that support health and care (*reprinted with permission*).⁵⁴

Although not a formal part of the health care structure, the social care system is likely to affect the healthcare use of people with dementia, especially towards the end of life.⁵⁵ Social care provides a wide range of services to care for and support people to live independently while protecting

vulnerable individuals. Access to social care is not necessarily free. Access is means-tested, and some people with dementia may be eligible for free provision (e.g., through NHS Continuing care). Adult social care is commissioned and provided by the local councils. All residents of England are eligible to have a needs assessment which helps social care professionals determine the appropriate social care services for the individuals. The Department of Health and Social Care oversees all health and social care services.^a

However, accessing health and social care services can be challenging and inequitable for people with dementia and their families. People affected by dementia may experience situational, psychological, interpersonal, structural and cultural barriers (e.g., knowledge about available services, availability of suitable services for the needs of people with different dementia diagnoses, and trust in the system) when trying to access services.⁵⁵ Having inequitable access to health and social care can result in unmet needs and receiving sub-optimal or inappropriate care, which may lead to poorer outcomes for people affected by dementia. Health inequities among people with dementia can be exacerbated due to lack of appropriate, evidence-based, and easy-to-use services.^{56, 57 58} Conceptual models of healthcare and the healthcare use can inform our understanding of how people with dementia might be accessing and using the existing health and social care services.

^a Health and care systems in England went under major reconfigurations (e.g., the introduction of integrated care systems, the establishment of the Department of Health and Care, and the merging of NHS England and NHS Digital) during the conception of this thesis. However, the information provided in this section reflects the health and care systems relevant to this thesis.

1.2.2 Conceptual models of healthcare and healthcare use

Conceptual models are often a representation of a system, providing a summary of its main components, and variables which can contribute to an outcome of interest and the presumed relationship between them. Models can aid the accumulation of knowledge and understanding, and highlight key areas for policy change.⁵⁹

Healthcare systems are inherently complex due to the social, biological and political nature of health.⁶⁰ Conceptualising healthcare as a "complex adaptive system" and viewing the interactions within the parts of the system as more important than the individual parts is useful for understanding how healthcare can meet complex needs of people with dementia.⁶¹ The complexity theory of healthcare systems focuses on optimising the performance of the whole system to meet the population needs. It acknowledges both the unpredictability and possibility of emergencies as part of the healthcare system. Viewing healthcare as a complex adaptive system also helps with recognising the warranted and unwarranted variations in healthcare delivery.⁶² However, the application of the complexity theory to healthcare research is criticised for having unclear definitions and difficult to implement solutions.⁶⁰ Adapting the healthcare system to achieve desirable variations and reduce unwarranted variations in patterns of healthcare use requires an understanding of how individuals interact with the healthcare system to meet their needs.⁶³

The experiences of people with dementia with healthcare services can be explored by theories about how and why people seek healthcare.^{1, 59, 64-67} The most widely used model developed and revised by Andersen ^{59, 64} called the "Behaviour Model of Health Services use" proposes environmental factors, population characteristics and health behaviour and outcomes to explain people's interactions with health services. However, this theory primarily aims to explain the healthcare use of the general population. As the patterns of healthcare use vary drastically for different populations, models which were developed for the healthcare use of the general population have been further developed and adapted for people who may be experiencing life-limiting conditions and those who may be approaching the end of life. Until recently, models of healthcare use of people who may be approaching the end of life were focused on people with terminal cancer. A model developed to explain factors influencing dying at home for patients with terminal cancer⁶⁷ was further developed and adapted for non-malignant conditions.¹ The model developed by Murtagh et al. encompasses personal and demographic, disease-related factors and specific symptoms, illness burden and trajectories, and environmental factors to explain what might influence place of care and death (Figure 1-2). This is a comprehensive model which includes factors that have been shown to affect healthcare use of people with dementia towards the end of life.^{41, 68} Addition of the "specific symptoms, illness burden and trajectories" component to Gomes and Higginson's model is relevant

to the healthcare use of people with dementia, especially those who may be approaching the end of life, whose disease trajectory is uncertain and the burden of the illnesses varying depending on the type of dementia and other conditions they have.





These conceptual models of healthcare and healthcare use informed the design of this thesis and the interpretation of how people with dementia may interact with the healthcare system to address their needs throughout their illness trajectory. Of note, the models of factors associated with healthcare use are often used to understand the use of singular healthcare service or outcome for people with dementia. There is a need to examine how these factors are related to the use of multiple healthcare services and assess each outcome in context with one another.

1.2.3 Patterns of health and care use among people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life

Conceptual models discussed above demonstrated how individuals affected by dementia may have varying interactions with the health and care services. To be able to interpret these variations in these interactions meaningfully, an understanding of standards for providing dementia care from

diagnosis until the end of life is required. The following sections will provide (i) an overview of the health and care services involved in receiving a dementia diagnosis, post-diagnostic, and dementia end-of-life care services in England, (ii) recommended care pathways, and (iii) the evidence on the patterns of health and care use among people with dementia.

1.2.3.1 Diagnosis and post-diagnostic care

For most people, the journey that leads them to receive a formal dementia diagnosis begins with a visit to their GP. Primary care providers can be approached by the relatives or friends or the individuals themselves about concerns regarding dementia. People who are suspected to have dementia are referred to a dementia specialist (e.g., old age psychiatrist, geriatrician, neurologist).⁶⁹ The dementia specialist could be in a memory clinic as part of a team specialised in diagnosing, caring for, and advising people with dementia and their families.⁷⁰ Where this community surveillance and referral system has failed, some people might be diagnosed with dementia for the first time at a later stage in the context of a hospital admission or in long-term care facilities.⁷¹ The most recent national target is to ensure that people are seen at a memory service for a dementia diagnosis assessment within six weeks.⁷² In reality, for most people, there are delays between the time when a person or family members start having a concern about dementia, when they reach out for support and when they receive a diagnosis.⁷³ As outlined in the models of how people access healthcare previously, factors such as poor recognition of dementia symptoms, especially in groups where dementia remains stigmatised,⁷⁴ and geographical variations in resources⁷² could act as barriers to getting a timely dementia diagnosis.

According to national dementia strategies,^{69, 72} post-diagnostic support must include a named care coordinator as a first point of contact, who can facilitate person-centred care and treatments, provide information on local services, and develop a care plan. At this stage, depending on the health and care needs of people with dementia, community mental health teams can provide support to manage dementia symptoms, support other mental health diagnoses, and improve their outcomes. However, most people are discharged from specialist services following their diagnosis back to their GP and offered a brief period of post-diagnostic support. Factors such as over-reliance on informal carers to manage and facilitate healthcare appointments, poor recognition and management of comorbidities, and variance in dementia training of the healthcare professionals could impact the quality of the post-diagnostic support people with dementia receive.^{69, 75}

UK Dementia Strategies and the Quality and Outcomes Framework⁷⁶ also endorse an annual dementia review in primary care, which should include an assessment of dementia progression, medications, physical illnesses and weight.⁶⁹ Annual reviews can potentially benefit people with

dementia and their families and have wider impact on their care such as reducing the risk of unplanned hospital admissions, and long-term care home placement following an admission.⁷⁷ However, multiple studies have shown that only around 50% of people with dementia had an annual review.^{78, 79} Considerable inequalities exist in annual review receipt in terms of people's gender, and dementia type. Despite guidance on what should be included in people's annual dementia review, the content and the quality of the reviews varies. Consistent evidence from people with dementia and their families reporting lack of post-diagnostic support and care suggest that their needs may not be adequately addressed.⁸⁰

An accurate and early diagnosis can benefit people with dementia when accompanied by postdiagnostic services that are responsive to their needs. As people get diagnosed with dementia at different stages of the condition, and deteriorate at different rates, it is often difficult to understand when they may be approaching the end of their lives following their diagnosis.⁴⁴ For some people with dementia, the care they receive after diagnosis may also be close to their death. However, the guidance on post-diagnostic care predominantly focuses on living well with dementia,⁶⁹ and end-oflife care tends to treated be separately. Similarly, evidence on the patterns of healthcare use among people with dementia predominantly focuses on a select period of care such as the year after diagnosis or the last year, months or days of life. The care needs of people with dementia are likely to shift from mental health to physical health in more advanced stages, requiring input from other services.

1.2.3.2 Specialist care

People with dementia can experience chronic pain, complex issues due to comorbidities, and psychiatric symptoms that may persist over prolonged periods, which can benefit from specialised input. Healthcare professionals, including mental health teams, old age psychiatrists, geriatricians, and palliative care specialists can provide the expertise needed to support care for people with dementia in the community and hospitals. Having access to clinical experts in dementia care for complex issues can reassure and empower care staff to make changes and improve care.⁸¹ However, active input from dementia specialists to care of people with dementia is limited in the UK.³⁶ Differential referrals to mental health services ⁸² and limited specialist input to the care of people with dementia in hospitals, care homes and people's homes can impair the quality of life of people with dementia and their experiences.^{36, 83} As dementia progresses, the input from palliative and end-of-life care specialists to dementia care may be beneficial and have an impact on reduction of potentially costly and burdensome healthcare use (e.g., A&E visits, unplanned hospital admissions).^{68, 84, 85} However, access to dementia, palliative and end-of-life care specialists for care of people with dementia in community settings and hospitals is limited.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸

1.2.3.3 Health and social care of people with dementia towards the end of life

End of life as a time period is defined by NHS England as the last year of life.⁸⁹ In line with this NHS definition, dementia end-of-life care can be defined as care and support provided to people with dementia who are thought to be in their last year of life. A number of professionals can provide care to people with dementia towards the end of life. This section will focus on the places of care for people with dementia, and key dementia end-of-life health and social care providers.

1.2.3.3.1 Place of care

Where people with dementia live can impact the quality, type, and frequency of healthcare they receive in their last year of life. Towards the end of life, two-thirds of people with dementia live at home (i.e., in their own home or with relatives). People with dementia and their families can access social care services (e.g., provision of meals, carer visits, access to day centres) to address their care needs in the community by undergoing a needs assessment.

As dementia progresses, it may not be possible for an individual with dementia to live at home, and a care home may be a more appropriate place of care. In England, there are two types of care homes: residential care homes without nursing care, and nursing homes where qualified nurse input is available on-site. Some people with dementia with particularly complex needs may be eligible for free social care/care home placement through NHS continuing healthcare and NHS-funded nursing care. Financial and practical (e.g., availability of a care home close to where family lives) constraints often play an important role in the transition of individuals with dementia to a care home. Factors such as not having sufficient support at home and in the community in the face of a crisis may also lead to a transition of care to long-term care facilities for the person with dementia.⁹⁰ However, the optimal time for moving to a care home for people with dementia is unclear.⁹⁰ In England, care homes are the most common place of death for people with dementia.⁸⁶

A tiny proportion of people with dementia in England die in a hospice (0.4%).⁸⁶ Although people with dementia can benefit from hospice care (including hospice at home services which provide specialist palliative care),⁹¹ their access to hospice care in England is inequitable compared to people with cancer.⁹² People from ethnic minority backgrounds were also shown to find some of the healthcare services such hospice and as end-of-life care services less accessible.⁹³

2.2.3.3.2 Palliative care

The role of palliative care for people with dementia is implied due to the life-limiting nature of the condition, especially towards the end of life. Palliative care can be delivered from a generalist (*an approach, which involves all healthcare workers practising palliative care principles as a core skill, supplemented by some healthcare workers who are not engaged full-time in palliative care but have*

had additional training and experience in palliative care⁹⁴) or a specialist approach (services whose core activity is the provision of palliative care to individuals with more complex and demanding care $needs^{94}$).

The integrated model of palliative care proposes the introduction of a palliative care approach to coexist with disease-modifying treatments.⁹⁵ The integrated model of palliative care highlights the continuum of care needed from diagnosis to end of life, and how people's care needs may increase as the disease progresses. Despite the role of palliative care in managing symptoms and improving the quality of life, people with dementia seldom access palliative care prior to the last months or weeks of life. People with dementia have inequitable access to specialist palliative care and other specialist care providers such as dementia clinical nurse specialists and Admiral nurses who are specialist dementia nurses aiming to support families affected by dementia.^{36, 92}

1.2.3.3.3 Primary and community care

People with dementia often receive care from multiple generalist health and care professionals, including their GPs, psychiatrists, and other allied healthcare professionals towards the end of life. In England, the primary care staff provide the majority of end-of-life care and are central in providing and coordinating palliative and end-of-life care for people with dementia in community settings (including care provision to those living in care homes).

Community care facilities and professionals are central for people with dementia who live at home and their families, and involve multidisciplinary care from health and social care professionals, encompassing specialist dementia nurses, day care centres, and other allied healthcare professionals, and paid carers to name a few. In conjunction with the care received from multiple professionals and across care settings, some circumstances, such as complex symptoms, increased healthcare use, and unmet carer needs, may call for episodic specialist palliative care involvement.^{94,} ⁹⁶ Although most people affected by dementia would prefer to receive care closer to home, care in the community may not always be possible, necessitating a visit to hospital. Hospital use by people with dementia towards the end of life has an array of implications on individuals, the economy and the overall health and social care system, warranting a detailed exploration in pursuit of reducing the associated burdens. The next section will describe hospital care for people with dementia, specifically towards the end of life.

1.2.4 Hospital care of people with dementia

People with dementia are more likely to be admitted to the hospital compared to those without dementia from the same age groups, having 1.4 to 4 times more hospital admissions.⁹⁷⁻¹⁰⁰ A systematic review and meta-analysis including data from 277,432 people with dementia has shown

that an increased risk of hospitalisation remains even after adjusting for age, sex, and physical comorbidities (RR 1·4, 95% CI 1·2–1·7).⁹⁷ The mean length of stay in hospital during admission among people with dementia can vary nationally and internationally ranging between 2 to 37 days with factors such as discharge planning, the medical reasons for hospitalisation and comorbidities impacting the length of hospital stay.¹⁰¹ In secondary care settings, people with dementia could experience hospital care in various ways:

- (i) at specialist services, such as at a specialist mental health hospital;
- (ii) as an outpatient where they receive care without an admission;
- during a planned admission, when an elective hospital admission is scheduled for a health condition which requires advanced treatment and hospital care;
- (iv) in an unplanned manner, as an emergency, by a visit to an Accident & Emergency (A&E)
 department or by experiencing a non-elective, unplanned hospital admission.

Ideally, when hospital care is necessary, people with dementia should be in the hospital as briefly as possible and, where possible, their visit or admission should be planned.¹⁰² As dementia progresses, and towards the end of life, most people prefer to avoid hospital visits.¹⁰³ Going to a hospital can be harmful and stressful for people with dementia; they may not receive adequate pain relief,¹⁰⁴ may experience delirium, may receive potentially harmful medications,¹⁰² and may experience cognitive and functional decline following their hospital can be preventative to improve quality of life, and can thus be seen as proactive management of health.¹⁰⁶ On the other hand, unplanned care is often caused by a crisis, and may be an indication of dysfunctions in other parts of the care system. It is therefore important to make a distinction between different healthcare services which can be experienced in a hospital.

1.2.4.1 Unplanned hospital use

For people with dementia, hospitals are a common place of care. In the UK, approximately one in four people staying in hospitals have a dementia diagnosis. Among hospital admissions in people with dementia, the majority were unplanned.⁹⁸ In England, unplanned hospital admission rates for people with dementia are higher than for those without.⁹⁸ The high incidence of hospital visits and admissions among people with dementia are of interest to researchers and policymakers, as the benefit to people with dementia remains unclear, while the associated high costs cannot be ignored. For people with dementia, hospitalisation may reflect a lack of alternative care provision in the community.¹⁰⁷ Most medical reasons for the A&E attendances and hospitalisations among people with dave
been treated in the community if detected early enough.¹⁰⁸ People with dementia and their families also often visit A&Es due to non-medical emergencies including social crises.¹⁰⁹ People with dementia may visit A&E departments as it may be the path of least resistance, with 82.6% experiencing at least one A&E visit in the last year of life.¹¹⁰ The number of A&E visits increases towards death.¹¹⁰ People with dementia who visit an A&E may also subsequently experience an unplanned hospital admission.

Evidence from large retrospective cohort studies conducted in England showed that around 50% of people with dementia were hospitalised within a year of receiving their diagnosis, and that individuals with more severe dementia had longer hospital stays.^{98, 111} Evidence from the US and the UK show that hospital use in individuals with dementia increases during the year of death.^{112, 113} Evidence from England revealed that multiple unplanned hospital admissions in the last 90 days of life of people with dementia are associated with factors such as being male, from a deprived area, depressed mood and presence of physical illness.¹¹⁴ Having comorbidities and the type and severity of dementia diagnosis further influence people's risk of hospitalisation.^{37, 115} The number of socioeconomic risk factors a person has is associated with the higher likelihood of hospitalisation.¹¹⁶ People with dementia who live in highly deprived areas have a significantly higher risk of unplanned hospital admissions and a lower probability of elective admissions.¹¹⁷ On the other hand, primary care providers' identification of palliative care needs and being seen by the same GP in the last year of life are associated with fewer unplanned hospital admissions in the last three months of life.¹¹⁸

Apart from people's personal characteristics, and interactions with other health and social care services, the characteristics of healthcare services themselves may also impact their unplanned hospital admissions. For instance, GP practice level factors such as the age and location (urbanicity) of the practice, the demographic make-up of the GP catchment area, and the Clinical Commissioning Group's budget allocated to mental health have been found to be associated with the rates of unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia.¹¹⁹ Evidence shows that people with dementia living in a care home were less likely to have unplanned hospital admissions in the last year of life.^{114, 118} Also, at an area level, living in a care home with nursing staff (i.e., nursing home) was associated with lower likelihood of attending an A&E department among people with dementia in the last year of life.⁴¹ Dementia care in the community, including care home placements, can be costly and commonly it is subsidised by self-funders, further exacerbating the urgent need for hospital use experiences among people with dementia. Further evidence is needed to enhance our understanding of when in relation to formal recognition of people's dementia diagnosis these events start occurring more frequently and for whom.

Chapter 1: Background

1.2.4.2. Critical care admissions

During a hospital admission, people with dementia can spend time in different parts of the hospital, preferably on 'dementia-friendly' wards, which are designed and organised to minimise distress experienced of people with dementia as much as possible.¹²⁰ Admissions to critical care units, on the other hand, can exacerbate likelihood of having delirium, further cognitive decline, and mortality among people with dementia. Critical care is provided when people with potentially recoverable conditions or who have had accidents or injuries may benefit from detailed observation, organ support, and invasive treatments.¹²¹ Although sometimes essential, the benefits of a critical care admission may be outweighed by its burden for people with dementia, especially if they are nearing the end of life.¹²² Hence, a high incidence of critical care admissions among people with dementia towards the end of life may signal potentially inappropriate and burdensome care provision. Further to the potential burdensome interventions and experiences of people with dementia and their families, critical care admissions are costly. Further research is needed for understanding the use of critical care admissions on the quality of life of people with dementia, especially regative impact of critical care admissions on the quality of life of people with dementia, especially towards the end of life, and associated high costs to the individuals and the healthcare system.

Deciding who should be admitted to a critical care unit can be a difficult task; it requires weighing up the potential benefits and possibility of recovery with risks for each patient, considering the dementia severity and physical frailty of the person, patient and family expectations and limited resources such as bed availability in and out of the critical care units.¹²³ A critical care admission for a person with dementia who may be approaching the end of their life may not be appropriate.¹²⁴ The rates and the nature (e.g., treatments, length of stay, palliative care provision) of critical care admissions of people with dementia vary across countries^{125, 126} and are impacted by cultural factors, funding of the healthcare systems, and systemic factors such as bed availability.¹²¹ Increases in critical care admission rates among people with dementia in the last month and year of life has been identified in the US and Belgium.^{127, 128} On the other hand, in some countries, such as Taiwan, a decrease in critical care use among people with dementia towards the end of life was observed following the introduction of home palliative care provision.¹²⁵ The incidence and the nature of critical care admissions among people with dementia in England remain unexplored.

1.2.4.3 Hospital deaths among people with dementia

Among the existing dementia end-of-life care policies, one of the most common quality indicators (QIs) for measuring the success of implemented actions is the place of death.¹²⁹ Although care homes are the most common place of death for people with dementia, England has one of the highest rates of hospital death in dementia among European countries.^{86, 130} People with dementia

who are older, live in more affluent areas, with more care home provision are less like to die in a hospital and more likely to die in a care home.⁸⁶ A high proportion of people with dementia dying in hospitals is accepted to be an indicator of poor care quality and a pointer to lack of community resources which may inhibit people with dementia from dying outside of hospitals.^{86, 131, 132} Place of care and death are often used as quality indicators as they are easy to measure.¹³³ However, focusing on where people die is a simplistic approach to quantifying the quality of care received by people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life. It only provides a snapshot of where people died and implies that all hospital deaths are undesirable and not in line with people's preferences. Changing societal structure and expectations, e.g., cultures becoming more individualistic, older people living alone or away from their families who may support them may result in a shift of preference towards being in a hospital rather than at home.¹³⁴ To get a better understanding of the quality of care received by people with dementia who may be approaching their other interactions with health and social care must be explored.

1.2.5 Dynamic patterns of multiple healthcare use

People with dementia often receive multidisciplinary care from separate services across the healthcare system to meet their changing care needs so that they can live well and independently for as long possible and to manage potentially complex symptoms as they approach the end of their lives. As demonstrated above by evidence of how different characteristics affect healthcare use and outcomes, every person with dementia will likely have different needs and experiences. People with dementia may experience regular appointments, monitoring of their medications, when necessary, social, and nursing support, community visits from dementia specialists, and hospital care at different time points while living with dementia. Studies of healthcare use among people with dementia predominantly focus on the use of one healthcare service, and for limited periods of time, consequently identifying incomplete healthcare use and trajectories.

Focusing on a single healthcare process or outcome (e.g., annual review post-diagnosis or place of death) is common in research and policies. However, this information only provides a snapshot of the care received by the person and does not tell us about the care received throughout their time living and dying with dementia, and importantly how different services complement or substitute each other. Important gaps exist in our knowledge about the interplay between multiple healthcare services when the use of healthcare services is examined in silos. Varying trajectories of functional decline and morbidity among people with dementia are likely to be reflected in dissimilar patterns of healthcare use. Increasing diversity among the dementia population, and their needs also

Chapter 1: Background

necessitate a greater understanding of which services people with dementia are using, which services they need and who may not be receiving optimal care.

While policies and service configuration err towards a "one size fits all" approach when describing people with dementia and the services they need, the research evidence is growing in support of multiple dementia care pathways. Gaining understanding of clusters of healthcare use would enable understanding the care quality, and delivery of effective interventions to address care needs, improve access to beneficial services, and care planning to prevent unnecessary use of services.

There is growing evidence from studies conducted in other countries analysing healthcare use and expenditure trajectories towards the end of life, that healthcare use patterns observed among people approaching death may be affected by events occurring long before the last year of life.^{135 136-138} For instance, a person with dementia may receive care from community dementia specialist nurses for several years, yet may experience an unplanned hospital admission, and die in hospital. On the other hand, another person with dementia might visit A&E multiple times, prior to their transition to a care home and die outside of the hospital. Provision of high-quality care to people who may be approaching the end of life care needs come apparent. This is particularly relevant for people with dementia whose prognosis is difficult to predict. Experts opinions on early introduction of interventions aiming to improve end-of-life of people with dementia vary.¹³⁹ A better understanding of healthcare use and identifying associated potentially modifiable factors in the run up to death can inform policies aimed at reducing costs while not compromising the quality of care. Identifying appropriate population-based quality indicators for dementia end-of-life care could inform which aspects of healthcare use should be prioritised for exploration.

People with dementia who may be approaching their end of life are disadvantaged compared to people with other terminal conditions such as cancer.^{88, 140, 141} Variations in care quality in terms of experiencing unfair and avoidable differences in care persist within care and within the population living with dementia.^{140, 142} Previous sections have highlighted where and how people with dementia receive care from the point of their diagnosis to the end of life, their patterns of healthcare use and the recommended dementia care guidelines. To make informed judgements on quality of the healthcare use among people with dementia, an understanding of how the quality of care can be conceptualised and measured is needed.

Chapter 1: Background

1.3 Quality of care

1.3.1 Defining quality of care

With the growing demand for health care, rise in multimorbidities, associated costs and variations in clinical practice, assessing the quality of care provided at a population-level has become necessary for many countries. Formal care received can be further defined as care delivered by any health or social care professional when an individual accesses an institution within the formal healthcare system. To assess, monitor and improve areas of care, what is meant by quality of healthcare should also be clarified.

Quality of care has been defined in many ways. First, a system-based framework was proposed by Donabedian, widely accepted as the basis for defining the quality of health care.¹⁴³ Within this framework, quality can be categorised into structures (organisational factors that define health system), processes (the actual care given; interactions between users and the health care structure; in essence, what is done to or with user), and outcomes (consequences of care; structure, as well as processes, may influence the outcome, indirectly or directly).^{51, 143} While defining quality of care, it is crucial to consider the context. Contextual factors at local and national levels will impact the quality of care, and are generally out of healthcare providers' control. For instance, Stewart et al. ¹⁴⁴ built on Donabedian's concept of care quality in their model of care for dying persons, which puts more prominence on the environment of care, and satisfaction with care. Additionally, while structures and processes are components of care, outcomes are not a component but potentially consequences of the structures and processes (e.g., interventions, interpersonal communication) received by the individuals.⁵¹ It is tempting to focus on the outcome category of quality of care. Yet, it could be challenging to determine causal links between the processes and structures and the outcomes experienced. This framework has been adopted in definitions and measurements of care quality. In England, the NHS uses the following definition for care quality:

"Care that is effective, safe and provides as positive an experience as possible by being caring, responsive and personalised. Care should also be well-led, sustainable and equitable, achieved through providers and commissioners working together and in partnership with, and for, local people and communities."⁵⁰

The quality of care experienced by a population can be assessed with references to various domains such as timeliness, access, effectiveness, safety and cost-effectiveness to name a few (<u>Appendix 1</u>). Priorities and measurements relevant to each quality of care domain for a population might differ and at times conflict with each other. Nevertheless, definitions of the quality of care often include multiple care domains, and lack of attention to one may influence the other.

At the population level, quality of care could be defined as *"the ability to access effective care on an efficient and equitable basis for the optimisation of health benefit/well-being for the whole population"* (p.1617).⁵¹ From the definition mentioned earlier, having access to care is crucial. Without equitable and timely access to care, the other domains, such as effectiveness, safety and person-centredness of care become redundant. Access does not equate to healthcare use. However, supply factors and structures of healthcare systems are strong determinants (e.g., In the US, uninsured people are unlikely to have access and hence utilise many aspects of care). In theory, England's healthcare system (NHS) provides equal access to effective care for all users (horizontal equity) as healthcare is free, but people may experience barriers to access. Timeliness of access to effective care when needed and whether greater access is there for those who have more needs (vertical equity) are harder to ensure even within a free healthcare system.

As people with dementia approach the end of their lives, supporting health, independent living, and improving health in long-term become less of a priority, whereas improving person-centred care experiences, in a safe and timely manner take precedence. From a policy and service planning perspective, certain aspects of the quality of care such as value for money, and capacity of the appropriate services often take precedence. However, as described in the previous chapter regarding the patterns of healthcare use among people with dementia, understanding the quality of care received by people with dementia from one service may require considering the quality of other available services.

1.3.2 Measuring quality of care

Assessing the quality of care is a challenging and an inherently iterative process, where assessments lead to maintenance or improvements where needed. The quality of care can be explored by measuring the individual-level care experiences: patient-reported outcome measures and patient and carer experience measures, and the overview of quality at a population level with quality indicators (QIs). QIs are explicitly defined, measurable items of practice performance that, alongside (review) criterion and performance standards, can be used to judge the quality of care provided by healthcare organisations, governments, researchers and other non-governmental organisations such as the Care Quality Commission (CQC), the World Health Organisation (WHO), and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).^{145, 146} QIs enable the identification of services that deliver excellent care as well as those that require improvement, and the effectiveness of new interventions and services.¹⁴⁷

Studies analysing existing datasets have focused on various aspects of access to care, treatments, and survival for people with dementia approaching the end of life. However, the lack of credible QIs

often makes the interpretation of their findings and what they indicate about the quality of care received by people with dementia approaching the end of life difficult. To be credible, QIs should be based on empirical evidence (or combine best available evidence with professional consensus), be scientifically sound, feasible and easy to collect for the healthcare systems and be acceptable to key stakeholders.^{148, 149}

Historically, QIs were developed predominantly for measuring healthcare aspects of preventative public health initiatives and those aiming to improve or eradicate diseases.¹⁴⁷ Additionally, as up until recently, palliative and end-of-life care was deemed to be appropriate solely for care of people with cancer, measuring the quality of palliative care practices, provided to people with other terminal conditions such as dementia and frailty was not a priority. Evidence-based practices for older, frail and dementia populations approaching the end of life are increasing, yet if the QIs are not psychometrically robust and applicable to the existing systems, the interpretations of this quality measurement will be inevitably problematic. To improve the quality of care provided to people with dementia approaching the end of life, population-based, valid, and reliable quality indicators are needed. Studies recommending population-based quality indicators and outcomes for use with routine data for people with dementia approaching the end of life have been mostly based on expert opinions.¹⁴⁸ Additionally, for people with life-limiting conditions such as cancer, QIs often take into account patient preference, whereas in dementia, people may not be able to express what they want or have capacity to make decisions. Suitability of available population-based quality indicators for the evaluation of end-of-life dementia care is relatively unexplored. Identifying appropriate population-based quality indicators for dementia end-of-life care could inform which aspects of healthcare use should be prioritised for exploration.

1.3.3 Quality of quality indicators

The development and testing of QIs is a resource-intensive and time-consuming process. To be able to inform health and social care professionals, researchers and policymakers on the choice of appropriate QIs, it is more efficient to assess the properties of existing QIs, which could be applied efficiently rather than develop new QIs. To be credible, QIs should be based on empirical evidence (or combine best available evidence with professional consensus), be scientifically sound, and be acceptable to key stakeholders.^{148, 149} The systematic review presented in <u>Chapter 3</u> seeks to inform choices of the robust quality indicators for classification of people with dementia approaching the end of life.

1.4 Policy priorities for the care of people with dementia towards the end of life

For dementia care, European and global policies commonly include raising awareness, early diagnosis with person-centred, integrated care, fiscal investment, further research, training and education for the workforce, and increased involvement of people with dementia, and care and support for living at home.¹⁵⁰ The absence of end-of-life care-focused recommendations is noticeable. On the other hand, WHO's global action plan on dementia ¹⁵¹ acknowledges the role of dementia palliative and end-of-life care from the point of diagnosis. However, whilst palliative and end-of-life care is mentioned among dementia care policy documents,¹⁵² it is seldom prioritised,¹⁵³ and dementia palliative and end-of-life care in policies are rarely coupled with concrete implementation plans or resource allocation.¹⁵³ The momentum for improving access to a timely dementia diagnosis in policies and practice has not yet translated to efforts for better end-of-life care.

Policies which include plans on improving end-of-life dementia care have a clear focus on reducing the unnecessary use of secondary care (i.e., hospitals). The NHS Long Term Plan proposes personalised care to improve the quality of end-of-life care, reducing avoidable hospital admissions and enabling people to die in their preferred place of death.¹⁵⁴ The NHS Five Year Forward View, which sets out a vision for the future of the NHS, focuses on dementia diagnosis and post-diagnostic support to reduce crises and avoid unnecessary hospital admissions.¹⁵⁵ However, these policies lack references to the need or effectiveness of proposed interventions. Finally, integrated care systems in England, which are "partnerships bringing together NHS organisations, local authorities and others to take collective responsibility for planning services, improving health and reducing inequalities across geographical areas" were formalised as legal entities during this PhD, with the passage of 2022 Health and Care Act.^{6, 156} Concepts of integrated dementia care and integration of palliative care into dementia care have been previously explored, but with limited exploration of the patterns of healthcare use in current practice.^{28, 85, 157} This legal change in the delivery of care in England, reiterated the need for exploring how multiple services deliver care concurrently to meet the complex needs of people with dementia until the end of life. A better understanding is needed of who might need these interventions the most, of the best timing for interventions, and of the professionals to involve. These policies and the research evidence lack findings related to the timing of increased use of potentially burdensome and inappropriate care, and its distribution among people with dementia. Lack of this information makes it difficult to implement interventions which may minimise the receipt of inappropriate care. Hence, it may be informative to understand what may have been happening earlier on in the disease trajectory, and whether events occurring near the time of diagnosis have an impact on the events occurring towards the end of life.

Chapter 1: Background

1.4.1 The role of routine data in dementia care and policy

Routine datasets are self-evidently important resources for quantifying the quality of care provided to people with dementia around the end of their lives, a necessary step towards developing and evaluating improvement and equity, and policy formulation. There are ongoing national and international efforts in place to improve the research access to broad (*relating to the number of individuals represented in a dataset*) and deep (*an indication of the number of measures and granularity of those measures related to each individual*) data regarding dementia care.^{158, 159} Evidence highlighted throughout this chapter include numerous routine data and linkage studies, with a focus on the role of routine data in assessing care quality. To maximise the benefits of routine data research in improving care, there is a strong argument for the role of governments in supporting the role of the routine data in dementia policies. Governments can support the infrastructure, trust-building, access and linkage of data required for assessing dementia care and align the different relevant policy areas such as health and social care, or labour and economic domains to meet the needs of people affected by dementia. Inclusion of the role of routine data in dementia care and dementia care research policies is becoming more common with promising national and international initiatives to improve access and the quality of routine data.

Routinely collected data (e.g., insurance claims, electronic health records, hospital records, disease registries, population census, and death certificates) are increasingly used in healthcare research.^{127,} ^{162, 163} The turn of the century (2000s) marked an increase in the use of routine datasets to identify issues in access to and quality of care,¹⁶⁴ in addition to mapping healthcare pathways of people with dementia.¹⁶⁵ With more and more healthcare organisations moving towards fully digitalised healthcare records, large amounts of information can be retrieved safely and analysed appropriately using advanced analytic software at a limited cost.¹⁶⁶ Since then, various areas of dementia care and support (e.g., health and social care interactions,¹⁶⁷ economic evaluations,¹³⁸ mortality,¹⁶⁸ medications and other interventions,¹⁶⁹ disease progression¹⁷⁰) have been investigated. For conditions such as cancer and heart disease, more relevant clinical measures than those available for dementia are embedded in data collection at national and international levels, and established disease registries encompassing all stages of the disease progression have been in operation for longer periods than more recent dementia registries (e.g., the National Cancer Registration Dataset which includes information from multidisciplinary team meetings, pathology reports, and treatments).¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³ However, the quality, reproducibility and comparability of dementia studies using routinely collected data are improving.

1.5 Summary

The background chapter provided an overview of the changing dementia population, healthcare provision and healthcare use of people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life, and the policy context. Growing acknowledgement of the complexity of experiences of dementia and interactions with healthcare necessitates a comprehensive exploration of and how the quality of care can be assessed using routine data, patterns of healthcare use and judgements regarding the quality of care received by people with dementia who may be approaching the end of their lives.

Chapter 2: Systematic review – Quality indicators

The text in this chapter of the thesis is based on an article titled "Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review"¹¹ which has been published in the following peer-reviewed journal:

Yorganci E, Sampson EL, Gillam J, Aworinde J, Leniz J, Williamson LE, Cripps RL, Stewart R, Sleeman KE. Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2021 Dec;69(12):3650-60. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17387

Personal contributions to the publication: I was responsible for devising the study approach, compiling the search terms, identifying suitable databases, running the searches, extracting, and screening the records. Lesley Williamson, Rachel Cripps, and Javiera Leniz were involved in the double-screening process. I designed the data extraction template for the papers and the psychometric properties of the quality indicators. I extracted the information relevant to the included papers and the quality indicators from included papers. Jesutofunmi Aworinde and Juliet Gillam were involved in the extraction of data regarding the psychometric properties of quality indicators. I completed and checked the psychometric properties of the manuscript and prepared the supplementary materials. My PhD supervisors were consulted throughout and provided input on the analysis plan and review and editing of the manuscript. I would like to acknowledge Lesley Henson for her advice.

2.1 Introduction

Older people are characterized by clinical and social factors that increase their risk of poor care at the end of life.¹⁷⁴ With older age, the presence of multiple chronic conditions, frailty and unpredictable illness trajectories become more common, necessitating multi-faceted care provided across different services to meet various needs.¹⁷⁵ While dementia is not exclusively a disease of late life, older age is the strongest predictor of risk for dementia. Having a dementia diagnosis at an older age, coupled with physical needs might lead to a faster decline.¹⁷⁶ Older people might receive a late dementia diagnosis, with the dementia symptoms manifesting years before the diagnosis.¹⁷⁷ Moreover, the point at which people with dementia might start having increased care needs is unclear.⁵⁷ Identifying the end-of-life phase can be difficult, particularly for people with conditions other than cancer, including frailty or dementia.⁹³

Care of older people generally has commonalities with that provided for people with dementia, such as considerations for the place of care and transitions across care settings.^{176, 177} Thus, uncertainties around when dementia might require adjustments to care and treatments and the timing of

diagnosis justify taking an inclusive approach which likely covers care provided to people with dementia who may not be diagnosed and those with dementia who are may be nearing the end of their lives.

People aged 85 years old or older and those with dementia are under-represented in specialist palliative care services,⁹² but they are predominant users of other health and social care services towards the end of life, which also aim to address palliative and end-of-life care needs. Systemic quality monitoring is needed to learn from good care practices and improve areas of care where needed. To ensure continuity and coordination of care demands, quality of care across care settings should be assessed with robust QIs, which could be used with routinely collected information.

Measuring the quality of care provided to older people and those with dementia towards the end of life is nascent compared to relatively more established ways of the measuring quality of care provided to people with cancer who are nearing the end of life. Previous systematic reviews of palliative and end-of-life care QIs have predominantly included QIs which were developed for the care of people with cancer or those developed for general palliative care and were validated with data from cancer patients and their families.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ Numerous QIs have been developed for the care of older, frail people and those with dementia who may be nearing the of life in the last 20 years. However, the quality of the previously developed QIs, and their feasibility still need to be established.

2.2 Publication 1: Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review

To explore the quality of care provided to the population, it was essential to identify appropriate QIs for this population which are usable with routinely collected electronic data. Routinely collected electronic data enables measuring the quality of care provided to people over time and across different care settings while avoiding generating additional data collection tasks.¹⁸¹ The psychometric properties of QIs developed for measuring the care of dementia and older people who were approaching the end of life, were assessed. Although dementia is not synonymous with old age, there are similarities between the two, especially toward the end of life, in terms of demographics, health and social care needs, and service use.^{176, 177} Hence, the inclusion of QIs used for care of older people may provide opportunities to capture aspects of care which may be overlooked in dementia-specific publications. The resulting publication is presented here are presented below as the accepted manuscript for publication to ensure that figures and small text are readable. This publication reports a shortlist of robust quality indicators for the care of older people and people with people nearing the end of life, which are usable with routinely collected electronic

data across all care settings (Publication 1, published in Journal of American Geriatrics Society, 2021).

The majority the supplementary material made available online with the publication presented below is provided in <u>Appendix 2</u>. Methodological details essential for understanding Publication 1, which are provided in the supplementary material made available online with the publication, are instead presented in the sections (Sections 2.2.1 & 2.2.2) after the publication.

Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review

Authors and affiliations: Emel Yorganci^a MSc, Elizabeth L Sampson^{b,c} MD, Juliet Gillam^a MSc, Jesutofunmi Aworinde^a MSc, Javiera Leniz^a MD, Lesley Thoms^a MSc, Rachel L Cripps^a MSc, Robert Stewart^{d,e} MD, Katherine E Sleeman^a PhD

^aCicely Saunders Institute, King's College London, Florence Nightingale Faculty of Nursing, Midwifery & Palliative Care, London, UK ^bMarie Curie Palliative Care Research Department, Division of Psychiatry, University College London, London, UK ^cBarnet Enfield and Haringey Mental Health Trust Liaison Psychiatry Team, North Middlesex University Hospital, London, UK ^dInstitute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK ^eSouth London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

Corresponding author: Emel Yorganci

Cicely Saunders Institute, King's College London, Bessemer Road, London, SE5 9PJ, UK, <u>emel.yorganci@kcl.ac.uk</u>, @emelasml

Running title: QIs for dementia and older people nearing the end of life

Funding information: This project is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) ESRC/NIHR dementia initiative 2018 (Grant Reference Number ES/S010327/1). KES is funded by an NIHR Clinician Scientist Fellowship (CS-2015-15-005), and is the Laing Galazka Chair in palliative care at King's College London, funded by an endowment from Cicely Saunders International and the Kirby Laing Foundation. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Word counts: Abstract: 269, Main text: 3420, Tables and figures: 5 (3 Tables & 2 Figure)

Key points:

- We identified 976 quality indicators (QIs). 508 QIs were judged to be robust, 231 moderate and 237 poor in terms of their psychometric properties. The majority of the QIs were not designed for use with routinely collected electronic datasets
- Few QIs have been developed regarding the legal, ethical, spiritual, and cultural aspects of care.
- 71 robust quality indicators (QIs) for care of older people and people with dementia nearing the end of life which can be used with routinely collected electronic data, across care settings are provided

Why does this paper matter?

The use of robust quality indicators with routinely collected electronic datasets will promote monitoring and improving the care provided to older people and people with dementia approaching the end of life.

Abstract

Background: Robust quality indicators (QIs) are essential for monitoring and improving the quality of care and learning from good practice. We aimed to identify and assess QIs for the care of older people and people with dementia who are nearing the end of life and recommend QIs for use with routinely collected electronic data across care settings.

Methods: Systematic review, including five databases and reference chaining. Studies describing development of QIs for care of older people and those with dementia nearing the end of life were included. QIs were categorised as relating to processes or outcomes, and mapped against six care domains. The psychometric properties (acceptability, evidence base, definition, feasibility, reliability, and validity) of each QI were assessed; QIs were categorised as robust, moderate or poor.

Results: From 12,980 titles and abstracts screened, 37 papers and 976 QIs were included. Process and outcome QIs accounted for 780 (79.7%) and 196 (20.3%) of all QIs, respectively. Many of the QIs concerned physical aspects of care (n=492, 50.4%), and fewest concerned spiritual and cultural aspects of care (n=19, 1.9%). 315 (32.3%) QIs were robust and of those 220 were measurable using routinely collected electronic data. The final shortlist of 71 QIs came from seven studies.

Conclusions: Of numerous QIs developed for care of older adults and those with dementia nearing the end of life, most had poor or moderate psychometric properties or were not designed for use with routinely collected electronic datasets. Infrastructure for data availability, combined with use of robust QIs, is important for enhancing understanding of care provided to this population, identifying unmet needs, and improving service provision. **Keywords:** End-of-life care, quality indicators, healthcare, dementia, geriatrics

Background

The number of older people and people with dementia who have palliative care needs is increasing.¹ The prevalence of dementia at death is around 30% in high-income countries, and with the aging population this number is rising globally.^{2,3} Delivering high quality care to meet complex needs arising from the interaction between physical and psychological needs, polypharmacy, clinical uncertainty and care preferences can be challenging. ^{4,5,6,7}

Monitoring and improving healthcare of populations requires quality indicators (QIs) which can be obtained from routinely collected electronic datasets. Routinely collected electronic data can enable assessment and comparison of the care provided to people over time, across different care settings, nationally and internationally, while avoiding generating additional data collection tasks.⁸ QIs enable identification of services that deliver excellent care, and those that might require improvement. At an aggregated level, QIs can also be used to assess the effectiveness of new interventions and services.⁹ QIs should ideally be accessible from routinely collected electronic datasets, supported by high quality evidence, and endorsed by key stakeholders.^{8,9}

Development and testing of QIs are resource-intensive and time-consuming processes. Numerous QIs have been developed to assess care of older people and those with dementia nearing the end of life. However, the properties and robustness of these QIs have not been systematically synthesised. To our knowledge, no systematic reviews have focused on QIs for the care of older people and those with dementia approaching the end of life.¹⁰⁻¹² Although dementia is not synonymous with old age, there are similarities between the two patient cohorts towards the end of life in terms of demographics, and health and social care needs and service use.^{13,14} Most people living with dementia are older than 60 years old¹⁵ and people with dementia comprise 40-70% of older adults living in long-term care

facilities.^{16,17} Older people and people with dementia follow a similar, prolonged pattern of decline towards the end of life.¹⁸ The aims of this systematic review were: (1) to identify and assess the psychometric properties of QIs for the care of older people or people with dementia nearing the end of life; (2) to recommend QIs measurable using routinely collected electronic data across care settings.

Methods

Search strategy

We searched MEDLINE, EMBASE, PsycINFO, Web of Science, and CINAHL from inception to 14 February 2020. No study design or language limitations were applied. References of key studies and grey literature (i.e., publications produced by organisations outside the traditional academic publishing such as reports, working papers and white papers) were searched. Search terms for each database are provided in Supplementary Table S1. Definitions are provided in Table 1. Eligible studies (Supplementary Table S2) were those describing the development, review, and/or testing of QIs for the care of adults with dementia and/or those who were older, and who were nearing the end of life.

When QIs were developed and evaluated over time and/or reported across multiple papers, data were extracted from the most recent publication, considering any refinements made. Publications reporting the application of existing QIs to clinical practice were used for reference chaining but excluded from the final list of papers. We excluded studies with adults younger than 60 years old. Papers focusing predominantly on cancer and other disease-specific QIs (e.g., chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, end-stage renal failure) were also excluded. Service performance related QIs were excluded. Study authors were contacted to request additional information as required. The review was reported in accordance with Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta analyses

(PRISMA) reporting guideline (Supplementary Table S3) and the protocol was registered with PROSPERO (CRD42020170296).¹⁹ Ethical approval was not required.

Study selection and data extraction

Identified references were downloaded into EndNote reference manager for de-duplication. Title and abstract screening was performed by one reviewer (EY), and all papers were double-screened at the full-text (EY, JL, LT, RC). Papers with ambiguous content or with discrepancies regarding eligibility were discussed with a second reviewer until a consensus was reached.

Data from the included studies were extracted (EY, JG, JA) into an Excel spreadsheet developed for the review (Supplementary link S4). Data extracted about each study included bibliographical information, aim, design, setting, country, population, and data source. Data extracted about each QI were based on a systematic review focusing on end-of-life cancer care QIs¹² and the care domains adapted from National Consensus Project's guidelines for quality palliative care (developed in the USA and used by numerous organisations).²⁰ Information retrieved included 1) QI type (*process: what care is given and received; or outcome: changes in health status or quality of life*¹¹), 2) care domain ('*operational', 'physical', 'psychosocial', 'spiritual and cultural', 'communication, advance care planning, ethical and legal', 'other (including QIs that cover multiple care domains)*^{12,20}), 3) numerator and denominator descriptions, and 4) information on psychometric properties (*acceptability, evidence base, definition, feasibility, reliability,* and *validity*). If the information required was not available in the included paper, backward and forward reference checks were made using Google Scholar.

Data analysis

Assessment of psychometric properties of each QI were double-checked and discussed between assessors (EY, JG, JA) and other author (KES) where necessary. The six psychometric properties (acceptability, evidence base, definition, feasibility, reliability, and validity) have been shown to be important for assessment of individual QIs²¹⁻²³ and similar criteria have been used previously for assessing sets of QIs.²⁴ Assessment of psychometric properties was based on well-established criteria with four possible ratings: positive (*positive supporting evidence (e.g.,* \geq 70% of an expert QI development panel (e.g., healthcare professionals, policymakers) agree that the QI is valid)), intermediate (doubts about the psychometric property (e.g., some but not all aspects of QI were clearly defined)), negative (disproving evidence about the assessed psychometric property (e.g., QI data collection, analysis or interpretation not feasible)), and unknown (no published information available to make a judgement about the psychometric property (e.g., reliability of QI was not reported)).^{10,12,21} Further information on the definition and assessment of psychometric properties is provided in Supplementary Table S5.

Ratings of the psychometric properties were used to classify each QI's overall usability as robust, moderate, or weak. QIs with three or more positive ratings across six psychometric categories were classified as robust. The final recommended shortlist included 1) QIs relevant across care settings (e.g., not just hospice); 2) QIs that were not reliant on a specific survey/data assessment tool; 3) robust QIs; 4) QIs measurable using routinely collected electronic data. We used reference chaining to locate if QIs had been developed or tested for use with routinely collected electronic data such as electronic health records or insurance records. Where duplicate or related QIs were identified (e.g., depression screening for people diagnosed with dementia), the QI with i) better psychometric

properties, and ii) a broader denominator (greater sensitivity; applicable to more people) was chosen.²⁵

Results

Studies

We identified 12,980 publications from the electronic databases, after de-duplication. An additional 19 publications were identified through reference chaining. Of these, 37 papers met the eligibility criteria (Figure 1) (Supplementary Table S6). Studies were from the USA (n=15)²⁶⁻⁴⁰, Canada (n=6)⁴¹⁻⁴⁶, The Netherlands (n=3)⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹, Belgium (n=3)^{50,51}, the UK (n=4)⁵²⁻⁵⁵, Australia (n=2)^{56,57}, Republic of Korea (n=1)⁵⁸, Japan (n=1)⁵⁹, Sweden (n=1)⁶⁰, Italy (n=1)⁶¹ and Spain (n=1)⁶¹. One paper covered QIs for Belgium, Italy and Spain⁶¹ and one paper conducted a comparative study between the USA, Europe and Canada.⁶² Of 37 papers, 11 focused on care of older people nearing the end of life, nine on dementia end-of-life care, and 17 papers focused on end-of-life care of both populations. Eight papers described QIs focusing on care provided in hospital, 12 papers focused on community-based care and 17 papers described QIs which could be applied across settings.

Quality indicators

From the 37 papers, 976 QIs (Supplementary link S4) were identified. Of these, 780 (79.7%) were categorised by type as 'process' QIs and 196(20.3%) as 'outcome' QIs. The distribution of QIs by care domains was as follows: physical (n=492, 50.4%); 'communication, advance care planning, and ethical and legal' (n=203, 20.8%); psychosocial (n=117, 12.0%); operational (110, 11.3%); multiple domains (n=35, 3.6%); and 'spiritual and cultural' (n=19, 1.9%). Table 2 provides a summary of topics which were covered by the QIs within each care domain. Only 65 (6.9%) QIs were coupled with a benchmark value (i.e., a standard value against which the quality of care delivered can be measured). Just over half (n=543, 55.6%)

of QIs came from one QI set⁶³ or adaptations of it to specific populations, care settings or countries.^{29,30,35,45,59} The population of interest for 76.5% (n=747) of the QIs was people who were likely to be nearing the end of life, while 23.5% (n=229) of the QIs focused on people who had died. Data extracted about the studies and the QIs can be found in Supplementary link S4.

Assessment of psychometric properties

Most of the QIs identified were rated as 'positive' for at least one of the six psychometric properties (acceptability, evidence base, definition, feasibility, reliability, and validity) (Table 3). We were not able to make a judgement (marked as 'unknown') for at least one psychometric property in 846 (88.5%) QIs. Positive ratings of psychometric properties were as follows: acceptability (n=786, 80.5%), evidence base (n=760, 77.9%), definition (n=512, 52.5%), feasibility (n=494, 50.6%), reliability (n=170, 17.4%), and validity (n=614, 62.9%).

Overall, 508 QIs were judged to be robust, 231 moderate and 237 weak in terms of their psychometric properties. Of 508 robust QIs, 315 were unique QIs (i.e., not duplicated in other papers which developed QIs). When categorised into care domains, most of the unique, robust QIs focused on physical aspects of care (n=204, 64.8%), followed with communication (n=43, 13.7%), operational (n=29, 9.2%), psychosocial (n=28, 8.9%), other (n=6, 1.9%) and spiritual (n=5, 1.6%) aspects of care (Table 2). 220 robust QIs that could be used with routinely collected electronic data were identified.

Shortlist of recommended QIs for use with routinely collected electronic datasets The shortlisted 71 QIs came from seven papers (Supplementary Table S7).^{26,28,39,43,45,48,50} The majority (n=54, 76.1%) of these QIs referred to a process of care, while the rest (n=27,23.9%) were outcome QIs. The final recommended QIs concerned physical (n=29),

operational (n=17), communication, advance care planning and legal (n=15), psychosocial (n=9) and spiritual and cultural aspects of care (n=1) (Figure 2). QIs concerning physical aspects of care varied from use of specific medications, appropriateness of medical interventions and screening of symptoms and conditions. QIs on operational aspects of care mainly related to admissions, referrals, eligibility for specific care plans or funding and place of death. QIs in the communication, advance care planning and legal category concerned communication of specific treatments to patients and their families and transfer of information between care settings. QIs relating to the psychosocial aspect of care were mainly regarding the screening and treatment of depression, people's ability to communicate and socialise with others, and included three QIs related to carers. The single QI in the spiritual and cultural aspect of care concerned availability of translators (Supplementary Table S7).

The shortlisted QIs included 35 (49.3%) which were applicable both to older people and people with dementia nearing the end of life, while 31 (43.7%) were for people with dementia, and five (7.0%) were only developed for older people. 43 QIs were designed to be used for people nearing the end of life, while 28 QIs were designed to be used for people who had died (Figure 2).

Discussion

Main findings

In this systematic review, we identified and assessed all available QIs for the care of older people and those with dementia nearing the end of life. We examined the psychometric properties of each QI, and their potential applicability at a population-level using routinely collected electronic datasets. We produced a recommended shortlist of 71 QIs with robust psychometric properties which can be used for understanding, assessing, and improving

care of older people and those with dementia nearing the end of life. Of the 71 shortlisted QIs, most concerned physical (n=29) or operational (n=17) aspects of care, while only one concerned spiritual or cultural aspects of care.

This distribution is similar to findings of systematic reviews of QIs for end-of-life¹⁰, cancer¹² or dementia care.¹¹ Many of the shortlisted QIs in the physical care domain focused on multimorbidities, symptoms and treatments, which reflect a biomedical approach to care of these populations.¹¹ These QIs tend to be rated as more robust compared to the QIs in the other care domains. QIs about the operational aspects of care, such as those relating to admissions or eligibility for financial aid, were also common. Operational QIs such as hospital admissions before death are widely used by researchers and policy makers; hence their psychometric properties may be better established.^{64,65} Information needed for understanding spiritual or cultural aspects of care is also less readily available in routinely collected electronic data, but may be captured in other ways such as through patient-reported outcomes and experience surveys. Thus, combining ways of measuring quality is key to gaining a broader overview of the quality of care.¹²

Our shortlist also included a substantial number (n=24) of QIs regarding communication, advance care planning and ethical and legal, and psychosocial of aspects care. These QIs reflect receiving a diagnosis, discussion of treatments, communication of treatments to other professionals, receipt of treatment and carers' wellbeing. While application of the QIs in the communication, advance care planning and ethical and legal domain may be less straightforward to extract from electronic systems, psychometric robustness of these QIs should encourage further adaption of these QIs into practice. We identified three QIs concerning carers available from routinely collected electronic data. Personal carers often

have unidentified and unmet care needs.⁶⁶ Using QIs related to carers is a promising starting point for recognising their needs at a population-level.

The smallest number of QIs (n=19) concerned spiritual and cultural aspects of care. We identified one QI from this care domain for use with routinely collected electronic data, which referred to the availability of interpreters and translated materials. More QIs in the spiritual and cultural care domain have been developed in recent years.^{47,59} Their implementation into practice is currently limited. Spirituality and cultural beliefs are intrinsic aspects of person-centred end of life and palliative care and have been highlighted as one of the priority areas for palliative care of people with dementia.^{20,67} Building the evidence base and incorporating information regarding spiritual and cultural aspects of care in routinely collected national datasets may support development of robust QIs in this area.

Characteristics of quality indicators

Over three quarters (79.7%) of the total identified QIs concerned processes of care, while 20.3% concerned outcomes. This may be because processes of care are often easier to measure and improve.⁹ Policy makers and health and social care providers can thus be more in control of setting benchmarks and making necessary changes to improve process QI measurements. Conversely, it is harder to determine the causal relationship between the care provided and the outcome experienced by people, which may explain the smaller number of outcome QIs.

In terms of psychometric properties, more than 50% of the QIs received a 'positive' rating for their evidence base, acceptability, definition, and feasibility. Availability of information needed for assessing psychometric properties varied. Evidence base, acceptability, and definition of the QIs were well-documented. In comparison, information on feasibility,

reliability, and validity were harder to locate among the published work, reflected in higher percentages of 'unknown' ratings for these psychometric properties. We also rated just 0.3% of the QIs as 'negative' for their validity. Scant reporting of QIs with poor validity is likely to be explained by lack of validation of the QIs after their development. However, some level of publication bias may also exist, and some validation articles might have not been retrieved from our search.

While most QIs (n=747, 76.5%) were applied prospectively to a population who were likely to be nearing the end of life, a smaller proportion (n=229, 23.5%) of QIs were designed to be used retrospectively after death. Prospectively identifying a population approaching the end of life is challenging. QIs have been developed which signal potential palliative care needs or risk of poor outcomes such as functional and cognitive impairment and caregiver distress. However, these measures may not be available in routinely collected administrative data or health records and are not collected reliably across care settings.⁴⁹ The mandate of standardised minimum datasets across settings may address this limitation in the future.⁸ Development of techniques such as linking different datasets and use of text-mining could also maximise the potential of obtaining QIs covering a wider range of care domains from routinely collected electronic data.⁶⁸ Nevertheless, controls put in place for safety of patient data, organisational culture, complex governance arrangements including costs, technical barriers, and lack of transparency and communication about routinely collected electronic data may create unintended barriers for its efficient use.⁶⁹

Strengths and limitations

The majority of systematic reviews for palliative care QIs have drawn on evidence from studies involving people with cancer ^{10,11}. This is the first systematic review to identify and assess QIs applicable to older people and people with dementia nearing the end of life. We

used previously applied and recommended ways of assessing psychometric properties of each individual QI ¹², rather than assessing the usability of overall QI sets. This approach enabled us to unpick QIs which were robust and usable within QI sets. All papers were double-screened at full-text stage, and the bibliographical data extracted and assessment of psychometric properties of each QI were also double-checked.

The evidence base for identified QIs was often unclear. In some cases, this was referred to as 'based on existing evidence and expert opinion' without any further details. There is also a chance that information on the psychometric properties of some QIs has not been published. We made efforts by frequent discussions, reference chaining and contacting the authors where needed, when making decisions on psychometric properties. QIs applicable across care settings have advantages such as comparison and continuity of measurements for a large population and are easier to apply. However, we acknowledge that setting- and condition-specific QIs have their own benefits. QIs, especially those focusing on processes and healthcare utilisation do not necessarily equate to achieving a good quality of care. Measures which may be relevant at a population level may not always translate to each individual's experience and capture issues relevant to patients and families.

Implications for policy, research, and practice

Using QIs can help deliver high quality of care.⁹ The number of older people and those with dementia who are nearing the end of life is growing.¹ With advancing technology, we can retrieve more information needed for evaluating palliative and end-of-life care from routinely collected electronic datasets, while minimising data collection burden. In light of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, the value of having linked datasets across care settings has been highlighted.⁸ Our findings should be used to inform the development of infrastructure needed for population level data collection. Use of the recommended QIs may provide an

overview of quality of care provided to a large proportion of the population, who are in significant need of palliative care, yet may consistently experience sub-optimal care. Determining how many QIs to implement is difficult. Experts advise on being selective and having a smaller number of QIs per care domain.^{9,70} QIs are often pointers for actions needed to improve or maintain the quality of care. Therefore, having fewer robust QIs (rather than many collected through routinely collected electronic datasets), combined with other quality measures is more meaningful for achieving high quality of care.¹²

Significant resource is spent developing new QIs. We suggest that instead of developing new QIs, future research should prioritise the following: (1) revising and adapting existing QIs where possible (especially for physical aspects of care); (2) developing the evidence base for psychosocial, cultural and spiritual aspects of care and further testing (feasibility, reliability, validity) of existing QIs; (3) involving patients and families in further development and selection of QIs ⁷¹; (4) implementing shortlisted QIs into practice ⁷² at local, national and international population levels and (5) combining the interpretation of the QIs with other quality measures such as patient-reported outcomes for monitoring and improving quality of care and enabling learning through comparison.

Conclusions

We provide a shortlist of 71 robust QIs for older people and people with dementia nearing the end of life that are robust, which can be applicable across care settings and measurable using routinely collected electronic datasets and applied across care settings. Future research should focus on testing and developing psychometric rigour of existing QIs and implementation of robust QIs into practice, to guide our understanding of quality of care provided to these populations, to identify unmet needs, and improve service provision.

Availability of data and material

All data analysed for this review are included in this published article and its Supplementary

Materials.

Abbreviations

ACP – Advance care planning

EOL – End of life

ICU – Intensive Care Unit

PRISMA – Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta Analyses

QI – Quality Indicator

UK – United Kingdom

USA – United States of America

Supplementary Materials

Supplementary Material 1 – Uploaded as "Supplementary Material 1.docx". This file

includes seven sections.

Supplementary Table S1: "Search Terms" used in different databases

Supplementary Table S2. "Eligibility Criteria"

Supplementary Table S3: "PRISMA 2009 Checklist"

Supplementary Link S4: "Data Extraction Sheet"

Supplementary Table S5: "Assessment of psychometric categories to evaluate QIs"

which details rating criteria used to evaluate QIs

Supplementary Table S6: "Summary of papers included in the systematic review" Supplementary Table S7: "Summary of recurring topics covered in each QI category" Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge Dr Lesley Henson for her advice in the initial stages of the study.

Author Contributions

Obtained funding: ELS, KES, RS. Designed the study: EY, KES, ELS, RS. Data screening, extraction, and analysis: EY, JL, LT, RC, JA, JG. Wrote the manuscript: EY. Revised the manuscript: All authors contributed to revisions, read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This project is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) ESRC/NIHR dementia initiative 2018 (Grant Reference Number ES/S010327/1). KES is funded by an NIHR Clinician Scientist Fellowship (CS-2015-15-005), and is the Laing Galazka Chair in palliative care at King's College London, funded by an endowment from Cicely Saunders International and the Kirby Laing Foundation. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Sponsor's Role

Funders played no role in the design, methods, subject recruitment, data collections, analysis and preparation of paper.

Conflict of interests The authors have no conflicts.

References

- 1. Etkind S, Bone A, Gomes B, et al. How many people will need palliative care in 2040? Past trends, future projections and implications for services. *BMC medicine*. 2017;15(1):102.
- 2. Organization WH. The epidemiology and impact of dementia: current state and future trends. *Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.* 2015.
- 3. Brayne C, Gao L, Dewey M, Matthews FE. Dementia before death in ageing societies—the promise of prevention and the reality. *PLoS Med.* 2006;3(10):e397.
- Finucane A, Swenson C, MacArtney JI, et al. What Makes Palliative Care Needs "Complex"?: A Multisite Sequential Explanatory Mixed Methods Study of Patients Referred to Specialist Palliative Care. 2020.
- 5. Pask S, Pinto C, Bristowe K, et al. A framework for complexity in palliative care: a qualitative study with patients, family carers and professionals. *Palliative medicine*. 2018;32(6):1078-1090.
- 6. Van den Bussche H, Koller D, Kolonko T, et al. Which chronic diseases and disease combinations are specific to multimorbidity in the elderly? Results of a claims data based cross-sectional study in Germany. *BMC public health.* 2011;11(1):101.
- 7. Sharp T, Moran E, Kuhn I, Barclay S. Do the elderly have a voice? Advance care planning discussions with frail and older individuals: a systematic literature review and narrative synthesis. *Br J Gen Pract.* 2013;63(615):e657-e668.
- 8. Hanratty B, Burton JK, Goodman C, Gordon AL, Spilsbury K. Covid-19 and lack of linked datasets for care homes. In: British Medical Journal Publishing Group; 2020.
- 9. Raleigh VS, Foot C. Getting the measure of quality. *Opportunities and challenges.* 2010;522.
- 10. De Roo ML, Leemans K, Claessen SJ, et al. Quality indicators for palliative care: update of a systematic review. *Journal of pain and symptom management.* 2013;46(4):556-572.
- 11. Amador S, Sampson EL, Goodman C, Robinson L, Team SR. A systematic review and critical appraisal of quality indicators to assess optimal palliative care for older people with dementia. *Palliative medicine*. 2019;33(4):415-429.
- 12. Henson LA, Edmonds P, Johnston A, et al. Population-Based Quality Indicators for End-of-Life Cancer Care: A Systematic Review. *JAMA oncology*. 2019.
- 13. Wallace LM, Theou O, Godin J, Andrew MK, Bennett DA, Rockwood K. Investigation of frailty as a moderator of the relationship between neuropathology and dementia in Alzheimer's disease: a cross-sectional analysis of data from the Rush Memory and Aging Project. *The Lancet Neurology*. 2019;18(2):177-184.
- 14. Vernooij-Dassen MJ, Moniz-Cook ED, Woods RT, et al. Factors affecting timely recognition and diagnosis of dementia across Europe: from awareness to stigma. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry: A journal of the psychiatry of late life and allied sciences.* 2005;20(4):377-386.
- 15. Prince M, Knapp M, Guerchet M, et al. Dementia UK: -overview. 2014.
- 16. Association As. 2010 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & dementia*. 2010;6(2):158-194.
- 17. Inacio MC, Lang C, Caughey GE, et al. The Registry of Senior Australians outcome monitoring system: quality and safety indicators for residential aged care. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care.* 2020;32(8):502-510.
- 18. Murray S, McLoughlin P. Illness trajectories and palliative care: Implications for holistic service provision for all in the last year of life. *International perspectives on public health and palliative care.* 2012:30-51.
- 19. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Annals of internal medicine*. 2009;151(4):264-269.

- 20. Ferrell BR, Twaddle ML, Melnick A, Meier DE. National consensus project clinical practice guidelines for quality palliative care guidelines. *Journal of palliative medicine*. 2018;21(12):1684-1689.
- 21. Rubin HR, Pronovost P, Diette GB. Methodology Matters. From a process of care to a measure: the development and testing of a quality indicator. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care.* 2001;13(6):489-496.
- 22. Jones J, Hunter D. Consensus methods for medical and health services research. *BMJ: British Medical Journal.* 1995;311(7001):376.
- 23. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*. 2011;38(2):65-76.
- 24. De Koning J, Burgers J, Klazinga N. Appraisal of Indicators through Research and Evaluation (English version based on original Dutch version 2.0). *Amsterdam: University of Amsterdam*. 2007.
- 25. Kelley AS, Bollens-Lund E. Identifying the population with serious illness: the "denominator" challenge. *Journal of palliative medicine*. 2018;21(S2):S-7-S-16.
- 26. Gozalo P, Teno JM, Mitchell SL, et al. End-of-life transitions among nursing home residents with cognitive issues. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2011;365(13):1212-1221.
- 27. Leff B, Carlson CM, Saliba D, Ritchie C. The invisible homebound: setting quality-of-care standards for home-based primary and palliative care. *Health Affairs.* 2015;34(1):21-29.
- 28. Lindenauer PK, Normand SLT, Drye EE, et al. Development, Validation, and Results of a Measure of 30-Day Readmission Following Hospitalization for Pneumonia. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*. 2011;6(3):142-150.
- 29. Lorenz KA, Rosenfeld K, Wenger N. Quality indicators for palliative and end-of-life care in vulnerable elders. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2007;55 Suppl 2:S318-326.
- Mays AM, Saliba D, Feldman S, et al. Quality Indicators of Primary Care Provider Engagement in Nursing Home Care. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*. 2018;19(10):824-832.
- 31. Mukamel DB, Caprio T, Ahn R, et al. End-of-life quality-of-care measures for nursing homes: Place of death and hospice. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*. 2012;15(4):438-446.
- 32. Mularski RA, Curtis JR, Billings JA, et al. Proposed quality measures for palliative care in the critically ill: a consensus from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Critical Care Workgroup. *Critical care medicine*. 2006;34(11):S404-S411.
- 33. Nelson J, Mulkerin C, Adams L, Pronovost P. Improving comfort and communication in the ICU: a practical new tool for palliative care performance measurement and feedback. *BMJ Quality & Safety.* 2006;15(4):264-271.
- 34. Odenheimer G, Borson S, Sanders AE, et al. Quality improvement in neurology: dementia management quality measures. *Neurology*. 2013;81(17):1545-1549.
- 35. Saliba D, Solomon D, Rubenstein L, et al. Quality indicators for the management of medical conditions in nursing home residents. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*. 2005;6(3 Suppl):S36-48.
- 36. Schenck AP, Rokoske FS, Durham DD, Cagle JG, Hanson LC. The PEACE Project: Identification of Quality Measures for Hospice and Palliative Care. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*. 2010;13(12):1451-1459.
- 37. Terrell KM, Hustey FM, Hwang U, et al. Quality indicators for geriatric emergency care. *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 2009;16(5):441-449.
- 38. Twaddle ML, Maxwell TL, Cassel JB, et al. Palliative care benchmarks from academic medical centers. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*. 2007;10(1):86-98.
- 39. Wenger NS, Solomon DH, Amin A, et al. Application of Assessing Care of Vulnerable Elders-3 quality indicators to patients with advanced dementia and poor prognosis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2007;55:S457-463.

- 40. Zimmerman DR, Karon SL, Arling G, et al. Development and testing of nursing home quality indicators. *Health care financing review.* 1995;16(4):107.
- 41. Guthrie DM, Harman LE, Barbera L, et al. Quality Indicator Rates for Seriously III Home Care Clients: Analysis of Resident Assessment Instrument for Home Care Data in Six Canadian Provinces. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*. 2019;22(11):1346-1356.
- 42. Heckman GA, Crutchlow L, Boscart V, et al. Quality assurance as a foundational element for an integrated system of dementia care. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance (09526862).* 2019;32(6):978-990.
- 43. Kendell C, Lawson B, Puyat JH, et al. Assessing the Quality of Care Provided to Older Persons with Frailty in Five Canadian Provinces, Using Administrative Data. *Canadian Journal on Aging-Revue Canadienne Du Vieillissement*. 2020;39(1):52-68.
- 44. Kergoat M-J, Leclerc B-S, Leduc N, Latour J, Berg K, Bolduc A. Quality of care assessment in geriatric evaluation and management units: construction of a chart review tool for a tracer condition. *BMC geriatrics.* 2009;9(1):34.
- 45. Kröger E, Tourigny A, Morin D, et al. Selecting process quality indicators for the integrated care of vulnerable older adults affected by cognitive impairment or dementia. *BMC health services research*. 2007;7(1):195.
- 46. Sinuff T, Dodek P, You JJ, et al. Improving End-of-Life Communication and Decision Making: The Development of a Conceptual Framework and Quality Indicators. *Journal of Pain & Symptom Management*. 2015;49(6):1070-1080.
- 47. Claessen SJ, Francke AL, Belarbi HE, Pasman HRW, van der Putten MJ, Deliens L. A new set of quality indicators for palliative care: process and results of the development trajectory. *Journal of pain and symptom management*. 2011;42(2):169-182.
- 48. van der Ploeg E, Depla MFI, Shekelle P, Rigter H, Mackenbach JP. Developing quality indicators for general practice care for vulnerable elders; transfer from US to The Netherlands. *Quality & Safety in Health Care.* 2008;17(4):291-295.
- 49. Van Riet Paap J, Vernooij-Dassen M, Droes RM, Vissers K, Engels Y. Developing a framework for palliative cancer and dementia care: Quality indicators to guide clinical practice. *Palliative Medicine.* 2014;28 (6):643.
- 50. De Schreye R, Houttekier D, Deliens L, Cohen J. Developing indicators of appropriate and inappropriate end-of-life care in people with Alzheimer's disease, cancer or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease for population-level administrative databases: A RAND/UCLA appropriateness study. *Palliative Medicine*. 2017;31(10):932-945.
- 51. Leemans K, Van den Block L, Vander Stichele R, Francke AL, Deliens L, Cohen J. How to implement quality indicators successfully in palliative care services: perceptions of team members about facilitators of and barriers to implementation. *Supportive Care in Cancer*. 2015;23(12):3503-3511.
- 52. Oborne CA, Hooper R, Li KC, Swift CG, Jackson SH. An indicator of appropriate neuroleptic prescribing in nursing homes. *Age and ageing.* 2002;31(6):435-439.
- 53. Roberts H, Khee TS, Philip I. Setting priorities for measures of performance for geriatric medical services. *Age & Ageing.* 1994;23(2):154-157.
- 54. Towers AM, Holder J, Smith N, et al. Adapting the adult social care outcomes toolkit (ASCOT) for use in care home quality monitoring: conceptual development and testing. *Bmc Health Services Research.* 2015;15.
- 55. Cook J, Horrocks S. Community nursing quality indicators for end-of-life care in England: identification, preparation, and coordination. *British Journal of Community Nursing.* 2016;21(3):118-123.
- 56. Schnitker LM, Martin-Khan M, Burkett E, et al. Process quality indicators targeting cognitive impairment to support quality of care for older people with cognitive impairment in emergency departments. *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 2015;22(3):285-298.

- 57. Bail K, Grealish L. 'Failure to Maintain': A theoretical proposition for a new quality indicator of nurse care rationing for complex older people in hospital. *International Journal of Nursing Studies.* 2016;63:146-161.
- 58. Choi SO, Kim SN, Shin SH, et al. Evaluation of Outcomes of the Busan Community-based Palliative Care Project in Korea. *Asian Nursing Research.* 2018;12(4):286-292.
- 59. Masaki H, Kawai N, Matsumoto K, et al. Consensus development of quality indicators for end-of-life care for elders in Japan. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*. 2017;23(1).
- 60. Lind S, Adolfsson J, Axelsson B, Furst CJ. Quality indicators for palliative and end of life care: a review of Swedish policy documents. *BMJ supportive & palliative care*. 2013;3(2):174-180.
- 61. Miranda R, Penders YWH, Smets T, et al. Quality of primary palliative care for older people with mild and severe dementia: an international mortality follow-back study using quality indicators. *Age & Ageing.* 2018;47(6):824-833.
- 62. Morris JN, Fries BE, Frijters D, Hirdes JP, Steel RK. interRAI home care quality indicators. *BMC geriatrics.* 2013;13(1):127.
- 63. Wenger NS, Roth CP, Shekelle P, Investigators A. Introduction to the assessing care of vulnerable elders-3 quality indicator measurement set. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 2007;55:S247-S252.
- 64. Leniz J, Higginson IJ, Stewart R, Sleeman KE. Understanding which people with dementia are at risk of inappropriate care and avoidable transitions to hospital near the end-of-life: a retrospective cohort study. *Age and ageing.* 2019.
- 65. Pivodic L, Smets T, Gott M, et al. Inclusion of palliative care in health care policy for older people: A directed documentary analysis in 13 of the most rapidly ageing countries worldwide. *Palliative Medicine*. 2020:0269216320972036.
- 66. Grande G, Stajduhar K, Aoun S, et al. Supporting lay carers in end of life care: current gaps and future priorities. *Palliative medicine*. 2009;23(4):339-344.
- 67. Van der Steen JT, Radbruch L, Hertogh CM, et al. White paper defining optimal palliative care in older people with dementia: a Delphi study and recommendations from the European Association for Palliative Care. *Palliative medicine*. 2014;28(3):197-209.
- 68. McDonnell L, Delaney BC, Sullivan F. Finding and using routine clinical datasets for observational research and quality improvement. *British Journal of General Practice*. 2018;68(668):147-148.
- 69. Warren-Gash C. Linking and sharing routine health data for research in England. In: Cambridge: PHG Foundation. <u>https://www</u>. phgfoundation. org/documents/PHGF ...; 2017.
- 70. Teno JM, Price RA, Makaroun LK. Challenges of measuring quality of community-based programs for seriously ill individuals and their families. *Health Affairs*. 2017;36(7):1227-1233.
- 71. Beier K, Schweda M, Schicktanz S. Taking patient involvement seriously: a critical ethical analysis of participatory approaches in data-intensive medical research. *BMC medical informatics and decision making*. 2019;19(1):90.
- 72. Woolf SH. The meaning of translational research and why it matters. *Jama*. 2008;299(2):211-213.
- 73. Lawrence M, Olesen F. Indicators of quality in health care. *The European Journal of General Practice.* 1997;3(3):103-108.
- 74. Mainz J. Defining and classifying clinical indicators for quality improvement. *International journal for quality in health care.* 2003;15(6):523-530.
- 75. Donabedian A. The quality of care: how can it be assessed? *Jama*. 1988;260(12):1743-1748.

Tables & Figures



Figure 2. Shortlist of recommended QIs for use with routinely collected electronic datasets (n=71)



Table 1. Definitions



indicators	(review) criterion and performance standards, can be used to judge the quality of
(QIs)	care provided by a health or social care organization. ^{73,74} A QI requires explicit and
	defined components, including a numerator and a denominator. QIs can be
	classified by process (the quality of the care process received by the patient) and
	outcomes (often concerning the clinical outcomes of care). ⁷⁵
Population-	QIs which are applicable across the patient population, and not limited to a
level	subpopulation or a care setting. While measures such as patient-reported outcome
	measures concern the quality of care provided at an individual level, QIs are
	meaningful measurements when they are interpreted for understanding the quality
	of care provided at an aggregated level.
Routinely	Administrative data that were not predominantly collected for research purposes,
collected	those including electronic medical records, and data collected for insurance
electronic	purposes such as mandated minimum datasets.
data	

QI = Quality indicator
Care domains	Summary
Operational (9.2%)	 involvement of specialised palliative care (e.g., involvement of specialised palliative care, late initiation of palliative care), admissions (e.g., in-patient days Last year of life/most recent year, number of emergency admissions after the initiation of palliative care, ≥ 1 ICU admission in the last 30 days of life), risk assessment (e.g., delirium risk assessment and documentation, assessment of dementia if the patient has cognitive impairment) care coordination (e.g., transfer of prescription list across care settings (on
Physical (64.8%)	 and after admission) screening, diagnostic, treatments, and ongoing assessments dementia symptoms and neuropsychiatric symptoms, pain (e.g., new pain, ongoing pain, treatment of pain, number of people with untreated pain), medications (e.g., use of statins, opioids, antibiotics, changing medications which are associated with mental status changes), tube feeding, surgery in the last year of life, falls, mechanical ventilation urinary tract infections Qls for common conditions in the older population – diabetes, hypertension, heart failure, cancer, ischemic heart disease, hearing impairments, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, pneumonia and influenza, stroke and atrial fibrillation. vision impairment
Psychosocial (8.9%)	 screening, diagnostic, treatments, and ongoing assessments depression (comorbid with/without dementia), negative mood anxiety medications and other treatments

Table 2. Summary of recurring topics covered in each QI category and percentage of robust QIs per domain

 having translators
 offering spiritual support
 having a (perceived) peaceful death
 timing, nature and availability of the advance care planning, involving a multidisciplinary team in the advance care planning discussions, discharge summaries, preferences for life-sustaining treatments, place of care and death, having a surrogate decision maker, resuscitation status
 QIs which covered multiple domains of care (e.g., proportion of people who had a list of things which should be covered in the notes included depression assessment, transferring notes on discharge, medications, and previous admissions)
_

QI=Quality Indicator, ICU=Intensive Care Unit

Table 3. Summary of quality indicators by psychometric properties

Psychometric Quality indicator Rating No (%)

property

	Positive	Intermediate	Negative	Unknown
Acceptability ^a	786(80.5)	71(7.3)	3(0.3)	116(11.9)
Evidence base ^b	760(77.9)	83(8.5)	1(0.1)	132(13.5)
Definition ^c	512(52.5)	329(33.7)	116(11.9)	19(1.9)
Feasibility ^d	494(50.6)	NA	95(9.7)	387(39.7)
Reliability ^e	170(17.4)	NA	15(1.5)	791(81.0)
Validity ^f	614(62.9)	5(0.5)	3(0.3)	354(36.3)

^a Perception among stakeholders that a QI is agreeable, or satisfactory measured within degree of consensus ^b Availability of scientific research and expert opinion regarding the process or outcome being measured as part of the QI ^c How well a QI was defined ^d Extent to which a new QI can be successfully obtained (data collection) and analysed ^e Reliability measures (e.g., inter-rater, test-retest) relate to reproducibility of a QI ^f Extent to which a QI accurately reflects the domain of quality being assessed

2.2.1 Identification of the included papers

The eligibility criteria to identify relevant papers in line with the aim and objectives of the systematic review was developed (Table 2-1). The eligibility criteria took into account the population of interest (adults with dementia and/or those who were older, and who were nearing the end of life), the process/intervention of interest which were QIs, the involvement of the papers in the development, review or testing of the QIs and the study design of the identified papers. There were no restrictions by type of residential or geographical setting, or by written language or date.

Table 2-1. Eligibility Criteria

Eligibility criteria	Inclusion	Exclusion	
Population	Adults with dementia (any type and stage) near end of life OR	Individuals ≤ 18 years old Cancer	
	Frail, older (≥ 60 years old) adults near end of life	Specific disease focus (such as COPD, ESRD)	
	≥ 50% non-cancer		
Process/Intervention	Quality indicators	Structure quality indicators	
	Process measures	Person-centred outcomes (<i>measure</i>	
	Quality measures	datasets and may not be meaningful to look at a population level)	
		Quality improvement projects	
Involvement	Studies describing the development, review and/or testing of QIs	Application of existing QIs to clinical practice	
Study design	All study types/Original research papers including: Systematic reviews of RCTs Mixed method systematic review RCTs	Conference abstracts	
		Commentaries/opinion pieces	
		Books/chapters	
		Published protocols Thesis Case reports	
	Qualitative		
		Surveys	
	Policy briefs		

Six bibliographic databases were searched from inception to February 2020. The search strategy was first developed with input from the project team, and by reviewing other published systematic reviews. Once piloted, the syntax and the subject headings were adapted for use in other databases. The electronic search strategy applied to the OVID MEDLINE database is provided in Table 2-2. The search terms applied to the other five databases are provided in <u>Appendix 2</u>.

	Dementia	Terms relating to older people	End of life	Quality Indictors
Medical subject headings	exp Dementia/	Exp Aged/ Exp Health Services for the Aged / Exp Nursing homes/ Exp Homes for the aged/ Frail Elderly	exp Terminal care/ exp Terminally ill/ Exp palliative care/	Outcome and Process Assessment (Health Care) ("Outcome and Process Assessment (Health care)" or "Quality Assurance, Health care" or "Quality Improvement" or "Quality indicators, health care" or "quality of health care").sh.
		Frail*.mp	palliat*.mp	
		Ag?Ing.tw	end of life.mp	
		Old* person.tw	EOL.mp	
		Old* people.tw	life limit*.mp	
	dement*.mp	Elder*.tw	terminal*.mp	
	alzheimer*.mp	Old* adult*.tw	dying.mp	
	chronic* adj3	Geriatric*.tw	end stage.mp	//quality or qualities or utili2ation or
		Gerontol*.tw	late stage.mp	performance or assurance or
Keywords	(impair* or	memory adj3 (impair* or Senior*.tw	advanced.mp	benchmark*) adj2 (measur* or criter* or assess* or indicator* or validat* or
	insufficien* or complain*).mp	Veteran*.tw	ceiling adj3	evaluat*)).tw.
	cognit* adj2 (impair* or declin*).mp	Nursing home*.tw Long term care.tw	goal* adj3 care.mp last adj4 life.mp Last year of life. mp Life's end. mp	
			Limit	to humans

Table 2-2. Electronic search strategy for OVID Medline database

2.2.2 Assessing the psychometric properties of the quality indicators

The six psychometric properties (acceptability, evidence base, definition, feasibility, reliability, and validity) which were assessed in understanding the quality of the QIs have been shown to be important for assessment of individual QIs.^{149, 182, 183} Assessment of psychometric properties was based on well-established criteria with three to four possible ratings for each psychometric property.^{149, 178, 180} Details of the assessment of psychometric properties to evaluate individual quality indicators are provided in Table 2-3.

Psychometric	Measurement Property Assessment Criteria
Category Rating	
Criteria ¹⁸⁰	
Acceptability	Acceptability measures the perception among stakeholders that a QI is agreeable, or
	satisfactory measured within degree of consensus ^{149, 182}
Unknown	Acceptability of QI not reported, or insufficiently reported for assessment, or doubt
	about how acceptability was assessed
Negative	As a result of a formal consensus method (e.g., Delphi or nominal group technique),
	<70% of panel agreed that QI is acceptable or mean score for acceptability of QI in
	lowest tertile of scale used
Intermediate	Using formal consensus method, mean score for QI's acceptability in middle tertile of
	scale used
Positive	As a result of a formal consensus method, ≥70% of panel agreed that QI is acceptable
	or mean score for acceptability of QI in highest tertile of scale used
Evidence base	Evidence base measures availability of scientific research and expert opinion regarding
	the process or outcome being measured as part of the QI
Unknown	Evidence base for QI not reported, or insufficiently reported for assessment, or doubt
	about how evidence base was obtained
Negative	QI was not evidence based
Intermediate	QI was solely based on expert opinion or clinical experience
Positive	QI was based on the integration of best research evidence available with clinical

Table 2-3. Assessment of psychometric properties to evaluate the quality indicators

	expertise/expert opinion
Definition	Definition measures how well a QI was defined
Unknown	No QI definition was provided
Negative	QI definition unclear
Intermediate	Some but not all aspects of QI were clearly defined, or QI's definition requires further
	interpretation
Positive	QI definition with numerator and denominator clearly reported or calculation
	provided
Feasibility	Extent to which a new QI can be successfully obtained (data collection) and
	analysed ^{149, 183}
Unknown	Feasibility not reported, or insufficiently reported to allow assessment, or doubt
	about how feasibility was assessed
Negative	QI data collection, analysis or interpretation not feasible
Positive	QI data collection, analysis, and interpretation reported as feasible
Reliability	Reliability measures (e.g., inter-rater, test-retest) relate to reproducibility of a QI ¹⁴⁹
Unknown	Reliability of QI was not reported, or insufficiently reported for assessment, or doubt
	about how reliability was assessed
Negative	As a result of using an agreement measure, <75% agreement between QI information
	extracted and criterion standard (e.g., patient's medical records), κ (categorial
	variables)<0.4, or intraclass correlation (continuous variable)<0.4
Positive	As a result of using an agreement measure, ≥75% agreement between QI information
	extracted and criterion standard, κ (categorial variables) \geq 0.4, or intraclass correlation
	(continuous variable)20.4
Validity	Validity measures the extent to which a QI accurately reflects the domain of quality
	being assessed (note: A QI can be reliable (consistent in what is measure but not
	vunuj

Unknown	QI's validity was not reported, or insufficiently reported to allow assessment, or doubt
	about how validity was assessed
Negative	Using formal consensus method (e.g., Delphi or nominal group technique), <70% of
	panel agreeing that QI is valid or mean score for validity of QI in lowest tertile of scale
	used
Intermediate	Using formal consensus method, average score for validity of QI in middle tertile of
	scale used
Positive	Using formal consensus method, ≥70% of panel agreeing that QI is valid or mean
	score for validity of QI in highest tertile of scale used

2.3 Discussion

The systematic review findings revealed that over the last three decades, 976 QIs were developed to assess the quality of care provided to older people and people with dementia who may be nearing the end of life. Many QIs reflect the multi-faceted care needs of the population, highlighting the complexity of care provision.

Of the 71 shortlisted QIs, most concerned physical (n = 29) or operational (n = 17) aspects of care, while only one QI concerned spiritual or cultural aspects of care. This distribution is similar to other QI reviews concerning end-of-life care of other terminal conditions .^{179, 180} Overlooking spiritual concerns of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life compared to those without dementia has also been observed in clinical practice.¹⁴⁰ The QIs concerning communication, advance care planning and legal aspects of care reflect receiving a diagnosis, treatment discussions with the patient and families, communication of final treatments to other professionals, receipt of treatment, and carers' well-being, which are crucial for dementia care. Although the shortlist included 15 QIs from this care domain, the availability of data in electronic data including electronic health records and routine administrative data sources concerning the care of older people and people with dementia is limited. However, the psychometric robustness of these QIs is encouraging for their implementation into clinical practice.

The focus on care processes, such as hospitalisations, could be because these are often easier to measure and target in interventions.¹⁴⁷ Most QIs were rated to have a positive score for their evidence base (based on integrating best research evidence with clinical expertise/expert opinion) for healthcare processes and outcomes, which may indicate poor or high care quality for people with dementia. QIs are often pointers for actions needed to improve or maintain the quality of care.

Some of these actions include identifying the sub-groups experiencing poorer quality of care, disproportionately among people with dementia.

When identifying people approaching the end of life, some QIs were designed to be applied prospectively before death whereas others were designed to be applied retrospectively, looking at the care provided to those who died, acknowledging the difficulties in prognostication among this population. Although the evidence base suggests that some QIs, such as the high incidence of critical care admissions among people with dementia nearing the end of life, are indicators of inappropriate care, significant variations in their occurrence are observed across and within countries. It is essential to be selective and focus on implementing a smaller number of robust QIs as the use of too many QIs could make the findings difficult to interpret. It is also important to build the evidence base (e.g., choice of the population of interest, selection of the time period for the end of life) to implement the QIs and inform clinical practice and policies.

In this systematic review, of 37 papers which were included only four were from the United Kingdom.¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁷ Furthermore, most of the robust QIs derived from the US. This was an unsurprising finding as US administrative health data, namely claims data from Medicaid, Medicare and Veterans Affairs have been used extensively for quantifying and investigating quality of care over many years. Additionally, the healthcare providers in the US are mandated to complete a Minimum Data Set (MDS), which is a comprehensive clinical assessment that includes information across care domains (including *psychosocial*, and *communication*, *advance care planning*, *ethical and legal* care domains) relevant to dementia and end-of-life care across care settings. Routinely collected electronic data such as information collected from all NHS hospital relevant to dementia and end-of-life care in the UK is standardised,¹⁸⁸ but does not provide sufficient information relevant to all domains of dementia care.

2.3.1 Healthcare processes and outcomes of interest for this thesis

While the breadth of the data available in the UK is high, the depth of the routine data available for research into the care of people with dementia, especially towards the end of life is limited.¹⁵⁸ Among the identified robust QIs which are usable with routinely collected electronic data, most of the available process and outcome QIs in the UK relevant to the care of people with dementia belong to the *physical* and *operational* care domains. Involvement of palliative care or identification of palliative care needs are available in a subset of routinely collected electronic health data,¹⁸⁹ but not available in national datasets. Although, the importance of care domains such as psychosocial, ethical or communication aspects of care for people with dementia is highlighted in national dementia guidelines,^{69, 190} electronic recording of QIs related to these domains are scarce.

Furthermore, despite the interplay between health and social care services for optimal care of people with dementia, linkages between routinely datasets which capture both types of services in the UK are limited, ^{158, 181} and often focused on provision in care homes. Therefore, the choice of processes and outcomes as a focus in this thesis were driven by those which can be easily targeted in policies, and are thought to impact the wider health and social care system (e.g., hospital use). Services which have not been explored before, such as critical care admissions, and the availability of data were also considered when determining the focus for this thesis.

2.4 Summary

This chapter presented a systematic review which identified and assessed quality indicators usable with routine data for the care of older people and people with dementia who are nearing the end of life. In light of this evidence, healthcare processes and outcomes of interest for this thesis were presented. The next chapter will provide a summary of the rationale for this thesis and outline the aim and objectives of this thesis.

Chapter 3: Rationale, aim and objectives of this thesis

3.1 Rationale for thesis

Dementia has an immense impact on individuals and society. Despite some advances in prevention, diagnosis and treatments to improve care and slow down the progression of dementia, it remains one of the commonest causes of morbidity and mortality in the UK and worldwide, and is a substantial driver of national health and social care costs. The discrepancies between the increasing needs of people affected by dementia towards the end of life and available healthcare services can lead to burdensome and costly care experiences. The expected rise in the number of people who will live and die with dementia calls for further research to understand the patterns of healthcare use, the quality of care, and people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life. This understanding is imperative for guiding policies, planning services, and improving the care of people affected by dementia.

At present there is limited evidence on subgroups of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life, and when their use of healthcare services rise. Whilst previous studies have identified various biopsychosocial and environmental factors associated with the use of certain healthcare services, such as unplanned hospital admissions, important gaps in the literature have been highlighted regarding concurrent healthcare use. Understanding variation and reducing potentially burdensome healthcare use among people with dementia nearing the end of life should not be at the expense of promoting appropriate attendance for those in need; however, targeting patients whose who may benefit from alternative, more suitable care pathways is desirable. National and international policies seek to improve dementia care yet often fail to account for the diversity and complexity of manifestations, which may exacerbate differences in the quality of care received towards the end of life. Lack of clarity on illness trajectories and care pathways experienced by people with dementia, and the challenges of including people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life in research, magnify the difficulties encountered in building an evidencebase which captures universal experiences. Routinely collected electronic data in theory provide rich sources of information spanning many years on large number of people with dementia, further enriched by linkages between clinical and administrative datasets; these can be utilised to provide an evidence base for improving dementia care. However, although evidence on dementia from routine data studies is increasing, evidence regarding the care of people with dementia towards the end of life remains limited. A more detailed exploration of the population, their care use, and the quality of care provided could act as a springboard for developing policies and timely interventions to provide better care to people with dementia around the end of life.

3.2 Aim and Objectives

Aim

To identify and describe patterns in healthcare use; and investigate indicators of quality of care among people with dementia nearing the end of life using routine data.

Objectives

- To describe patterns of healthcare use of people with dementia from the point of diagnosis to death
- To identify subgroups of people with dementia who experience distinct patterns of healthcare use over the course of the illness until the end of life and to examine associated factors
- 3. To use these findings to describe quality of care received by people with dementia nearing the end of life and guide policy and practice for this population.

Chapter 4: Methods

This chapter provides details of the study design, theoretical and methodological considerations which underpin the thesis, background and an overview to the research methodology, the common elements of the thesis studies, ethical and governance procedures. Specific methods of each study are provided within the corresponding results chapters.

4.1 Thesis design, studies and links to objectives

This thesis is comprised of observational studies, employing the secondary analysis of routinely collected sociodemographic and clinical data from various linked datasets, informed by a systematic review. There are three studies contributing to the thesis; how each component of the thesis relates to each other (Figure 4-1) and to each thesis objective is demonstrated below. To meet the thesis aim, an observational quantitative research design was used.



Guiding policy and practice and identifying targets for improving the quality of care for people with dementia

Figure 4-1. Overview of the thesis design and objectives

4.2 Evolution of the thesis protocol

At the beginning of this PhD, the initial plan for the thesis was to have two studies (Study 1 – investigating outcomes associated with a single healthcare service use and Study 2 – investigating concurrent use of multiple healthcare services). This thesis used data derived from the South London and Maudsley (SLaM) NHS Foundation Trust's Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS), which was

developed to enable researchers to search and retrieve anonymised electronic mental health records efficiently from a large and diverse south London catchment. The utility of CRIS data has been enhanced through external linkages as well as natural language processing. In this respect, during the first year of my PhD, a novel linkage was established between the CRIS data and adult critical care admissions data from national Hospital Episode Statistics (HES). Detailed information on CRIS and HES data are provided in <u>Section 4.8.1</u>. Patterns of critical care admissions have been explored in dementia populations outside of the UK,^{164, 191} and can be used as a robust quality indicator to examine the quality of care provided to people with dementia nearing the end of life as shown in my systematic review.¹¹ As there was an evidence gap regarding the use of critical care among people with dementia in England, the decision was made to exploit this novel data linkage and incorporate critical care admissions into the thesis.

4.3 Population of interest

Analysed cohorts comprised people aged 50 years old or older at dementia diagnosis and the population of interest was therefore people with dementia. Different cut-off points for the identification of cohorts of people with dementia were used in the studies of this thesis. Procedures for identifying dementia diagnosis in electronic health records are detailed in <u>Section 4.8.1.2.5</u>. Thesis studies included 'dynamic cohorts' which is where the study participants can join or leave the cohort at different times (e.g., a person who was diagnosed with dementia in 2010 and died in 2013 and another person who was diagnosed in 2008 and died in 2015). Components of this thesis therefore also explored patterns of healthcare use among people with dementia within different time periods (Figure 4-2).



Figure 4-2. Population of interest for each study of this thesis

4.4 Ontological and epistemological considerations

The exploratory nature of this thesis' aim and the topic of interest – healthcare use of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life – require a research approach which is flexible and applicable to the complexity of the real world.

I adopted a pragmatic approach to analysis for this thesis. While the digital positivism movement assumes that everything derived from big data research reflects reality,¹⁹² pragmatism acknowledges that the research is shaped based on the researcher's and community's experience. Within the pragmatic approach, knowledge and reality are based on beliefs and habits that are socially constructed.¹⁹³ As a research paradigm, pragmatism orients itself toward solving practical problems in the real world.¹⁹⁴ Pragmatism allows understanding the research as a continual learning process, encouraging experimentation and prioritising understanding over theoretical or methodological purity.^{60, 192} This is fitting where data are explored to understand patterns and possible differences.

Pragmatism provides epistemological foundations which support social complexity theory in healthcare.⁶⁰ Consequences measure research success within a pragmatic epistemology. This focus on the consequences aligns with the holistic system view of complexity theory, where outcomes are not pre-determined but emergent.¹⁹⁵ Additionally, this thesis is informed by Murtagh's model of factors affecting place of care and death in non-malignant conditions¹ and Donabedian's model for quality of care (See Section 1.2.2 & Section 1.3.1 for more information).¹⁴³

4.5 Alternative methodological approaches

Healthcare use and quality of care can be investigated using many methodological approaches. Before introducing the methodological approach adopted in this thesis, other possible methodologies, specifically qualitative and prospective *de novo* data collection will be explored.

Qualitative methods can provide insight into personal experiences of the quality of care, adding context to their responses where necessary. Such research methods are useful when the aim is to understand 'why' a phenomenon is happening. Most qualitative studies derive data from a small sample of individuals, and the subjectivity of findings may limit their generalisability. In addition to difficulties in obtaining qualitative data directly from people with dementia whose language abilities may be impaired,³³ information about events that occurred a long time ago may be subject to recall bias even when obtained from others. As this thesis is more concerned with quantifying the patterns and subsets of care experienced by people with dementia (i.e., 'who') data from a large group of people with dementia drawn over a long period of time is needed ('when'), hence qualitative approaches were deemed to be less appropriate for this thesis.

Ideally, in longitudinal studies, people are recruited, and data are collected prospectively; this allows more opportunities to collect tailored information, as well as supplementary collection of further details for clarity when needed.¹⁹⁶ However, patient journeys within the health and social care system may be complex and span many years following a dementia diagnosis, and it is difficult to predict when someone approaches the end of life and even more difficult to retain them in a research study. Although

there are ways to successfully involve people with varying of levels of mental capacity in research,¹⁹⁷ and examples of prospective studies of people with dementia exist,^{31, 198-201} recruiting and retaining people with dementia in research studies remains challenging.³⁶ As this thesis is interested in what may happen ahead of the end of life, and additionally as it is not easy to predict the survival time of a person with dementia at a given point in their illness, it is difficult to budget for a study which can adequately follow up everyone until the end of their lives or expect a proxy to be engaged within the timeframe of a PhD.

4.6 Retrospective cohort studies

This thesis aimed to identify and describe patterns in healthcare use, and to investigate indicators of quality of care experienced among people with dementia nearing the end of life using routine data. the cohort design is particularly suited for understanding temporal patterns in healthcare (objective 1), describing populations of interest and outcome associations with putative risk factors (objective 2), and characterising quality of care over time (objective 2). Cohort studies derived from routine data further allow researchers to explore the temporal sequence of real life challenges, potentially over many years and in large samples , albeit with no control over the exposures or outcomes of interest.²⁰² Cohort studies can be prospective or retrospective; however, as discussed above, a prospective cohort study design would not have been feasible for this thesis, where people with dementia have a wide survival range from diagnosis,¹⁶ and because of the challenge of differential attrition (loss to follow-up). Retrospective cohort studies allow for identification of a clear denominator and allows for the study of incidence of events which occur over many years without the necessity of follow-up over many years, making them quicker and cheaper than prospective cohort studies,²⁰³ and providing more complete and naturalistic follow-up.

4.6.1 Identification of people with dementia in palliative and end-of-life care retrospective cohort studies

It has been argued that differences in subject and time period selection of retrospective cohort studies could lead to invalid conclusions about the quality and type of care provided to people approaching the end of life.²⁰⁴ Generally, retrospective cohort studies in the palliative and end-of-life care research field have focused on the intensity of the healthcare received during a period before death.²⁰⁵ This gives the advantage of knowing that everyone who is being studied has died. In real life, determining when someone is in the last months of life is not easy.^{196, 206} Other studies base their sample selection on the place of care (e.g., living in residential care²⁰⁷) or point of contact with a healthcare service (e.g., having an unplanned hospital admission²⁰¹). However, although associations exist, death may not be imminent or predictable for all participants recruited in these studies.

Chapter 4: Methods

4.7 The use of routine data in dementia research

In the context of this PhD, where there are both challenges in following up people with dementia over the years in prospective cohort studies and in identifying people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life, routinely collected data are highly valuable. There are a few reasons why using routine data is appropriate for the objectives of this thesis. Routine datasets have been proven to be informative and cost-effective in assessing quality of care, although have been under-utilised in understanding the care of people with dementia, especially towards the end of life. ^{128, 208} Routine data linked between different data sources to can further access a wealth of complementary information without additional data collection burden, ^{164, 208-210} which would otherwise take extra time for people with dementia, families and healthcare professionals to provide via primary data collection.

Routinely collected data has the potential to capture the experiences of a large group of people receiving given services (unless people have chosen to opt out of secondary data use), making results more generalisable than most recruited cohort studies, as the sample is less likely to be subject to participation biases which are more common in studies where prospective and primary data collection approaches are adopted. More specifically, routine data from electronic health records can be used to overcome barriers faced in conventional longitudinal cohort studies where achieving adequate sample sizes may be challenging for investigating complex questions.²¹¹ Furthermore, information collected about people with dementia in conventional recruited cohort studies often relies on proxies such as family members or healthcare professionals, and recall bias can compromise questionnaire-derived retrospective information on service use (e.g., Client Service Receipt Inventory²¹²).

Assembly of a dementia cohort from routine datasets relies on the recording of a formal dementia diagnosis on people's records. An advantage of a recruited cohort study is that this allows researchers to capture people who may not have a formal dementia diagnosis and include them in their study if they screen positive. However, the advancement of technology, such as the use of natural language processing (NLP) to review the written notes in the electronic health records, may improve the inclusion of people with dementia in routine data studies who may not had a formal assessment.

Understanding the context and assembling of the datasets used in this thesis is essential for interpreting the findings. Beyond the volume and velocity of data, routine data linkages enable the collection of information from a variety of sources for generating new knowledge. While the processes and the purposes (e.g., financial, clinical, audits) for which data has been collected affect the validity of routine data, it reflects real-life use of healthcare services, and facilitates effective extraction of patterns of healthcare use. Detailed reporting of key design choices and codes used to characterise the study population are necessary for the reproducibility of healthcare studies using routine data.²¹³

Chapter 4: Methods

4.8 The research methodology

This thesis adopts a quantitative secondary research design, where retrospective cohort studies are assembled using data linkages across multiple routine datasets. Across three studies, both descriptive and inferential statistics were used to meet the aim and objectives of the thesis. Details of analysis related to each study are described in their respective chapters. This section focuses on the routine datasets used in this thesis and common variables extracted for all three studies.

4.8.1 Routine datasets used in this thesis

The CRIS data source was used to identify individuals with a dementia diagnosis for all studies of this thesis. Using established data linkages data from CRIS were used in combination with those from Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) and Office for National Statistics (ONS) datasets. As the research was carried out over three years (2020-2023), different cuts of data were used in the studies, to ensure the inclusion of most relevant and recent data available. However, no substantive changes in demographics or care are expected to occur between the different cuts of data across the thesis studies, particularly as none of these overlapped into COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns.

4.8.1.1 Dementia cohort dataset and setting: South London and Maudsley and CRIS data

Details of specific inclusion criteria for each study are described in respective Results chapters. However, the dementia cohorts in this thesis were all derived from cases routinely diagnosed at the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM), one of the largest mental health care providers in Europe. SLaM provides comprehensive mental health services to a geographic catchment area of over 1.2 million residents in four south London boroughs – Croydon, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark – as well as some regional and national specialist services.²¹⁴ In routine NHS England settings, people who may have dementia are primarily ascertained in primary care, then referred to a specialist dementia diagnostic service, such as those provided by SLaM, for a formal dementia diagnosis assessment. In some cases, people may receive their dementia diagnosis, without a referral from primary care, in the context of care for another mental health condition, or via liaison services provided to local general hospitals.

The SLaM Biomedical Research Centre (SLaM BRC) Case Register and its Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS) application were developed in 2007-08 to render SLaM's electronic health records accessible for research use.^{214, 215} CRIS was created with a patient-led oversight committee²¹⁶ and adheres to strict governance frameworks. The data are de-identified and provided in a data-secure format. Source clinical records have been fully electronic across all SLaM services since 2006 with imported legacy data prior to that date. The SLaM BRC Case Register aligns with WHO's description of a psychiatric case register – 'patient-centred longitudinal record of contacts with a defined set of psychiatric services originating from a defined population'. ²¹⁷ Electronic health records include

demographics, contact with services (e.g., community mental health visits, face-to-face appointments), detailed clinical assessments, care plans and medications. The CRIS platform allows researchers to extract information from both structured (e.g., date, numerical diagnosis codes) and unstructured (freetext information in written assessments, progress notes, correspondence) fields of the source electronic health records. Information stored in unstructured fields is extracted for large-scale analyses using individually developed and evaluated natural language processing algorithms, most using General Architecture for Text Engineering (GATE) software.^{214, 218} This technique allows entities of interest derived from written information to be represented in structured tables. Researchers specify the information they require for their project in discussion with a dedicated data extraction team, and requirements are returned in spreadsheet format, exportable in CSV format for further analysis.

Information stored in SLAM BRC CRIS has been extensively linked over the last 15+ years with other external health and non-health sources. Data linkages are valuable, especially when they enable the capture of exposure data from one dataset and outcome data from another dataset,²¹⁴ and are particularly helpful for a condition like dementia where care provision is represented across multiple healthcare sectors (e.g., mental healthcare, primary care, acute general hospital care etc.). Secure linkages between datasets are coordinated by a dedicated Clinical Data Linkage Service (CDLS), with linked data stored on a CDLS server within the SLaM firewall representing a Secure Data Environment. The SLaM CDLS satisfies NHS requirements for the research governance model for linking data as described in the Department of Health Information Governance Review or 'Caldicott 2' report,²¹⁹ ensuring that information is linked to guarantee the legal and ethical rights of patients and caregivers. To establish linkage between datasets, personal identifiers (which are not available to the researchers) including names, date of birth, and postcode are used. Of relevance to this thesis, the CRIS dataset is linked to Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) datasets which provides information on the wider specialist healthcare use of people with dementia.

4.8.1.2 Illness and sociodemographic variables

Illness and sociodemographic variables which were used in all three studies of this thesis are introduced below. Additional variables which were extracted for each study are described in their respective chapters.

4.8.1.2.1 Age

Ages of people with dementia were derived from their year of birth. This variable was used to compute other variables of interest such as age at diagnosis, age at death, and age on admissions. Age was further classified into age-groups in some of the analyses.

Chapter 4: Methods

4.8.1.2.2 Sex

Sex was classified as either male or female.

4.8.1.2.3 Ethnicity

Self-reported ethnicity was extracted and classified according to standard census codes as follows: White (British, Irish, any White background), Black (African, Caribbean, any Black background), Asian (Indian, Chinese, any Asian background), Mixed (White and Black Caribbean, White and Asian, White and Black African, or any other mixed background), Any other ethnicity (Any other ethnic background) and missing/not known.

4.8.1.2.4 Index of Multiple Deprivation

Neighbourhood-level socioeconomic status was estimated using the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).²²⁰ This is the official measure of relative deprivation in England which encompasses living conditions of individuals from 32,844 neighbourhoods termed Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs). Each LSOA, a standard national administrative unit, contains around 1500 residents. LSOAs were created based on the 2011 Census information. IMD 2015 was derived for the LSOA containing the patient's address (recorded closest to the diagnosis) and converted into quintiles of the national distribution (1 – most deprived, 5 – least deprived).

4.8.1.2.5 Dementia

The diagnosis of dementia in CRIS was determined from structured fields of ICD-10 diagnosis codes (F00x– 03x) and supplemented by evidence of a dementia diagnosis recorded in text fields ascertained by a validated natural language processing (NLP) algorithm using General Architecture for Text Engineering (GATE) software.^{214, 218, 221b}

^b The identification of people with dementia was only supplemented by the NLP algorithm in the cohort identified for Study 1. This service was not available at the time of the data extraction for Study 2 and 3.

Chapter 4: Methods

First known dementia diagnosis date anywhere mentioned in CRIS was extracted.

The dementia sub-type was determined based on the assigned clinical diagnosis on the clinical records (Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, Mixed, Lewy body dementia, Dementia in other diseases or unspecified dementia (where aetiology was unrecorded)).

4.8.1.2.6 Dementia severity

Both Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE)²²² and Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS) (or HoNOS-65 where appropriate)²²³ cognitive problems scores were extracted to ascertain dementia severity (See Section 4.8.1.2.7). MMSE is a commonly used set of questions for screening cognitive function, which provides measures of orientation, registration, short-term memory as well as language functioning. MMSE²²² scores (from structured and unstructured fields) to estimate dementia severity were categorised into "mild" (MMSE≥20), "moderate" (MMSE=10-19) or "severe" (MMSE<10). The HoNOS cognitive problems score can be rated from 0 (no problem) to 4 (severe or very severe problem), has acceptable/good psychometric properties and strongly correlates with MMSE scores (correlation coefficient range -0.9 to -0.81).^{224, 225}

4.8.1.2.7 Clinical presentation

For other aspects of clinical presentation, HoNOS or HoNOS-65 output was used where appropriate using scores at the nearest date to the first recorded dementia diagnosis. HoNOS is a 12-domain clinician-rated instrument commonly used in English mental health services and completed by clinical staff as a structured form in the source electronic health record. It comprises subscales rated 0 (no problem) to 4 (severe/very severe problem) and has acceptable/ good psychometric properties.²²³ In addition to cognitive problems (see <u>Section 4.8.1.2.6</u>), it provides scores on agitated behaviour, self-Injury, drinking, physical illness, hallucinations, depressed mood, other mental problems, relationships, activities of daily living, living conditions, and occupational problems. Higher scores always indicate greater problems.

4.8.1.3 Datasets for the healthcare use: Hospital Episode Statistics

Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) is a database which contains details about all inpatient admissions, A&E attendances, and outpatient appointments at NHS hospitals in England, providing near-complete coverage for hospital use (secondary care including mental health admissions). Only 1% of UK hospital services are private and not included in HES, but they are likely to be less relevant for people with dementia.²²⁶ Records could be excluded due to errors and removed if patients choose to opt-out of their data being used for research and planning purposes. A new national data opt-out was made available in 2018, requiring all health and social care organisations to be compliant by the end of March 2022, including SLaM.²²⁷ The data's primary purpose is monitoring and finance, allowing hospitals to be paid

for the care they deliver.¹⁸⁸ However, secondary use of data for research purposes are permitted. Since 1898, the use of HES datasets for research purposes, either for standalone analysis or linked with other datasets has increased.

HES data can be recorded in numerous ways. Information accessed in HES datasets is a snapshot of data taken on the Reconciliation and Post-Reconciliation dates for each month. The database is continually updated based on changes in patients' records. Initial information entered to the medical records by clinicians are often extracted and processed by clinical coders in each hospital for HES data.²²⁸ Variability in data entry and the contemporaneous nature of the HES data may have implications on the accuracy of HES data used in research studies.²²⁹ The large amounts of data held in HES datasets, and its national coverage, makes it a strong research tool for understanding the healthcare use of people with dementia who may be nearing the end of life. The information clinicians provide in medical notes and discharge summaries may be incomplete or unclear for sufficiently capturing the care provided in HES variables.²²⁹

The HES database is categorised into four domains: Admitted Patient Care (APC), Outpatients appointments (OP), Accident and Emergency (A&E) attendances, and Adult Critical Care (ACC). Admitted patient care refers to all hospital admissions where the episode of treatment required the use of a hospital bed. A hospital admission does not necessarily refer to overnight stays. OP refers to records of all outpatient appointments in English NHS hospitals. The record-level data are provided regardless of whether the patient attended the appointment or not. A&E attendances data gathers all attendances from A&E departments providing urgent care for illness and injury. The A&E dataset also includes attendances from speciality A&E departments, walk-in centres, and minor injury units. Adult critical care dataset contains records of all critical care periods which took place in intensive care and highdependency units, where constant support and monitoring is required to maintain the functioning of at least one organ.

HES record-level data are provided in episode form. A single episode refers to the period of continuous care from a single consultant. Episodes can be grouped into spells. A spell commences when a patient is admitted for care to and ends when a patient is discharged, transferred, or dies. A continuous inpatient spell refers to the continuous period where patient's care was provided by different care providers (e.g., they moved between hospital wards or transferred to another hospital) before they were discharged or died.¹⁸⁸ The HES dataset are provided for each financial year which runs from 1st April to 31st March. This means some episodes may remain unfinished. For each study of the thesis, as recommended, data were checked for duplications and cleaned if unfinished episodes existed. For the linkage between CRIS and HES datasets, personal identifiers are compiled by CDLS, and transferred to the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) using an NHS-approved secure file transfer. HSCIC adds a CRIS ID to all matched HES records and destroys patients' all personal identifiers. This information is stored in CDLS

and provided to researchers in a fully anonymised format.²¹⁴ HES data quality has been criticised over the years. However, the change in the purpose of HES data, making it the main mechanism for reimbursement, has led to greater engagement with data quality and completeness.²³⁰ The concerns over the accuracy of information recorded in HES were considered when selecting variables for the studies of thesis. As the HES data accuracy has likely improved over the years,¹⁸⁸ the information regarding the care of people with dementia from less recent years may be less accurate.

Data from CRIS was also extracted for specialist mental healthcare use for Study 3. Further details is provided in the Chapter 7.

4.8.1.4 Death registry

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) is responsible for collecting, analysing, and disseminating statistics about the UK's population, society, and economy. Mortality information which is derived from the death certificates (including the underlying reason for death diagnoses) from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) is linked to the CRIS data in a similar way to the linkage process described for HES linkages.

4.9 Methodological challenges

The main advantage to using routine data is that this data are readily available. However, there can be some unforeseen challenges at different stages of obtaining data, data cleaning and data analysis. Flexibility is needed for timelines as the process of accessing the data and data extraction relies on other teams. Secondary research, using data which were collected for other purposes, relies on information, which is already collected, meaning that the researchers lack control over variables which were collected. Additionally, researchers ought to understand data veracity and provenance (i.e., what data points actually represent; motivations for recording data in particular ways). For instance, the systematic review conducted in the background of this thesis identified 71 robust Qls which are usable with routine data.¹¹ However, most of the Qls were not recorded in the datasets available for the use for this thesis. Similarly, potential factors identified to be associated with the healthcare use of people with dementia were limited or were not accurately recorded. While techniques to handle missing data can be used when appropriate, when there may be differences between those who had missing data and those who did not (missing not at random), decisions had to be made when choosing covariates. Initial protocols and selection of variables of interest had to be discussed with the data extraction team to assess feasibility.

The data cleaning stage requires an in-depth understanding of the coding of each variable, potential errors and necessary checks to ensure that the findings from the dataset is reliable. During this process I had to have many discussions with data extraction team and clinicians to understand the variables and

their limitations. Using statistical techniques relies on making assumptions and manipulating data to conduct the analysis. Healthcare data are rarely neat, requiring adjustments to the analyses and sometimes categorising timelines to make sense of research findings. Finally, the preparation of variables, model building and interpretation stages of the structural equation modelling (SEM – see <u>Chapter 7, Section 7.3.1</u>) were lengthy and challenging. Acquiring the skills needed for statistical adjustments required training, practice and patience.

4.10 Patient and public involvement in thesis

Patient and public involvement (PPI) is a prerequisite for high-quality research. PPI is describes as 'research conducted in collaboration with members of the public, patients and families'.²³¹ This can include involving PPI members to identify research priorities, plan study designs, collect, analyse or interpret data, and the dissemination of research findings.²³¹ Although the importance of PPI in dementia and end-of-life care has been increasingly gaining recognition, most guidance focuses on involving PPI members in research with primary data collection.²³² Gold standards for conducting ethical dementia research were published in Spring 2023 (towards the end of this PhD) led by the Dementia Engagement and Empowerment Project network, which includes people with dementia all across the UK.²³³ Standards established in this guidance by people with dementia around respect and acknowledgement, safety and wellbeing, and making information as simple, accessible and open as possible were followed during this PhD.^{234, 235}

Working with PPI members was integral to this thesis for enhancing its relevance and impact while exploring the validity of the findings among key stakeholders. While experts including clinicians, researchers and commissioners were involved in the development of the QIs, PPI members, who are often referred to as "experts by experience" were not present.¹¹ In line with the target population and healthcare services examined in this PhD, I worked with a wide range of PPI members. The PPI members I worked with were:

- (i) people with dementia,
- (ii) friends and family who were often the primary and unpaid carer of the person with dementia,
- (iii) bereaved unpaid carers who had care experiences of a person with dementia,
- (iv) South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust's service users and their friends and families,
- (v) people with experiences relevant to care provided to people who may be approaching the end of life.

PPI members were able to provide diverse experiences and perspectives as they differed in terms of their sociodemographic (in terms of age, gender, ethnicity), illness-related (type of dementia, severity of dementia, comorbidities, physical abilities), and environmental characteristics (financial or additional support) and experiences of receiving varying levels of the quality of care (e.g., diagnosis process, care concordant with preferences of the person with dementia) and using different health and social care services (e.g., mental health, community care (staying at home or care home), primary care, secondary care, private and council funding).

From the conception of ideas, each stage of this thesis was discussed with the PPI members. Regular meetings were held with the EMBED-Care PPI group.²³⁶ Having regular meetings with the same the EMBED-Care PPI members throughout the PhD gave us the opportunity to build rapport, and gave them a chance to have a better understanding of the overall aim of the PhD and how each study fits within the PhD.

Most of the PPI engagements throughout the PhD were held online (due to the COVID-19 pandemic and to enhance inclusivity and accessibility for those who may not be able to travel due to various reasons (e.g., caring responsibilities, travel costs, health reasons – burden associated with in-person meetings)). There were few opportunities to meet PPI members in person. PPI members were reimbursed for their time and contributions following the NIHR INVOLVE guidance.²³⁷ The main way of engaging with PPI members was through presentations and facilitated discussions where either I was the only researcher present or had another researcher who helped with chairing and note-taking. All meetings were arranged 3-4 weeks in advance, where the PPI members had a chance to have their input into the meeting's agenda and read materials beforehand (when appropriate). Their contributions and reflections on each study are separately presented in the corresponding Results chapters.

I shared my initial ideas at one of Cicely Saunders Institute's PPI meetings. This meeting was focused on routine data studies and included PPI members who had experiences of palliative and end of life care, and a smaller number of public members who did not have any experiences of palliative and end of life care but were interested in this area. Ahead of presenting my research ideas, PPI members were given a brief introduction to routine data studies and terms which will be used throughout the day. This presentation was important in sense-checking and research priority setting before finalising my research aim and objectives. PPI members agreed that use of routine data for exploring healthcare patterns of people with dementia was innovative and inclusive. Although there were doubts around the potential of direct impact on clinical practice and people with dementia, PPI members agreed it could be useful in influencing policy and enhancing our understanding of what may be happening to people with dementia who may not be able to participate in primary data collection studies.

I also met with the EMBED-Care PPI members to initially build rapport, and then introduce my PhD and concepts relevant to routine data research in dementia to them. Most PPI members had a perception that researchers can extract any information needed from routinely collected electronic health datasets. It was important to highlight the gaps in the information available in routine data. Afterwards, they were able to advise on some additional information such as "carer availability" that I could potentially include my dataset and advised on some of the exploratory analyses such as looking at the effect of different dementia types in relation to the observed patterns.

When I had discussions about measuring the quality of care provided to people with dementia and presented my plan about the systematic review, a common complaint from the PPI members was things being missed out or not measured in different care settings. Several family caregivers of people with dementia shared their experiences of having to prompt the care professionals to ensure that all aspects of their relative's care were being measured. This prompted prioritisation of QIs which are usable across care settings when making judgements about care quality. PPI members highlighted the importance of not only measuring the QIs for service planning purposes but making the care quality measures available to the public to inform their choices where possible. Although some of this information is available online (e.g., CQC), improving access to these resources was noted.

4.11 Reflexivity in quantitative research

Reflexivity is the act of self-reflection, examining one's own beliefs, assumptions, and judgement systems, and thinking critically about how these could influence the research process.²³⁸ While more common in qualitative research, it is also important to acknowledge researcher's own interests and preconceptions when conducting quantitative research within a pragmatist approach. The explorative nature of my research necessitates reflexivity. In my case, this process involved reflecting carefully on my position as a potential outsider to the population of interest, reflecting on silent assumptions and biases which may exists in the existing datasets that I am using, thinking about how my biases may affect the way I frame the conclusions of the findings. Having the outsider perspective may have provided me with a more objective approach to analysis and the interpretation of findings. I am a non-English researcher, who does not have dementia care experiences in England. Although I have experiences of conducting research in English healthcare settings (including general acute care hospitals and SLaM) and with people with dementia, I had to have additional conversations with relevant stakeholders to contextualise my research. I had to balance views of people whose opinions and experiences I value, previous research literature, and my family's experiences of dementia care in another country with a completely different health and care system, while making decisions about the analysis and the interpretation of the findings.

I also worked as a research assistant as part of a large research programme called "Empowering Better End of Life Dementia Care" (EMBED-Care).⁵⁷ Being part of the EMBED-Care programme was integral to my PhD and my PhD was nested in the programme. EMBED-Care brought together researchers, collaborators, clinicians, policymakers, patients and families to provide evidence in how care is provided for people of any age with any type of dementia can be improved to maximise their quality of life. This aim was met through different projects, using various methodologies. The programme included six inter-dependent workstreams, where my PhD contributed mainly through routine data analysis, to develop a complex intervention (EMBED-Care Framework) to improve palliative dementia care. The EMBED-Care framework was underpinned by programme theory, which was developed and refined informed by each of the workstream findings. The programme provided me with greater opportunities to engage with the wider clinical and policy stakeholders, increasing the potential impact of the PhD findings. My work as a research assistant enabled me to visit hospitals, engage with people with dementia and their families, learn more about how clinicians provide care input information to electronic health records, have public engagement opportunities, and learn about wider UK, European, and global health policies.

4.12 Ethical considerations and governance

At the conception stage of the PhD, a project proposal was submitted to the CRIS Oversight Committee which reviews the objectives and planned analyses planning to use CRIS data and linkages. This committee is chaired by a SLaM service user, includes SLaM Information Governance representation, and reports to the SLaM Caldicott Guardian.²³⁹ Following review, the project proposal was approved by the committee (see <u>Appendix 3</u> for CRIS data application form and the approval email). Access to CRIS data require an honorary contract with the SLaM. The process from acquiring an honorary contract to access data took five months. The CRIS Data team were key in advising on the data extraction and quality of variables, and in providing additional variables when requested. I completed a data request form to define the population and variables to be extracted from CRIS and linked datasets. Data were extracted as Microsoft Excel files by clinical informaticians and stored within the SLaM firewall. All data were de-identified. Data were accessed via a secure remote desktop.

The CRIS data resource including linkages has been successively approved for secondary analysis by the Oxfordshire Research Ethics Committee C since 2008 (current reference 23/SC/0257). Local Oversight Committee review and approval is a component of the approved security model.

Additional training was undertaken for data management, statistical data analysis, statistical analysis programmes including STATA and MPlus, structural equation modelling, and HES data analysis. My training and experiences were instrumental in planning, analysis, and interpretation of the PhD findings.

Chapter 4: Methods

4.13 Summary

Chapter 5 reflected on the methodological and theoretical considerations, the literature pertinent to the study type, and source datasets which informed the thesis design. Additionally, key factors which influenced the conduct of the studies (i.e., ethical considerations, PPI, reflexivity, and methodological challenges) were outlined ahead of the detailed methods and results of each study. Chapters 6 (unplanned hospital admissions), 7 (critical care admissions) and 8 (subgroups of people with dementia based on multiple healthcare processes) present the three result studies of this thesis in the sequential order of conduct. The reporting of the studies are informed by the The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected health Data (RECORD) statement.²⁴⁰

Chapter 5: Results Study 1 – Unplanned hospital admissions

This chapter presents the specific methods and the findings for Study 1. The analyses presented in this chapter have been published in the following peer-reviewed journal:

Yorganci E, Stewart R, Sampson EL, Sleeman KE. Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia: from diagnosis to the end of life. Age and Ageing. 2022 May;51(5):afac098. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afac098</u>

Personal contributions to the publication: I was responsible for devising the study approach and analysis plan. I sought and gained approval from the CRIS oversight committee to conduct the research using the CRIS-HES linkage. I outlined the selection criteria to define the cohort and data extraction requirements. I cleaned the data, performed the analysis and drafted the manuscript. My PhD supervisors were consulted throughout and provided input on the analysis plan and review and editing of the manuscript. I would like to acknowledge Hitesh Shetty and Megan Pritchard for extracting the data.

5.1 Introduction

This study addressed the thesis objective 1: To describe the patterns of healthcare use of people with dementia from the point of diagnosis to death. This study also contributed to the thesis objective 3. (To use these findings to describe the quality of care received by people with dementia nearing the end of life and guide policy and practice for this population).

Several factors influenced the choice of unplanned hospital admissions for this study. Results from the systematic review show that the number of unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life is a commonly used and robust process QI which can be used with routine data. A high percentage of people with dementia experiencing multiple unplanned hospital admissions may indicate poor care quality at a population level. Individual admissions may have been appropriate for providing the necessary care needed to a person with dementia. However, due to associations between the primary and community care provision and the occurrence of unplanned hospital admissions may point towards lack of care provision closer to home. Thus, examining the unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia is important. The systematic review also revealed that the quality indicators relevant to people with dementia nearing the end of life can be applied prospectively to a living cohort or retrospectively to the decedents. An issue in the composition of the QIs related to unplanned hospital admissions is the lack of evidence for the time period (e.g., last year, three months, month, week, days) selected. Although the last year of life has been an established time period for

investigating palliative and end-of-life care, the evidence for whether the rise in the rate of unplanned hospital admissions occur prior to this time period has not been explored.

There is also limited literature showing that people with dementia can experience a higher incidence of unplanned hospital admission within a year after their diagnosis compared to other time periods following their diagnosis .^{98, 111} However, it is unclear whether the occurrence of the unplanned hospital admissions relates to people's proximity to the end of their life, or to the identification of unmet needs coinciding with the dementia diagnosis. Exploring this may help with informing the integration of a palliative care approach to post-diagnostic dementia services. Understanding the nature, the rate, and the patterns of unplanned hospital admissions from diagnosis until the end of life could contribute to our understanding of the quality of care, service planning, health and social care policy development, and provide new knowledge on how the care quality could be improved.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Design and data sources

This is a retrospective cohort study using data linkages between two clinical datasets (South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust Biomedical Research Centre's (SLaM BRC) Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS) and Hospital Episode Statistics Admitted Patient Care (HES APC)), and a death registry (Office for National Statistics - ONS). <u>Chapter 4, Section 4.8.1</u> of this thesis provides more detailed information on the datasets.

5.2.2 Setting and cohort

The cohort of this study comprises any person with dementia who was 50 or older at first recorded diagnosis of dementia in CRIS before 31st March 2017. ONS mortality records were used to retrieve information on the date of death of the decedents.

5.2.3 Sociodemographic and clinical variables

Data closest to the first dementia diagnosis on age, gender, and ethnic group were extracted from CRIS. Age at diagnosis was calculated using the date of birth and date of dementia diagnosis variables from CRIS. Additionally, the IMD scores, dementia subtype, the MMSE scores (closest record to diagnosis), the scores for the HoNOS subscales (closest record to diagnosis), year of diagnosis, and year of death were provided.

Numbers of unplanned hospital admissions were calculated for every six months from diagnosis to death or study end (31st March 2018). Six-monthly periods are commonly used for measuring care quality for people with dementia, and enable exploration of changes at a more granular level than yearly

rates ¹¹. The secondary outcome was the percentage of time spent as an inpatient in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions.

For people who experienced an unplanned hospital admission, HES ICD-10 diagnosis codes for the first and last unplanned hospital admission were used to calculate the Charlson Comorbidity Index of multimorbidity.²⁴¹ Suggested ICD-10 terms for calculating Charslon Comorbidity Index score from HES were based on codelists derived from Caliber.²⁴² Three-digit ICD-10 codes also include all codes below them (e.g. F00 includes F000, F001 and F002).

5.2.4 Unplanned hospital admissions

The number of unplanned hospital admissions which took place after the first recorded date of dementia diagnosis were derived from HES APC dataset.²⁴³ HES data was available up to 31st March 2018 to allow at least one year of potential hospital admissions data follow-up for those who were diagnosed recently.⁹⁸ As the unplanned hospital admissions are not directly available in the HES APC dataset, following methods were used to identifying them for each person. First, using the admission method code, it was determined whether an admission was 'elective', 'non-elective' or 'transfer' (ADMIMETH coded as 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27 or 28 are considered a non-elective admission). Elective admissions were removed. Unplanned hospital admissions were assembled using codes for spells' start dates and admission method. Hospitalisations were defined from HES episodes, combining contiguous episodes (i.e. where start and end dates were on the same day).¹⁸⁸ Duplicates based on the date of admission, date of discharge, the episode start and end dates, the admission and discharge methods were removed (Figure 5-1). Unplanned hospital admissions which happened for any reason were included in the analysis. Reasons for first and last unplanned hospital admissions did not differ, the most common medical reasons for unplanned hospital admissions included multiple ambulatory-care sensitive conditions (ACSCs) such as infections (Appendix 4).



Figure 5-1. Flowchart of identifying the number of unplanned hospital admissions

5.2.5 Outcomes

The primary outcome was the number of unplanned hospital admissions from the first dementia diagnosis until death or study end (31st March 2018).

The secondary outcomes were: (i) the percentage of time spent as an inpatient in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions calculated for every six months from diagnosis to death or study end (31st March 2018); (ii) the percentage of time spent as an inpatient in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions within the last six and twelve months of life calculated for the decedents; and (iii) where people died using the discharge method variable from the HES APC dataset, where for individuals who died in hospital, place of discharged is coded as "patient died".

5.2.6 Statistical analyses

Within this study, two approaches to the exploration of unplanned hospital admissions were adopted. Namely, these approaches are called "Looking forward" and "Looking back" methodologies.²⁴⁴ Looking forward methodology allows conclusions to be drawn about survival in addition to service use. It allows exploration of any differences between those who survived and those who died after varying periods of time. In this study, this refers to looking at the patterns of unplanned hospital admissions from the point of diagnosis onwards. Looking back approach on the other hand, refers to the exploration of the healthcare patterns of people preceding an outcome, commonly death. It is a commonly used methodology in studies of end-of-life care where the researchers can focus on the time leading up the death among a cohort of decedents, and observe pre-terminal care.¹⁹⁶

Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the cohort were described using mean (standard deviation (SD)), median (range (25th – 75th percentiles)), and percentages depending on the variable's distribution. For describing the pattern of unplanned hospital admissions, the cumulative incidence of unplanned hospital admissions (*= number of people admitted at least once during the study period/total number in the cohort*), and the unplanned hospital admission rate (*= all admissions per person-months were calculated as time between CRIS dementia diagnosis and death or end of the follow-up period*)) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) and standard errors (SEs) were calculated.²⁰² Incidence rate, also known as person-time rate incorporates time-at-risk all participants incorporated to a study directly into the denominator. Time spent in hospital admissions out of the total days contributed by each person. Numbers of unplanned hospital admissions were calculated for every six months from diagnosis to death or study end (31st March 2018), stratified by time to death (in years) for decedents, and time to study end date for people who remained alive. Six-monthly periods are commonly used for measuring

care quality for people with dementia, and enable exploration of changes at a more granular level than yearly rates.¹¹

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Cohort Description

19,221 people aged \geq 50 years with a dementia diagnosis between 1995 and 2017 were identified (Table 5-1). Dementia incidence per 100,000 individuals (*number of new dementia diagnosis/population at risk* (*number of people aged 50 or older who lived in four boroughs which are within the catchment of SLaM* based on ONS population estimates)²⁶¹ x 100,000) between 1995 and 2016 are presented in Figure 5-2. Data is presented up to 2016, as only people diagnosed up to 31st March 2017 were included in the study. Before 1998, less than 10 people with a dementia diagnosis were identified in this study's cohort.

Mean age at diagnosis was 81.0 ((SD) 8.5) years. Most of the cohort were women (61.4%), white (73.1%) and nearly half of the first ever recorded dementia diagnoses were Alzheimer's disease (48.4%). In terms of the MMSE recorded closest to the diagnosis date, 40.6% of the cohort were categorised as mild (MMSE \geq 20).

Characteristic	All	Alive at the study end	Decedents
	(n= 19,221)	date (n=6,554)	(n=12,667)
	%	%	%
Age at diagnosis (mean, SD)	81.0 (8.5)	78.0 (8.9)	82.6 (7.8)
Age at the end of the follow-up period /death (mean, SD)	84.5(8.1)	82.6 (8.6)	85.6 (7.6)
Sex			
Female	61.4	63.0	61.0
Male	38.4	37.0	39.0
Ethnicity			
White British	62.4	51.0	68.2
African/Caribbean	14.6	22.5	10.6
White other	10.7	11.8	10.2
Asian	4.3	6.5	3.2
Any other ethnicity	2.7	4.5	1.7
Mixed	0.7	1.2	0.4
Missing	4.6	2.5	5.7
IMD quintile at diagnosis			
1 (most deprived)	29.6	30.3	29.4
2	34.8	34.3	35.0
3	18.1	19.1	17.6
4	9.1	8.5	9.3
5 (least deprived)	7.2	7.1	7.3
Missing	1.2	0.7	1.4
First recorded dementia diagnosis			
Alzheimer's disease	48.4	54.9	45.1
Vascular dementia	24.5	19.2	27.3
Unspecified dementia	23.4	22.0	24.2

Table 5-1. Cohort characteristics (19,221)

Other dementia	2.7	2.8	2.6
Lewy body dementia	1.0	1.1	0.9
MMSE closest to diagnosis date			
Mild (≥20)	40.6	51.7	34.8
Moderate (10-19)	32.82	29.6	24.5
Severe (<10)	7.4	5.5	8.4
Missing	19.2	13.2	32.3

Chapter 5: Results Study 1 – Unplanned hospital admissions



Figure 5-2. Dementia incidence per 100,000 individuals aged 50 or older (Between 1995 and 2016)

5.3.2. Main findings

For 19,221 people with dementia (61.4% female, mean age at diagnosis 81.0 years (SD 8.5)), the cumulative incidence of unplanned hospital admissions (n=14,759) was 76.8% (95% CI 76.3% - 77.3%). Individuals remained in the study for mean 3.0(SD 2.6) years, and 12,667(65.9%) died. Rates and lengths of unplanned hospital admissions remained relatively low and short in the months after the dementia diagnosis, increasing only as people approached the end of life. The percentage of time spent as an inpatient was <3% for people who were alive at the study end but was on average 19.6% and 13.3% for the decedents in the last six and twelve months of life, respectively. Variations in the rates of the unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia were observed depending on survival after diagnosis. Higher rates of unplanned hospital admissions were observed following dementia for people with dementia who died within few years of receiving their diagnosis. Detailed findings are provided in the published paper.

5.3.3 Patient and public involvement

A summary of discussions I had with the PPI members is summarised below. These discussions shaped the research question of this study, design, choice of findings included in the publication, interpretation of the findings, and what may be explored in the subsequent two studies of the thesis.

PPI members highlighted the potential negative impacts of unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia. Upon production of the initial findings of component I, I met with the PPI members, who could interpret the results from their perspectives and substantially input the discussion. Discussions with the PPI members highlighted the importance of steps taken closer to the time of dementia diagnosis (e.g., establishing care preferences and having time to plan for future) the events which took place later their dementia journey. However, the characteristics of people with dementia and their families which may influence the care became apparent. For instance, when the person with dementia was not admitted to the hospital, the family member was present either in person (when the person with dementia was living at home) or on the phone (when the person with dementia was living at a care home) and insisted on their relative to not be admitted and restated their care preferences repeatedly. This informed the inclusion of factors such as living alone and carer availability in Study 3. The level of staff training and competency to treat ACSCs such as infections in community was discussed as a potential reason for the unplanned hospital admissions from care homes. Factors such as financial ability, having district nurses and daily paid carers to help the person with dementia stay at home were mentioned as key elements in staying out of the hospital. These supported the selection of explanatory and indicator variables for Study 3.

PPI members noted the importance of providing training about dementia and especially the later stages of dementia, to all health and social care professionals who may be involved in dementia care. PPI members also noted that most of them were not told by a health or social care professional that dementia was a terminal condition. Conversations with PPI members revealed how little specialist input they or their relatives received after the dementia diagnosis. They noted that while it is important that people receive high-quality care in hospitals and in the community, healthcare professionals who may act as a link, such as paramedics, were also key actors. These discussions informed the interpretations and the discussion of the findings.

5.3.4 Publication 2: Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia: from diagnosis to the end of life

The findings from Study 1 were published in *Age and Ageing* and are presented below as the accepted manuscript for publication to ensure that figures and small text are readable.²⁴⁵ The
published version is open-access, and can be accessed using the link provided at the beginning of Chapter 5. This is followed by the supplementary materials (<u>Appendix 4</u>).

Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia: From diagnosis to the end of life

Emel Yorganci¹, Robert Stewart^{2,3}, Elizabeth L Sampson^{4,5}, Katherine E Sleeman¹

¹Cicely Saunders Institute, King's College London, Florence Nightingale Faculty of Nursing, Midwifery & Palliative Care, London, UK
²Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK
³South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
⁴Department of Psychological Medicine, Royal London Hospital, East London NHS Foundation Trust

⁵Division of Psychiatry, University College London, London, UK

<u>Address correspondence to:</u> Emel Yorganci, Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, King's College London, Bessemer Road, London, SE5 9PJ, UK, email: <u>emel.yorganci@kcl.ac.uk</u>, @emelasml

Declaration of sources of funding

This project is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) ESRC/NIHR dementia initiative 2018 (Grant Reference Number ES/S010327/1). KES is the Laing Galazka Chair in palliative care at King's College London, funded by an endowment from Cicely Saunders International and the Kirby Laing Foundation. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Conflicts of interest

None.

<u>Acknowledgements</u>

The authors would like to thank to Javiera Leniz Martelli for her support with data cleaning and codes, Megan Pritchard for her guidance and help with data requisition, Katrina Davis for providing ICD-10 terms for calculating Charslon Comorbidity Index score from HES based on code lists, EMBED-Care PPI members for contributing to the interpretation of the initial findings.

Abstract

Background: Hospitalisations are sentinel events for people with dementia. How patterns of unplanned hospital admissions change among people with dementia after diagnosis is relatively unknown.

Objective: To describe patterns of unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia from diagnosis until death/study end.

Methods: Retrospective cohort study using mental healthcare provider data of people diagnosed with dementia in London, UK (1995-2017), linked to mortality and hospital data. The primary outcome was the rate of unplanned hospital admissions after diagnosis until death/study end. We calculated the cumulative incidence of unplanned hospital admissions. The rates of unplanned hospital admissions and the percentage of time spent as an inpatient were stratified by time from first dementia diagnosis.

Results: For 19,221 people with dementia (61.4% female, mean age at diagnosis 81.0 years (SD 8.5)), the cumulative incidence of unplanned hospital admissions (n=14,759) was 76.8% (95% CI 76.3% - 77.3%). Individuals remained in the study for mean 3.0(SD 2.6) years, and 12,667(65.9%) died. Rates and lengths of unplanned hospital admissions remained relatively low and short in the months after the dementia diagnosis, increasing only as people approached the end of life. Percentage of time spent as an inpatient was <3% for people who were alive at the study end but was on average 19.6% and 13.3% for the decedents in the last six and twelve months of life, respectively. Conclusions: The steep rise in hospitalisations before death highlights the need for improved community care and services for people with dementia who are approaching the end of life. Key words: hospitalization, dementia, incidence, death, retrospective studies

Key points:

- Rates of unplanned hospital admissions remain relatively low and stable after dementia diagnosis and only increase as people with dementia approach the end of life.
- People who died with dementia spent 19.6% and 13.3% of their time in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions in the last six and twelve months of their lives, respectively.
- Investing in resources for dementia end-of-life care may help with reducing the negative impact of unplanned hospital admissions.

Introduction

The number of people living with dementia is increasing [1-3]. As dementia and comorbidities progress, provision of care can become challenging [4, 5]. Unplanned hospital admissions (those that occur unexpectedly and urgently [6]) for people with dementia can be associated with functional and cognitive decline, though the causal relationship remains unclear [7]. Understanding when unplanned hospital admissions are most likely to occur can guide investment in the resources needed for providing high-quality dementia care.

Most studies examining unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia have focused on specific subgroups of people with dementia (e.g., people diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease or people who live in the community [8, 9]) or timeframes (e.g., year after diagnosis or last year of life) [10-12]. Prospective studies have been small [4, 13] or have obtained hospitalisation information from carers, and are therefore subject to recall bias. While some people live many years following a dementia diagnosis, for others the time between diagnosis and death is shorter. Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions, and how these change before death, are relatively unknown. In this study, we aimed to describe the patterns of unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia from the point of diagnosis.

Methods

Setting & Data sources

This was a retrospective study using linkage between two clinical datasets (South London and Maudsley National Health Service (NHS) Foundation Trust Biomedical Research Centre's (SLaM BRC) Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS) and Hospital Episode Statistics (HES)), and a death registry (Office of National Statistics - ONS). HES is a database containing details of all admissions at NHS England hospitals [14]. Electronic health records were implemented across SLaM from 2006 [15]. The CRIS application provides research access to repository of anonymised structured and open-text data from electronic health records within SLaM.

SLaM provides mental healthcare services, including dementia assessment and management to 1.2 million residents in four London boroughs (Croydon, Lambeth, Lewisham, Southwark) in the UK. Potential cases of dementia are ascertained in primary care (which has high specificity [16]), followed by referral to a specialist dementia diagnostic service (such as SLaM) [17].

Cohort Description

The cohort was derived using the CRIS platform. All dementia diagnoses recorded in CRIS were determined from structured fields of ICD-10 diagnosis codes (F00x–03x) or supplemented by dementia diagnosis recorded in text fields by a validated natural language processing algorithm using General Architecture for Text Engineering (GATE) software [15, 18, 19]. We included any person with dementia who was 50 or older at first recorded diagnosis before 31st March 2017. HES data was available up to 31st March 2018 to allow at least one year of potential hospital admissions data follow-up for those who were diagnosed recently. ONS mortality records were used to retrieve information on the date of death of the decedents.

Demographics & Clinical Variables

We extracted data closest to the first dementia diagnosis from CRIS on age, gender, and ethnic group. Neighbourhood-level socioeconomic status was estimated using the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)[20]. This is the official measure of relative deprivation in England which encompasses living conditions of individuals from 32,844 neighbourhoods termed Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs). Each LSOA contains around 1500 people. IMD was derived from the LSOA associated with the patient's address (recorded closest to the diagnosis) and converted into quintiles of the national distribution (1 − most deprived, 5 − least deprived). We extracted dementia sub-type (Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia, Lewy body dementia, other or unspecified dementia (where aetiology was unrecorded)) and Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE)[21] scores (from structured and unstructured fields) to estimate dementia severity closest to dementia diagnosis, categorising into "mild" (MMSE≥20), "moderate" (MMSE=10-19) or "severe" (MMSE<10).

Outcomes

We retrieved information on non-elective hospitalisations (referred to as 'unplanned hospital admission') for each participant which started after the date of their first CRIS-recorded dementia diagnosis. The primary outcome was the number of unplanned hospital admissions from the first dementia diagnosis until death or study end (31st March 2018). Unplanned hospital admissions were identified through the HES inpatient codes for a spell's start date and admission method. Hospitalisations were defined from HES episodes, combining contiguous episodes (i.e., where start and end dates were on the same day). Numbers of unplanned hospital admissions were calculated for every six months from diagnosis to death or study end (31st March 2018). Six-monthly periods are commonly used for measuring care quality for people with dementia, and enable exploration of changes at a more granular level than yearly rates [22]. The secondary outcome was the percentage of time spent as an inpatient in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions.

Statistical Analysis

We described the cohort's sociodemographic and clinical characteristics using mean (standard deviation (SD)), median (range (25th – 75th percentiles)), and percentages. We calculated the cumulative incidence of unplanned hospital admissions (*= number of people admitted at least once during the study period/total number in the cohort*), and the unplanned hospital admission rate (*= all admissions per person-months were calculated as time between CRIS dementia diagnosis and death or end of the follow-up period*)) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) and standard errors (SEs) [23]. For time spent as an inpatient, we calculated the percentage of days spent in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions out of the total days contributed by each person. We also calculated the percentage of days spent in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions out of the last six and twelve months of life for the decedents. We analysed the admission rates and the time spent as an inpatient for six-monthly intervals from the point of diagnosis onwards, stratified by time to death (in years) for decedents, and time to study end date for people who remained alive.

Ethics Statement

The source database is approved for secondary analysis by the Oxfordshire Research Ethics Committee C (reference 18/SC/0372).

Public and patient involvement

This project is part of the EMBED-Care research programme which was developed and designed with people with dementia and their family carers from the funding application through to interpretation of these study findings [24].

Results

Cohort description

We obtained data on 19,221 people aged ≥ 50 years who had a dementia diagnosis between 1995 and 2017 (Table 1). Mean age at diagnosis was 81.0 (standard deviation (SD) 8.5) years. Most of the cohort were women (61.4%), white (73.1%) and nearly half of the first ever recorded dementia diagnoses were Alzheimer's disease (48.4%). In terms of the MMSE recorded closest to the diagnosis date, 40.6% of the cohort were categorised as mild (MMSE ≥20). The number of people in the cohort increased over the study period and 66.1% of people were diagnosed after 2009. Around two thirds (65.9% (n=12,667)) of the cohort died before the study end, while 34.1% (n=6,554) of the cohort were living with dementia at the study end. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the cohort stratified by time to death/study end are presented in Appendix 1.

In total, there were 54,017 unplanned hospital admissions. Cumulative incidence rate was 76.8% (95% CI 76.3% - 77.3%); 14,759 people had at least one unplanned hospital admission. Of all unplanned hospital admissions, 20,140 (37.3%) took place in people who were in the last year of life. The median number of unplanned hospital admissions for the whole cohort was 3(1-5). The median time spent as an inpatient per admission was 5 (1-14) days per person. The mean total time spent in the hospital for the whole cohort was 32 (11-67) days. The median time spent as an inpatient in one unplanned hospital admission in the last year of life was 7 (2-18) days per person. The total time spent in the hospital in the last year of life was 30 (12-59) days per person.

The decedents

The mean age at diagnosis was 82.6 (SD 7.8); mean age at death 85.6 (SD 7.6). Decedents accounted for 72.7% (n=10,735/14,759) of all people who had an unplanned hospital admission. The cumulative incidence rate of unplanned hospital admissions for the decedents was 84.8% (95% CI 84.1% - 85.4%). Over a third of decedents (38.1%, n=4,697) died in hospital and 24.5% of these people (n=1,153) died during their first admission after diagnosis.

Admission rates for decedents ranged from 3 to 334 per 1000 person-months (Figure 1). In the first six months after diagnosis, higher admission rates were observed in the subgroup of people who lived less than a year after diagnosis. For subgroups of people who lived longer than two years after diagnosis, the following pattern was observed: admission rates in the first six months were low and remained relatively stable until the last 12 months of life when they increased steeply. Patterns of rates of unplanned hospital admissions for the whole cohort, and details of admission rates (95% CIs and SEs) are provided in Appendix 2.

Similarly, the percentage of days spent as an inpatient in hospital increased in the last year of life (Figure 2). Across the subgroups, percentage of days spent as an inpatient due to unplanned hospital admissions ranged between 0.6% - 12.6% in the first six months after diagnosis, and was highest for those with shortest survival. For people who lived with dementia for more than a year, percentage of days spent in hospital was low after diagnosis and increased towards the end of life. The decedents spent on average 19.6% (SD 3.1) and 13.3% (SD 2.5) of their time in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions in the last six months and the last year of their lives, respectively.

People who were living at the study end

Mean age at diagnosis varied between 83.7 (SD7.7) and 72.5 (SD 9.9) across the subgroups (Appendix 2). People who were living with dementia at study end accounted for 27.3%(n=4,024) of 19,211 people. The cumulative incidence rate of unplanned hospital admissions for people who were living with dementia at the study end was 61.4% (95% CI 60.2% - 62.6%).

Admission rates for people who were living with dementia at the study end ranged from 4 to 77 per 1000 person-months (Figure 3). Across the subgroups, a drop in the admission rates in the first sixmonthly interval after diagnosis was observed. The unplanned hospital admission rates remained relatively low and stable over the years after dementia diagnosis. Higher admission rates were observed for people who were diagnosed more recently compared to those who had been living with a dementia diagnosis for a longer time. Considering the total time after diagnosis, the percentage of time spent as inpatient in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions for people were living with dementia at the study end ranged from 0.08% to 2.9% (Figure 4). Compared to the decedents, percentage time spent as inpatient in hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions remained low and stable across the subgroups.

Discussion

In this study, over three quarters (76.8%) of a large sample of people with dementia experienced at least one unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis. Rates of unplanned hospital admissions remained relatively low and stable after dementia diagnosis and did not increase for people who were living with dementia at the study end. Rates and lengths of unplanned hospital admissions increased steeply as people approached the end of their lives, regardless of survival duration. Higher rates of unplanned hospital admissions were observed for people who were diagnosed for less than a year. Admissions in the last year of life accounted for 37.3% of all unplanned hospital admissions for the whole cohort.

The cumulative incidence rate of unplanned hospital admissions reported in our study is similar to the one (75.9%) reported by a study of people with dementia from the same mental health trust for a shorter time interval (2008-2016) [12]. Previously reported cumulative incidence of hospitalisations of people with dementia with varying follow-up times ranged between 23.6% and 86.0% [8, 25, 26]. Lower hospitalisation rates have been reported in studies with people who were not approaching the end of their lives. This is also evident in our study, where the cumulative incidence rate was lower for people who were living at the end of follow-up (61.4%) compared to

the decedents (84.8%). A similar cumulative incidence rate of 80.8% was observed in England for people older than 75 who had at least one unplanned hospital admission in the last year of life [27].

Comparisons of the hospitalisation rates of people with dementia and those other life-limiting conditions have shown mixed results [8, 28, 29]. Rates of unplanned hospital admissions of people with other life-limiting illnesses such as cancer and organ failure also increase towards death [30, 31]. An overlap between dementia and other factors (e.g., physical, psychological, financial, carer strain, service availability and dementia care expertise) is likely to drive hospitalisations towards the end of life [10]. For people with dementia, hospital environments may be distressing. If appropriate, dementia care in the community may be a better option towards the end of life [4]. Most people with dementia would prefer to live and die in a care home or at home [32]. However, in practice, it is difficult to determine when a person with dementia is approaching death [33]. In our sample, 38.1% died in the hospital, which is similar to national data [34] and 9.1% died on their first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis. Most dementia deaths occur in care homes, therefore a smaller percentage of people with dementia die in hospitals compared to the general population [35, 36].

Access to palliative care, living in care homes and having continuity of care (e.g., consulting the same general practitioner (GP) consistently) are associated with reduced hospital admissions among people with dementia who may be approaching death [37-40]. Yet, people with dementia experience inequitable access to high quality palliative and end-of-life care [41]. In recent years, decline in the number of care home beds and in continuity in general practices have been observed in the UK [42, 43]. If primary and community care services are not equipped to address complex needs of people with dementia who are approaching the end of life, admission rates are likely to remain high. Lack of support for informal carers may also lead to waiting until a crisis point which may then require longer hospital stays [44]. Discussing and setting ceilings of care with people with dementia and carers regularly, and investing in community care and care homes may make meeting care preferences more likely [32]. However, interventions for avoiding hospitalisations for people with dementia have had disappointing results [45]. Future research should focus on reducing the length of time spent as inpatient, while improving dementia end-of-life care in hospitals. Unplanned hospital admissions and length of time spent in the hospital in the last year of life can be used as indicators of how well the health and social care systems are working for people with dementia and their families [46].

A strength of our study was the large sample which was not limited to decedents and included people living at home and in care homes, with any dementia diagnosis and severity, thus reducing biases which may be introduced by subject and time period selection [47]. Recruiting and retaining people with dementia in research studies is challenging [48]. Using routinely collected data permitted observation of trends for over 19,000 people of dementia of whom lived with a diagnosis for varying durations. While not best practice, people may be diagnosed with dementia during a hospital admission; in our analysis we included only unplanned hospital admissions which started after the dementia diagnosis date, as we were interested in hospital admission among people with an existing diagnosis of dementia. The identification of dementia diagnosis was limited to records of a single mental health trust which may under-record dementia diagnoses and limit generalisability [17, 49]. People may have been diagnosed at an earlier date than that recorded in CRIS [17]. The proportion of people with a dementia diagnosis is relatively high in this catchment area compared to national figures [12, 50]. However, the average age at diagnosis and death, and the duration between diagnosis and death from our findings are consistent with national averages [51]. Finally, this was a descriptive study using routine data; we did not test for differences or predictors of unplanned hospital admissions, which have been examined previously [26]. By leveraging the linkage between a mental health trust and national hospital data, we were able to have a near-complete picture of unplanned hospital admissions. Only 1% of UK hospital services are not provided by the NHS and these are likely to be less relevant for unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia [52].

Although the number of people affected by dementia is increasing, understanding of the disease development and progression remains low amongst the public and healthcare professionals [53, 54]. Most hospitals provide training around caring for people with dementia but many do not include specific skills needed for care of those approaching the end of life [55]. Lack of confidence by staff and negative attitudes towards dementia in hospitals may lead to poor quality of care [56]. Opportunities to improve public perception of dementia as a neurodegenerative, terminal illness [54], and provision of dementia and end-of-life care training for healthcare professionals should be further developed where necessary and adopted by health policy.

Conclusion

A steep increase in the rates and lengths of unplanned hospital admissions occurs among people with dementia as they approach the end of life. This may indicate insufficient community resources for meeting care needs. Many people with dementia, and their loved ones, would prefer to spend less time in hospital towards the end of life [57]. Reducing the burden of unplanned hospital admissions will require well-resourced, high-quality, dementia and end-of-life care both in hospitals and community settings. Efforts to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions, long admission durations and readmissions must be prioritised.

Characteristic	All (n= 19,221)	Alive at the study end date (n=6,554)	Decedents (n=12,667)
	%	%	%
Age at diagnosis	81.0 (8.5)	78.0 (8.9)	82.6 (7.8)
(mean, SD)			
Age at diagnosis categories			
50-59	2.1	3.9	1.1
60 - 64	2.4	4.4	1.4
65 – 69	4.9	8.1	3.3
70 – 74	10.5	13.4	8.9
75 – 79	18.6	22.5	16.5
80 - 84	24.5	23.0	25.1
85 – 89	23.0	17.5	26.0
90 - 94	10.9	6.1	13.7
≥ 95	3.1	1.2	4.3
Age at the end of the follow-up period /death (mean, SD)	84.5(8.1)	82.6 (8.6)	85.6 (7.6)
Sex			
Female	61.4	63.0	61.0
Male	38.4	37.0	39.0
Ethnicity			
White British	62.4	51.0	68.2
African/Caribbean	14.6	22.5	10.6
White other	10.7	11.8	10.2
Asian	4.3	6.5	3.2
Any other ethnicity	2.7	4.5	1.7
Mixed	0.7	1.2	0.4
Missing	4.6	2.5	5.7
IMD quintile at diagnosis			
1 (most deprived)	29.6	30.3	29.4
2	34.8	34.3	35.0
3	18.1	19.1	17.6
4	9.1	8.5	9.3
5 (least deprived)	7.2	7.1	7.3
Missing	1.2	0.7	1.4
First recorded dementia diagnosis			
Alzheimer's disease	48.4	54.9	45.1
Vascular dementia	24.5	19.2	27.3
Unspecified dementia	23.4	22.0	24.2
Other dementia	2.7	2.8	2.6
Lewy body dementia	1.0	1.1	0.9
MMSE closest to diagnosis date			
Mild (≥20)	40.6	51.7	34.8
Moderate (10-19)	32.82	29.6	24.5
Severe (<10)	7.4	5.5	8.4
Missing	19.2	13.2	32.3

Table 1. Characteristics of people diagnosed with dementia

MMSE: mini-mental state examination; SD: standard deviation; IMD: index of multiple deprivation (1 = most deprived, 5 = most affluent).



Figure 1. Unplanned hospital admission rates for people who died with dementia (n=12,667) by duration of survival after diagnosis.



Figure 2. Percentage of time (six-month periods) spent in the hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions for people who died with dementia (n=12,667) by duration of survival after diagnosis.



Figure 3. Unplanned hospital admission rates for surviving people with dementia (n=6,554) by duration of time after diagnosis.



Figure 4. Percentage of time (six-month periods) spent in the hospital due to unplanned hospital admissions for surviving people with dementia (n=6,554) by duration of time after diagnosis.

References

1. Ahmadi-Abhari S, Guzman-Castillo M, Bandosz P, et al.; Temporal trend in dementia incidence since 2002 and projections for prevalence in England and Wales to 2040: modelling study. *bmj* 2017;358.

 Brayne C, Gao L, Dewey M, et al.; Dementia before death in ageing societies—the promise of prevention and the reality. *PLoS Med* 2006;3(10):e397.

3. Sleeman KE, de Brito M, Etkind S, et al.; The escalating global burden of serious healthrelated suffering: projections to 2060 by world regions, age groups, and health conditions. *The Lancet Global Health* 2019;7(7):e883-e892.

4. Sampson EL, Candy B, Davis S, et al.; Living and dying with advanced dementia: a prospective cohort study of symptoms, service use and care at the end of life. *Palliative medicine* 2018;32(3):668-681.

5. Hendriks SA, Smalbrugge M, Galindo-Garre F, et al.; From admission to death: prevalence and course of pain, agitation, and shortness of breath, and treatment of these symptoms in nursing home residents with dementia. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2015;16(6):475-481.

6. Trust N. Potentially preventable emergency admissions.

https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/potentially-preventable-emergency-hospital-admissions (Date Accessed 2021 Accessed, date last accessed)

 Sager MA, Rudberg MA, Jalaluddin M, et al.; Hospital admission risk profile (HARP): identifying older patients at risk for functional decline following acute medical illness and hospitalization. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 1996;44(3):251-257.

 Phelan EA, Borson S, Grothaus L, et al.; Association of incident dementia with hospitalizations. Jama 2012;307(2):165-172.

 Tolppanen AM, Taipale H, Purmonen T, et al.; Hospital admissions, outpatient visits and healthcare costs of community-dwellers with Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2015;11(8):955-963.

10. Leniz J, Higginson IJ, Stewart R, et al.; Understanding which people with dementia are at risk of inappropriate care and avoidable transitions to hospital near the end-of-life: a retrospective cohort study. *Age and ageing* 2019.

11. Gungabissoon U, Perera G, Galwey NW, et al.; The association between dementia severity and hospitalisation profile in a newly assessed clinical cohort: the South London and Maudsley case register. *BMJ open* 2020;**10**(4):e035779.

12. Sommerlad A, Perera G, Mueller C, et al.; Hospitalisation of people with dementia: evidence from English electronic health records from 2008 to 2016. *European journal of epidemiology* 2019;34(6):567-577.

13. Voisin T, Andrieu S, Cantet C, et al.; Predictive factors of hospitalizations in Alzheimer's disease: a two-year prospective study in 686 patients of the REAL. FR study. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging* 2010;14(4):288-291.

14. Health, Centre SCI; HES data dictionary: admitted patient care. NHS Digital London, 2017.

15. Perera G, Broadbent M, Callard F, et al.; Cohort profile of the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust Biomedical Research Centre (SLaM BRC) case register: current status and recent enhancement of an electronic mental health record-derived data resource. *BMJ open* 2016;6(3):e008721.

 Creavin ST, Haworth J, Fish M, et al.; Clinical judgment of GPs for the diagnosis of dementia: a diagnostic test accuracy study. BJGP open 2021;5(5).

17. Davis K, Mueller C, Ashworth M, et al.; What gets recorded, counts: Dementia recording in primary care compared with a specialist database. *Age and Ageing* 2021.

18. Cunningham H; GATE, a general architecture for text engineering. *Computers and the Humanities* 2002;36(2):223-254.

19. Jackson RG, Patel R, Jayatilleke N, et al.; Natural language processing to extract symptoms of severe mental illness from clinical text: the Clinical Record Interactive Search Comprehensive Data Extraction (CRIS-CODE) project. *BMJ open* 2017;7(1):e012012.

Communities Df, Government L; English indices of deprivation. Crown Copyright London, 2015.

21. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR; "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of psychiatric research* 1975;12(3):189-198.

 Yorganci E, Sampson EL, Gillam J, et al.; Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2021;69(12):3650-3660.

23. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. *Modern epidemiology*: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008.

24. Sampson EL, Anderson JE, Candy B, et al.; Empowering Better End-of-Life Dementia Care (EMBED-Care): A mixed methods protocol to achieve integrated person-centred care across settings. Wiley Online Library, 2020.

25. Chen L, Reed C, Happich M, et al.; Health care resource utilisation in primary care prior to and after a diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a retrospective, matched case–control study in the United Kingdom. BMC geriatrics 2014;14(1):1-9.

26. Shepherd H, Livingston G, Chan J, et al.; Hospitalisation rates and predictors in people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC medicine* 2019;17(1):130.

27. England PH; Research and analysis: Older people's hospital admissions in the last year of life. gov.uk: UK Government, 2020.

28. Forma L, Rissanen P, Aaltonen M, et al.; Dementia as a determinant of social and health service use in the last two years of life 1996-2003. *BMC geriatrics* 2011;**11**(1):1-8.

29. Chen YH, Ho CH, Huang CC, et al.; Comparison of healthcare utilization and life-sustaining interventions between elderly patients with dementia and those with cancer near the end of life: a nationwide, population-based study in Taiwan. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* 2017;17(12):2545-2551.

30. Szilcz M, Wastesson JW, Johnell K, et al.; Unplanned hospitalisations in older people: illness trajectories in the last year of life. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care* 2021.

31. Luta X, Diernberger K, Bowden J, et al.; Healthcare trajectories and costs in the last year of life: a retrospective primary care and hospital analysis. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care* 2020:bmjspcare-2020-. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2020-002630.

32. Wiggins N, Droney J, Mohammed K, et al.; Understanding the factors associated with patients with dementia achieving their preferred place of death: a retrospective cohort study. *Age and ageing* 2019;48(3):433-439.

33. Browne B, Kupeli N, Moore KJ, et al.; Defining end of life in dementia: A systematic review. *Palliative Medicine* 2021:02692163211025457.

34. Sleeman KE, Ho YK, Verne J, et al.; Reversal of English trend towards hospital death in dementia: a population-based study of place of death and associated individual and regional factors, 2001–2010. *BMC neurology* 2014;14(1):59.

35. England PH; Dying with Dementia. National Dementia Intelligence Network and National End of Life Care Intelligence Network, 2016.

36. Broad JB, Gott M, Kim H, et al.; Where do people die? An international comparison of the percentage of deaths occurring in hospital and residential aged care settings in 45 populations, using published and available statistics. *International journal of public health* 2013;58(2):257-267.

37. Williamson LE, Evans CJ, Cripps RL, et al.; Factors Associated With Emergency Department Visits by People With Dementia Near the End of Life: A Systematic Review. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*.

 Sköldunger A, Fastbom J, Wimo A, et al.; Impact of inappropriate drug use on hospitalizations, mortality, and costs in older persons and persons with dementia: findings from the SNAC study. *Drugs & aging* 2015;32(8):671-678. 39. Leniz J, Higginson IJ, Yi D, et al.; Identification of palliative care needs among people with dementia and its association with acute hospital care and community service use at the end-of-life: A retrospective cohort study using linked primary, community and secondary care data. *Palliative Medicine* 2021:02692163211019897.

40. Delgado J, Evans PH, Gray DP, et al.; Continuity of GP care for patients with dementia: impact on prescribing and the health of patients. *British Journal of General Practice* 2022.

41. Dening KH, Greenish W, Jones L, et al.; Barriers to providing end-of-life care for people with dementia: a whole-system qualitative study. *BMJ supportive & palliative care* 2012;2(2):103-107.

Society As; Fix dementia care: NHS and care homes. Alzheimer's Society London, 2016.

43. Levene LS, Baker R, Walker N, et al.; Predicting declines in perceived relationship continuity using practice deprivation scores: a longitudinal study in primary care. *British Journal of General Practice* 2018;68(671):e420-e426.

44. Moore KJ, Davis S, Gola A, et al.; Experiences of end of life amongst family carers of people with advanced dementia: longitudinal cohort study with mixed methods. *Bmc Geriatrics* 2017;17(1):1-13.

45. Phelan EA, Debnam KJ, Anderson LA, et al.; A systematic review of intervention studies to prevent hospitalizations of community-dwelling older adults with dementia. *Medical care* 2015;53(2):207.

46. Curie M; In and out of hospital: Understanding disparities in emergency admissions in the final year of life. 2018, 1-24.

47. Bach PB, Schrag D, Begg CB; Resurrecting treatment histories of dead patients: a study design that should be laid to rest. *Jama* 2004;292(22):2765-2770.

48. Evans C, Yorganci E, Lewis P, et al.; Processes of consent in research for adults with impaired mental capacity nearing the end of life: systematic review and transparent expert consultation (MORECare_Capacity statement). *BMC medicine* 2020;**18**(1):1-55.

49. Dodd E, Cheston R, Cullum S, et al.; Primary care-led dementia diagnosis services in South Gloucestershire: Themes from people and families living with dementia and health care professionals. *Dementia* 2016;15(6):1586-1604.

50. Digital N. *Recorded Dementia Diagnoses November 2020*. <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/november-2020</u> (Date Accessed 2020 Accessed, date last accessed)

51. England PH. *Statistical commentary: dementia profile, April 2019 update.* <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/dementia-profile-april-2019-data-update/statistical-commentary-dementia-profile-april-2019-</u>

update#:~:text=This%20update%20shows%3A,on%20the%20rate%20for%202017 (Date Accessed 2019 Accessed, date last accessed)

52. Office NA; Healthcare across the UK: A comparison of the NHS in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. National Audit Office London, 2012.

53. UK AsR; Dementia Attitudes Monitor Wave 1 Cambridge. UK, 2018.

54. Carter G, Brown Wilson C, Mitchell G; The effectiveness of a digital game to improve public perception of dementia: A pretest-posttest evaluation. *PloS one* 2021;16(10):e0257337.

55. Smith S, Parveen S, Sass C, et al.; An audit of dementia education and training in UK health and social care: a comparison with national benchmark standards. *BMC health services research* 2019;19(1):1-9.

56. Gkioka M, Schneider J, Kruse A, et al.; Evaluation and effectiveness of dementia staff training programs in general hospital settings: a narrative synthesis with holton's three-level model applied. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2020(Preprint):1-20.

57. Rovers JJE, Knol EJ, Pieksma J, et al.; Living at the end-of-life: experience of time of patients with cancer. *BMC palliative care* 2019;18(1):1-8.

5.4 Summary

Results from Study 1, which included a dynamic cohort of people diagnosed with dementia, showed that high unplanned admission rates are common for people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life. Stratification of data as those who died and those who were alive by the study end highlighted the stark differences in unplanned admission rates. In this study, rates of unplanned hospital admissions remained relatively low and stable after dementia diagnosis and only increased as people with dementia approach the end of life. In this study for most groups of the people with dementia, the uptick trend in the rates of unplanned hospital admissions occurred towards the last year of life.

Stratification of data by survival after dementia diagnosis highlighted that people who were closer to death at the time of diagnosis tended to experience higher rates of unplanned hospital admissions compared to those who lived with dementia for many years. The differences in the percentage of time spent as an inpatient in hospital among people with dementia who had varying duration of survival after diagnosis were less prominent compared to the rates of unplanned hospital admissions. This may indicate that people who had a shorter survival duration after diagnosis may be having repeated number of short-stay unplanned hospital admissions. Heterogeneity in the admission rates based on stratification by survival was considered further in Study 2 and 3.

The cumulative incidence rate of unplanned hospital admissions reported in our study is similar to the one (75.9%) shown by a study of people with dementia from the same mental health trust for a shorter time interval (2008-2016).⁹⁸ Previously reported cumulative incidence of hospitalisations of people with dementia with varying follow-up times ranged between 23.6% and 86.0%.^{97, 99, 246} Lower hospitalisation rates have been reported in studies with people not approaching the end of their lives or when limited to the hospitalisations of people with one type of dementia.^{247, 248} This is also evident in our study, where the cumulative incidence rate was lower for people who were living at the end of follow-up (61.4%) compared to the decedents (84.8%). A similar cumulative incidence rate of 80.8% was observed in England for people older than 75 who had at least one unplanned hospital admission in the last year of life.²⁴⁹ Among this sample, 38.1% died in the hospital, which is similar to national data.⁸⁶ Almost one in ten (9.1%) people with dementia died on their first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis. Further information is required to understand to find out the proportion of unplanned hospital admissions that could have been avoided. Although the most common recorded reasons for admissions were ACSCs in this study, admission information of people with dementia is often accompanied by narratives explaining other events (social and medical) and circumstances leading up to the admission. In future research, the application of NLP

algorithms to text entries available in electronic health records may enhance our understanding of the proportion of avoidable, and potentially inappropriate unplanned hospital admissions.

In previous studies, the year of receiving dementia diagnosis was also determined as a critical time period where an increase in healthcare use such as hospitalisations, was observed.^{111, 112} These findings indicate that occurrence of healthcare use within the year of dementia diagnosis may be more prominent for people who may be closer to the end of life. This is also supported by the stark difference in the rates of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia who were alive at the study compared to the those of the decedents. The patterns of unplanned hospital admissions are explored in conjunction with SLaM services following the receipt of dementia diagnosis in Study 3.

One of the main strengths of this study was the large and inclusive sample which was not limited to decedents and included people living at home and in care homes with any dementia diagnosis and severity, thus reducing biases which may be introduced by subject and time period selection.²⁰⁴ There may be some concerns about the generalisability of the findings, as the identification of people with dementia was limited to records of a single mental health trust which may limit generalisability.^{82, 250} Additionally, the proportion of people with a dementia diagnosis is relatively high in this catchment area (Lambeth, Croydon, Southwark, Lewisham) compared to national figures.^{98, 251} However, the average age at diagnosis and death, and the duration between diagnosis and death from our findings are consistent with national averages.²⁵² The other strength of the study is having a near-complete picture of unplanned hospital admissions of individuals over multiple years. Only 1% of UK hospital services are not provided by the NHS and would not be recorded in the HES ACP dataset, and healthcare provision is likely to be less relevant for unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia.²²⁶ By leveraging the data linkage between SLaM and HES ACP datasets, I was also able to provide a detailed description of our cohort (e.g., type of dementia diagnosis, severity, and functioning) in addition to the hospitalisation outcomes. In this study, a methodological understanding was gained in terms of the effect of using dynamic cohorts and focusing on the decedents separately. The patterns of unplanned hospital admissions were explored to gain an understanding of the timings on the disease trajectory, who may be more at risk of the hospitalisations, and which services may be involved in reducing avoidable hospitalisations.

This study did not explore differences among people with dementia based on other sociodemographic, environmental or illness-related characteristics. Detailed descriptives for the sample were provided. Within the analysis of large samples, it is possible to find statistically significant findings easily. However, the aim was to map out 'when' and 'how much' these

unplanned hospital admissions occur. Factors associated with hospital admissions and their reasons have been studied previously. ^{111, 114} Biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia associated with healthcare use, including unplanned hospital admissions, are investigated in Study 3.

High rates of unplanned hospital admissions among decedents with dementia towards death raise important questions about different domains of the quality of care. Interpretation of the findings in relation to different aspects of the quality of care¹⁴⁷ are illustrated below (Table 5-2).

Table 5-2. Interpretation of the study findings in relation to the quality of care of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life (Study 1)

Quality of care domain	Interpretation of findings and implications		
(See <u>Appendix 1</u> for			
definitions)			
Safety	Hospital environments may be harmful to people with dementia. As long as		
	hospital remain a common place of care, improving safety and minimising harms		
	while people spend time in hospitals should be prioritised. In contrast, people		
	may be spending longer time in the hospital once they are admitted, if their		
	previous place of care is no longer safe to return.		
Effectiveness	Although the care delivered within the hospital may be effective in resolving the		
	reason which led to the admission of the patient, the healthcare outside of the		
	hospital may not be effective enough to resolve the issues, including ACSCs. ²⁵³		
Outcomes of care	Despite resolution of the acute medical crisis, the quality of life of people with		
	dementia may be impaired.		
Patient-centred care	Most people affected by dementia would prefer to not spend time in hospitals		
	towards the end of life. 103 Achieving care concordant with people's preferences		
	might be affected by the availability of responsive services in the community,		
	people's comorbidities and whether advance care planning conversations and		
	actions took place. For people with dementia who experience an unplanned		
	hospital admission, care provision must prioritise understanding patient's		
	preferences for the hospital stay and following discharge from hospital.		
Timely access	Common occurrence of unplanned hospital admissions raises questions about		
	whether people with dementia, their families and community health and social		
	care staff were able to access the care and treatments they need without		
	needing an unplanned hospital admission, when it was needed. Additionally, the		
	study highlights differences based on the timing of the receipt of the dementia		
	diagnosis.		
Efficiency and value for	Extended hospital stays towards the end of life raise questions about the		

moneyefficiency of the care provided. Overall, the time spent in hospital by people with
dementia is costly for the NHS, and often not beneficial for people with
dementia. Both formal and informal care costs increase towards the end of
life.²⁵⁴

The findings from this study demonstrated that there is value in exploring the quality of care experienced by people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life to get a better understanding of the services which may support end-of-life care and those who may benefit from intervention. People who may be experiencing repeated unplanned hospital admissions shortly (e.g., within a year) after receiving their dementia diagnosis may be nearing the end of life and benefit from specialist services such as palliative care to manage complex reasons leading to their admissions. By using data linkages between routine datasets, this study was able to demonstrate high rates of unplanned hospital admissions, when they occur, and how they differ among people with dementia. In this study, the cohort was grouped by duration of survival since diagnosis to understand whether variations existed depending how long people lived with a diagnosis. The survival after occurrence of an event could also inform the quality of care of those nearing the end of life.

The next chapter of the thesis employs a different approach to the exploration of the patterns of healthcare use and the quality of care by looking at the incidence, and time trends of critical care admissions for people with dementia. It also seeks to understand whether dementia severity is associated with survival following a critical care admission to provide information about the appropriateness of the critical care admissions. Based on the findings from Study 1, the last year of life was chosen for the time period of exploration. Critical care admissions were also chosen to address the dearth of evidence about the incidence among people with dementia in England. Critical care admissions and interventions provided in the critical care units, such as mechanical ventilation are quality indicators commonly explored in other countries.

Chapter 6: Results Study 2 – Critical care admissions

This chapter presents the specific methods and the results of Study 2. The analyses presented in this chapter have been published in the following peer-reviewed journal:

Yorganci E, Sleeman KE, Sampson EL, Stewart R. Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a large English cohort. Age and Ageing. 2023 Sep 1;52(9):afad157.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093%2Fageing%2Fafad157

Personal contributions to the publication: I was responsible for devising the study approach and analysis plan. I sought and gained approval from the CRIS oversight committee to conduct the research using the CRIS-HES linkage. I outlined the selection criteria to define the cohort and data extraction requirements. I cleaned the data, performed the analysis and drafted the manuscript. My PhD supervisors were consulted throughout and provided input on the analysis plan and review and editing of the manuscript. I would like to acknowledge Hitesh Shetty and Daisy Kornblum for extracting the data.

6.1 Introduction

This study addressed the thesis objective 1: To describe the patterns of healthcare use of people with dementia from the point of diagnosis to death. This study also contributed to the thesis objective 3: To use these findings to describe the quality of care received by people with dementia nearing the end of life and guide policy and practice for this population.

Results from the systematic review show that the number of critical care admissions of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life is a commonly used process QI for measuring care quality. When a high percentage of people with dementia experience critical care admissions, there may be concerns about the quality of care. However, admissions of people with dementia to critical care units vary across countries.^{122, 255} While some countries routinely examine admissions of people with dementia to critical care units, albeit not necessarily limited to those who died, in England, to our knowledge, critical care admissions of people with dementia are not routinely monitored and have not been examined in research.²⁵⁶

This study investigates critical care admissions of people with dementia, which occurred after a dynamic cohort of people from South London received their dementia diagnosis. The CRIS dataset was linked with the national hospital records (HES APC and HES ACC), and the death registry (ONS) to assemble a retrospective cohort study.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Design and data sources

This is a retrospective cohort study assembled through the linkage of two clinical datasets (South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust Biomedical Research Centre's (SLaM BRC) Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS)^{163, 215} and Hospital Episode Statistics Admitted Patient Care (HES APC) and Adult Critical Care (HES ACC)), and a death registry (Office for National Statistics - ONS). Mortality information was available until March 2021 to allow at least one year of follow-up. Chapter 4, Section 4.8.1 of this thesis provides more detailed information on the datasets.

6.2.2 Setting and cohort

Any person with dementia who was 50 or older diagnosed between 1st January 2006 and 31st March 2020 was included. All dementia diagnoses recorded in CRIS were determined from ICD-10 diagnosis codes (F00x–03x) recorded in structured fields. At the time of the data extraction for this study, the use of a validated natural language processing algorithm using GATE software for detecting supplemented by dementia diagnosis recorded in text fields which was available for Study 1 was not available for this study.

6.2.3 Clinical variables

The Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE ²²²) scores that were recorded on the closest date to the critical care admission to estimate dementia severity were used, applying recommended cut-off points²⁵⁷ (mild=MMSE≥20, moderate-severe=MMSE<20). The MMSE has good test-retest reliability and acceptable sensitivity and specificity to detect mild to moderate stages of dementia.^{258, 259} For people with no recorded MMSE score at a date close to their critical care admission, the cognitive problems score from the Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS)²⁶⁰, a structured clinical outcome measure used routinely in English mental healthcare, was used to estimate dementia severity with standard recommended cut-off points (mild=0-2; moderate-severe=3-4²⁶⁰). If there were no recorded measures (MMSE or HoNOS cognitive problems score) for estimating the dementia severity in the year preceding the critical care admission date, dementia severity was recorded as 'missing'. As the dementia severity was not recorded in HES, dementia severity of people with dementia at the time of their critical care admission was merely an estimate. Hence, the imputation of the missing values was not appropriate for estimating the dementia severity at the time of the critical care admission. For each participant, information on critical care admissions after the date of their first CRIS-recorded dementia diagnosis was linked to the information from HES APC to capture the length of the critical care unit and overall hospital stay. For each person, the dates for

each hospital admission, critical care unit admission, critical care unit discharge, and hospital discharge were extracted.

6.2.4 Outcomes

Outcomes included one-year survival following a critical care admission grouped by dementia severity, and critical care use. One-year survival was determined by checking whether the individual who had a critical care admission was alive or not 365 days after their date of discharge from the critical care unit. The percentage of people with dementia who had a critical care admission, and the critical care admission rate (the number of critical care admissions divided by the person-years of follow-up of the overall cohort) were reported. Age-sex-standardised annual critical care use (number of critical care admissions of people with dementia per year /number of people living with dementia per year) were calculated using England's mid-year population estimates to adjust the number of critical care admissions observed in the sample for sex (male, female) and age groups (50-59, 60-69, 70-79, 80-89, >90).²⁶¹ Age-sex-standardised critical care use in the last year of life (number of critical care admissions of people with dementia in the last year of life per year / number of decedents with dementia per year were calculated using England's leading causes of death statistics to identify annual dementia deaths published by the ONS, to adjust the critical care use observed in the sample for sex and age groups.²⁶²

6.2.4.1 Critical care admissions

The number of critical care admissions which took place after the first recorded date of dementia diagnosis were derived from HES ACC dataset.²⁴³ HES data was available up to 31st March 2020, allowing at least one year of potential hospital admissions data follow-up.⁹⁸ To understand where people died (i.e., during a critical care admission, on a general hospital ward, or elsewhere), hospital admissions data from Admitted Patient Care (APC) of people with dementia were also merged with the critical care data. Critical care admissions were assembled using codes for spells' start dates and admission method. Duplicates based on the date of admission, date of discharge, the episode start and end dates, the admission and discharge methods were removed (Figure 6-1).



Figure 6-1. Flowchart of identifying the number of critical care admissions

6.2.4.2 Survival

One-year survival is a commonly used measure in end-of-life care research as it may inform the effect of a process on the individual's prognosis, and their proximity to the end-of-life period.^{263, 264} Survival was used to obtain an estimation of the proximity of people with dementia to the end of their lives when they were admitted to a critical care unit. There is an increasing body of work suggesting that poor end of life care is often experienced by people with dementia. Prognostic uncertainty has been shown as one of the key reasons for this.²⁰¹ The information on survival could be useful for identifying the support and the services people may need in the upcoming months. Improved information on longer-term prognosis such as one-year survival, would allow hospital staff to feel more confident in adapting a palliative model of care for people with dementia where appropriate. Previous research outside of the UK investigated critical care admissions among people with advanced dementia. However, research shows that only a small percentage of people with dementia at all stages of dementia severity and whether their survival was impacted by their dementia severity were questions of interest.

6.3 Statistical Analysis

Logistic regression and Kaplan-Meier survival plots to were used to investigate one-year survival following a critical care admission, and linear regressions for trend analyses. Survival time was calculated from the date of the critical care discharge to death or one-year (365.25 days) after the discharge date. All analyses were performed using STATA 15 software.²⁶⁵ In medical research, Kaplan-Meier survival estimator is one of the most frequently used to measures to estimate the fraction of patients living for a certain amount of time after receiving a treatment or experiencing an

admission.²⁶⁶ Parallel survival curves indicate that hazards in groups of cases are proportional over time.²⁶⁷

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Cohort Description

Of 19,787 people diagnosed with dementia, 726 (3.7%) had \geq 1 critical care admission at any point after receiving their dementia diagnosis, equating to 0.27 critical care admissions per person-years. Those with a CCA were median age 81 (IQR:75-86) on admission, nearly a quarter (n=175, 24.1%) died in hospital, including 11.1% (n=81) in the critical care unit; the remaining 551 (75.9%) were discharged after a median 10 (IQR:4-21) days total hospitalisation. Compared to people who did not have a CCA, people who had \geq 1 CCA were younger when diagnosed with dementia (median age of 79 IQR(73-84) vs median age of 82 IQR(77-87)) and had a higher MMSE scores (21 IQR(17 – 24) vs 19 IQR(15.0– 23.0)), indicating milder cognitive impairment at the time of their diagnosis (Table 6-1).

	Total	No critical care	Had ≥1 critical care
		admission	admission
Ν	19,787	19,061	726
Sex			
woman	12071 (61.0%)	11696 (61.4%)	375 (51.7%)
man	7716 (39.0%)	7365 (38.6%)	351 (48.3%)
Ethnicity			
White	14,171 (71.6%)	13685 (71.8%)	486 (66.9%)
Mixed	142 (0.7%)	133 (0.7%)	9 (1.2%)
Asian	1,061 (5.4%)	1006 (5.3%)	55 (7.6%)
Black	3,149 (15.9%)	3010 (15.8%)	139 (19.2%)
Other	434 (2.2%)	414 (2.2%)	20 (2.8%)
Not known	831 (4.2%)	813 (4.3%)	18 (2.3%)
IMD Quintiles			
1	3,712 (18.8%)	3564 (18.7%)	148 (20.4%)
2	7,560 (3.8%)	7255 (38.1%)	305 (42.1%)
3	4,183 (21.1%)	4037 (21.2%)	146 (20.1%)
4	2,275 (11.5%)	2214 (11.6%)	61 (8.4%)

Table 6-1. Cohort characteristics (N=19,787)

5	1,319 (6.7%)	1286 (6.7%)	33 (4.6%)
missing		705 (3.7%)	33 (4.4%)
Dementia diagnosis			
Alzheimer's disease	7,098 (35.9%)	6892 (36.2%)	206 (28.4%)
Mixed dementia	2,756 (13.9%)	2652 (13.9%)	104 (14.3%)
Unspecified dementia	4,745 (24.0%)	4569 (24.0%)	176 (24.3%)
Vascular dementia	3,671 (18.6%)	3476 (22.2%)	195 (26.9%)
Dementia in other		1,473 (4.0%)	23 (3.2%)
diseases	1,496 (7.6%)		
Age at diagnosis			
<60	309 (1.6%)	285 (1.5%)	24 (3.3%)
>=60 - <=64	430 (2.2%)	401 (2.1%)	29 (4.0%)
>=65 - <=69	916 (4.6%)	845 (4.4%)	71 (9.8%)
>=70 - <=74	1998 (10.1%)	1896 (9.9%)	102 (14.1%)
>=75 - <=79	3615 (18.3%)	3441 (18.1%)	174 (24.0%)
>=80 - <=84	4820 (24.4%)	4653 (24.4%)	167 (23.0%)
>=85 - <=89	4749 (24.0%)	4639 (24.3%)	110 (15.2%)
>=90 - <=94	2278 (11.5%)	2237 (11.7%)	41 (5.6%)
>=95	672 (3.4%)	664 (3.5%)	8 (1.1%)
Age at diagnosis,	82.0 (77.0, 87.0)	82.0 (77.0, 87.0)	79.0 (73.0, 84.0)
median (IQR)			
MMSE near diagnosis,	20.0 (15.0, 23.0)	19.0 (15.0, 23.0)	21.0 (17.0, 24.0)
median (IQR)			
MMSE categories			
mild	5313 (26.8%)	5046 (26.5%)	267 (36.8%)
moderate	4274 (21.6%)	4115 (21.6%)	159 (21.9%)
severe	1041 (5.3%)	1020 (5.4%)	21 (2.9%)
missing	9159 (46.3%)	8880 (46.6%)	279 (38.4%)
HoNOS cognitive	15807 (79.9%)	15244 (80.0%)	563 (77.5%)
problems			

MMSE: mini-mental state examination; HoNOS (health of the nation outcome scale) scores were dichotomised (scores 0 and 1—no or minor problems, scores 2 to 4—mild to severe problems) to facilitate interpretation.

6.4.2 Critical care admissions following dementia diagnosis

Age-sex-standardised annual critical care use of people with dementia ranged between 0.5% (512 per 100,000 people with dementia) and 9.8% (9,797 per 100,000 people with dementia). Over the 12-year period from 2008 to 2019, there was a decrease in overall critical care use (β =-0.05; 95% CI - 0.01, -0.0003; p=0.04), while one-year survival remained steady (Figure 6-2) (OR 1.00, 95% CI 0.96 – 1.06, p=0.78).





6.4.3 Critical care admissions in the last year of life

Age-sex-standardised annual critical care use during the last year of life ranged between 0.9% (905 per 100,000 people with dementia) and 3.9% (3,859 per 100,000 people with dementia). Between 2008 and 2019, there was an increase in critical care admissions in the last year of life (β =0.11, 95% CI 0.01, 0.20, p=0.03) (Figure 6-3). Among the critical care admissions occurring in the last year of life, over half (51.6%) occurred in the last month of life (Figure 6-4), equating to 1.1% of people with dementia.



Figure 6-3. The trend in the percentages of critical care admissions among people with dementia that took place in the last year of life between 2008 and 2019



Figure 6-4. Number of critical care admissions among decedents with dementia in the last 12 months of life

6.4.4 Survival

The overall one-year survival of people with dementia who had a critical care admission was 47.5% (n=345). Dementia severity was not associated with one-year survival following a critical care admission (mild dementia vs moderate-severe dementia odds of one-year mortality, OR: 0.90, 95% CI [0.66-1.22]) (Figure 6-5).



Figure 6-5. Kaplan-Meier survival plot showing the one-year survival following a critical care admission in people with a previous dementia diagnosis grouped by dementia severity

6.4.5 Sensitivity analysis for the survival analysis

The survival analysis exploring people's dementia severity included a composite variable. To ensure that there were no differences based on how the survival is grouped, a sensitivity analysis was conducted where the grouping of people based on their dementia severity were further broken down to seven different groups (mild MMSE score, mild HoNOS cognitive problems score, moderate MMSE score, moderate HoNOS cognitive problems score, severe MMSE score, severe HoNOS cognitive problems score, missing) and log-rank test for heterogeneity was run to check for differences in survival. No significant differences were identified (p=0.06).

6.4.6 Patient and public involvement

Findings from this study were discussed with the EMBED-Care PPI members and the EMBED-Care team which includes healthcare professionals and researchers. In comparison to other countries, low incidence of critical care admissions among people with dementia towards the end of life was not a surprise. However, the PPI members did not expect such a stark difference. The utility of measures

of dementia severity were questioned. Although the critical care admissions which took place during the COVID-19 pandemic were not included in this study, the discussions took place following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Concerns of denial of critical care to people with dementia during the COVID-19 pandemic based on their clinical frailty score were raised.²⁶⁸ These concerns mainly related to the importance of monitoring the care received by people with dementia (i.e., those who received critical care, and those who did not) to ensure that their access to appropriate care is not restricted due their dementia diagnosis.

Findings were also discussed with healthcare professionals, including palliative care specialists working in hospitals. Healthcare professionals were not surprised with the increase in the rates of critical care admissions in the last year of life. Palliative care specialists highlighted the lack of recognition of dying and cumulative signs which may indicate that a person with dementia is approaching the end of life.

6.4.6 Publication 3: Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a large English cohort

The findings from Study 2 were published in Age and Ageing and are presented below as the accepted manuscript for publication to ensure that figures and small text are readable.²⁶⁹ The published version is open-access, and can be accessed using the link provided at the beginning of Chapter 6. .²⁶⁹ This is followed by the supplementary materials (Appendix 5).

Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a large English cohort

Emel Yorganci¹, Katherine E Sleeman¹, Elizabeth L Sampson^{2,3}, Robert Stewart^{4,5} on behalf of the EMBED-Care Programme

Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, Policy & Rehabilitation, King's College London, Florence Nightingale Faculty of Nursing, Midwifery & Palliative Care, London, UK

²Division of Psychiatry, University College London, London, UK ³Royal London Hospital, East London NHS Foundation Trust

⁴ Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK
⁵South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

Address correspondence to: Emel Yorganci, Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, King's College London, Bessemer Road, London, SE5 9PJ, UK

email: emel.yorganci@kcl.ac.uk

twitter: @emelasml

Declaration of sources of funding

This project is funded by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) and National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) through the ESRC/NIHR Dementia Initiative 2018 (Grant Reference Number ES/S010327/1). RS is part-funded by i) the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre at the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London; ii) the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Applied Research Collaboration South London (NIHR ARC South London) at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; iii) the DATAMIND HDR UK Mental Health Data Hub (MRC grant MR/W014386); iv) the UK Prevention Research Partnership (Violence, Health and Society; MR-VO49879/1), an initiative funded by UK Research and Innovation Councils, the Department of Health and Social Care (England) and the UK devolved administrations, and leading health research charities. KES is the Laing Galazka Chair in palliative care at King's College London, funded by an endowment from Cicely Saunders International and the Kirby Laing Foundation. This project was funded jointly by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) and the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). ESRC is part of the UK Research and Innovation. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the ESRC, UKRI, NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Conflicts of interest

RS declares research support received in the last 3 years from Janssen, GSK and Takeda.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Dr Daisy Kornblum and Hitesh Shetty for their support in data extraction, and Drs Javiera Leniz and Joanna Davies for their guidance on age and sex standardisation. Our thanks to the EMBED-Care team (colleagues and past and present members of the public and patient involvement (PPI) group who include Frank Arrojo, Helen Findlay, Roberta McKee-Jackson, Rita Meek, Christine Reddall and Jane Ward) for their support. Co-applicants for the EMBED-Care Programme are Elizabeth L Sampson, Catherine J Evans, Katherine E Sleeman, Nuriye Kupeli, Kirsten J Moore, Nathan Davies, Clare Ellis-Smith, Jane Ward, Anna Gola, Bridget Candy, Rumana Z Omar, Jason D Warren, Janet E Anderson, Richard Harding, Robert Stewart, and Simon Mead
Abstract

Background: Admitting people with dementia to critical care units may not always lead to a clear survival benefit. Critical care admissions (CCAs) of people with dementia vary across countries. Little is known about the use and trends of CCAs of people with dementia in England.

Objective: To investigate critical care use and survival among people with dementia in a large London catchment area.

Methods: A retrospective cohort study using data from dementia assessment services in south London, UK (2007-2020) linked with national hospitalisation data to ascertain CCAs. Outcomes included age-sex-standardised critical care use and one-year post-CCA survival by dementia severity (binary: mild vs. moderate/severe). We used logistic regression and Kaplan-Meier survival plots for investigating one-year survival following CCA, and linear regressions for time-trends.

Results: Of 19,787 people diagnosed with dementia, 726 (3.7%) had \geq 1 CCA at any time after receiving their dementia diagnosis. The overall one-year survival of people with dementia who had a CCA was 47.5% (n=345). Dementia severity was not associated with one-year survival following CCA (mild dementia vs moderate-severe dementia odds of one-year mortality OR: 0.90, 95% CI [0.66-1.22]). Over the 12-year period from 2008 to 2019, overall critical care use decreased (β =-0.05; 95%CI -0.01, -0.0003; p=0.03), while CCAs occurring during the last year of life increased (β =0.11, 95%CI 0.01, 0.20, p=0.03).

Conclusions: In this cohort, while critical care use among people with dementia declined overall, its use increased among those in their last year of life. Survival remains comparable to that observed in general older populations.

Key words: critical care, dementia, survival, routine data, intensive care

Key points

- In a large cohort with a dementia diagnosis, while overall critical care use decreased over the years, a slight increase was observed among critical care admissions which took place in the last year of the decedents' lives.
- One-year survival of people with dementia following a critical care admission was 48%, similar to that observed in general older populations.
- Data linkages and clinically relevant routinely collected data are essential for informing service planning and evaluating care quality of people with dementia

Introduction

The number of people living with dementia is increasing, [1] and providing high-quality and equitable care is a major challenge. Understanding different aspects of healthcare use is important for service planning, including critical care unit admissions [2]. While critical care admissions (CCAs) may be life-saving, those for people with dementia need careful consideration as to whether benefits outweigh burdens [3], and whether they are in accord with people's previous preferences especially at advanced stages of dementia [4]. CCAs in dementia may vary geographically and over time; those in the last year of life have increased in several countries [4, 5], but trends in England have not been described. We investigated CCAs among people with dementia from point of diagnosis, including survival and time trends, by leveraging a novel data linkage in a large south London catchment area.

Methods

Setting & data sources

A retrospective cohort was constructed using data linkages between (i) dementia assessment/management services (South London and Maudsley (SLaM) National Health Service Foundation Trust Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS)), (ii) hospital inpatient (2008- March 2020), (iii) hospital critical care (2008- March 2020), and (iv) the national death registry (Office of National Statistics (ONS). Mortality information was available up to March 2021 to allow at least one year of follow-up. The source database is approved for secondary analysis (Oxfordshire Research Ethics Committee C, reference 18/SC/0372). Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) Adult Inpatient Care contains details of all admissions in England, and HES Adult Critical Care contains details of CCAs to intensive care units and high dependency units [2]. SLaM provides mental health services to a catchment population of 1.2m south London residents; the CRIS platform provides research access to de-identified structured and open-text data from SLaM's electronic health records [6], including its comprehensive dementia assessment services.

We included any person with dementia who was ≥50 at diagnosis between 1st January 2006 and 31st March 2020. All dementia diagnoses recorded in CRIS were determined from ICD-10 diagnosis codes (F00x–03x) recorded in structured fields.

Clinical variables

We used Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE [7]) scores recorded on the closest date to the CCA to estimate dementia severity, applying recommended cut-off points [8] (mild=MMSE≥20,

moderate-severe=MMSE<20). The MMSE has good test-retest reliability, and acceptable sensitivity and specificity to detect mild to moderate stages of dementia [9, 10]. For people with no recorded MMSE score, the cognitive problems score from the Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS) [11], a structured clinical outcome measure used routinely in English mental healthcare, was used to estimate dementia severity with standard recommended cut-off points (mild=0-2; moderatesevere=3-4 [11]). For each participant, we retrieved information on CCAs after the date of their first CRIS-recorded dementia diagnosis and linked the information on CCAs to information from HES Admitted Patient Care to capture the length of critical care unit and overall hospital stay. For each person, we had dates of hospital admission, critical care unit admission, critical care unit discharge, and hospital discharge.

Outcomes

Outcomes included one-year survival following CCA by dementia severity, and CCA use. One-year survival was determined by checking whether the individual who had CCA was living or not 365 days after their discharge from the critical care unit. We reported the percentage of people with dementia who had a CCA, and the CCA rate (the number of CCAs divided by the person-years of follow-up of the overall cohort). We calculated age-sex-standardised annual critical care use (number of CCAs of people with dementia per year /number of people living with dementia per year). For standardisation, we used England's mid-year population estimates to adjust the number of CCAs observed in our sample for sex and age groups (50-59, 60-69, 70-79, 80-89, >90) [12]. We calculated age-sex-standardised critical care use in the last year of life (number of CCAs of people with dementia per year / number of decedents with dementia per year). For standardised critical care use in the last year of life (number of CCAs of people with dementia care use in the last year of life (number of CCAs of people with dementia in the last year of life per year / number of decedents with dementia per year). For standardisation, we used England's leading causes of death statistics to identify annual dementia deaths published by ONS, to adjust the critical care use observed in our sample for sex and age groups (50-59, 60-69, 70-79, 80-89, >90) [13].

Statistical Analysis

We used logistic regression and Kaplan-Meier survival plots to investigate one-year survival following a CCA, and linear regressions for trend analyses. All analyses were performed using STATA 15 software [14].

Results

Of 19,787 people diagnosed with dementia, 726 (3.7%) had ≥1 CCA, equating to 0.27 CCAs per person-years. Those with a CCA were median age 81 (IQR:75-86) on admission, nearly a quarter

(n=175, 24.1%) died in hospital, including 11.1% (n=81) in the critical care unit; the remaining 551 (75.9%) were discharged after a median 10 (IQR:4-21) days total hospitalisation. Compared to people who did not have a CCA, people who had ≥1 CCA were younger when diagnosed with dementia (median age of 79 IQR(73-84) vs median age of 82 IQR(77-87)) and had a higher MMSE scores (21 IQR(17 - 24) vs 19 IQR(15.0- 23.0)), indicating milder cognitive impairment at the time of their diagnosis (See Supplementary Data). The overall one-year survival of people with dementia who had a CCA was 47.5% (n=345). Dementia severity was not associated with one-year survival following CCA (mild dementia vs moderate-severe dementia odds of one-year mortality, OR: 0.90, 95% CI [0.66-1.22]) (Figure 1). Age-sex-standardised annual critical care use of people with dementia ranged between 0.5% (512 per 100,000 people with dementia) and 9.8% (9,797 per 100,000 people with dementia). Over the 12-year period from 2008 to 2019, there was a decrease in overall critical care use (β=-0.05; 95%CI -0.01, -0.0003; p=0.04), while one-year survival remained steady (Figure 2). Age-sex-standardised annual critical care use during the last year of life ranged between 0.9% (905 per 100,000 people with dementia) and 3.9% (3,859 per 100,000 people with dementia). Between 2008 and 2019, there was an increase in CCAs in the last year of life (β=0.11, 95% CI 0.01, 0.20, p=0.03).

Discussion

In a large cohort of people with dementia, 3.7% experienced a CCA, potentially reflecting the careful selection process for admission to critical care units. Previous estimates of annual CCA rates for people older than 80 range between 3.0% to 16.5% [15]. The one-year survival following CCA of 47.5% is slightly lower than that reported among people with dementia in England admitted to hospital (58.5%)[16]. It is consistent with one-year survival following a CCA reported among older people generally (30-70%)[17] and people with cancer (40-55%)[18]. However, our observed proportion of CCAs that ended in death on a critical care unit (11.1%) was lower than general population reports (14-20%)[19].

In our study, CCAs among people with dementia decreased over the years observed, while CCAs in the last year of life increased. Evidence on temporal CCA trends is scarce. Previous US studies of CCA trends of older people (2001-2008[20]) and of people with dementia (1998-2015[21]) found no change. In contrast, US data showed increases in CCAs (2000 (6.1%) – 2007 (9.5%))[4] and life-sustaining treatments such as mechanical ventilation among people with advanced dementia [3]. Our findings agree with reported increases in other aspects of potentially burdensome care (e.g., Emergency Department attendance in the last months of life) [22]. Reasons for up-trending CCAs in

the last year of life among people with dementia may be complex. The increasing emphasis on timely diagnosis of dementia in England [23], social care funding implications of having a formal dementia diagnosis [24], and provision of general hospital liaison psychiatry services [25], may have changed the composition of our cohort over time, contributing to observed trends. Following, the 2015 Prime Minister's Challenge on Dementia policy, which aimed that 66% of people with dementia in England should receive a diagnosis, an increase in this percentage was observed: from 47% to 59% between 2011 and 2015. Implementation of incentives by the National Dementia in acute hospitals [27]. While recognition of dementia by clinical teams has increased, skills and knowledge to deliver care for those who may be approaching the end of life are often lacking. Quality indicators such as the percentage of people with dementia who had a CCA in the last month and year of life, and the documentation of treatment and care preferences may drive improvements in care quality for people with dementia until the end of their lives [28].

This study has limitations. Our sample were diagnosed with dementia in a single mental health trust, and may not be representative [29]. Furthermore, we did not have sufficient information about reasons for the CCAs, treatments received, and frailty measures (e.g., the Clinical Frailty Scale [30]) which inform clinical decisions [31, 32], and have an increasingly large influence on CCA decisions than dementia severity. Finally, decisions to admit to critical care units may depend on critical care capacity. However, data on local/regional critical care bed occupancy or capacity were not available for further exploration [33]. Study strengths include the source data linkage which enabled us to determine CCA use among people with dementia diagnosed over a long time period. While most available information on critical care use among people with dementia is limited to those which occurred in the last year of life or only to people who had advanced dementia [3, 34], we were able to identify any CCA after the dementia diagnosis date.

Financial and individual burdens associated with dementia care are high and will increase in future. Critical care use among people with dementia, and relevant outcomes such as their survival and the concordance of care with their preferences should be monitored to minimise burden, and meet care needs appropriately. To make good judgements about the appropriateness of care and inform service provision at a population-level, access to high-quality and clinically relevant routinely collected data is essential.



Figure 1. Kaplan-Meier survival plot showing the one-year survival following a critical care admission in people with a previous dementia diagnosis grouped by dementia severity



Figure 2. Annual age-sex-standardised critical care use among people with dementia between 2008 and 2019

References

1. Nichols E, Steinmetz JD, Vollset SE, et al.; Estimation of the global prevalence of dementia in 2019 and forecasted prevalence in 2050: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet Public Health* 2022;7(2):e105-e125.

 Boyd A, Cornish R, Johnson L, et al.; Understanding Hospital Episode Statistics (HES). London, UK: CLOSER 2017.

3. Teno JM, Gozalo P, Khandelwal N, et al.; Association of increasing use of mechanical ventilation among nursing home residents with advanced dementia and intensive care unit beds. JAMA internal medicine 2016;176(12):1809-1816.

4. Fulton AT, Gozalo P, Mitchell SL, et al.; Intensive care utilization among nursing home residents with advanced cognitive and severe functional impairment. *Journal of palliative medicine* 2014;17(3):313-317.

5. Hsu YH, Chou MY, Chen H-M, et al.; The trend of aggressive treatments in end-of-life care for older people with dementia after a policy change in Taiwan. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2020;21(6):858-863. e1.

 Perera G, Broadbent M, Callard F, et al.; Cohort profile of the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust Biomedical Research Centre (SLaM BRC) case register: current status and recent enhancement of an electronic mental health record-derived data resource. *BMJ open* 2016;6(3):e008721.

7. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR; "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of psychiatric research* 1975;12(3):189-198.

8. Health NIf, Excellence C. Donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2011.

9. O'connor D, Pollitt P, Hyde J, et al.; The reliability and validity of the Mini-Mental State in a British community survey. *Journal of psychiatric research* 1989;23(1):87-96.

10. Tombaugh TN, McIntyre NJ; The mini-mental state examination: a comprehensive review. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 1992;40(9):922-935.

11. Burns A, Beevor A, Lelliott P, et al.; Health of the Nation Outcome Scales for elderly people (HoNOS 65+). *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 1999;174(5):424-427.

12. Statistics OfN; Dataset estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. 2022;Population estimates and components of population change

13. Owen-Williams R; Leading Causes of Death, UK: 2001 to 2018. London: Office for National Statistics, 2020.

 StataCorp L; Stata Statistical Software: Release 15. 2017. College Station, Texas, United States of America. doi: 10.1016/j. lfs 2018;4.

15. Bagshaw SM, Webb SA, Delaney A, et al.; Very old patients admitted to intensive care in Australia and New Zealand: a multi-centre cohort analysis. *Critical Care* 2009;13:1-14.

16. Sampson EL, Blanchard MR, Jones L, et al.; Dementia in the acute hospital: prospective cohort study of prevalence and mortality. *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 2009;**195**(1):61-66.

17. Vallet H, Schwarz GL, Flaatten H, et al.; Mortality of older patients admitted to an ICU: a systematic review. *Critical Care Medicine* 2021;49(2):324-334.

18. van der Zee EN, Termorshuizen F, Benoit DD, et al.; One-year Mortality of Cancer Patients with an Unplanned ICU Admission: A Cohort Analysis Between 2008 and 2017 in the Netherlands. *Journal of intensive care medicine* 2022;37(9):1165-1173.

19. (ICNARC) ICNARC. Key statistics from the Case Mix Programme — adult, general critical care units 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. <u>https://www.icnarc.org/Our-</u>

<u>Audit/Audits/Cmp/Reports/Summary-Statistics</u> (Date Accessed 2022 Accessed, date last accessed) 20. Tillmann BW, Fu L, Hill AD, et al.; Acute healthcare resource utilization by age: A cohort study. *PloS one* 2021;16(5):e0251877.

21. Cobert J, Jeon SY, Boscardin J, et al.; Trends in geriatric conditions among older adults admitted to US ICUs between 1998 and 2015. *Chest* 2022.

22. Leniz J, Gulliford M, Higginson IJ, et al.; Primary care contacts, continuity, identification of palliative care needs, and hospital use: a population-based cohort study in people dying with dementia. *British Journal of General Practice* 2022;72(722):e684-e692.

Government U; Prime Minister's challenge on dementia 2020. In: care Hass (ed), 2015.
UK D. Guide to continuing healthcare (CHC) funding. <u>https://www.dementiauk.org/get-support/legal-and-financial-information/guide-to-continuing-healthcare-funding/</u> (Date Accessed 2021 Accessed, date last accessed)

25. Mujic F, Cairns R, Mak V, et al.; Liaison psychiatry for older adults in the general hospital: service activity, development and outcomes. *BJPsych Bulletin* 2018;42(1):30-36.

 Health Do; Using the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework. DH London, 2008.

27. Sommerlad A, Perera G, Singh-Manoux A, et al.; Accuracy of general hospital dementia diagnoses in England: sensitivity, specificity, and predictors of diagnostic accuracy 2008–2016. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2018;14(7):933-943.

28. Yorganci E, Sampson EL, Gillam J, et al.; Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2021;69(12):3650-3660.

29. Davis K, Mueller C, Ashworth M, et al.; What gets recorded, counts: Dementia recording in primary care compared with a specialist database. *Age and Ageing* 2021.

30. Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, et al.; A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. *Cmaj* 2005;173(5):489-495.

31. Lonsdale DO, Tong L, Farrah H, et al.; The clinical frailty scale–does it predict outcome of the very-old in UK ICUs? *Journal of the Intensive Care Society* 2022:17511437211050789.

32. Darvall JN, Bellomo R, Bailey M, et al.; Frailty and outcomes from pneumonia in critical illness: a population-based cohort study. *British journal of anaesthesia* 2020;**125**(5):730-738.

 Cronin E, Nielsen M, Spollen M, et al.; Adult critical care. Health Care Needs Assessment: CRC Press, 2018, 1-68.

34. Lyngaa T, Christiansen CF, Nielsen H, et al.; Intensive care at the end of life in patients dying due to non-cancer chronic diseases versus cancer: a nationwide study in Denmark. *Critical Care* 2015;19(1):1-9.

6.5 Summary

Study 2 exploited the novel data linkage between SLaM's CRIS dataset and HES's Adult Critical Care datasets to first determine the incidence of critical care admissions among people with dementia, then to explore trends in the critical care admissions over a 12-year period and explore the quality of care and appropriateness of the admissions by investigating the associations between dementia severity and survival. The choice of examining the one-year survival of people who were admitted to a critical care unit was based on the increased rates of unplanned hospital admissions in the last year of life determined in Study 1. The findings show that the one-year survival rate of people with dementia following a critical care admission was 47.5%, which remained consistent over the 12-year period (OR 1.00, 95% Cl 0.96 - 1.06, p=0.78).

The results from this study which included a dynamic cohort of people diagnosed with dementia showed that 3.7% experienced one or more critical care admissions any time after their receiving their dementia diagnosis. Compared to the incidence of critical care admissions among older people, which ranged between 3.0% and 16.5%,²⁷⁰ the cumulative incidence of critical care admissions among people with dementia in this study (3.7%) sits close to the lower end of this range. The wide range of incidences of critical care admissions among older people can be attributed to the variations in the study design, and differences in the study populations.²⁷⁰ In England, while the case mix characteristics of people admitted to the critical care units and the total number of children and adults admitted are reported as part of the routine practice, admissions based on diagnoses and the cumulative incidences are not monitored.²⁵⁶

In this study a slight increase in the age and sex standardised rates of critical care admissions in the last year of life was identified. This trend is in line with the trends observed in Belgium (2010-2015)¹²⁸, and in the USA (2000-2009).¹²⁷ These trends agree with increases observed in other potentially burdensome care experienced among people with dementia, such as increase in unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia,⁹⁸ and increase in the A&E visits in the last year of life.¹¹⁰ Although the percentage of people admitted to critical care units is small in this sample, the trend of increasing critical care admissions mong people with dementia in the last year of life identified in our sample should be further explored, and monitored. In Belgium, which had similar percentages of people with lower likelihood of a critical care admission.¹⁶⁴ This association between living in a nursing home and the A&E visits among people with dementia in the last year of life has also been observed in England.⁴¹ In HES datasets, where people live prior to their hospital admission is recorded as their "usual place of care", which does not differentiate between homes or

care homes. Future studies should explore the association between the place of care and critical care admissions among people with dementia in the last year of life.

The contrasting trends in the overall and the last year of life age and sex standardised rates of critical care admissions could be partly explained by the change in the composition of people diagnosed with dementia over the years. Increase recognition and diagnosis of dementia at earlier stages of the condition, coupled with prescriptions of antidementia medications might have resulted in more people with dementia living well for longer and less in need of critical care admissions.⁷³ People with dementia at moderate to severe stages of the condition experience more problems in their activities of daily living and functional abilities.²⁷¹ More people with dementia living with less impairments in activities of daily living near the end of their lives may also partly explain higher proportions of critical care admissions in the last year of life. A combination of an increased number of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life over the years, and a lack of recognition of the progress of dementia among hospital staff and people affected by dementia, may explain these findings.

While an upwards trend in the proportion of people with dementia experiencing a critical care admission in the last year of life may require further investigation to ensure that people with dementia are not receiving invasive yet potentially futile treatments towards the end of their lives, caution must be taken to not apply findings relevant at a population level to individual admission decisions. A study conducted in Paris, which included people over 80 years old who were capable of expressing their opinions and had a potential indication for a critical care admission found that having a history of dementia reduced the probability of having their opinions asked about the admission.²⁷² Having a family member present whose opinions were asked, increased the probability of patient being asked for their opinions about the critical care admissions. A dementia diagnosis should be considered, and the decision to admit should be carried out in the light of clinical and preferential factors. These have important implications about the care of people with dementia, especially for those who may not have family members present when their eligibility for a critical care admission is being considered. Stigma towards people with dementia among other structural factors may explain the decrease in the overall critical care admissions among people with dementia over time.²⁷³

There are important limitations to be acknowledged about this study. As prognosis remains unclear, and with a 48% one-year survival rate, availability of data on clinical measures such as dementia severity and frailty for better understanding of care is needed. While these measures, in line with the recommended guidance,²⁷⁴ may have been used in clinical practice, it is difficult to determine

their uptake and use for research without available data. The use of Clinical Frailty Score (CFS) to guide the decision to admit, not as an absolute criterion, but in conjunction with the views of the families and patients where possible, is recommended by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence on triage for critical care admission.²⁷⁴ However, this information was not available in either of the datasets. Other studies have found positive correlations between dementia severity and the level of frailty.^{275, 276} Dementia severity of people with dementia who experienced a critical care admission was not recorded in their hospital records. To estimate the dementia severity, MMSE scores and when not available HoNOS scores recorded to the closest date to their critical care admissions were extracted from the from the CRIS dataset.

Findings related to the association between dementia severity and the one-year following discharge from a critical care admission are limited by the logistic regression approach. Results show that most deaths following a critical care admission occur within the first six months of discharge among people with dementia or after twelve months. A time-to-event approach to survival analysis (e.g., a proportional hazards model) might be more informative in understanding the association between dementia severity factors and mortality following a critical care admission, while accounting for other factors such as age and sex.²⁷⁷

The interpretation of the findings in relation to the care of people with dementia and how quality of care may require further considerations for those who may be approaching the end of life are summarised in Table 6-2.

This was a novel data linkage study, providing evidence about the incidence of critical care admissions among people with dementia and their survival. Individuals with dementia should have access to appropriate care required, regardless of their diagnosis or severity of their dementia diagnosis. Increase in the proportion of people with dementia experiencing a critical care admission in the last year of life warrants monitoring. A key purpose of regularly monitoring care quality is to set benchmarks at national and regional levels, to detect changes and explore the underlying reasons for the changes further.¹⁴⁷ Investigating the concordance between quality indicators such as the percentage of people with dementia who had a critical care admission in the last month and year of life and the documentation of treatment and care preferences may drive improvements in care quality and person-centred care for people with dementia until the end of their lives.¹¹ Trends detected in this study warrant further exploration to understand the underlying reasons, and if needed interventions to ensure that the quality of care experience by people with dementia until the end of their lives is not compromised.

Findings from Studies 1 and Study 2 highlighted the patterns and differences in healthcare use among people with dementia. Previous studies of the thesis show an increase in healthcare use in proximity to death. Findings from Study 1 point towards a gradient pattern in the rates and lengths of unplanned hospital admissions in relation to the differences in duration between diagnosis and death. However, these studies predominantly describe the patterns and the impact of a single healthcare service use on the quality of care experienced among people with dementia. The next chapter of the thesis employs a different approach to the exploration of the patterns of healthcare use and the quality of care among people with dementia by exploring the use of multiple healthcare services concurrently at two critical points, diagnosis and the last year of life, during the dementia care trajectory. Table 6-2. Interpretation of the study findings in relation to the quality of care of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life (Study 2)

Quality of care domain	Interpretation of findings and implications
(See <u>Appendix 1</u> for definitions)	
Access, person-centred	Based on increasing critical care admissions in the last year of life, whether
experience, and equity	people with dementia had opportunities to discuss and document their
	preferences about invasive treatments and critical care admissions near
	end of life must be explored. On the other hand, based on decreasing
	overall critical care admissions, whether people with dementia who may
	not be near end of their lives are having equitable access to critical care
	and being involved in decision-making despite their diagnosis should be
	explored.
Safety	The environment of the critical care units can be extremely distressing for
	people with dementia, with increased chances of infections, even when
	the use of invasive treatments is kept at minimum. On the other hand, as
	the number of people living longer with a dementia diagnosis is projected
	to increase, ¹⁵ a higher percentage of people with dementia are likely to
	benefit from their critical care admissions, when the harms associated with
	not receiving critical care is outweighed. Patient safety in intensive care
	units can be improved with regular training, use of bundles of care, and the
	promotion of a safety culture. ²⁷⁸
Outcomes of care	A better understanding of outcomes such as the quality of life, and
	cognitive and physical functioning following the critical care admissions
	among people with dementia, besides their survival, place of death and
	repeated hospitalisations can inform the overall appropriateness of the
	quality of care.
Efficiency & cost-effectiveness	Whether the improvements in health and survival following critical care
	admissions among people with dementia at a population level are at an
	equipoise. While the low incidence of critical care admissions among
	people with dementia signals towards careful consideration regarding
	efficiency and the cost-effectiveness, slight increase observed in the
	admissions occurring in the last year of life may not be efficient or cost-
	effective for the overall quality of care experienced by people with
	dementia nearing the end of life.
Capacity	Critical care is a resource-intensive service and the overall capacity of the
	healthcare professionals, bed availability in critical care units and general
	hospital wards may have an impact on the quality of care. ¹²¹

Chapter 7: Result Study 3 – Variations in healthcare use

This chapter presents the specific methods and the findings for Study 3.

Personal contributions: I was responsible for devising the study approach and analysis plan. I sought and gained approval from the CRIS oversight committee to conduct the research using the CRIS-HES linkage. I outlined the selection criteria to define the cohort and data extraction requirements. I cleaned the data, performed the analysis and drafted the manuscript. I sought advice from statisticians using the Biostatistics and Health Informatics Advisory Service and more detailed input in the conduct and presentation of the analysis from Ewan Carr. My PhD supervisors were consulted throughout and provided input on the analysis plan and review and editing of the manuscript. I would like to acknowledge Hitesh Shetty and Daisy Kornblum for extracting the data.

7.1 Introduction

This study addressed the thesis objective 2: To identify subgroups of people with dementia who experience distinct patterns of healthcare use over the course of the illness until the end of life and to examine associated factors. This study also contributed to the thesis objective 3. (To use these findings to describe the quality of care received by people with dementia nearing the end of life and guide policy and practice for this population).

Study 1 of the thesis showed that there may be a relationship between the time of dementia diagnosis and the increased healthcare use towards the end of life, as people with dementia who lived with a dementia diagnosis for a shorter duration had higher rates of unplanned hospital admissions. Adapting the healthcare system to be efficient and providing high-quality care to everyone with dementia, from diagnosis until the end of life, are public health priorities.²⁷⁹ However, there is considerable variability in the healthcare needs and use among people with dementia influenced by biological, social and environmental factors,¹ such as dementia type,⁴¹ comorbidities,¹³⁷ age, and gender,¹¹⁴ and availability and accessibility of appropriate services.^{41, 273, 280} To understand variations in healthcare use and care quality among people with dementia, prior studies, including Study 1 and 2 of the thesis, have considered quality indicators such as the frequency of dementia reviews, outpatient visits, the incidence of unplanned hospital admissions, and the location of death. ^{11, 79, 103, 245, 281} However, the number and type of services accessed concurrently and how healthcare use changes from diagnosis to the end of life remain unknown.

The period immediately following a dementia diagnosis and the last year of life have been identified as critical points that provide opportunities for improving care.^{111, 282} The initial period offers opportunities for a holistic assessment of needs, educating people with dementia and their families about prognosis,

future care planning, and preventative interventions.²⁷³ Similarly, during the last year of life, many people with dementia experience frequent healthcare use, such as unplanned hospital admissions²⁴⁵ and emergency department visits.¹¹⁰ Some of these services may be of limited benefit, burdensome for individuals, and costly;^{11, 207, 254} on the other hand, people with dementia also face barriers to receiving optimal care and access to specialist services.^{36, 273, 283} The development of effective interventions for people with dementia to reduce hospital use and improve access to appropriate (yet not overly cumbersome) services depends on knowledge of who may be most at risk.²⁸⁴ Understanding how patterns of healthcare use vary from diagnosis to death could help inform service planning.

Previous research exploring patterns and costs of care in people with dementia identified subgroups of low, moderate, and high healthcare use often among people who were newly diagnosed, or limited to a care setting.²⁸⁵⁻²⁸⁷ While previous research has explored patterns of healthcare use among people with dementia, no study has examined healthcare use among people with dementia from diagnosis to death.

This study aimed to (1) identify subgroups within a large sample of people with dementia, characterised by healthcare use in the year after diagnosis and the last year of life (2) describe biopsychosocial factors associated with service use subgroups, and (3) explore moves between subgroups over time.

7.2 Methods

7.2.1 Study design and data sources

This was a retrospective study assembled using linkages between a clinical dataset (South London and Maudsley National Health Service (NHS) Foundation Trust Biomedical Research Centre's (SLaM BRC) Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS) and administrative datasets (Hospital Episode Statistics' Admitted Patient Care (APC), Adult Outpatient Care (OP), Accident & Emergency Care (A&E)), and the Office for National Statistics (ONS) death registry) (Figure 7-1). Detailed information on the individual datasets is detailed in <u>Methods, Section 4.8.1</u>.



Figure 7-1. Datasets and linkages used in the study

7.2.2 Setting and cohort

The cohort was extracted from SLaM using the CRIS platform. All recorded dementia diagnoses from CRIS were determined from structured fields in the source record requiring International ICD-10 diagnosis codes (F00x–03x). The sample comprised decedents who were aged 50 or older at their first recorded dementia diagnosis between 2006 and 31st March 2020. The cohort was further restricted to those who lived for at least two years after receiving this dementia diagnosis to ensure at least one year of follow-up for each time period (Figure 7-2).



Figure 7-2. Cohort flowchart

7.2.3 Selecting the latent class indicators

The selection of healthcare measures which would be used to quantify healthcare use latent classes were based on:

- Number of unplanned hospital admissions (HES APC)
- Number of planned hospital admissions (HES APC)
- Combined duration of hospital inpatient episodes (HES APC)
- Number of A&E attendances (HES A&E)
- Number of outpatient appointments (HES OP)
- Number of community mental health nurse visits (SLaM)
- Number of community mental health allied health professionals (therapists) visits (SLaM)
- Number of other face-to-face mental healthcare events (SLaM)

Detailed descriptions of each indicator are presented in Table 7-1. These variables were used as the indicators of the latent classes.

Each indicator was measured over two time periods:

Time period 1: Within one year following the date of first recorded dementia diagnosis. Time period 2: Within the one year prior to the date of death.

Initial models included critical care admissions as latent class indicators. However, critical care admissions were not discriminatory enough between groups and presented low quality of class indicator and separation between classes. Hence, they were not included in the final models.

Indicator	Source database	Description
Number of planned hospital admissions	HES APC	Elective hospital admissions were identified using the ADMIMETH variable. One admission was defined as a continuous inpatient stay (an unbroken period that a patient spends as an inpatient).
Number of unplanned hospital admissions	HES APC	Non-elective hospital admissions were identified using the ADMIMETH variable. One admission was defined as a continuous inpatient stay (an unbroken period that a patient spends as an inpatient)
Length of hospital stay	HES APC	Total number of days spent in hospital.
Number of A&E attendances	HES A&E	Total number of A&E attendances
Number of outpatient appointments	HES OP	Total number of outpatient appointments attended at a hospital.
Number of community mental health nurse visits	SLaM BRC CRIS	All home visits by a mental health nurse
Number of community mental health allied health professionals (therapists) visits	SLaM BRC CRIS	All home visits by allied health professionals (e.g., occupational therapists, physiotherapists, speech and language therapists)
Number of other face-to-face mental healthcare events	SLaM BRC CRIS	All other face-to-face events which occurred in the community not described as a nurse or an allied health professional visit (e.g., visit to a day care centre).

Table 7-1. Descriptions for latent class indicators

Note: All NHS hospital services are covered by HES datasets. Only 1% of UK hospital services are not provided by the NHS,²²⁶ and these are unlikely to be relevant to the hospital use of people with dementia. Hence, the predictor variable was recorded as "0" when no record was detected.

7.2.4 Selecting the sociodemographic, illness-related and environmental variables

It is important to select indicators and covariates which would predict class membership informed by theory, and balancing theory-based information with what is available in the routine data resource. The model developed by Murtagh et al.¹ encompasses personal and demographic, diseaserelated and specific symptoms illness burden and trajectories, and environmental factors to explain what might influence place of care and death. This a comprehensive model including some factors which have been shown to affect healthcare utilisation by people with dementia towards the end of life. The inclusion of specific determinants for each category and the addition of 'specific symptoms, illness burden, and trajectories' makes this model appropriate for informing the study and analyses.

A range of sociodemographic, environmental and disease-related factors based on their reported associations with healthcare use in people with dementia were considered for the regression models.^{1, 68} Some characteristics - including carer availability, social isolation, age of leaving formal education, and occupation - were extracted, but not included in the analysis due to large amount of missing and concerns about the quality of information.

Characteristics included in the study were: age, sex, ethnicity, neighbourhood-level socioeconomic status estimated using IMD,²²⁰ dementia type, dementia severity (MMSE), HoNOS²⁶⁰, comorbidities including depression, hypertension, receiving a care package, living alone and the total number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects (measured near the time of diagnosis) ^{169, 288} (see <u>Appendix 6</u> for additional information) at both time points. Use of medications with strong anticholinergic medication - the Anticholinergic Effect on Cognition scale)²⁸⁸ is a quality indicator due to its association with increased risk of cognitive decline and of dementia and death.¹⁶⁹ The place of death (categorised as died in hospital/died elsewhere) was derived from HES as this was not available in the mortality dataset.

7.3 Statistical analysis and background for the statistical analysis methods

Sections 8.3.1 to 8.3.5 provide background information and rationale for the chosen statistical analysis methods of this study. The subsequent sections (Sections 8.3.6 to 8.3.7) outline the methods used to meet the study aims.

7.3.1 Structural equation modelling

Structural equation modelling (SEM) refers to a set of statistical techniques used to measure and analyse the relationships between observed and latent variables. SEM is a multivariate statistical analysis technique that is a combination of path models and measurement models. It employs statistical models to investigate the structural relationships between latent variables underlying the actual variables taken from observed data.²⁸⁹ SEM requires the construction of a model to represent how observed or theoretical variables relate to each other. The structural aspect of the model implies theoretical assumptions between the variables. The equations in SEM refer to the mathematical and statistical properties of the implied model and its features, which are estimated with statistical algorithms run on observed data.

SEM is useful for social and healthcare scientists because it helps reveal phenomena which sit within the complexity of the social reality yet cannot be always directly observed or measured. Measuring

relationships amongst all variables means the errors are more accurate than if each part of the model were calculated separately.²⁹⁰

While each technique under the SEM umbrella is different, the following are the logical steps that are followed in SEM: model specification, model identification, parameter estimation, model evaluation, and model explanation and communication of the findings. The model specification defines the hypothesized relationships among the variables (observed and latent) based on theory. In specifying pathways, relationships between variables can be left 'free' to vary or 'fixed' if the variables already have an estimated relationship, based on previous studies.²⁹¹ Model identification refers to checking if there is enough information in the data to estimate the model parameters. The maximum likelihood estimation method is used to identify the most probable parameters within observed data for a hypothesised model. The program makes an initial guess and searches incrementally from the starting values for values which can be a better fit.

In SEM, the information available from the data is contained in the observed variance-covariance matrix. Parameters are estimated by comparing the actual and the estimated covariance matrices of the best-fitting model. Once the model is estimated, it is important to check how well the estimated model explains the data. This is facilitated by formal statistical tests and fit indices that capture different elements regarding the fit of the model. In SEM, model evaluation generally includes comparing different models to each other. Depending on the model evaluation, modifications may be required to improve the overall goodness of model fit. In addition to potential improvements to the statistical fit, modifications must make sense theoretically. Explaining the model and how it improves existing understanding is the final step in constructing a SEM model, which must be understood to a way of understanding a more complex picture.

Although there is no consensus on determining adequate sample size for SEM, the number of observations per measured parameter and degree of freedom must be considered. Nylund-Gibson and Choi²⁹² recommends 300 or more cases. In case of complex data and large number of indicators, having a larger sample size is to the advantage of the researcher. Large sample sizes can provide sufficient statistical power and precise estimates for SEM. The reasons are that as the sample size increases, maximum likelihood estimator can converge on true value, while having smaller standard errors. Traditional regression models assume no residual measurement error, while SEM model accounts for measurement errors which may randomly occur. Indicator variables which will be used define unobserved classes should be selected based on theoretical knowledge. There is no consensus on the number of indicator variables to include, but generally more indicator variables lead to better results.²⁹³ Having a strong theoretical rationale for using specific indicator variables

makes identifying and interpreting the classes easier, and results in findings that have clearer application to practice.²⁹⁴

7.3.2 Latent class analysis

Some phenomena in social and health sciences, such as healthcare use of people with dementia, can be represented by a model in which there are distinct subgroups of individuals. Distinct subgroups (i.e., categories) comprise the latent variables, which have multinomial distributions. Categorical latent variables are defined as those in which "qualitative differences exist between groups of people". ^{295c}

^c A note on terminology: Available literature makes a distinction between LCA and latent profile analysis (LPA), LCA having categorical indicators, and LPA having continuous indicators. The indicators in my models, i.e., healthcare measures, are count variables. There is no consensus on whether such models should be called LCA or LPA. Given that LCA is a more common terminology, I will be referring to my analysis as LCA.

Latent class analysis (LCA) involves probing to find out how many classes can be identified in the data, estimating their proportional sizes and measures within each class in the population. Latent classes are not measured directly but instead indirectly via two or more observed variables. A mixture model is defined as a probabilistic model for representing the presence of subgroups within a population, without requiring that an observed data should identify the subgroup to which an individual observation belongs. Mixture models can be used in exploratory and confirmatory analyses. In the traditional basis of LCA, researchers start with the local independence model and consider parameter restrictions on the indicator variances. Some restrictions are imposed by the statistical analysis programme utilised. For instance, Mplus by default imposes local independence and homogeneity across classes.²⁹⁶ The resulting profiles are summaries of persons with similar patterns.

Phenotyping defined as "identification of patients possessing characteristics of interest" is often performed based on clinical knowledge. A person-centred focus on analysis is useful, where data often include heterogenous groups of individuals. The latent class analysis estimates the probability of each individual belonging to multiple subgroups. Group allocation is determined based on their highest membership probability. The probability-based (soft) approach to clustering is a major advantage of mixture models compared to rule-based (hard) clustering techniques, as the analysis explicitly accounts for the mentioned classification uncertainty.

Similar to the selection of indicator variables including covariates in the LCA should have theoretical basis. External variables can be covariates affecting the classes, and distal outcomes affected by the classes or a combination. There are two approaches to including external variables and estimating more complex models, namely the one-step and the three-step (also known as a stepwise) approach to analysis.²⁹⁷ The three-step approach includes first estimating the latent class measurements, model parameters, and all potential number of classes, then classification of cases to the classes based on the selected model, and finally examining the relationship between classes and external variables, while accounting for classification errors. The one-step approach involves simultaneous inclusion of all indicators and external variables in a single model. Researchers tend to prefer the three-step approach as it is more intuitive to build a model, and then relate the external variables to the model. There are some studies supporting the use of three-step model in comparison to one-step model, as it may reduce bias and yield better parameters for the models.²⁹⁸

Finally, guidance for conducting LCA recommends validating the selected class solutions.²⁹⁴ This validation stage involves checking to ensure that the identified typology is relevant to practice, and class assignments are related to real-life experiences as expected. The classes are named and

accompanied with a description. Of note, it is important to be cautious of the "naming fallacy," wherein the name of the class may not accurately reflect the class membership.²⁹⁴

7.3.3 The application of latent class analysis to healthcare data

Over recent years, latent class analysis, a method which is often used in the Psychology field and applied to survey data to characterise developmental phenomena, has been applied to identifying complex patient profiles using electronic healthcare data. Applying LCA to healthcare data comes with its own challenges. The researcher must make decisions about the data format. Traditionally, LCA uses categorical indicator variables, while latent profile analysis (LPA) uses continuous indicator variables. However, most healthcare use data are represented as count variables and the healthcare data are often zero-inflated, meaning a large proportion of people may not be using the service of interest. This requires modelling the data in a different way. Advantages of using routinely collected healthcare data are the large samples and the good recording of events which would have been difficult to prospectively obtain from people with dementia and their families over a long span of time.

Criteria used to select the number of classes are evolving (Table 7-2). To select a final model, multiple fit indices should be used and reported; within these, Bayesian information criteria (BIC) should be included as it may be the most reliable fit statistic; finally, theoretical interpretability should be considered. A class solution with superior statistical fit is not useful if it does not make sense in practice and theory.

Measure	Selection criteria	Explanation
Aikaike's Information	Parsimony	Model with the smallest AIC among
Criterion (AIC)		a set of models is likely to be the
		best model. May select more
		complex models
Bayesian Information	Parsimony and sample size	Model with the smallest BIC among
Criterion (BIC)		a set of models is likely to be the
		best (and true) model. May select
		too parsimonious models.
Sample-size adjusted Bayesian	Parsimony and sample size	Model with the smallest BIC among
information criterion (ssBIC)		a set of models is likely to be the
		best (and true) model. Adjustment
		reduces sample size penalty.
Adjusted Lo-Mendell-Rubin	A small probability value (e.g., p <	An analytical correction to the

Table 7-2. Fit indices and criteria for model selection

(LMR) likelihood ratio test	.05) indicates that the KO-class model provides significantly better fit to the observed data than the K –1-class model	likelihood ratio test statistic.
Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin	A small probability value (e.g., p <	An analytical correction to the LMR
(VLMR) adjusted likelihood ratio	.05) indicates that the KO-class	likelihood ratio test statistic.
test	model provides significantly better	
	fit to the observed data than the K	
	-1-class model	
Bootstrapped likelihood ratio	A small probability value (e.g., p <	Bootstrap resampling method
test (BLRT)	.05) indicates that the KO-class	approximates the p-value of the
	model provides significantly better	generalized likelihood ratio test
	fit to the observed data than the K	comparing the KO-class mixture
	-1-class model	model with the K –1-class mixture
		model.
Entropy	Value close to 1 (not lower than	Indicates how accurately the model
	0.60, ideally 0.80 or higher)	defines classes. A measure of
		aggregated classification
		uncertainty.
Class size	Classes should not contain less	If a class size is too small, consider
	than 5% of the	if model fit statistics support the
	sample	selected model

7.3.4 Latent transition analysis

Latent transition analysis (LTA) also referred to as latent Markov modelling, is a longitudinal model, uniquely positioned to describe stability and change in latent classes across time.²⁹⁹ LTA builds on LCA model as the measurement model, having the same set of latent class indicators at multiple time points, while providing additional transition probability parameters that describe movement among the latent classes. LTA is a special case of latent Markov models, where each latent variable is characterised by multiple indicators, and the latent class variable at a future time point is regressed onto the previous latent class variable.²⁹⁹ Restrictions can be imposed on transition probability parameters if these are meaningful in terms of practice and theory. LTA is conducted in a similar manner to LCA and similarly has measurement and structural models. First, the researcher identifies LCA models for each time point, then explores covariates affecting the LCA models, then fit an LTA model informed by the LCA models, checking for measurement invariance, and finally once the LTA model is identified, auxiliary variables (i.e., covariates and distal outcomes) which may affect

transition probabilities can be incorporated into the structural model. Sample size recommendations for LTAs are generally based on cross-sectional LCAs and LPAs, which range between 300 to 1,000 cases.²⁹² Researchers can have more confidence on the estimation of their LTA model parameters if their model have (a) homogenous classes, (b) between-class separation, (c) large transition probabilities, (d) large sample size, and (e) large class sizes at first time point.^{299, 300}

7.3.5 Latent transition analysis compared to other longitudinal analysis methods

When exploring questions about change over time, LTA is one of many latent longitudinal models one can choose from. Each model provides a different way to describe changes over time to address specific research questions. One of the most used latent longitudinal models is the latent growth curve model which uses growth parameters (e.g., intercept and slope growth latent factors and their variances) to address research questions about the average rate of change over time. On the other hand, LTA models are more useful for describing discrete timepoint to timepoint changes, not requiring the duration between two time points to be same for everybody. Repeated measures LCA is another model person-centred model which measures latent classes repeated across time, mainly differing from LTA models as it does not have an autoregressive component or transition probabilities between repeated timepoints.³⁰¹

A recent development to LTA models, was the introduction of the random intercept LTA (RI-LTA) model in 2020.³⁰² RI-LTA is an extension of LTA which provides a clearer interpretation of the data by allowing random intercept variation in the model, where between-subject variation is separated from within-subject latent class transitions over time. RI-LTA models use an additional latent variable, either continuous (factor) or categorical (groups), to capture variation at the individual level. RI-LTA may improve model fit compared to LTA; however, in situations where there are no stable between-subject differences, RI-LTA may not work. From recent comparisons of LTA and RI-LTA models, it was shown that RI-LTAs may provide little additional information in some contexts, such as for LTAs with two timepoints and those with indicator variables that are mainly representing a state (e.g., healthcare measures).²⁹⁹ In such instances, LTA compared to BI-LTA may be sufficient if it provides a more parsimonious solution. Further research is needed to better understand the benefits and applicability of RI-LTA.

The choice of model depends on the research question and the available data. For the specific example of healthcare use patterns of people with dementia over time various considerations based on available literature and findings from the earlier study of patterns of unplanned hospital admissions were informative in choosing an LTA model. First, latent growth curve models tend to be used with data that are available for all participants over a distinct time period. Findings from study

1 showed that people with dementia are a heterogenous group in terms of their survival after receiving a dementia diagnosis. Second, the year after diagnosis and the year before death were determined to be key periods of where people with dementia particularly come in contact with healthcare services.²⁸² Third, the interest of this thesis is in the care of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life, thus exploring opportune times for measuring and improving their care. Hence, limiting the sample to the decedents rather than predicting competing risk of death between multiple time points was both a pragmatic choice and partly based on previous findings which highlight higher rates of healthcare use in the last year of life.^{110, 245, 269}

7.3.6 Statistical analysis methods used in the Study 3

The statistical analyses were in four parts. First, I described the cohort using appropriate summary statistics (frequencies for categorical variables; means and standard deviations (SDs) for continuous variables). Second, I used latent class analysis to identify subgroups based on the measures of healthcare use separately in the first year of diagnosis and in the last year of life. Latent class analysis allows identification of subgroups with shared commonality from multiple indicators of healthcare use. From our LCA models, each participant was assigned to given subgroups (separately for healthcare use in the first year of diagnosis and in the last year of life) based on their highest probability of class membership. Third, service use and socio-demographic characteristics of each group were described and the associations between characteristics of people with dementia and subgroups were analysed using multinomial logistic regression. The characteristics included in regression models were selected based on existing knowledge and theories.^{1, 68, 114, 169}

Another approach to classifying individuals into healthcare groups is to also include covariates (i.e., biopsychosocial factors) as latent class indicators. The literature is conflicted on whether to include covariates when enumerating latent class models.³¹⁵ Previous studies applying this method have a small number of covariates and often use survey or stimulation data which are more suited for complex adjustment compared to real-life data.³¹⁵ The classification differences which may arise due to not including the covariates in our study was minimised by the large sample size.³¹⁶

Fourth, latent transition analysis (LTA) was used to consider changes in healthcare use over time. LTA uses full information maximum likelihood estimation to incorporate LCA and autoregressive modelling. This allows for the exploration of unobserved subgroups within a given population and then change in class membership over time, and investigation of covariates to better understand the classes and transitions.²⁹⁹ LCA estimates two main parameters, latent class membership probabilities and item-response probabilities, conditional on class membership. LTA provides estimated transition probabilities, which are the structural parameters related to the movement of individuals among the classes over time. We reported coefficients from the multinomial logistic regression as relative risk ratios (RRRs) accompanied with 95% confidence intervals (CI). The conversion of the estimated coefficients provides relative risk ratio, an exponentiated value of a coefficient (e^b , probability (outcome i)/probability(base outcome)), for one-unit change in the corresponding variable (i.e., risk of the possibility of belonging to a latent class relative to the base outcome). Standard errors and confidence and confidence intervals are similarly converted. This conversion affects how results are displayed but not how they are estimated.

7.3.6.1 Missing data

In line with recommendations,^{303, 304} multiple imputation, with 20 sets, was used for the HoNOS cognitive problems, HoNOS physical problems, ethnicity and IMD variables, proportionate to missing ranging between 1.9% and 4.9%. Complete case analyses for the first year after diagnosis and the last year of life classes were conducted as sensitivity analysis (see Appendix 6).

7.3.6.2 Identifying the optimal number of classes

To identify the optimal number of classes, I estimated models with between 1 and 6 classes. The final model was chosen based on fit indices and based on clinical interpretability. I used model-fit indices including AIC, BIC, ssBI, where smaller numbers indicate better fit. Likelihood-ratio tests (LRTs including Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin and adjusted Lo-Mendell-Rubin), entropy, the percentage and size of the smallest class, and an average latent class posterior probabilities to being >0.80 were also taken into account.²⁹⁴ Model identification was determined by fitting the model using multiple sets of random starting values.³⁰⁵

Descriptors for each class were agreed upon through discussion with the research team, clinical teams, and patient and public representatives. Discussions I had with the PPI members will be presented in <u>Section 7.4.7</u>. Data preparation and descriptive analyses were undertaken in Stata 16.²⁶⁵ Latent variable modelling was undertaken in Mplus 8.²⁹⁶

7.3.7 Sensitivity and exploratory analyses

A sensitivity analysis was conducted for the latent class analysis which included all decedents who lived for a year or longer after their dementia diagnosis. For LTA, I tested the fit and consistency of the classes over two time points, by comparing latent transition models in which parameters were freely estimated with models in which parameters were constrained to be equal across the time points (i.e., measurement invariance).³⁰⁶ Additionally, latent transition analysis with different class structures and covariates effects (i.e., gender and duration between first year following dementia diagnosis and death) on the latent transition probabilities were also explored. During the model building and as part of the exploratory analyses, I tested the applicability of RI-LTA models and

various other models exploring the effect of covariates on the transition probabilities. However, these models did not converge.

7.4 Results

7.4.1 Cohort description

I extracted data on 14,469 decedents who were diagnosed with dementia. 5,846 people for were diagnosed with dementia for less than two years (Figure 7-2). The excluded sample were diagnosed with dementia at an older age (p<0.001) and had a higher proportion of people with Vascular dementia (p<0.001) (see <u>Appendix 6</u>). Biopsychosocial characteristics and the use of healthcare services by the sample of 8,623 people with dementia are summarised in Table 7-3. 61.7% were female; 75.2% were of White ethnicity; 35.1% had Alzheimer's disease as their primary dementia diagnosis. The use of each healthcare service differed between the first year of diagnosis and the last year of life (Table 7-4). Compared to the last year of life, during the first year after diagnosis, participants had a higher use of specialist mental healthcare, higher planned hospital use, lower unplanned hospital use, and shorter combined hospital stays.

Gender	
woman	5,323 (61.7%)
man	3,300 (38.3%)
Age at diagnosis – death	81.5 (7.7) - 86.3 (7.4)
Ethnicity groups	
White	6,487 (75.2%)
Mixed	55 (0.6%)
Asian	405 (4.7%)
Black	1,337 (15.5%)
Other	176 (2.0%)
Not known	163 (1.9%)
First dementia diagnosis	
Alzheimer's disease	3,030 (35.1%)
Mixed dementia	1,223 (14.2%)
Unspecified dementia	2,140 (24.8%)
Vascular dementia	1,624 (18.8%)
Dementia in other diseases	606 (7.0%)
IMD quintiles	
1 (Most deprived)	1,600 (18.6%)
2	3,280 (38.0%)
3	1,819 (21.1%)
4	1,000 (11.6%)
5 (Least deprived)	601 (7.0%)
Missing	323 (3.7%)
MMSE at diagnosis mean (SD)	18.2 (6.4)
mild	2,583 (30.0%)
moderate	2,259 (26.2%)

Table 7-3. Cohort characteristics (N=8,623)

severe	574 (6.7%)
Missing	3,207 (37.2%)
Hypertension	2,053 (23.8%)
Depression	637 (7.4%)
HoNOS cognitive problems	
0	95 (1.1%)
1	999 (11.6%)
2	3,642 (42.2%)
3	2,799 (32.5%)
4	676 (7.8%)
Missing	412 (4.8%)
Physical illness or disability problems	4,259 (49.4%)
Missing	413 (4.8%)
Other mental and behavioural problems	2,060 (23.9%)
Missing	532 (6.2%)
Problems with relationships	1,316 (15.3%)
Missing	431 (5.0%)
Problems with activities of daily living	4,797 (57.7%)
Missing	439 (5.1%)
Problems with living conditions	984 (11.4%)
Missing	515 (6.0%)
Living alone at the time of diagnosis recorded in notes	
Yes	1,498 (17.4%)
No	7,125 (82.6%)
Recorded as a care package recipient at the time of diagnosis	
Yes	3,879 (45.0%)
No	4,744 (55.0%)
Number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects at diagnosis	
0	5.256 (61.0%)
1	1.832 (21.2%)
2	950 (11.0%)
3	414 (4.8%)
4	134 (1.6%)
5+	37 (0.4%)
Place of death	<u> </u>
Died in hospital	2,497 (29.0%)
Died elsewhere	6,126 (71.0%)

Note: MMSE: mini-mental state examination; SD: standard deviation; IMD: index of multiple deprivation (1 = most deprived, 5 = most affluent). HoNOS scores were dichotomised (scores 0 and 1—no or minor problems, scores 2 to 4—mild to severe problems) to facilitate interpretation.

	First year after	Last year of life
	diagnosis	
A&E visits	1.1 (2.1)	3.6 (8.6)
Unplanned hospital admissions	1.3 (2.9)	2.4 (1.7)
Length of hospital stay (days)	5.2 (9.8)	13.9 (21.6)
Planned hospital admissions	0.8 (6.0)	0.6 (4.3)
Hospital outpatient appointments	3.1 (5.5)	2.1 (4.5)
Other face-to-face appointments mental	14.1 (27.9)	1.2 (4.6)
healthcare events		
Community mental health nurse visits	3.8 (11.5)	0.7 (4.2)
Therapist visits	1.9 (6.6)	0.5 (3.2)

Table 7-4. Age-standardised healthcare use of people with dementia in the first year after diagnosis & in the last year of life mean (SD) (N=8,623)

7.4.2 Model fit

The model fit statistics used to guide the selection of the number of classes are presented in Table 7-5. Based on the model fit statistics and the sizes of the classes, three (where the largest reduction in BIC is observed) and four-class solutions were further scrutinised and discussed with the wider team.

	Fit indices			Lik	elihood ratio	tests	
Classes	LL	BIC	ssBIC	AIC	VLMR p	Adjusted LMR p	Entropy
First year a	fter diagnosis						
1	-113068.973	226185.945	226279.170	226185.945			
2	-110083.846	220466.745	220361.877	220233.693	<.0001	<.0001	0.785
3	-108337.055	217054.721	216921.253	216758.109	<.0001	<.0001	0.746
4	-107416.417	215295.006	215132.938	214934.835	<.0001	<.0001	0.787
5	-106819.589	214182.910	213992.240	213759.178	.0001	.0001	0.774
6	-106443.202	213511.695	213292.426	213024.404	.0578	.0590	0.762
Last year o	f life						
1	-84174.409	168857.308	168849.040	168184.816			
2	-83876.598	168052.249	167947.380	167819.196	<.0001	<.0001	0.907
3	-82491.985	165364.582	165231.114	165067.970	<.0001	<.0001	0.859
4	-81887.726	164237.623	164075.554	163877.451	<.0001	<.0001	0.804
5	-81396.287	163336.304	163145.635	162912.573	.3732	.3754	0.835
6	-81070.170	162765.631	162546.361	162278.340	<.0001	<.0001	0.834

Table 7-5. Fit mulces for faterit class models with 1-6 classes (N=8,623	Table 7-5	. Fit indices f	or latent class	models with	1-6 classes	(N=8,623
--	-----------	-----------------	-----------------	-------------	-------------	----------

Abbreviations: LL = log-likelihood; BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion; ssBIC = sample size adjusted BIC; AIC = Akaike information criterion; VLMR = Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin; LMR = Lo-Mendell-Rubin.

7.4.3 Subgroups of healthcare use in the first year after dementia diagnosis

For the first year after diagnosis, a three-class model gave the optimal model fit (Table 7-5) and clinical interpretability following discussion within the research team. Posterior probabilities for class membership ranged between 81% to 95%. Table 7-6 provides descriptives for the sociodemographic, illness-related and environmental characteristics of the people with dementia for each class, while healthcare use among each class is demonstrated in Figure 7-3 and Table 7-7.

	Low healthcare use after diagnosis n=4,258 (49.4%)	Planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis	Mental healthcare use after diagnosis n=1,426
	N=4 258	N=2,939 (31.4%)	(10.5%) N=1 426
	11 1)200	1 2,000	11 1,120
Gender			
woman	2,692 (63.2%)	1,757 (59.8%)	874 (61.3%)
man	1,565 (36.8%)	1,182 (40.2%)	552 (38.7%)
Age at diagnosis – death	81.3 (7.6) - 86.4 (7.2)	82.7 (7.5) - 87.0 (7.3)	79.7 (8.0) - 84.5 (7.9)
Ethnicity groups			
White	3,170 (74.4%)	2,231 (75.9%)	1,086 (76.2%)
Mixed	35 (0.8%)	11 (0.4%)	9 (0.6%)
Asian	222 (5.2%)	141 (4.8%)	42 (2.9%)
Black	641 (15.1%)	423 (14.4%)	273 (19.1%)
Other	98 (2.3%)	63 (2.1%)	15 (1.1%)
Not known	92 (2.2%)	70 (2.4%)	1 (0.1%)
First dementia diagnosis			
Alzheimer's disease	1,742 (40.9%)	912 (31.0%)	376 (26.4%)
Mixed dementia	601 (14.1%)	470 (16.0%)	152 (10.7%)
Unspecified dementia	988 (23.2%)	746 (25.4%)	406 (28.5%)
Vascular dementia	711 (16.7%)	611 (20.8%)	302 (21.2%)
Dementia in other diseases	216 (5.1%)	200 (6.8%)	190 (13.3%)
IMD quintiles			
1	762 (17.9%)	578 (19.7%)	260 (18.2%)
2	1,527 (35.9%)	1,139 (38.8%)	614 (43.1%)
3	932 (21.9%)	594 (20.2%)	293 (20.5%)
4	546 (12.8%)	331 (11.3%)	123 (8.6%)
5	342 (8.0%)	179 (6.1%)	80 (5.6%)
Missing	149 (3.5%)	118 (4.0%)	56 (3.9%)
MMSE mean(SD)	18.3 (6.4)	18.3 (6.2)	17.8 (6.8)
mild	1,313 (30.8%)	794 (27.0%)	476 (33.4%)
moderate	1,097 (25.8%)	736 (25.0%)	426 (29.9%)
severe	280 (6.6%)	160 (5.4%)	134 (9.4%)
Missing	1,568 (36.8%)	1,249 (42.5%)	390 (27.3%)
Total HoNOS score	9.4 (5.1)	10.7 (5.1)	12.7 (5.6)
HoNOS cognitive problems			
0	39 (0.9%)	23 (0.8%)	33 (2.3%)
1	522 (12.3%)	311 (10.6%)	166 (11.6%)
2	1,850 (43.4%)	1,195 (40.7%)	597 (41.9%)
3	1,302 (30.6%)	1,015 (34.5%)	482 (33.8%)
4	308 (7.2%)	231 (7.9%)	137 (9.6%)
Missing	237 (5.5%)	164 (5.6%)	11(0.7%)
HoNOS physical problems	1,775 (41.7%)	1,699 (57.8%)	785 (55.0%)
Missing	237 (5.6%)	164 (5.6%)	12 (0.8%)
HoNOS other mental health issues	909 (21.3%)	666 (22.7%)	485 (34.0%)
Missing	299 (7.0%)	210 (7.1%)	23 (1.6%)
HoNOS relationship problems	514 (12.1%)	398 (13.5%)	404 (28.3%)
Missing	247 (5.8%)	171 (5.8%)	13 (0.9%)

Table 7-6. Descriptives for the first year after dementia diagnosis classes

HoNOS problems with daily living	2,204 (51.8%)	1,803 (61.3%)	972 (68.2%)
Missing	246 (5.8%)	176 (6.0%)	17 (1.2%)
HoNOS problems with living conditions	355 (8.3%)	382 (13.0%)	247 (17.3%)
Missing	278 (6.5%)	211 (7.2%)	26 (1.8%)
Living alone at the time of diagnosis	578 (13.6%)	574 (19.5%)	346 (24.3%)
Care package recipient	1,722 (40.4%)	1,280 (43.6%)	877 (61.5%)

Number of medications with strong

anticholinergic effects at diagnosis

anticholinergic enects at ulagnosis			
0	2,924 (68.7%)	1,884 (64.1%)	448 (31.4%)
1	824 (19.4%)	641 (21.8%)	367 (25.7%)
2	359 (8.4%)	273 (9.3%)	318 (22.3%)
3	114 (2.7%)	104 (3.5%)	196 (13.7%)
4	31 (0.7%)	29 (1.0%)	74 (5.2%)
5	6 (0.1%)	7 (0.2%)	20 (1.4%)
6	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.0%)	3 (0.2%)

Note: MMSE: mini-mental state examination; SD: standard deviation; IMD: index of multiple deprivation (1 = most deprived, 5 = most affluent). HoNOS scores were dichotomised (scores 0 and 1—no or minor problems, scores 2 to 4—mild to severe problems) to facilitate interpretation.



Figure 7-3. Radar plot showing healthcare use* classes of people with dementia in the first year after dementia diagnosis *For a clear interpretation of which indicators are above or below the sample means, I used the z-standardised mean scores in figures³⁰⁷

	First year after diagnosis		
Mean (SD)	Low healthcare use after diagnosis n=4,258 (49.4%)	Planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis n=2,939 (31.4%)	Mental healthcare use after diagnosis n=1,426 (16.5%)
A&E visits	0.1 (0.3)	2.3 (2.7)	1.5 (2.0)
Planned hospital admissions	0.2 (0.7)	1.2 (9.4)	1.8 (3.0)
Unplanned hospita admissions	l 0.1 (0.1)	3.0 (3.5)	0.5 (1.1)
Length of hospital stay	0.0 (0.0)	2.1 (10.7)	0.1 (0.7)
Other face-to-face mental healthcare events	6.1 (5.5)	4.6 (3.9)	41.6 (45.7)
Community mental health nurse visits	1.6 (2.6)	1.4 (2.0)	13.1 (23.9)
Therapist visits	0.6 (1.8)	0.4 (1.1)	7.1 (13.2)
Outpatient appointments	2.2 (3.5)	4.6 (6.6)	2.8 (5.4)

Table 7-7. Healthcare use of people with dementia in the first year after diagnosis (n=8,623)

The '*low healthcare use after diagnosis*' class was taken as the base for the regression analysis (Table 7-8). The classes were as follows:

Class 1 – Low healthcare use after diagnosis (n=4,258, 49%): Characterised by very low unplanned hospital (mean 0.1 SD (0.1) unplanned hospital admissions) and community mental healthcare use (community mental health nurse visits mean 1.6 SD(2.6)) ; interactions with healthcare mainly through face-to-face SLaM (mean 6.1 SD (5.5)), and outpatient appointments (mean 2.2 SD(3.5)).

Class 2 – Planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis (n=2,939, 34%): Characterised by high number of unplanned hospital visits including A&E visits and unplanned hospital admissions (mean 3.0 SD (3.5)). Compared to the 'low healthcare use' group, people in this group are more likely to have any other dementia diagnosis than Alzheimer's disease, less likely to be from a Mixed (RRR 0.46 (0.23-0.89)) ethnicity, more likely to be diagnosed at an older age (RRR 1.02 95%CI (1.02-1.04)) with more physical impairments (RRR 1.32 95%CI (1.27-1.38)). They are more likely to be male (RRR 1.26 95%CI (1.14-1.39)), living alone (RRR 1.52 95%CI (1.35-1.74)), and prescribed a higher number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects (RRR 1.15 95%CI (1.09-1.22)). A gradient effect was observed between the area-level deprivation (IMD) of where people lived and likelihood group

membership, where people from most deprived areas were more likely to be in this subgroup compared to those who lived in the least deprived areas (IMD 5 vs IMD 1: RRR 1.50 95%CI (1.22-1.85)).

Class 3 – Mental healthcare use after diagnosis (n=1,426, 17%): Characterised by frequent contacts with the mental healthcare use services (e.g., community mental health nurse visits mean 13.1 SD (23.9)), and moderate hospital use (e.g., planned hospital admissions mean 1.8 SD (3.0)). Compared to the '*low healthcare use'* group, they are more likely to be diagnosed with vascular dementia (RRR 1.90 95% CI (1.62-2.23)), unspecified dementia (RRR 1.94 95% CI (1.62-2.31)), and dementia in other diseases (RRR 3.74 95%CI (2.97-4.73)). They are less likely to be from Asian (RRR 0.52 95% CI (0.37-0.73)), or other ethnicities (RRR 0.43 95% CI (0.25-0.75)). They are more likely be receiving a social care package (RRR 2.33 95%CI (2.06-2.63)), to be living alone (RRR 2.16 95%CI (1.86-2.52)), receiving a higher number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects (RRR 2.15 95%CI (2.03-2.28)), and experiencing physical problems (RRR 1.24 95%CI (1.17-1.30). People who lived in the most deprived three IMD Quintiles were more likely to be in this subgroup (IMD 5 vs IMD 1: RRR 1.40 95%CI (1.06-1.86)).

Table 7-8. Multinomial logistic regression with age and sex adjusted coefficients showing patient characteristics associated with the year after diagnosis classes: reference class: Class 1 Low healthcare use after diagnosis (N=8,623)

	RRR (95% CI)			
Characteristic	Planned and unplanned	Mental healthcare use		
	hospital use after diagnosis	after diagnosis		
Male gender [Ref, woman]	1.26 (1.14-1.39)	0.99(0.88-1.13)		
Age at diagnosis	1.02 (1.02-1.04)	0.97 (0.97-0.98)		
Dementia diagnosis [Ref, Alzheimer's disease]				
Mixed dementia	1.46 (1.26-1.68)	1.20 (0.97-1.48)		
Unspecified dementia	1.44 (1.27-1.63)	1.90 (1.62-2.23)		
Vascular dementia	1.67 (1.46-1.91)	1.94 (1.62-2.31)		
Dementia in other diseases	1.96 (1.59-2.43)	3.74 (2.97-4.73)		
IMD Quintiles [Ref, 5 (least deprived)]				
1	1.50 (1.22-1.85)	1.40 (1.06-1.86)		
2	1.47 (1.21-1.79)	1.66 (1.28-2.16)		
3	1.24 (1.01-1.53)	1.32 (1.02-1.74)		
4	1.17 (0.93-1.47)	0.95 (0.70-1.30)		
Ethnicity groups [Ref, White]				
Mixed	0.46 (0.23-0.89)	0.71 (0.34-1.49)		
Asian	0.95 (0.76-1.18)	0.52 (0.37-0.73)		
Black	0.99 (0.86-1.13)	1.16 (0.99-1.36)		
Other	0.93 (0.67-1.29)	0.43 (0.25-0.75)		
Care package recipient [Ref, no]	1.16 (1.05-1.28)	2.33 (2.06-2.63)		
Living alone [Ref, no]	1.52 (1.35-1.74)	2.16 (1.86-2.52)		
Number of medications	1.15 (1.09-1.22)	2.15 (2.03-2.28)		
HoNOS cognitive problems score	1.11 (1.05-1.17)	1.06 (0.98-1.14)		
HoNOS physical problems score	1.32 (1.27-1.38)	1.24 (1.17-1.30)		

Abbreviations: RRR (95% CI): Relative Risk Ratio (95% Confidence Intervals), Bold findings are statistically significant (p<.005). Ref: Reference Class, IMD: Index of Multiple Deprivation * 1= Most deprived, 5 = Least deprived, HoNOS: Health of the Nation Outcome Scales
7.4.4 Subgroups of healthcare use in the last year of life

For the classes based on healthcare use the last year of life, the model structure, response probabilities, and class prevalence were not similar to those identified for the first year after diagnosis.

The model fit criteria and discussion within the research team indicated that a 4-class model fit the data most appropriately for the last year of life healthcare use (Table 7-5). Posterior probabilities for class membership ranged between 79% to 94%. Table 7-9 provides descriptives for the sociodemographic, illness-related and environmental characteristics of the people with dementia for each class, while healthcare use among each class is demonstrated in Figure 7-4 and Table 7-10.

	Low healthcare use in the last year of life n=2,756 (32.0%)	Moderate hospital use in the last year of life n=3,689 (42.8%)	High hospital use in the last year of life n=754 (8.7%)	Community mental healthcare use in the last year of life n=1,423 (16.5%)
	N=2,756	N=3,689	N=754	N=1,423
Gender				
woman	1,870 (67.9%)	2,342 (63.5%)	338 (44.8%)	773 (54.3%)
man	886 (32.1%)	1,347 (36.5%)	416 (55.2%)	650 (45.7%)
Age at diagnosis – death	81.9 - 87.3 (7.4) (7.8)	81.8 (7.6) - 86.5 (7.3)	80.5 (7.2) - 84.6 (7.1)	80.5 (7.6) - 84.6 (7.3)
Ethnicity groups				
White	2,078 (75.4%)	2,770 (75.1%)	533 (70.7%)	1,105 (77.7%)
Mixed	18 (0.7%)	25 (0.7%)	5 (0.7%)	7 (0.5%)
Asian	122 (4.4%)	173 (4.7%)	55 (7.3%)	55 (3.9%)
Black	400 (14.5%)	575 (15.6%)	129 (17.1%)	233 (16.4%)
Other	72 (2.6%)	64 (1.7%)	22 (2.9%)	18 (1.3%)
Not known	66 (2.4%)	82 (2.2%)	10 (1.3%)	5 (0.4%)
First dementia diagnosis				
Alzheimer's disease	1,053 (38.2%)	1,234 (33.5%)	253 (33.6%)	490 (34.4%)
Mixed dementia	363 (13.2%)	538 (14.6%)	119 (15.8%)	202 (14.2%)
Unspecified dementia	717 (26.0%)	900 (24.4%)	161 (21.4%)	362 (25.4%)
Vascular dementia	456 (16.5%)	765 (20.7%)	164 (21.8%)	239 (16.8%)
Dementia in other diseases	679 (24.7%)	959 (26.0%)	173 (23.0%)	395 (27.7%)
IMD quintiles				
1	1,018 (36.9%)	1,429 (38.7%)	293 (38.9%)	539 (37.9%)
2	576 (20.9%)	734 (19.9%)	173 (22.9%)	336 (23.6%)

Table 7-9. Descriptives for the last year of life classes

3	338 (12.3%)	413 (11.2%)	99 (13.1%)	150 (10.5%)
4	200 (7.3%)	268 (7.3%)	53 (7.0%)	80 (5.6%)
5	112 (4.1%)	138 (3.7%)	20 (2.7%)	53 (3.7%)
Missing	18.3 (6.4)	18.1 (6.4)	19.4 (6.0)	17.8 (6.7)
MMSE mean(SD)				
mild	753 (27.3%)	1,029 (27.9%)	270 (35.8%)	531 (37.3%)
moderate	662 (24.0%)	925 (25.1%)	196 (26.0%)	476 (33.5%)
severe	160 (5.8%)	239 (6.5%)	32 (4.2%)	143 (10.0%)
Missing	1,181 (42.9%)	1,496 (40.6%)	256 (34.0%)	273 (19.2%)
Total HoNOS score	10.5 (5.4)	10.4 (5.2)	9.4 (5.0)	10.8 (5.6)
HoNOS cognitive problems				
0	28 (1.0%)	34 (0.9%)	10 (1.3%)	23 (1.6%)
1	282 (10.2%)	416 (11.3%)	115 (15.3%)	186 (13.1%)
2	1,141	1,538	340 (45.1%)	623 (43.8%)
	(41.4%)	(41.7%)		
3	907 (32.9%)	1,225 (33.2%)	211 (28.0%)	455 (32.0%)
4	234 (8.5%)	292 (7.9%)	30 (4.0%)	120 (8.4%)
Missing	164 (6.0%)	184 (5.0%)	48 (6.4%)	16 (1.1%)
HoNOS physical problems	1,320 (47.9%)	1,899 (51.5%)	369 (48.9%)	671 (47.2%)
Missing	163 (5.9%)	186 (5.0%)	48 (6.4%)	16 (1.1%)
HoNOS other mental health issues	694 (25.2%)	815 (22.1%)	144 (19.1%)	406 (28.5%)
Missing	200 (7.3%)	244 (6.6%)	57 (7.6%)	31 (2.2%)
HoNOS relationship problems	388 (14.1%)	546 (14.8%)	95 (12.6%)	287 (20.2%)
Missing	173 (6.3%)	190 (5.2%)	51 (6.8%)	17 (1.2%)
HoNOS problems with daily living	1,609 (58.4%)	2,152 (58.3%)	369 (48.9%)	848 (59.6%)
Missing	176 (6.4%)	192 (5.2%)	50 (6.6%)	21 (1.5%)
HoNOS problems with living conditions	324 (11.8%)	441 (12.0%)	59 (7.8%)	160 (11.2%)
Missing	213 (7.7%)	224 (6.1%)	49 (6.5%)	29 (2.0%)
Living alone at the time of diagnosis	504 (18.3%)	625 (16.9%)	113 (15.0%)	255 (17.9%)
Care package recipient	1,149 (41.7%)	1,529 (41.4%)	300 (39.8%)	900 (63.2%)
Time in SLaM	317.0 (16.0- 973.0)	290.0 (14.0- 868.0)	628.0 (106.0- 1177.0)	1204.0 (879.0- 1674.0)
Number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects				
0	1,733 (62.9%)	2,341 (63.5%)	491 (65.1%)	690 (48.5%)
1	566 (20.5%)	768 (20.8%)	169 (22.4%)	329 (23.1%)
2	312 (11.3%)	364 (9.9%)	70 (9.3%)	204 (14.3%)
3	96 (3.5%)	156 (4.2%)	16 (2.1%)	146 (10.3%)
4	40 (1.5%)	42 (1.1%)	7 (0.9%)	45 (3.2%)
5	8 (0.3%)	16 (0.4%)	1 (0.1%)	8 (0.6%)
6	1 (0.0%)	2 (0.1%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.1%)

Note: MMSE: mini-mental state examination; SD: standard deviation; IMD: index of multiple deprivation (1 = most deprived, 5 = most affluent). HoNOS scores were dichotomised (scores 0 and 1—no or minor problems, scores 2 to 4—mild to severe problems) to facilitate interpretation.



Figure 7-4. Radar plot showing healthcare use* classes of people with dementia in the last year of life *For a clear interpretation of which indicators are above or below the sample means, I used the z-standardised mean scores in figures³⁰⁷

			Last year of life	
Mean (SD)	Low healthcare use in the last year of life n=2,756 (32.0%)	Moderate hospital use in the last year of life n=3,689 (42.8%)	High hospital use in the last year of life n=754 (8.7%)	Community mental healthcare use in the last year of life n=1,423 (16.5%)
A&E visits	0.1 (0.3)	2.6 (2.7)	23.1 (24.2)	3.9 (6.2)
Planned hospital admissions	0.0 (0.1)	0.0 (0.2)	0.9 (5.5)	0.1 (0.3)
Unplanned hospita admissions	l 1.3 (0.6)	2.0 (1.3)	3.3 (2.5)	2.7 (2.2)
Length of hospital stay	0.0 (0.0)	13.6 (17.9)	16.5 (19.1)	16.4 (24.8)
Other face-to-face mental healthcare events	0.0 (0.3)	0.0 (0.2)	0.9 (1.9)	7.1 (8.8)
Community mental health nurse visits	0.0 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)	0.1 (0.4)	3.9 (10.5)
Therapist visits	0.0 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.2)	2.0 (6.1)
Outpatient appointments	0.5 (1.2)	2.3 (4.2)	7.5 (9.7)	2.1 (3.4)

Table 7-10. Healthcare use of people with dementia in the last year of life (n=8,623)

The 'low healthcare use in the last year of life' class was taken as the base for the regression analysis (Table 7-11). The last year of life classes were as follows:

Class 1 – Low healthcare use in the last year of life (n=2756, 32%): Low healthcare use (n=2756, 32%): This group is characterised by low contact with hospital (e.g., A&E visits mean 0.1 SD (0.3)) and mental healthcare services (face-to-face Slam appointments mean 0.0 SD (0.3)). Almost everyone (99%) in this group died outside of a hospital.

Class 2 – Moderate hospital use in the last year of life (n=3,689, 43%): This group is characterised by low mental healthcare use (e.g., other face-to-face mental healthcare events 0.0 SD (0.2)), but moderate unplanned hospital use (e.g., unplanned hospital admissions mean 2.0 SD (1.3)), in addition to moderate outpatient appointments. Compared to those in the low healthcare use group, membership of this group was associated with male gender (RRR 1.22 95% CI (1.09-1.35)), mixed dementia (RRR 1.25 95% CI (1.07-1.46)), vascular dementia (RRR 1.41 95% CI (1.22 -1.62)), and dementia in other diseases (RRR 1.26 95% CI (1.03-1.55)). 41% of people in this group died in a hospital.

Class 3 – High hospital use in the last year of life (n=754, 9%): This group is characterised by high hospital use, a very high number of A&E visits, and higher unplanned and planned hospital admissions compared to the other three groups. People in this class are more likely to be men (RRR 2.51 95% CI (2.12-2.96)) and diagnosed at a younger age (RRR 0.98 95% CI (0.97-0.99)). They are significantly more likely to have a mixed (RRR 1.31 95% CI (1.02-1.66)) or a vascular dementia diagnosis (RRR 1.33 95% CI (1.06-1.67)). They are more likely to be of Asian ethnicity (RRR 1.58 95% CI (1.13-2.22)). They are less likely to receive medications with strong anticholinergic effects (RRR 0.88 0 95% CI (0.81-0.97)) and less severe cognitive problems at diagnosis (RRR 0.77 95% CI (0.69-0.84)). Half (51%) of people in this group died in a hospital.

Class 4 – Community mental healthcare use in the last year of life (n=1,423, 17%): This group is characterised by higher numbers of use of mental healthcare services while having moderate number of uses of hospital services. People in this class are more likely to be men (RRR 1.69 95% CI (1.48-1.92)) and diagnosed at a younger age (RRR 0.98 95% CI (0.97-0.99)). They are more likely to have dementia in another disease (RRR 1.40 95% CI (1.08-1.81)). They are likely to be receiving a care package (RRR 2.43 95% CI (2.12-2.77)), more likely to be receiving higher number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects (RRR 1.35 95% CI (1.28-1.44)) but have less severe cognitive problems (RRR 0.92 95% CI (0.85-0.99)) and less severe physical problems (RRR 0.92 95%CI (0.96-0.98)). Two in five (40%) of people in this group died in a hospital.

Table 7-11. Multinomial logistic regression with age and sex adjusted coefficients showing patient characteristics associated with the last year of life class: reference class: Class 1: Low healthcare use in the last year of life (N=8,623)

		RRR (95% CI)	
Characteristic	Moderate hospital use	High hospital use in	Community mental
	in the last year of life	the last year of life	healthcare use in
			the last year of life
Male gender [Ref, woman]	1.22 (1.09-1.35)	2.51 (2.12 -2.96)	1.69 (1.48-1.92)
Age at diagnosis	1.01 (0.99-1.02)	0.98 (0.97-0.99)	0.98 (0.97-0.99)
Dementia diagnosis [Ref, Alzheimer's disease]			
Mixed dementia	1.25 (1.07-1.46)	1.31 (1.02 -1.66)	1.18 (0.96-1.44)
Unspecified dementia	1.06 (0.94-1.21)	0.89 (0.71-1.11)	1.05 (0.89-1.24)
Vascular dementia	1.41 (1.22 -1.62)	1.33 (1.06-1.67)	1.04 (0.86-1.26)
Dementia in other diseases	1.26 (1.03-1.55)	1.12 (0.80-1.56)	1.40 (1.08-1.81)
IMD Quintiles [Ref, 5 (least deprived)]			
1	1.03 (0.83-1.28)	0.84 (0.58-1.21)	1.25 (0.93 -1.70)
2	1.05 (0.86-1.28)	1.09 (0.79-1.53)	1.31 (0.99 -1.73)
3	0.95 (0.77-1.18)	1.11 (0.78-1.57)	1.42 (1.06-1.91)
4	0.93 (0.74-1.17)	1.14 (0.78-1.67)	1.12 (0.19-1.16)
Ethnicity groups [Ref, White]			
Mixed	1.02 (0.55-1.87)	0.91 (0.33-2.51)	0.64 (0.26-1.59)
Asian	1.05 (0.83-1.34)	1.58 (1.13-2.22)	0.78 (0.56-1.08)
Black	1.06 (0.32-1.22)	1.10 (0.88-1.38)	0.98 (0.82 -1.18)
Other	0.66 (0.47-0.92)	1.14 (0.64-2.02)	0.44 (0.26-0.74)
Care package recipient [Ref, no]	0.99 (0.90-1.10)	0.94 (0.80-1.11)	2.43 (2.12-2.77)
Living alone [Ref, no]	0.93 (0.82-1.06)	0.89 (0.71-1.12)	1.06 (0.89-1.26)
Number of medications	0.99 (0.94-1.05)	0.88 (0.81-0.97)	1.35 (1.28-1.44)
HoNOS cognitive problems score	0.97 (0.91-1.04)	0.77 (0.69-0.84)	0.92 (0.85 -0.99)
HoNOS physical problems score	1.05 (0.99-1.10)	1.00 (0.93-1.08)	0.95 (0.90-1.01)

Abbreviations: RRR (95% CI): Relative Risk Ratio (95% Confidence Intervals), Bold findings are statistically significant (p<.005). Ref: Reference Class, IMD: Index of Multiple Deprivation * 1= Most deprived, 5 = Least deprived, HoNOS: Health of the Nation Outcome Scales

7.4.5 Transitions between classes over time

Transitions between the subgroups between two timepoints are visualised in Figure 7-5. The class membership between two time points was not stable (i.e., three-class solution in the first time period and a four-class in the second time period). There were no clear patterns to the moves between classes between two time periods (e.g., of those in the *'low healthcare use after diagnosis'* class, in the last year of life time period 33% transitioned to the *'low healthcare use in the last year of life'* class, 40% to the *'moderate hospital use in the last year of life'* class, 11% to the *'high hospital use in the last year of life'* class, and 16% to the *'community mental healthcare use in the last year of*

life' class). Notable transitions between two time periods relevant to clinical practice and policy, and the characteristics of the people with dementia who are described below (See <u>Appendix 6</u> for relevant tables).

Transition from 'low healthcare use after diagnosis' class to 'high hospital use in the last year of *life'* class: 11% of people with dementia who were in the 'low healthcare use' class in the first year following their diagnosis transitioned to the 'high hospital use in the last year of life' class. Compared to the other people who were in the 'low healthcare use after diagnosis' class, the group of people who experienced this transition included a larger proportion of males, a smaller proportion of people with an Alzheimer's disease diagnosis, and a larger proportion of people diagnosed with mixed and vascular dementia diagnoses, who were diagnosed younger and died younger compared to those who transitioned to 'low healthcare use in the last year of life' and 'moderate healthcare use in the last year of life' classes, where a smaller proportion had a care package in place in the first year after their diagnosis.

Transition from 'planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis' class to 'low healthcare use in the last year of life' class: 31% of the people with dementia who were in the 'planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis' class in the first year following their diagnosis transitioned to the 'low healthcare use in the last year of life' class. Compared to the other people who were in the 'planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis' class, the group of people who experienced this transition included a larger proportion of females, a larger proportion of people with an Alzheimer's disease diagnosis, a larger proportion of people who were from a White ethnic group, and were diagnosed older, yet lived with a dementia diagnosis for a longer time and died at an older age.

Transition from 'mental healthcare use after diagnosis' class to 'community mental healthcare use in the last year of life' class: 31% of the people with dementia who were in the 'mental healthcare use after diagnosis' class in the first year following their diagnosis transitioned to the 'community mental healthcare use in the last year of life' class. Compared to the other people who were in the 'mental healthcare use after diagnosis' class in the first year after diagnosis, the group of people who experienced this transition, included a larger proportion of males, a larger proportion of people with dementia diagnoses in other diseases, larger proportion of depression as reported in HoNOS at diagnosis, a higher number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects receipts, and a larger proportion of care package recipients.



Figure 7-5. Sankey diagram for transitions between first year after diagnosis classes and classes in the last year of life based on healthcare use

7.4.6 Sensitivity and exploratory analyses

Class structures observed in the last year of life analysis with all decedents who lived for a year or longer after their dementia diagnosis were similar to those observed in the main analyses (Appendix 6). The likelihood ratio difference test demonstrated that the model with invariance constrained and the one without the invariance constrained differed significantly ($G^2\Delta = 52$, df $\Delta = 44$, p < 0.05), confirming that the class structures were not consistent over time.

LTA with three-class models at both timepoints and models exploring the effects of gender and proximity to death were conducted as a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity analyses reveal similar transition patterns to those presented in Figure 8-5 and potential differences in transition probabilities depending on person's sex (being male) and proximity to death (those who have less time between the date of their dementia diagnosis and death) increasing the likelihood of transitioning to high hospital use group in the last year of life (Appendix 6).

7.4.7 Patient and public involvement

Initial findings from study 3 were discussed with three separate PPI groups and with a group of old age psychiatrists from SLaM. These discussions were essential for the validation of the subgroups and the interpretation of the findings.

The explanations for diagnosis at later age being associated with the group with higher hospital use and frequent A&E visits resonated with the PPI members. Ethnicity (being Asian and other ethnicity) which was one of the risk factors associated with being in the group with higher hospital use and frequent A&E visits resonated with the PPI members. They mentioned cultural expectations from family members having to take care of the relative with dementia and the option of a care home not being possible. Going to A&E meant that the responsibility of the person with dementia is no longer on the family members, but with the hospital staff. The lack of resources available in non-English languages and accessing services for dementia too late due to cultural beliefs of dementia being part of aging were also discussed.

Dementia type was another factor which came up in discussions multiple times. The consensus among the PPI group was that when someone had a lesser-known type of dementia (compared to Alzheimer's or Vascular Dementia), all aspects of care were influenced. Discussions with healthcare professionals also underscored the acute care needs of people who have vascular and mixed dementias. The diagnosis was delayed, and symptoms were confusing to health and social care professionals. Many members of the local community were not aware of different types and symptoms of dementia.

7.5 Discussion

In this study of healthcare use in people with dementia followed from diagnosis to death, using data linkages across five datasets, I observed distinct classes of healthcare use within the cohort in the first year following a dementia diagnosis and the last year of life. I identified three subgroups based on their healthcare use in the first year after diagnosis and four subgroups based on their healthcare use in the last year of life. Of relevance to this thesis, the latter included a small group (*'high hospital use in the last year of life'* (9%)) of people with dementia who experienced frequent unplanned hospital use. While subgroups in the first year after diagnosis were distinct from those observed in the last year of life, I identified biopsychosocial characteristics associated with these, highlighting and unpicking the unpredictability in the care journey of people with dementia.¹¹⁷

In line with the literature, the findings show that male gender was associated with more frequent service use such as high unplanned hospital use at both time periods.^{114, 308} Associations with different ethnic groups (e.g., Asian ethnicity was associated with lower likelihood of belonging to the *'mental healthcare use after diagnosis'* class, while positively associated with a likelihood of belonging to the *'high hospital use in the last year of life'* class) and age (e.g., diagnosis at older age was associated with the *'planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis'* class in the first year after diagnosis, whereas younger age was associated with *'high hospital use in the last year of life'* loss) and se in the last year of life')

varied depending on the classes and the time period. In terms of illness-related factors, I identified higher likelihood of healthcare use among people diagnosed with a non-Alzheimer's disease dementia, particularly for those with mixed and vascular dementia. These associations may be due to higher prevalence of co-existing physical conditions associated with these diagnoses, and/or availability of better management and support for Alzheimer's disease in community.^{138, 309}

Findings highlighted the reversal of the association between cognitive impairment and healthcare use in the first year following diagnosis and in the last year of life. While more severe cognitive problems were associated with *'planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis'*, less severe cognitive issues were associated with later hospital and community care use in the last year of life. The latter finding is counter-intuitive, although might possibly reflect dementia diagnoses at earlier stages in people with comorbid conditions who will require higher levels of later end-of-life care. Similar findings have been observed in previous studies for hospital use towards the end of life among people with dementia.^{110, 114}

Social factors such as living alone and receiving a care package were associated with higher likelihood of receiving specialist mental healthcare use. Higher proportion of care package receipt in this subgroup may be due to identification of complex needs by the specialist mental healthcare teams.³¹⁰ Living alone and living in the most deprived areas were associated with hospital use and community mental healthcare use in the first year after diagnosis. These may be explained by the differential access to services (i.e., unplanned access to hospitals in response to an emergency vs. referral and assessment-based access to specialist mental healthcare) and difficulties observed in access to dementia diagnosis and subsequent treatments among more deprived groups due to availability of the services disproportionate to the needs of the communities in those areas.³¹¹ Studies focusing on healthcare use towards the end of life among people with dementia at a larger geographical scale (e.g., national) and those using other measures of socioeconomic status found an association between deprivation or lower socioeconomic status and higher burdensome healthcare use, which was not evident in our study.^{41, 311, 312} Further research from an intersectional lens is needed to understand the combined effects of the identified characteristics.³¹³

In this study, people with dementia moved to different groups characterised by use of healthcare services in the last year of life were not always consistent or similar to their healthcare use in the first year after diagnosis. Risk factors associated with high healthcare use were also observed in groups who transitioned to 'less favourable' classes in the last year of life. As highlighted in the sensitivity analyses, people who lived longer with a diagnosis had a higher chance of transitioning to a low healthcare use in the last year of life. Dynamic moves over the course of dementia care

trajectory and similar class structures have been observed previously where people who were in the last year of their lives were excluded, with stable class structures over time when primary care use was included as a class predictor, and a small group of people who were labelled as 'multiple healthcare users'.²⁸⁵

7.5.1 Strengths and limitations

This study is novel in its use of a linkage between specialist mental health services and hospital care, which allowed access to a rich repository of information about biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia, and exploration of how different services fit together. The study also adds to a growing body of work which has applied latent class and longitudinal modelling to the electronic health records of people with dementia, and includes the last year of life time period, which is associated with high hospital use.^{165, 314} Clustering techniques using electronic healthcare data have been used in other patient populations in guiding care and service planning. The use of routine data provided a large sample size, and minimised biases such as recall bias which are often associated with survey data.

In terms of limitations, there may be a risk of bias in the approach to classification of individuals to groups ³¹⁵. Although there are methods which can be used to reduce bias, most studies applying such methods have a small number of covariates and often use survey or stimulation data which are more suited for complex adjustment compared to real life data;³¹⁶ classification bias in this study was also minimised by the large sample size.³¹⁵ I had access to limited information about social care receipt, and were not able to track the timing of care home residence, which has been shown to reduce unplanned hospital use in the last year of life.^{41, 114} Also, information was primarily collected at the time of diagnosis, and was limited on covariates between the two time points studied, which is also likely to impact the results.²³

The cohort included in the study was limited to people who had a dementia diagnosis for at least two years. Although most people with dementia live for longer than two years after receiving their dementia diagnosis,¹⁶⁸ people who had less than two years between their diagnosis to death might represent a group with higher healthcare needs and use. The sensitivity analysis looking at the impact of time between diagnosis and death on transitioning between classes in two timepoints from Study 3 and the trends in unplanned hospital admissions observed in Study 1 suggests that people who had a shorter survival after diagnosis to the end of life, people included in dementia care (i.e., people with dementia, families, and health and care professionals) might have less opportunity to change the trajectory of care towards the end of life. Hence, the size and composition

of the latent classes identified in this study may differ due to this selection criteria. Individual-level indicators of socioeconomic position such as educational level and the most recent occupation of the individuals may have been more informative; in this respect, measures such as the education level or people's last recorded occupation were extracted from CRIS but were found to be inadequately recorded (>70% missing) and were not included in the analyses. Even though the regression models in this study were adjusted for several confounder factors, there is still a risk of residual confounding. Studies which include more biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia and health and social care service measures are needed to further our understanding of distinct healthcare use groupings. Finally, external validation of the identified groups is needed to improve their generalisability, although there are similarities in terms of sizes of classes and significant covariates with other published findings, and confirmatory views of people with experiences of healthcare use (people with dementia, family members, healthcare professionals) about the identified groups provide some support for the external validity of our findings. While the names given to the latent classes observed at both time periods may appear to be similar, it is important to highlight that these groups do not represent same groups of people and are merely labels to summarise common characteristics of the group.

7.5.2 Implications for clinical practice, policy and research

First, a third of people were in the '*hospital use*' group in the year following their diagnosis, had transitioned to the low healthcare use group by the last year of their life. This may signal the detection of needs and having plans for care in place earlier on the dementia trajectory, which may reduce the need for hospital care in the last year of life.³¹⁷ Data linkages with other key health and social care services may guide our understanding of how services work together to meet the needs of people with dementia,¹¹⁷ and services which may be key in reducing burdensome care experiences in the last year of life.

Second, a small proportion (9%) of people with dementia was characterised by high emergency hospital use in the last year of life. The findings show that people in this group were more likely to be men, have mixed and vascular dementia, be from an Asian ethnicity, and receive lower number of medications. Although some of the observed high hospital use may be in line with the increased and complex needs observed towards the end of life,²⁸⁷ the reasons for high numbers of repeated A&E visits and whether these indicate inadequate care provision (including difficulties with access or limited number of services) outside of hospitals should be explored. Identification of this subgroup should be prioritised in clinical practice to target better care. The large proportion of people with dementia (including the moderate and community mental health care classes) visiting hospitals in the last year of life also underscores calls for improving hospital environments and care for people

with dementia, and investing in social care services such as nursing homes which may reduce A&E attendances.⁴¹ Although the relatively small 9% proportion suggests that many people with dementia are not high care consumers at the end of life, this class is likely to be generating very high proportions of the total cost of dementia, hence there are economic imperatives to see what can be learned about those who remain low healthcare users until the end of life, and those who transition to this class.

Finally, approximately one in five (17%) people with dementia receive specialist mental health care as measured by attending appointments, and community care provided by multidisciplinary teams during both time periods (including outpatient and community settings), and not many people receive specialist mental healthcare input to their care.³¹⁸ While high healthcare use is expected for people who may have mental and physical multiple long-term conditions,³¹⁹ this group did not have high unplanned hospital use, highlighting the potential role of specialist care provision in dementia care. Better integration of specialist and hospital services for people with dementia must be supported by adequate funding.

This study generated multiple implications for future research.

First, our findings describe the differences in the experiences among people with dementia who are often grouped and treated as a homogenous group in healthcare and policy. There is a need for further qualitative studies to unpick the underlying reasons for the patterns observed and the associated risk factors.

Second, the role of the specialist mental healthcare services is seldom explored in relation to the end-of-life care among people with dementia. End-of-life care needs of people with dementia in the *'community mental healthcare use in the last year of life'* class and the support needed by the teams from palliative and end-of-life care specialists must be better understood.

Third, these findings and methods can be replicated in other regions, that face similar challenges in providing high quality to people with dementia until the end of life. Describing and understanding their population's healthcare patterns at a more detailed level can assist decision-makers in prioritising support for services or subgroups of people with dementia who may be otherwise overlooked.

Fourth, the need for data linkages with other key health (e.g., primary care) and social care services (e.g., social care funding receipt and care home residency) to guide our understanding of how services work together to meet the needs of people with dementia, and services which may be key in reducing burdensome care experiences in the last year of life is highlighted.

Fifth, the application of methodological techniques such as joint modelling to gain a better understanding of proximity to death and healthcare use subgroups, and services and characteristics which may influence transition probabilities, should be explored.²⁹²

Finally, this study relies on when and if people affected by dementia interact with certain healthcare services. Transitions from 'planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis' in the first year following diagnosis class to 'low healthcare use in the last year of life' class may indicate that the health and care needs of these people were picked up by the professionals and resolved earlier in their disease trajectory which may have led to low healthcare use, with the substitution of other care services (e.g., care homes). Future studies should explore with people affected with dementia, ways in which their needs can be identified proactively, and managed efficiently without the need of unnecessary access to healthcare services.

This study identified the extent to which multiple healthcare services are used concurrently during two critical periods of the overall time spent living with dementia, as well as sociodemographic and clinical characteristics associated with such use. Findings explore the relationship between these two time periods in attempt to understand whether the type of healthcare use observed in the last year of life can be anticipated and planned better. Identification of subgroups of people with dementia who may experience burdensome care towards the end of their lives should be prioritised in primary, post-diagnostic dementia and emergency services to ensure adequate support is provided across the disease trajectory.

The interpretation of the findings in relation to the care of people with dementia and how quality of care may require further considerations for from or even prior to dementia diagnosis and for those who may be approaching the end of life are summarised in Table 7-12.

Table 7-12. Interpretation of the study findings in relation to the quality of care of people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life (Study 3)

Quality of care domain	Interpretation of findings and implications
(See <u>Appendix 1</u> for definitions)	
Access	The findings highlight potential issues with access to several services,
	namely to community and specialist mental healthcare services at both
	timepoints. Access and signposting to appropriate community care,
	information about dementia for people affected by dementia, could be
	facilitated though formal personalised post-diagnostic support. In England,
	the NHS Long Term Plan provides a clear vision for a consistent standard of
	care for people with dementia to live in their own homes for longer and
	avoid unnecessary hospital admissions. ¹⁰⁷ More people with dementia with
	complex care needs may benefit from the multidisciplinary specialist
	community mental healthcare input, but these services, including
	community services for family caregivers such as day care centres may not
	be equally visible or accessible to everyone.
Safety	Three main implications for the safety of people with dementia. First,
	disproportionate number of repeated A&E visits experienced by a small
	number of people with dementia raises concern about their safety in
	emergency departments, which is not be the best environment for caring
	for people with dementia. ²⁰⁸ Second, although people with dementia who
	are admitted to the hospital are likely to be at a ward dedicated to the care
	of older people for most of their stay, they are likely to experience
	transfers between different parts of the hospital and sometimes transfers
	to other hospitals. Third, people with dementia who do not access services
	in the first year after diagnosis, but subsequently transition to a higher
	healthcare use subgroup, and those who experience repeated A&E visits
	may not be safe at their usual place of care (home/care home). Prioritising
	and ensuring patients' safety are linked to better access to information on
	previous health and social care input, ³²⁰ capacity to deliver care closer to
	home, and development dementia-friendly care environments. ⁸¹
Timely	The findings raise important questions about the timely access to health
	and social care services. Unplanned and potentially avoidable hospital use
	and prolonged hospital stays have been postulated to be linked with lack
	of timely access to primary and community services. ²⁷³ Namely, the
	findings raises questions about whether most people with dementia had
	timely access to post-diagnostic and other services prior to the last year of

	life and during the last year of life (e.g., securing funds to move to a care
	home or seek additional home care services) which could have limited the
	unplanned hospital use.
Efficiency and value for money	The findings from this study suggest that specialist mental healthcare input
	may reduce some of the unplanned hospital use among people with
	dementia. Efficiency or inefficient of delivery of dementia care in
	emergency departments have been widely discussed. ^{208, 321, 322} These
	findings contribute to the need to gain a better understanding of what
	people with dementia value in their care and whether the delivery of the
	services are efficient in meeting care needs in line with their values. Given
	the limited access to specialist mental health care, efficiency of care
	delivery (e.g., frequency and format of visits and communication across
	teams) to meet the growing needs of people with dementia until the end
	of life should be assessed. Care delivered during prolonged hospital stays
	may not be good value for money, due to potential harms. However,
	hospital visits may provide an opportunity to seek input from multiple
	disciplines and put preventative measures in place. ³¹⁷ Whether investing in
	comprehensive needs assessment, signposting to community services,
	discharge and personalised care planning during hospital admissions
	shortly after their diagnosis is efficient for reducing future end-of-life
	admissions for people with dementia should be explored.
Capacity	The findings highlight multiple issues regarding capacity of the services
	which may lead to poor care quality. Unplanned hospital use may reflect
	the focus on treating acute medical issues during hospital visits, rather
	than understanding the dementia trajectory and the role of acute events,
	and not taking overall health and care journey of people with dementia
	into account due to lack of resources. There are implications for larger
	workforce and specialist capacity community, and in hospitals for people
	with dementia who may have more complex care needs but also increased
	capacity to deliver equitable care through better resources (i.e., dementia
	and end-of-life care training and specialist input, linked care records).
Equity	People with dementia are characterised with increasing care needs and
	subgroup of people with dementia, as highlighted in this study, are
	characterised by increased healthcare use in the last year of life. The
	findings raise questions about whether the resources needed to provide
	appropriate and person-centred care to everyone with dementia until the
	end of their lives are fairly and equitably distributed. Furthermore, the

findings also suggest that the quality of care provided to people with a non-Alzheimer's diagnosis, people from minority ethnic groups, and those who live in more deprived areas may not be equitable. In line with the inverse care law principles,³²³ more investment should be directed to people with dementia who may face additional barriers to care.

7.6 Summary

This study identified the extent to which multiple healthcare services are used concurrently during two critical periods of the dementia trajectory, the year after diagnosis and the year of death, and the associated sociodemographic characteristics. In this chapter, the rationale and how previous studies and evidence led to this study and the implications of the findings for future research, policy and in relation to the quality of care have been illustrated. The next chapter will provide a broad discussion of the whole thesis.

Chapter 8: Discussion

This chapter presents a summary of key findings. It discusses how the thesis fits into the wider context of healthcare use of people with dementia nearing the end of life, as well as broader strengths and limitations, and implications for policy, clinical practice and research. Discussions and conclusions of the studies are presented in their corresponding results chapters.

8.1 Overview

This thesis identified patterns in healthcare use and investigated indicators of quality of care to quantify the experiences of people with dementia who may be nearing the end of life using routine data. As background work, I assessed the psychometric properties of all available and relevant quality indicators. I then provided a shortlist of 71 robust quality indicators usable with routinely collected electronic data to quantify the care provided to older people and those with dementia who may be approaching the end of life (see <u>Chapter 2</u>).¹¹ This thesis demonstrates several examples of how routinely collected electronic data can be analysed to inform and enable the improvement of care received by people with dementia nearing the end of life. In Studies 1 and 2 (see <u>Chapter 5</u> & <u>Chapter 6</u>), patterns of healthcare use, namely unplanned hospital admissions and critical care admissions, were identified and analysed to investigate quality of care and opportunities for understanding the population of "people with dementia nearing the end of life" better and improving the care experiences. In Study 3 (<u>Chapter 7</u>), I investigated patterns of multiple healthcare service use among people with dementia and identified variations in these and associated biopsychosocial factors. Each analysis addressed an aspect of the evidence gaps discussed in the background chapter of the thesis.

In this thesis, Study 1 (see <u>Chapter 5</u>) showed that higher rates of unplanned hospital admissions were experienced by people who live with a dementia diagnosis for a shorter period, and both the rates and combined durations of hospital stay increased consistently towards the end of life, becoming noticeably higher in the last year of life. The importance the end-of-life period was highlighted by the marked differences in the rates and lengths of unplanned hospital admissions observed between those who were living by the study end and the decedents. Potential targets across the disease trajectory, and across care settings, were identified to improve the quality of care across care domains and will be discussed in this chapter.

Due to the lack of evidence on critical care admissions among people with dementia in England, Study 2 (see <u>Chapter 6</u>) of this thesis used a novel data linkage between an electronic mental health records depository and a national hospitalisation dataset to explore the incidence of critical care admissions, trends over time, and the survival of people with dementia who experienced these

admissions. Critical care admission among people with dementia nearing the end of life is an established quality indicator. In this study, less than 4% of people with dementia experienced a critical care admission. However, the increase in the incidence of critical care admissions in the last year of life over the 12-year period highlights the importance of routine monitoring of specialist healthcare use among people with dementia.

In Study 3, an approach to analysis was employed where patterns of use of multiple healthcare services extracted from a data linkage were examined in the first year after diagnosis and the last year of life, to explore if there are opportunities to improve the quality of care and understand the level of service provision required to meet the needs of people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life. Healthcare use in the first year after diagnosis was not a predictor of patterns of healthcare use in the last year of life. Distinct subgroups of people with dementia with similar patterns of healthcare were identified. Risk factors associated with high healthcare use included being male, having a non-Alzheimer's disease diagnosis, Asian ethnicity, living alone, and having physical problems.

The overall, unique contribution of this thesis is the new understanding of heterogeneity which exists in the healthcare use among people with dementia, outlining their differential needs, and the highlighted targets for improving the care quality of people with dementia nearing the end of life. It adds to the evidence base that a significant proportion of people with dementia towards the end-of-life experience care which may not be in line with their care preferences. This thesis also highlights a need for more in-depth research and policy focus on dementia end-of-life care. It also provides a case for embedding dementia, palliative and end-of-life care competencies across the care trajectory. To improve the quality of care for people with dementia, efforts should be focused on addressing areas that need the most attention and raising awareness of end-of-life care needs, services, and management of people with different diagnoses of dementia across care settings and teams.

8.2 Discussion of key findings

This section highlights the main contributions of this thesis to the existing literature.

8.2.1 Patterns of healthcare use

8.2.1.1 Hospital use

This thesis provides evidence for the sizeable increase in unplanned hospitalisation among people with dementia which occurs in the last year of life by examining the occurrence from the point of diagnosis (see <u>Chapter 5</u>). Previous research has highlighted that many A&E visits take place in the last year of life,^{41, 110} and high levels of hospital use in the years after dementia diagnosis,^{97, 98, 111} but

has not captured changes over the full course of dementia. In this thesis, an increase in service use in the first year after diagnosis, specifically hospitalisations, was not observed. Higher rates of unplanned hospital admissions in people with dementia who had a shorter survival following dementia diagnosis may explain these differences between findings in this thesis and previous literature.^{98, 111}

Unplanned hospital use, critical care use and longer lengths of hospital stays among people with dementia towards the end of life may also be explained by risk aversion and concerns around safety on the part of clinical teams.³²⁴ If healthcare professionals lack confidence and knowledge about the community-based care options available for people with dementia, they may refer them to hospitals even if care closer to their homes is more appropriate and possible. It is therefore crucial for professionals working outside of hospitals to have the resources to support and reassure these teams and families.³²⁵

Fundamental to this thesis was the selection of hospital use and specialist services use as markers for quality of care, and the examination of service use together. In Study 3 (see <u>Chapter 7</u>), I identified groups of people with dementia with different characteristics who experience planned or unplanned hospital admissions in the first year after diagnosis. The *'planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis* ' subgroup, who experience frequent unplanned hospital care in the year following their diagnosis, may indicate unmet needs by community and other post-diagnostic services.²⁷³ Similar to these findings, a previous prospective study showed higher mortality rate following an unplanned hospital admission among people with dementia, with nearly half of people dying within a year.²⁰¹ An Australian study similarly showed poorer health to be associated with unplanned hospital admissions.³²⁶ In the same study, people who were seen by a specialist service were more likely to have a planned admission, while a negative association was observed between having a planned hospital admission and speaking a first language other than English, highlighting potentially inequitable access to planned care for people in similar circumstances.³²⁶

In the final study of this thesis, the concurrent use of outpatient care provided in hospitals with other healthcare services was also explored. Outpatient visits to the acute hospital are likely to occur following hospital admissions for further investigations and medication reviews.²⁸¹ The role of outpatient care towards the end of life, especially for people with dementia at the later stages of the condition, is not well-understood. While outpatient care may be less frequently required at the very end of life (i.e., last month or days before death), there may be a role for outpatient care for improving the care towards the end of life. Individuals with dementia and their loved ones may perceive hospitals as a place of "safety". Community-based care and timely access to outpatient

appointments, as well as comprehensive comorbidity management, may be safer alternatives to A&Es.³²⁷

8.2.1.2 Specialist mental healthcare use

The evidence on the care of people with dementia who receive specialist dementia care until the end of their lives from mental healthcare services is scarce, and has mainly focused on the role of liaison psychiatry in the acute hospital setting.^{36, 328} Although whether individuals with dementia were seen by the same teams or professionals was not explored,¹¹⁸ continuity in receipt of services for a small number of people with dementia from diagnosis until the last year of life was observed. By analysing the use of multiple healthcare services, minor evidence of the potential to substitute some hospital care with specialist community mental healthcare among a subgroup of people with dementia was highlighted. Evidence is required from longitudinal studies, potentially utilising routine data and using techniques such as propensity score matching, to understand if the impact of specialist community mental healthcare on unplanned hospital use is observed among people with dementia. It is also important to highlight that people who received specialist mental healthcare still had a higher number of hospital admissions and outpatient visits compared to 'low healthcare use' subgroups at both time periods. This may be due to the identification of needs by the specialist mental healthcare teams. While evidence exists that the continuity of care from GP services has an impact on unplanned hospital use in the last three months and last year of life,^{118, 329} evidence on the involvement of community services such as community mental health care nurses and therapists is lacking.

There may be several explanations for the observed hospital and specialist mental healthcare patterns towards the end of life:

- (i) Supply-induced demand theory refers to the increase in the use of healthcare services due to availability (supply) of the services.³³⁰ This hypothesis is supported by the observation of higher A&E visits among people with dementia in urban areas, where A&E departments are available nearby compared to rural areas in England.^{41, 308} Proximity and availability of transport to the available A&E departments, and reliance on community and informal care networks in addition to formal care services, may also impact the use of A&E departments towards the end of life.³³¹
- Most people with dementia have increasingly complex care needs towards the end of life,
 which may partly explain the increase in hospital use towards the end of life.^{137, 332} The
 hypothesis that more complex needs lead to more healthcare use is also supported by the

observation that people with dementia who receive a social care package have more interactions with the specialist mental health teams (See Chapter 7, Section 7.4).

(iii) Finally, high unplanned healthcare use observed across the studies of this thesis can be seen as an indicator of unmet needs and uncoordinated care.^{287, 310} Coordination of care does not necessarily mean communication between groups but may also indicate a lack of communication between people with dementia (or their carers) and healthcare professionals. Lack of planned admissions or care receipt from primary or specialist services may have a knock-on effect on the experiences of medical emergencies.

8.2.1.3 Interpreting appropriateness of care

Equating the occurrence of a healthcare process or outcomes to high or poor quality of care has been a criticism of quality indicators (e.g., people with dementia dying in hospital).³³³ Caution must be taken not to interpret all unplanned hospital use as a representation of poor care quality. Similarly, although the proportion of hospital deaths is reported throughout the studies of this thesis, the findings present the journey which leads to death and how people with dementia can start from different points, experience various combinations of healthcare service use, and still die in hospital.¹

Another common criticism has been around the examination of isolated quality indicators.^{333, 334} By combining the use of multiple healthcare services, the aim was to identify subgroups whose experiences may be the focus for improving care quality. There may be a need to stratify who may require and benefit the most from hospital care. In understanding the appropriateness of hospital care, it will be important to re-explore the applicability of valid QIs for people with dementia nearing the end of life and the 'benchmark' proportions of people expected to use healthcare, such as A&Es, with the increased acute care needs among people with dementia due to multimorbidities.²⁴

8.2.2 Quality of care

This thesis sheds light on multiple domains of quality of care,^{50,335, 336} highlighting the complexities in care provision, resources needed to explore quality of care in more detail and provide high-quality and equitable care to people affected by dementia until the end of life.

Previous studies have examined multiple healthcare use among people with dementia but often excluded the end-of-life period or focused on a non-dementia cohort of people who may be approaching the end of life.^{135, 165, 285, 337, 338} The findings from this thesis make novel contributions to our understanding of heterogeneity in the quality of care experienced by people with dementia who may be nearing the end of life. The patterns of healthcare use observed in the thesis highlight the connections between the different domains of the quality of care. For instance, if people with

dementia do not have equitable access to the services they need in a timely manner, the likelihood of achieving a person-centred care experience towards the end of life is lower. While a subgroup of people with dementia were receiving community-based specialist mental health care (See <u>Chapter 7</u>, <u>Section 7.4</u>), most patterns of studied healthcare use point toward a risk of potentially avoidable and burdensome experiences, which increases in the last year of life. Hence, the distribution and benefits of care among people with dementia and across dementia care trajectory may be not be fair.³³⁹

A major concern regarding the quality of care of people with dementia is related to the safety of individuals. For people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life, the benefit of being in specific parts of hospitals such as A&E departments and critical care units as demonstrated in this thesis, may be outweighed by risks and long-term consequences. Yet, when the other domains of quality of care such as the capacity of services, and equitable and timely access to effective community care are not fulfilled, some of the observed patterns of potentially burdensome hospital care (e.g., long lengths of hospital stay (See <u>Chapter 5</u> & <u>Chapter 7</u>)) may be for the safety of the individuals.¹⁰⁹ This is supported by evidence showing that people with dementia may visit A&E departments as a place of safety, and a place where they face the least resistance to receiving the care they need.²⁷³

Patterns of healthcare use examined in this thesis may indicate poor quality of care towards the end of life because of a lack of concordance about the goals of care among all stakeholders (namely healthcare professionals, individuals with dementia and their families).^{340, 341} As dementia progresses, goals of care may evolve. Without ongoing communication regarding the illness trajectory, and a clear understanding about care expectations and preferences, it is difficult to plan and provide high quality care. The lack of recognition of the life-limiting nature of dementia might be making it harder to achieve person-centred care, which is a domain of care quality, and contributing to burdensome incidences of healthcare use (e.g., repeat unplanned hospital admissions) towards the end of life. However, information about people's goals of care are not available in the datasets used in this thesis.

When analysed in terms of subgroups among people with dementia, the thesis provides a better understanding of who may be more at risk of poorer quality of care towards the end of life. The stratification is important, as previous research underscores the importance of having a specific target population in success of interventions (See <u>Chapter 7, Section 7.5</u>). Targeting efforts to improve the experiences of the people who may be sitting at the margins, sometimes referred as

"designing for the extremes", has been shown to be a successful strategy for improving the quality of care in other healthcare areas such as HIV.³⁴²

An important domain of quality of care relevant to this thesis, which examines the use of costly healthcare services, is whether the patterns examined indicate value for money.³⁴³ The concept of value for money focuses on the ratio between the associated costs of the healthcare service and the value gained from its use and delivery.³⁴³ Individual instances of hospitalisation may be needed to improve outcomes for people with dementia. Yet, findings reported in this thesis, such as high incidences of repeat unplanned hospital use, and limited access to specialist mental health community services at a population level may be poor value for money. Healthcare providers are accountable to taxpayers for investing in high quality care and not contribute to waste of resources which may benefit others. There is evidence showing that the general population value improvements in dementia care.³⁴⁴ Investments in health and social care services which can provide high-quality dementia end-of-life care to more people with dementia are likely to be good value for money for the whole population. However, these investments should be supported by further research investigating the person-centeredness, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of models of care and healthcare services.³⁴⁴

8.2.3 People with dementia approaching the end of life

To acknowledge the variability in access to a formal diagnosis, different rates of decline towards death and difficulties around prognostication of dementia in clinical practice in this thesis,^{177, 345, 346} an inclusive approach was taken to define and identify people with dementia approaching the end of life. Some people will be closer than others to the end of their lives at the time of a dementia diagnosis (See <u>Chapter 5</u>). This thesis provided evidence that this patient group are more likely to experience potentially burdensome unplanned hospital use. However, this needs to be confirmed in future studies. One explanation is that people with quickly declining cognitive and physical functioning may have higher healthcare use.³⁴⁷

This thesis also provides evidence to challenge the view that all people with dementia receive high levels of hospital care until the end of life. A third of people with dementia did not frequent hospitals, while a smaller group were characterised by high hospital use (See <u>Chapter 7</u>). There is, however, a possibility that some people with dementia who did not receive a large amount of specialist mental health or hospital care had unmet healthcare needs.¹⁰⁹ People who may be approaching the end of life have differing needs and health care use patterns to those who may be living well with dementia.

At a population level, understanding who may be approaching the end of life among people with dementia, and planning and implementing pre-emptive and preventative approaches to improve care quality as early as possible, should be prioritised. Currently in England, people with dementia tend to receive care towards the end of their lives from mostly generalist/non-specialists health and care professionals.³⁶ When care from specialist palliative care is provided to people with dementia, it is often at the very end of life or to those only with advanced dementia.³⁴⁸ Understanding dementia severity is helpful for positioning care, and clinical interactions.¹¹¹ However, current evidence, including findings from this thesis (See <u>Chapter 6</u> and <u>Chapter 7</u>), is mixed on the associations between dementia severity and service use.^{35, 97, 111, 253, 349} Lack of an association between dementia severity and healthcare use towards the end of life might be due to a positive association between residing in a care home and dementia severity.³⁴⁹

Without improving prognostic accuracy, having a strict definition for people with dementia approaching the end of life may not be helpful, and lead to inequities in access to end-of-life related specialist services such as palliative care.^{35, 44} It is important to highlight the clinical importance and the potential to predict whether a person with dementia is in their last year of life in relation to thesis findings and in dementia and end-of-life care research. The thesis findings show a consistent increase in unplanned healthcare use in the last year of life, which may be an indicator of a person with dementia approaching the end of their lives. While prognostication of who may be in the last year of life was not in the scope of this thesis, large datasets such as those included in this thesis which are rich sources of information about people with dementia and their survival can be exploited to answer this question. Ultimately, at a population level, having a better understanding of proximity to death may lead to more equitable and timely access to health and care services needed by people with dementia. However, implementation of such prognostication tools in clinical practice at an individual level must take into account the views of the clinicians and people affected by dementia.

8.2.4 Biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia at risk of poor-quality care

Differences in healthcare use and varying quality of care among people with dementia according to biopsychosocial factors are reported in the literature.^{68, 117, 350} In this thesis (Study 3), the direction of the associations between the biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia and the type of healthcare use differed depending on the timepoint. This section highlights biopsychosocial characteristics of people with dementia who may be at risk of poor-quality care.

This thesis finds an association between male gender and higher service use at the time of diagnosis and in the last year of life. This finding is consistent with the literature.^{41, 114, 308} Men are more at risk

of other illnesses associated with dementia including hypertension, obesity, coronary artery disease, and brain injury,³⁵⁰ they tend to have a shorter lifespan, they receive more medical attention,⁷⁸ and more likely to have family carers around them who can detect the need for healthcare.³⁵¹ On the other hand, almost two thirds of residents living in care homes are women,³⁵² and care homes have been shown to be associated with reduced acute care use.⁴¹

In this thesis, the potentially negative and differential impact of having a dementia diagnosis other than Alzheimer's disease on the healthcare patterns was shown. These findings are in line previous evidence regarding the association between vascular and mixed dementias and frequent hospital use.^{68, 138, 309} More awareness among the public, and knowledge among healthcare professionals, is needed about different types of dementia. People who had more physical problems were also more likely to be in the *'high hospital use in the last year of life'* group. This is in line with the literature which highlights the impact of multimorbidities on healthcare use.^{8, 24, 137}

In this thesis, several social factors were associated with healthcare use. The thesis findings show that people with dementia who were living alone were more likely to receive hospital care in their first year after diagnosis (See <u>Chapter 7, Section 7.4</u>). Societal changes such as declines in family size, increases in geographical mobility, and increasing female labour market participation are leading to reductions in the supply of informal care for people with dementia.³⁵³ Reduction in informal care may have a knock-on effect on the increase in unplanned healthcare use towards the end of life.^{254, 354, 355}

Differences in healthcare use was observed among people from White and other ethnic groups. These findings enhance our limited understanding of complex associations between ethnicity and healthcare access and use.^{41, 308} Sociodemographic factors associated with higher hospital use in the year after diagnosis shown in Study 3 have also been shown to be associated with higher risk of dementia.^{20, 356, 357} Health inequalities experienced by people from ethnic minority groups have been widely documented.^{41, 117, 308, 358} The findings of this thesis should be used to explore further the intersectionality of different characteristics and identities.

8.3 Strengths and limitations

The strengths and limitations of the methodology was discussed in the methods section and specific strengths and limitations of each study were discussed in their respective results sections. The following section will discuss the strengths and limitations of the thesis as a whole.

8.3.1 Identification of people with dementia and longitudinal retrospective study design

A relatively large, real-world sample of people with a dementia diagnosis in the South London and Maudsley (SLaM) NHS Trust was included in the thesis. Having access to health records spanning over a long period via CRIS, which is a strength of this thesis, meant that I was able to assemble sufficiently large cohorts of people with dementia and decedents (with near-complete ascertainment of mortality) and capture the full history of dementia from diagnosis to end of life.

A key advantage of using CRIS was having access to clinical measures of dementia severity, impact on physical abilities and activities of daily living which are not typically recorded in other clinical datasets such as primary care data or administrative datasets. Comprehensive measures such as HoNOS were accessed, compensating for lack of information such as comorbidities which were not available for everyone in cohorts of thesis studies.

The estimated proportion of people with dementia in the SLaM catchment that receive a specialist diagnosis is considered relatively high at 75.2%.⁸² Heterogeneity of the cohorts mirrors the complexity among people with dementia encountered in clinical practice, which may make the findings more generalisable. The sample evaluated reflects a diverse, multi-ethnic urban population. People from ethnically minoritised groups are often under-represented in primary research studies.³⁵⁹ Disproportionate sampling of people from ethnically minoritised groups and rarer dementia types can result in more efficient parameter estimates.³⁶⁰ Although the sample studied is not representative of the English population, the findings may be generalisable to the broader population, given that standardised care frameworks exist within England. Additionally, the characteristics of cohorts included in the studies (see <u>Chapter 5, Section 5.4</u>) were similar to those reported at a national level, in terms of the mean age at diagnosis, survival, incidence of dementia types, sex, and comorbidities.³⁶¹

Accuracy of diagnosis and its timing are important elements of the studies. There may be a considerable time period between seeking a dementia diagnosis and the recording of formal dementia diagnosis. The date of dementia diagnosis obtained from CRIS may not be the earliest recorded recognition of dementia. Linkages with primary care records and care homes data could enable researchers to capture more accurate and inclusive cohorts of dementia.⁸² Additionally, for people who had more frequent contacts with SLaM, recording of risk factors might have been more accurate (e.g., dementia severity, type and number of medications, whether they were living alone, receipt of social care package), which may have influenced the findings.

Finally, an important limitation of using electronic healthcare records for identifying people living with dementia is the ascertainment bias caused by the reliance on a recorded diagnosis. The

dementia diagnosis rate in the UK is around 65%, where significant variations exist based on the level of deprivation and rurality across regions, and where people who may have milder cognitive symptoms are more likely to live with dementia undiagnosed.^{362, 363} Additionally, many people living in care homes with dementia, may not have a formal dementia diagnosis.³⁶⁴ The thesis findings might have differed if people living with dementia without a recorded diagnosis were included in the studies. Some of the undiagnosed people living with dementia may be at a milder stage of the condition, which might have reduced the cumulative incidence of hospital use observed in thesis studies. Conversely, recording of a formal dementia diagnosis may have triggered further investigations and adjustment to the treatments of existing conditions leading to an increase in healthcare use across the included healthcare services. For instance, people with sleep problems and depression with dementia are more likely to be undiagnosed.³⁶² If included in the thesis, the proportion of people observed to be receiving specialist mental healthcare services might have been larger.

Retrospective cohort study designs to explore the quality of end-of-life care have received criticism, as analysing healthcare use during the time before death assumes all people during that period would have been considered prospectively as being in their last months of life.²⁰⁴ To minimise this bias the thesis also explored healthcare use at a "known" timepoint, diagnosis, in addition to the time before death. A dynamic cohort including people who did not die within the study window was included in the first and second studies of this thesis. Studies 1 and 2 provided supporting evidence that increases in healthcare use are observed in the last year of life and at consistently higher rates among decedents compared to those who remained alive. Therefore, the final study was limited only to the decedents.

8.3.2 Use of routinely collected data and novel data linkages

This thesis utilised novel data linkages to unveil patterns of healthcare use which would not be otherwise possible. To our knowledge, this is one of the first studies to link a critical care database to a cohort of people with dementia in England. This is also one of the first studies to use latent class analysis to identify subgroups of people with dementia based on their healthcare use near diagnosis and in the last year of life, made only possible by data linkages with relatively complete follow-up.³⁶⁵

However, the use of routine data collected for clinical and administrative purposes for research comes with its own limitations. Although different datasets from HES can be linked together, information recorded in each dataset and the quality of variables are not consistent. Several variables which were extracted from HES datasets were deemed unusable due to high levels of missing or poor quality of information. For instance, relevant to this thesis, the medical reason for

hospital visits is provided in different diagnostic formats in inpatient, outpatient and A&E datasets, but with significant proportions of missing or limited information (e.g., for the A&E dataset, 9.9% of diagnoses were "diagnosis not classifiable" and 44.1% were missing), making it difficult to understand why people were visiting the hospital.

The outcomes of interest were narrowly focused on operational and physical aspects of care, which limit the interpretations about the overall quality of care. The quality of care related to the psychosocial, communication, advance care planning, ethical, legal, spiritual, and cultural care domains are seldom captured or available to researchers from electronic routine datasets.³⁶⁶ With the advancement of free-text analytics, richer information recorded in written formats in the electronic health records can be utilised to capture reasons for seeking care and other important aspects of quality of care among people with dementia.³⁶⁷

Finally, linked data can provide potentially important opportunities for generating economic outputs, which is an important component for evaluating and improving the quality of care provided to people with dementia.^{332, 368-370} Although, making cost calculations was outside of the scope of the PhD timeframe, the findings of this thesis could inform future economic analyses. Establishing linkages with primary care, specialist palliative care, and social care datasets will enable a more comprehensive understanding of care costs. Social care costs account for the majority of the dementia care costs.¹³ Obtaining a true cost estimate for dementia care from diagnosis until the end of life just from the use of hospital services, without accounting for the social care costs (including formal and informal care costs) is not possible.^{254, 369}

8.3.3 Models of healthcare, healthcare use and the quality of care

Another strength of this thesis was its use of multiple models of healthcare, healthcare use and quality of care including: complexity theory,^{60, 61} factors associated with healthcare use and the place of death for non-malignant conditions,^{1, 64} domains of quality of care, and aspects of care relevant to end-of-life period.^{143, 180, 339} These models highlighted important concepts worthy of investigation and consideration for the design and the interpretation of the studies.

The use of theories aided in understanding different aspects of the thesis, yet they also had limitations. None of the aforementioned models were designed specifically for people with dementia. However, these models are regularly adapted and used in healthcare, and dementia and end-of-life care research.^{66, 371} The use of complexity theory and consideration of findings across different domains of the quality of care are in line with a pragmatist approach, where the findings are considered within real-life paradigms, which exist beyond the limitations of dementia-specific scenarios.⁶¹ Not all of the factors or domains highlighted in these theories were considered in this

thesis. Structural and wider social factors associated with healthcare use among people with dementia were outside of the scope of the thesis, ^{313, 372, 373,374} though existing evidence was brought into the interpretations of the thesis findings.

8.3.4 Validity and consistency of findings

While the findings have not been replicated in a different dataset, steps such as using national statistics to age and sex standardise critical care admissions (Study 2), checking the existence and the validity of the latent subgroups with relevant stakeholders (i.e., clinicians, PPI members, commissioners) (Study 3), and comparing the consistency of the findings with the existing literature were taken. Although the thesis findings were based on a sample derived from a specific South London catchment and health service, the profile of people with dementia included in the studies resembles statistics derived from national cohorts.³⁶¹ Findings from this thesis should act as a springboard to investigate patterns of healthcare use at a national level and in other local areas for validation and a better understanding of consistency of the findings.

8.3.5 Engagement with public, people affected by dementia, clinicians and policymakers

It has been argued that engaging with the public should be a crucial part of healthcare research.³⁷⁵ People with dementia, their family carers, bereaved carers and clinicians have been an integral part of the development of the research questions, and the interpretation of the findings as discussed throughout this thesis.²³² These discussions have been crucial in understanding the implications of the findings in relation to lived experience.

A pragmatist approach calls attention to the ways in which change can be directed for individual and societal benefits.^{60, 194} Efforts were made to engage with researchers and policymakers at local and national levels to increase the impact of thesis findings on the care of people with dementia. For instance, I presented my thesis findings to the local commissioners for old age community services in London and discussed implications for their local population. In another instance, dementia, palliative and end-of-life care related evidence summarised in a policy brief³⁷⁶ and my thesis findings were disseminated in a policy brief at a reception at the House of Lords to politicians and other third-party stakeholders (e.g., charities and thinktanks). Presenting evidence to policymakers is essential for influencing policy, but without influencing wider opinion, such efforts might not be enough to achieve change.³⁷⁷ Therefore, whenever possible, I engaged with the members of the public to discuss and disseminate thesis aims and findings, often in combination with wider research throughout the PhD.

8.4 The COVID-19 pandemic, people with dementia, and its implications for the thesis findings

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdowns on care of people with dementia must be considered, when discussing the implications for thesis findings. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the existing health inequalities and inequities in England and in other countries.³⁵⁸ People with dementia were disproportionately affected by COVID-19 and the associated restrictions.³⁷⁸ Although the COVID-19 restrictions have been mostly removed at the time of writing, the pandemic is likely to have had a knock-on effect on the current and future care of people with dementia.³⁷⁹

The thesis provides evidence regarding the relationship between the timing of dementia diagnosis on the healthcare use towards the end of life, where people who lived with a diagnosis for a shorter duration had higher incidences of unplanned hospital use. Delayed access to receiving an official dementia diagnosis due to lockdowns, and avoidance due to fear of contamination and restrictions to attend healthcare facilities, may have led to higher unplanned healthcare use, longer lengths of hospital stays, and delayed access to social and specialist care services among people with dementia.³⁸⁰ Conversely, the proportion of people with dementia who were receiving care from community specialist mental healthcare teams until the end of their lives may have increased.

During the pandemic, some new services and adaptations to the existing services were introduced (e.g., virtual wards) to reduce pressures on hospitals.³⁸¹ The effect of these services, which may be particularly relevant to people with dementia approaching the end of life, on the existing quality indicators and the healthcare services explored in the thesis is unclear.

In England, rapid improvements to allow access to routinely collected data for research have occurred since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic.¹⁸¹ Researchers are able to gain access to national datasets quickly and remotely through trusted research environments.³⁸² Utility of the quality indicators identified in the background work of this thesis can be maximised with infrastructures allowing access to up-to-date and linked datasets.

Finally, the COVID-19 pandemic prompted unprecedented discussions about healthcare, ageism, care homes, death, dying and grief at a societal level. Whether these discussions will have long-lasting impact on the patterns of healthcare use among people with dementia and their families, healthcare providers and the quality of care towards the end of life should be explored in future studies.

8.5 Implications for research

One of the purposes of routine data analyses and descriptive studies is to generate hypotheses for exploration and guide the direction of future research.³⁸³ This section will, therefore, present implications of the thesis for research which have not been covered in previous sections of this thesis.

- (i) This thesis includes an example of applying SEM techniques longitudinally to a large cohort of people with dementia using routine data. Applying proven methodologies from other fields can speed up knowledge generation about people with dementia nearing end of life and increase the utility of routine data.^{384, 385} For instance, SEM models can be used to gain a better understanding of underlying reasons to certain healthcare outcomes observed towards the end of life among people with dementia.
- (ii) Despite an emphasis on personalised and complex care needs of people with dementia, clustering (also known as phenotyping)^{285, 314, 386, 387} methods are underutilised and have been limited to people with dementia who are not likely to be approaching the end of life.²⁷³ Understanding clusters of healthcare use and the associated patient profiles aids with going a step further and tailoring the care needed for subgroups within the population. Future analytic work in this area could involve creating algorithms to identify people based on needs and identify preventative interventions that could aim to minimise high and potentially burdensome healthcare use towards the end of life.³⁸⁸
- (iii) Most people with dementia have family or friends who may be helping with their care and healthcare interactions, especially towards the end of life.²⁸ Models accounting for the dyadic effects of carers' healthcare use, healthcare seeking behaviours and wellbeing on the healthcare use of people with dementia across their disease trajectory should be explored in future research studies.
- (iv) An analysis of concurrent use of hospital, specialist mental care, specialist palliative care, and primary care services is needed to understand people who may be most at risk of poor care quality and the role of each service in improving the quality of care provided to people with dementia. To the best of my knowledge, the number of people with dementia receiving community or hospital specialist palliative care in England is not clear. This will be an important step in understanding the scale of specialist palliative care need and the type and amount of involvement required to achieve improvements to the quality of care experienced among people with dementia.
- (v) In this thesis, trends in critical care use were explored and the impact of relevant policies were discussed (See Chapter 6, Section 6.5). With an increased emphasis on integration

of care through integrated care boards, applying methods such as interrupted time series analysis or network analysis may be useful to gain better understanding of their effect and the impact of other relevant health and social care policies on the patterns of healthcare use at a health system level.³⁸⁹⁻³⁹¹

- (vi) Interventions such as discharge planning, which has been shown to be effective in reducing hospital readmissions in other populations should be further explored.³⁹² A high proportion of people with a completed discharge summary is a quality indicator for older people and people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life, yet the evidence is limited.¹¹ Similarly, a growing body of literature advocates for advance care planning for people with dementia in the face of an uncertain illness trajectory to ensure high quality end-of-life and reduce unplanned hospital admissions.^{393, 394} Effectiveness of such interventions must be explored among people with dementia.
- (vii) In future studies, for a more comprehensive understanding of overall quality of care, patient-reported outcome and experience measures should be combined with the interpretation of quality indicators.¹⁸⁰
- (viii) Qualitative research can further our understanding of underlying reasons for the observed patterns of healthcare use in this thesis.⁹ With purposive sampling strategies to participant recruitment, efforts can be directed to the inclusion of subgroups among people with dementia (e.g., people with non-Alzheimer's disease dementia diagnoses, people of non-White ethnicities, people with dementia who experience unplanned hospital use shortly after their dementia diagnosis, people with dementia who receive specialist mental health care) who have been highlighted in this thesis to qualitative research studies.³⁹⁵

8.6 Implications for policy and clinical practice

Throughout the course of this PhD, I have made efforts to approach clinicians, commissioners and policymakers. The thesis findings were included in evidence calls by the UK government and presented to representatives from the Department of Health and Social Care in England. Findings from Study 1 were also presented to the representatives at the Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care by another clinical researcher. At a local level, I presented all the findings from the thesis to a local London integrated care board. In terms of clinical engagement, the findings have been presented and discussed at a national dementia end-of-life and palliative care training course aimed predominantly at nurses and long-term care professionals.

Reflecting on the findings from this thesis, I focus here on the practical implications for policy and clinical practice to improve the quality of care provided to people with dementia from diagnosis to the end of life.

8.6.1 Improved recognition of dementia trajectories and its life-limiting nature

This thesis contributes to the literature advocating for better recognition of heterogeneity and unpredictability in dementia care. It argues for more support for people with dementia who may be approaching the end of life, by highlighting the frequency of potentially avoidable and burdensome healthcare use near death and the heterogeneity in patterns of multiple healthcare service use.

Training in dementia care is not mandatory across the NHS, despite being widely recommended, including by Health Education England.³⁹⁶ This is problematic considering the number of potential healthcare professionals people affected by dementia may encounter. Furthermore, while hospitals provide training about caring for people with dementia and have access to specialist support (including but not limited to geriatricians, old age liaison psychiatrists, and less often to palliative care specialists), many training courses do not include specific skills needed for care of those approaching the end of life.³⁹⁶ An example is the potential impact of lack of recognition of dementia's progression on the rates of critical care admissions among people with dementia in the last year of life (Study 2, <u>Chapter 6</u>). Improving recognition of dementia trajectories can ensure that standard treatments and care are tailored and when needed specialist care input is sought. To improve continuity of care and empower healthcare professionals who build relationships with people with dementia and their families following diagnosis, dementia end-of-life care skills and competency should be strengthened within teams such as primary care and mental healthcare specialists.

8.6.2 Variations in healthcare use

As the number of people with dementia has increased, their needs and their healthcare use have not only increased but also diversified.³⁹⁷ Arranging the healthcare system in the interests of the majority, inevitably leads to disparities and lower care quality experienced by others.³⁴² This conflict arising from a utilitarian approach to healthcare delivery is pertinent in provision of dementia care where addressing personal needs is often considered to be a central pillar of optimal dementia care.^{341, 398, 399}

In the healthcare literature, variations are often classified as warranted and unwarranted.^{63, 400} If observed variability is due to higher and more complex healthcare needs (i.e., warranted),³¹⁹ then hospitals should be adapted to appropriately address these needs. If some of the observed variations are unwarranted, underlying reasons (e.g., lack of knowledge about dementia, implicit

biases about individuals from certain ethnic groups or areas) should be explored and these variations should be minimised (e.g., where better alternatives are available, access to these services should be improved). More efforts can be made to inform the people with dementia and their families about the potential harms associated with unplanned hospital use. There may also be a need to change the public's perception and knowledge of where healthcare can be delivered. However, as long as hospitals, especially emergency departments, are perceived as a path of least resistance,²⁷³ and in absence of accessible and sufficient community and home care, these efforts are likely to be unsafe and futile.

8.6.3 Hospital care provision

The number of people, including people with dementia, attending A&E and staying in hospital longer than necessary is increasing in England.⁴⁰¹ Findings from all three studies highlight the need for support and training for hospital staff in dementia and end-of-life care (See <u>Chapter 7, Section 7.4</u>). Findings from Studies 1 and 2 indicate that a large proportion of hospitalised people with dementia can benefit from a palliative care approach as they are highly likely to be nearing the end of life. Previous evidence from older people who may be approaching the end of life shows that hospital encounters may provide a good opportunity to discuss care needs and advance care planning.^{317, 402} People with dementia who are in the hospital may not have the capacity to have advance care planning conversations.⁴⁰² Healthcare professionals providing care to people with dementia in hospitals should explore care preferences by collaborating with the informal carers and healthcare professionals who may be more familiar with the person.

The NHS Long Term Plan advocates for personalised and proactive planning for everyone identified as being in the last year of life, with a view to reduce hospital admissions towards the end of life.¹⁵⁴ Developing a personalised health care plan for people seen in medical outpatients and frequently admitted can reduce re-admissions.³⁹² However, the evidence specific to people with dementia who may be at different stages of the condition is limited, hence further evidence is required to understand the acceptability of these interventions for people with different dementia severity. My thesis findings highlight the variability in when people receive their dementia diagnosis, and from whom, in proximity to their death. Increased investments in the community must be accompanied by support in hospitals, such as appointing more discharge coordinators, to improve the care of people with dementia until the end of life.⁴⁰³

8.6.4 Community care provision

Findings from my thesis show that specialist multidisciplinary mental health care teams play an important role in the care of people with dementia from diagnosis until the end of life. Specifically,

17% of people had specialist mental healthcare teams visiting them at their home in the first year after diagnosis and in the last year of life. However, who is in the best position to deliver which aspects of care is relatively unknown. Realistically, it may not be possible nor appropriate to provide specialist mental healthcare to everyone, as this group may differ and require specific input due to their behavioural psychological symptoms and a targeted approach may be more efficient.⁴⁰⁴ However, people with biopsychosocial factors associated with being at risk of moderate hospital use in the year after diagnosis, and high hospital use in the last year of life can be screened and prioritised for eligibility (Study 3).

Visibility and understanding of what care can be provided in the community must be improved. In England, care provided in the community often remains behind closed doors.⁵⁴ While attending hospital is a routine most people are familiar with, awareness and understanding of the services available in the community are often only gained after the need for them has arisen. This occurrence will likely be affected by people's education level, prior knowledge and the health and care professionals they interact with.

As demonstrated by the groups identified who accessed specialist mental health community services in Study 3, people with more complex health and social needs may need care from several different community services. Recently, limited access to specialist services has been recently criticised.³¹⁸ Involvement from specialist services in dementia care is likely to improve care and reduce burdensome care experiences. Having dedicated dementia coordinators for people with dementia who need care from multiple providers may be helpful.⁴⁰⁵ Emerging evidence from care of older people who may be nearing the end of life show that having a consistent key point of contact may be helpful in reducing unplanned hospital use towards the end of life.⁴⁰⁶ For some people with dementia, this person may be their GP (primary care).

8.6.5 Integration of dementia and end-of-life care provision

Dementia care is multidisciplinary, as demonstrated in this thesis. The thesis findings shed light on how the quality of care provided to people with dementia can be monitored and assessed; and provides potential strategies for improving care quality until the end of life (See <u>Chapter 2</u>). Integrating and boosting collaboration across services which care for people with dementia should be a priority given that the dementia care journey remains highly variable and unpredictable (Study 3).

Within the Health and Care Act 2022, wide reaching reforms were made to include the legal foundations for the integrated care boards.⁶ An amendment was introduced mandating that the integrated care boards have a legal responsibility to commission health services, including palliative

care services, that meet their population needs. A palliative care approach for dementia refers "to all treatment and care in dementia, including adequate treatment of behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia, comorbid diseases, and (inter- or concurrent) health problem".⁴⁰⁷ Another duty of the integrated care boards is reducing inequalities in care and improving care quality.⁶ The thesis highlights potential inequalities and inequities experienced among people with dementia along the care trajectory. Potential of palliative care involvement in improving the quality of life of people affected by dementia and reducing inequalities must be investigated and implemented.

When a palliative care approach is adopted earlier on the care trajectory, it is more likely to have an impact on end of life outcomes.^{94, 139, 408, 409} When to integrate palliative care during the dementia care trajectory is widely debated.⁴⁰⁷ With the efforts to improve access to dementia diagnosis, new technologies to improve diagnostic accuracy, and care, people may live with a dementia diagnosis longer.¹⁵ The EMBED-Care programme is building evidence to understand current and future dementia palliative care need and integration of palliative care to routine dementia care.⁵⁷

One of the priorities of the national plan is that *"People are identified as likely to be in the last 12 months of life and are offered personalised care and support planning"*.⁴⁰⁸ Policies which are reliant on prognostication may hinder access of people with dementia to specialist services. The thesis findings indicate that it is hard to predict healthcare service use among people with dementia in the last year of life based on their healthcare use in the year following their dementia (Study 1 and 3). Rather than relying on prognosis, building a close working relationship with the specialists and adopting a palliative care approach may be more appropriate in dementia care. When people affected by dementia get in touch with services, approaches which promote integration of palliative care proactively rather than in reaction to a crisis should be considered.⁴⁰⁷

8.6.6 Monitoring the quality of care provided to people with dementia across care domains using routine data

Within the scope of this thesis, healthcare processes, outcomes and the potentially associated biopsychosocial characteristics were explored to investigate the quality of care provided to people with dementia and how it changes towards the end of life.

In England, similar to other countries without a centralised dementia registry, the quality of care provided to people with dementia is monitored in various ways by separate organisations. For example, Dementia Profile³⁶¹ includes 14 QIs from prevention to dying well with dementia, Palliative and End of Life Care Profiles reports dementia specific QIs,⁴¹⁰ CQC regards the quality of care provided in care homes,⁹³ and the National Audit of Dementia⁴¹¹ provides an overview the care of people with dementia in general hospitals. Various health and care data are routinely collected
across care settings. In addition to difficulty in collating reports regarding the overall quality of care received by everyone with dementia from organisations, it is not possible to collate information from all sources for quality improvement or research purposes. Development and implementation of a minimum data set for people living in care homes is currently underway.⁴¹² Similarly, a dementia registry, enriched by linkage of multiple national data sources, would be a timely advance.

Learning health systems, where routinely collected data can be reused to improve healthcare delivery and investigate quality, trends, and inequalities, may help future understanding of dementia care. For instance, important QIs which have been shown to be distinctive between groups of people with dementia (Study 3) such as the length of stay and the number of A&E visits, are not routinely reported.⁴¹³ Within a learning health system, such trends could be detected and incorporated to quality improvement and monitoring of the quality of care easily. Population health management, which is proposed by the NHS, aims to improve population health through data-driven planning and the delivery of proactive care to optimise health outcomes.⁴¹⁴ Considering people with dementia must be a part of this approach.

Finally, monitoring the quality of care provided to people with dementia should be planned with contributions of people affected by dementia. Involvement of people affected by dementia will not only ensure aspects of quality of care which may be otherwise overlooked are prioritised, but can build trust and shift the power balance from healthcare providers to patients.

8.6.7 Interoperability of information systems

Sharing information between different health and social care teams and empowering the teams to work collaboratively could improve the care of people with dementia. Currently, different organisations across the health and social care systems hold their own set of records, which may lead to lack or limited communication regarding crucial information about care recipients. Although, caring for people with dementia often demands a holistic, system-level approach, there is no whole-system approach to interoperability standards for health and social care data.⁷ Using technology to ensure access to information can help identify patterns and gaps in care and improve care proactively. Initiatives such as shared care records hold potential to improve communication across health and care providers. In England, the NHS has recently agreed to launch a new system which aims to reduce fragmentation. Information on the involvement of liaison psychiatry and palliative and end-of-life care specialists in the care of people with dementia would enable better understanding of care for this population.

216

Chapter 9: Conclusion

Chapter 9: Conclusion

This thesis provides new findings on the patterns of healthcare use among people with dementia, and highlights the differences experienced by people with dementia who were approaching the end of life by taking novel approaches to the analysis of routinely collected linked datasets. Among a large English cohort of people with dementia, there was heterogeneity in the frequency and type of services used over time. This thesis discovered that individuals with dementia in the final stages of their lives frequently use multiple healthcare services and experience outcomes linked to poor care quality. The research provides guidance on how to alleviate adverse healthcare experiences and enhance the quality of care for all.

The results demonstrate that hospitals are a common place of care for people with dementia and can be an indication that people are approaching the end of their lives. Results regarding critical care admissions of people with dementia are first of their kind in a large English dementia cohort, providing novel findings including a decrease in the rates of overall critical care admissions but an increase in critical care admissions in the last year of life. Increases in rates of unplanned hospital admissions, length of stay, and critical care admissions urgently call for end-of-life care specific dementia training in hospitals and highlight the essential place integration of palliative and end-of-life care in hospitals. Finally, different profiles of healthcare use in the first year after dementia diagnosis, and in the last year of life were identified. In line with recent recommendations, this analysis goes beyond the place of death, the emphasis on single indicators of quality, and explores how services fit together. Almost one in six people with dementia access specialist mental health services in the first year following their dementia diagnosis, and in the last year of life. High levels of hospital use which could be avoidable was experienced by approximately one in ten people with dementia in the last year of life. Further research is needed to understand why these variations exist, and how experiences can be improved.

To make good judgements about the appropriateness of care and inform service provision at a population-level, access to high-quality and clinically relevant routinely collected data at a national level is essential. This will require investment in skills, workforce and infrastructure in healthcare and research. Linkages between clinical and administrative datasets, and data mining of free-text can provide rich sources of information for exploration of the quality of care and healthcare patterns of people with dementia until the end of their lives. The work contributes to a growing body of evidence from routinely collected data demonstrating patterns of healthcare use that demand policy developments and changes to clinical practice to ensure that healthcare resources are allocated fairly, and all people affected by dementia can receive high quality care until the end of their lives.

217

References

1. Murtagh F, Bausewein C, Petkova H, Sleeman K, Dodd R, Gysels M, et al. Understanding place of death for patients with non malignant conditions: a systematic literature review. Final report. 2012.

2. Dicker RC, Coronado F, Koo D, Parrish RG. Principles of epidemiology in public health practice; an introduction to applied epidemiology and biostatistics. 2006.

3. Steup M, Neta R. Epistemology. 2005.

4. Stow D, Spiers G, Matthews FE, Hanratty B. What is the evidence that people with frailty have needs for palliative care at the end of life? A systematic review and narrative synthesis. Palliative medicine. 2019;33(4):399-414.

5. UK D. Guide to continuing healthcare (CHC) funding 2021 [Available from: https://www.dementiauk.org/get-support/legal-and-financial-information/guide-to-continuinghealthcare-funding/] Last access date: 01/11/2022

6. Government U. Health and Care Act 2022. 2022.

7. Fund TKs. Interoperability is more than technology The role of culture and leadership in joined-up care. 2022.

8. Boyd CM, Fortin M. Future of multimorbidity research: how should understanding of multimorbidity inform health system design? Public health reviews. 2010;32(2):451-74.

9. Morse JM, Swanson J, Kuzel AJ. The nature of qualitative evidence: Sage; 2001.

10. Organization WH. Palliative care 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/palliative-care</u>] Last access date: 02/02/2023

11. Yorganci E, Sampson EL, Gillam J, Aworinde J, Leniz J, Williamson LE, et al. Quality indicators for dementia and older people nearing the end of life: A systematic review. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2021;69(12):3650-60.

12. Roser M, Ortiz-Ospina E, Ritchie H. Life expectancy. Our world in data. 2013.

13. Wittenberg R, Hu B, Jagger C, Kingston A, Knapp M, Comas-Herrera A, et al. Projections of care for older people with dementia in England: 2015 to 2040. Age and Ageing. 2019.

14. Prince M, Knapp M, Guerchet M, McCrone P, Prina M, Comas-Herrera A, et al. Dementia UK: -overview. 2014.

15. Chen Y, Bandosz P, Stoye G, Liu Y, Wu Y, Lobanov-Rostovsky S, et al. Dementia incidence trend in England and Wales, 2002–19, and projection for dementia burden to 2040: analysis of data from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. The Lancet Public Health. 2023;8(11):e859-e67.

16. Rait G, Walters K, Bottomley C, Petersen I, Iliffe S, Nazareth I. Survival of people with clinical diagnosis of dementia in primary care: cohort study. Bmj. 2010;341.

17. Strand BH, Knapskog A-B, Persson K, Edwin TH, Amland R, Mjørud M, et al. Survival and years of life lost in various aetiologies of dementia, mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and subjective cognitive decline (SCD) in Norway. PloS one. 2018;13(9):e0204436.

18. Garre-Olmo J, Ponjoan A, Inoriza JM, Blanch J, Sánchez-Pérez I, Cubí R, et al. Survival, effect measures, and impact numbers after dementia diagnosis: a matched cohort study. Clinical epidemiology. 2019:525-42.

19. Institute UDR. Diversity and dementia. How is reducing health disparities uk dementia research institute. 2022.

20. Koffman J. Dementia and end of life care for black, Asian and minority ethnic communities. Better Health Briefing Paper; 2018.

21. Society As. A lonely future: 120,000 people with dementia living alone, set to double in the next 20 years 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2019-05-15/lonely-future-120000-people-dementia-living-alone-set-double-next-20-</u>

years#:~:text=Currently%2C%20there%20is%20up%20to,to%20around%20240%2C000%20by%2020
39.] Last access date: 29/09/2023

22. Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. The Lancet. 2020;396(10248):413-46.

23. Melis RJ, Marengoni A, Rizzuto D, Teerenstra S, Kivipelto M, Angleman SB, et al. The influence of multimorbidity on clinical progression of dementia in a population-based cohort. PloS one. 2013;8(12):e84014.

24. Sadarangani T, Perissinotto C, Boafo J, Zhong J, Yu G. Multimorbidity patterns in adult day health center clients with dementia: a latent class analysis. BMC Geriatrics. 2022;22(1):1-11.

25. Suemoto CK, Ferretti RE, Grinberg LT, Oliveira KCd, Farfel JM, Leite REP, et al. Association between cardiovascular disease and dementia. Dementia & Neuropsychologia. 2009;3:308-14.

26. Aarsland D, Andersen K, Larsen J, Lolk A, Nielsen H, Kragh–Sørensen P. Risk of dementia in Parkinson's disease: a community-based, prospective study. Neurology. 2001;56(6):730-6.

27. Reeve E, Simon Bell J, N Hilmer S. Barriers to optimising prescribing and deprescribing in older adults with dementia: a narrative review. Current clinical pharmacology. 2015;10(3):168-77.

28. Smith R, Martin A, Wright T, Hulbert S, Hatzidimitriadou E. Integrated dementia care: A qualitative evidence synthesis of the experiences of people living with dementia, informal carers and healthcare professionals. Archives of gerontology and geriatrics. 2021;97:104471.

29. Agüero-Torres H, Fratiglioni L, Guo Z, Viitanen M, von Strauss E, Winblad B. Dementia is the major cause of functional dependence in the elderly: 3-year follow-up data from a population-based study. American journal of public health. 1998;88(10):1452-6.

30. Pavlou MP, Lachs MS. Self-neglect in older adults: a primer for clinicians. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2008;23:1841-6.

31. Sampson EL, White N, Leurent B, Scott S, Lord K, Round J, et al. Behavioural and psychiatric symptoms in people with dementia admitted to the acute hospital: prospective cohort study. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2014;205(3):189-96.

32. (ONS) OoNS. Monthly mortality analysis, England and Wales: December 2022. 2023.

33. Organisation WH. Dementia 2023 [updated 15 March 2023. Available from:

https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia] Last access date: 03/01/2023 34. Etkind S, Bone A, Gomes B, Lovell N, Evans C, Higginson I, et al. How many people will need palliative care in 2040? Past trends, future projections and implications for services. BMC medicine. 2017;15(1):102.

35. Aworinde J, Werbeloff N, Lewis G, Livingston G, Sommerlad A. Dementia severity at death: a register-based cohort study. BMC psychiatry. 2018;18(1):355.

36. Sampson EL, Candy B, Davis S, Gola AB, Harrington J, King M, et al. Living and dying with advanced dementia: a prospective cohort study of symptoms, service use and care at the end of life. Palliative medicine. 2018;32(3):668-81.

37. Browne J, Edwards DA, Rhodes KM, Brimicombe DJ, Payne RA. Association of comorbidity and health service usage among patients with dementia in the UK: a population-based study. BMJ open. 2017;7(3):e012546.

38. UK D. Young onset dementia: facts and figures 2024 [Available from: <u>https://www.dementiauk.org/information-and-support/young-onset-dementia/young-onset-dementia/young-onset-dementia-facts-and-figures/]</u> Last access date: 28/03/2024

39. Smith E, Ismail Z. Mortality Risk Models for Persons with Dementia: A Systematic Review. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2021(Preprint):1-9.

40. Goodman C, Froggatt K, Amador S, Mathie E, Mayrhofer A. End of life care interventions for people with dementia in care homes: addressing uncertainty within a framework for service delivery and evaluation. BMC palliative care. 2015;14(1):42.

41. Williamson LE, Leniz J, Chukwusa E, Evans CJ, Sleeman KE. A population-based retrospective cohort study of end-of-life emergency department visits by people with dementia: multilevel modelling of individual-and service-level factors using linked data. Age and Ageing. 2023;52(3):afac332.

42. Ellis-Smith C, Evans CJ, Bone AE, Henson LA, Dzingina M, Kane PM, et al. Measures to assess commonly experienced symptoms for people with dementia in long-term care settings: a systematic review. BMC medicine. 2016;14(1):38.

43. Ellis-Smith C, Higginson IJ, Daveson BA, Henson LA, Evans CJ, BuildCare. How can a measure improve assessment and management of symptoms and concerns for people with dementia in care homes? A mixed-methods feasibility and process evaluation of IPOS-Dem. PLoS One. 2018;13(7):e0200240.

44. Browne B, Kupeli N, Moore KJ, Sampson EL, Davies N. Defining end of life in dementia: A systematic review. Palliative Medicine. 2021:02692163211025457.

45. Stewart R, Hotopf M, Dewey M, Ballard C, Bisla J, Calem M, et al. Current prevalence of dementia, depression and behavioural problems in the older adult care home sector: the South East London Care Home Survey. Age and ageing. 2014;43(4):562-7.

46. Savva GM, Arthur A. Who has undiagnosed dementia? A cross-sectional analysis of participants of the Aging, Demographics and Memory Study. Age and ageing. 2015;44(4):642-7.

47. Moore DC, Keegan TJ, Dunleavy L, Froggatt K. Factors associated with length of stay in care homes: a systematic review of international literature. Systematic reviews. 2019;8(1):1-10.

48. Kinley J, Hockley J, Stone L, Dewey M, Hansford P, Stewart R, et al. The provision of care for residents dying in UK nursing care homes. Age and Ageing. 2014;43(3):375-9.

49. Shah SM, Carey IM, Harris T, DeWilde S, Cook DG. Mortality in older care home residents in England and Wales. Age and ageing. 2013;42(2):209-15.

50. Jones B, Kwong E, Warburton W. Quality Improvement Made Simple: What Everyone Should Know about Healthcare Quality Improvement: Quick Guide: Health Foundation; 2021.

51. Campbell SM, Roland MO, Buetow SA. Defining quality of care. Social science & medicine. 2000;51(11):1611-25.

52. Anderson M, Pitchforth E, Edwards N, Alderwick H, McGuire A, Mossialos E. United Kingdom: health system review. 2022.

53. Digital N. Guide to the Healthcare System in England. In: Care DoHaS, editor. 2013.

54. Charles A. Community health services explained 2019 [Available from:

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/community-health-services-explained#what-arecommunity-health-services] Last access date: 03/08/2023

55. Giebel C, Hanna K, Watson J, Faulkner T, O'Connell L, Smith S, et al. A systematic review on inequalities in accessing and using community-based social care in dementia. International Psychogeriatrics. 2023.

56. Williams E. What are health inequalities? 2020.

57. Sampson EL, Anderson JE, Candy B, Davies N, Ellis-Smith C, Gola A, et al. Empowering Better End-of-Life Dementia Care (EMBED-Care): A mixed methods protocol to achieve integrated person-centred care across settings. Wiley Online Library; 2020.

58. Statz TL, Peterson CM, Birkeland RW, McCarron HR, Finlay JM, Rosebush CE, et al. "We moved her too soon": Navigating guilt among adult child and spousal caregivers of persons living with dementia following a move into residential long-term care. Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice. 2021.

59. Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? Journal of health and social behavior. 1995:1-10.

60. Long KM, McDermott F, Meadows GN. Being pragmatic about healthcare complexity: our experiences applying complexity theory and pragmatism to health services research. BMC medicine. 2018;16(1):1-9.

61. Plsek PE, Greenhalgh T. The challenge of complexity in health care. Bmj. 2001;323(7313):625-8.

62. Plsek PE, Wilson T. Complexity, leadership, and management in healthcare organisations. Bmj. 2001;323(7315):746-9. 63. Wennberg JE. Unwarranted variations in healthcare delivery: implications for academic medical centres. Bmj. 2002;325(7370):961-4.

64. Andersen R. A behavioral model of families' use of health services. A behavioral model of families' use of health services. 1968(25).

65. Kelley AS, Morrison RS, Wenger NS, Ettner SL, Sarkisian CA. Determinants of treatment intensity for patients with serious illness: a new conceptual framework. Journal of palliative medicine. 2010;13(7):807-13.

66. Bone AE, Evans CJ, Etkind SN, Sleeman KE, Gomes B, Aldridge M, et al. Factors associated with older people's emergency department attendance towards the end of life: a systematic review. European journal of public health. 2018;29(1):67-74.

67. Gomes B, Higginson IJ. Factors influencing death at home in terminally ill patients with cancer: systematic review. Bmj. 2006;332(7540):515-21.

68. Williamson LE, Evans CJ, Cripps RL, Leniz J, Yorganci E, Sleeman KE. Factors Associated With Emergency Department Visits by People With Dementia Near the End of Life: A Systematic Review. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2021.

69. Health NCCfM. The dementia care pathway: Full implementation guidance. London: Author.2018.

70. NHS. NHS Dementia Guide 2020 [Available from:

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia/about/#:~:text=One%20in%2014%20people%20over,be% 20more%20than%201%20million] Last access date: 31/01/2023

71. Alzheimer's Research UK DSH. Diagnoses in the UK 2021. Available from:

https://www.dementiastatistics.org/statistics/diagnoses-in-the-uk/] Last access date: 16/02/2022

72. Government U. Prime Minister's challenge on dementia 2020. In: care Has, editor. 2015.
73. Donegan K, Fox N, Black N, Livingston G, Banerjee S, Burns A. Trends in diagnosis and treatment for people with dementia in the UK from 2005 to 2015: a longitudinal retrospective cohort study. The Lancet Public Health. 2017;2(3):e149-e56.

74. Truswell D. Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Communities and Dementia. 2013.

75. Bunn F, Burn A-M, Goodman C, Robinson L, Rait G, Norton S, et al. Comorbidity and dementia: a mixed method study on improving healthcare for people with dementia (CoDem). Health services and delivery research. 2016.

76. Digital N. Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) 2022 [Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/general-practicedata-hub/quality-outcomes-framework-qof] Last access date: 17/02/2023

77. Kasteridis P, Mason AR, Goddard MK, Jacobs R, Santos R, McGonigal G. The influence of primary care quality on hospital admissions for people with dementia in England: a regression analysis. Plos one. 2015;10(3):e0121506.

78. Cooper C, Lodwick R, Walters K, Raine R, Manthorpe J, Iliffe S, et al. Inequalities in receipt of mental and physical healthcare in people with dementia in the UK. Age and ageing. 2017;46(3):393-400.

79. Connolly A, Iliffe S, Gaehl E, Campbell S, Drake R, Morris J, et al. Quality of care provided to people with dementia: utilisation and quality of the annual dementia review in general practice. British Journal of General Practice. 2012;62(595):e91-e8.

80. Wheatley A, Brunskill G, Dow J, Bamford C, Poole M, Robinson L. The primary care annual dementia review: a qualitative study of the views and experiences of service users and providers. medRxiv. 2022:2022.04. 26.22274255.

81. Handley M, Bunn F, Goodman C. Dementia-friendly interventions to improve the care of people living with dementia admitted to hospitals: a realist review. BMJ open. 2017;7(7):e015257.

82. Davis K, Mueller C, Ashworth M, Broadbent M, Jewell A, Molokhia M, et al. What gets recorded, counts: Dementia recording in primary care compared with a specialist database. Age and Ageing. 2021.

83. Aldridge Z, Oliver E, Gardener H, Dening KH. Admiral nursing—a model of specialist dementia care in acute hospitals. SAGE Open Nursing. 2020;6:2377960820952677.

84. Miller SC, Lima JC, Intrator O, Martin E, Bull J, Hanson LC. Palliative care consultations in nursing homes and reductions in acute care use and potentially burdensome end-of-life transitions. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2016;64(11):2280-7.

85. Evans CJ, Bone AE, Yi D, Gao W, Morgan M, Taherzadeh S, et al. Community-based shortterm integrated palliative and supportive care reduces symptom distress for older people with chronic noncancer conditions compared with usual care: a randomised controlled single-blind mixed method trial. International journal of nursing studies. 2021;120:103978.

86. Sleeman KE, Ho YK, Verne J, Gao W, Higginson IJ. Reversal of English trend towards hospital death in dementia: a population-based study of place of death and associated individual and regional factors, 2001–2010. BMC neurology. 2014;14(1):59.

87. Teggi D. Care homes as hospices for the prevalent form of dying: An analysis of long-term care provision towards the end of life in England. Social Science & Medicine. 2020;260:113150.

88. Ding J, Cook A, Qin X, Stephen C, Johnson CE. Palliative care needs and utilization of specialist services for people imminently dying with dementia: A national population-based study. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2020:103655.

89. England N. Palliative and end of life care 2023 [Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/eolc/] Last access date: 12/05/2023

90. Cole L, Samsi K, Manthorpe J. Is there an "optimal time" to move to a care home for a person with dementia? A systematic review of the literature. International psychogeriatrics. 2018;30(11):1649-70.

91. NHS. Dementia and end of life planning. 2021.

92. Dixon J, King D, Matosevic T, Clark M, Knapp M. Equity in the provision of palliative care in the UK: review of evidence. 2015.

93. Commission CQ. A different ending: addressing inequalities in end of life care. Newcastle upon Tyne: CQC. 2016.

94. Fox S, FitzGerald C, Dening KH, Irving K, Kernohan WG, Treloar A, et al. Better palliative care for people with a dementia: summary of interdisciplinary workshop highlighting current gaps and recommendations for future research. BMC palliative care. 2018;17(1):9.

95. Forum NQ, editor A national framework and preferred practices for palliative and hospice care quality2006: National Quality Forum Washington, DC.

96. Bone AE, Morgan M, Maddocks M, Sleeman KE, Wright J, Taherzadeh S, et al. Developing a model of short-term integrated palliative and supportive care for frail older people in community settings: perspectives of older people, carers and other key stakeholders. Age and Ageing. 2016;45(6):863-73.

97. Shepherd H, Livingston G, Chan J, Sommerlad A. Hospitalisation rates and predictors in people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC medicine. 2019;17(1):130.
98. Sommerlad A, Perera G, Mueller C, Singh-Manoux A, Lewis G, Stewart R, et al.

Hospitalisation of people with dementia: evidence from English electronic health records from 2008 to 2016. European journal of epidemiology. 2019;34(6):567-77.

99. Phelan EA, Borson S, Grothaus L, Balch S, Larson EB. Association of incident dementia with hospitalizations. Jama. 2012;307(2):165-72.

100. Zhao Y, Kuo T-C, Weir S, Kramer MS, Ash AS. Healthcare costs and utilization for Medicare beneficiaries with Alzheimer's. BMC health services research. 2008;8(1):108.

101. Möllers T, Stocker H, Wei W, Perna L, Brenner H. Length of hospital stay and dementia: A systematic review of observational studies. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2019;34(1):8-21.

102. White N, Leurent B, Lord K, Scott S, Jones L, Sampson EL. The management of behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia in the acute general medical hospital: a longitudinal cohort study. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2017;32(3):297-305.

103. Wiggins N, Droney J, Mohammed K, Riley J, Sleeman KE. Understanding the factors associated with patients with dementia achieving their preferred place of death: a retrospective cohort study. Age and ageing. 2019;48(3):433-9.

104. Lichtner V, Dowding D, Allcock N, Keady J, Sampson EL, Briggs M, et al. The assessment and management of pain in patients with dementia in hospital settings: a multi-case exploratory study from a decision making perspective. BMC health services research. 2016;16(1):427.

105. Ryan DJ, O'Regan NA, Caoimh RÓ, Clare J, O'Connor M, Leonard M, et al. Delirium in an adult acute hospital population: predictors, prevalence and detection. BMJ open. 2013;3(1).

106. Molloy GJ, McGee HM, O'Neill D, Conroy RM. Loneliness and emergency and planned hospitalizations in a community sample of older adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2010;58(8):1538-41.

107. Alderwick H, Dixon J. The NHS long term plan. British Medical Journal Publishing Group;2019.

108. Research AfH, Quality. AHRQ quality indicators—guide to prevention quality indicators: hospital admission for ambulatory care sensitive conditions. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Rockville, MD; 2001.

109. Black BS, Johnston D, Leoutsakos J, Reuland M, Kelly J, Amjad H, et al. Unmet needs in community-living persons with dementia are common, often non-medical and related to patient and caregiver characteristics. International Psychogeriatrics. 2019;31(11):1643-54.

110. Sleeman KE, Perera G, Stewart R, Higginson IJ. Predictors of emergency department attendance by people with dementia in their last year of life: Retrospective cohort study using linked clinical and administrative data. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2018;14(1):20-7.

111. Gungabissoon U, Perera G, Galwey NW, Stewart R. The association between dementia severity and hospitalisation profile in a newly assessed clinical cohort: the South London and Maudsley case register. BMJ open. 2020;10(4):e035779.

112. Sivananthan SN, McGrail KM. Diagnosis and Disruption: Population-Level Analysis Identifying Points of Care at Which Transitions Are Highest for People with Dementia and Factors That Contribute to Them. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2016;64(3):569-77.

113. Sleeman KE, Perera G, Stewart R, Higginson IJ. Predictors of emergency department attendance by people with dementia in their last year of life: Retrospective cohort study using linked clinical and administrative data. Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 2018;14(1):20-7.

114. Leniz J, Higginson IJ, Stewart R, Sleeman KE. Understanding which people with dementia are at risk of inappropriate care and avoidable transitions to hospital near the end-of-life: a retrospective cohort study. Age and ageing. 2019.

115. Sasseville M, Smith SM, Freyne L, McDowell R, Boland F, Fortin M, et al. Predicting poorer health outcomes in older community-dwelling patients with multimorbidity: prospective cohort study assessing the accuracy of different multimorbidity definitions. BMJ open. 2019;9(1).

116. Ashcroft R. Medical ethics and the healthcare rights of citizens and others. British Journal of General Practice; 2009.

117. Watson J, Giebel C, Green M, Darlington-Pollock F, Akpan A. Use of routine and cohort data globally in exploring dementia care pathways and inequalities: a systematic review. Wiley Online Library; 2020.

118. Leniz J, Gulliford M, Higginson IJ, Bajwah S, Yi D, Gao W, et al. Primary care contacts, continuity, identification of palliative care needs, and hospital use: a population-based cohort study in people dying with dementia. British Journal of General Practice. 2022;72(722):e684-e92.

119. Eyles E, Redaniel MT, Purdy S, Tilling K, Ben-Shlomo Y. Associations of GP practice characteristics with the rate of ambulatory care sensitive conditions in people living with dementia in England: an ecological analysis of routine data. BMC Health Services Research. 2021;21:1-10.
120. Kirch J, Marquardt G. Towards human-centred general hospitals: the potential of dementia-friendly design. Architectural Science Review. 2021:1-9.

121. Cronin E, Nielsen M, Spollen M, Edwards N. Adult critical care. Health Care Needs Assessment: CRC Press; 2018. p. 1-68.

122. Fulton AT, Gozalo P, Mitchell SL, Mor V, Teno JM. Intensive care utilization among nursing home residents with advanced cognitive and severe functional impairment. Journal of palliative medicine. 2014;17(3):313-7.

123. Dzeng E, Bein T, Curtis JR. The role of policy and law in shaping the ethics and quality of endof-life care in intensive care. Springer; 2022. p. 1-3.

124. Moon F, McDermott F, Kissane D. Systematic review for the quality of end-of-life care for patients with dementia in the hospital setting. American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine[®]. 2018;35(12):1572-83.

125. Chen P-J, Ho C-H, Liao J-Y, Smits L, Hsiung CA, Yu S-J, et al. The association between home healthcare and burdensome transitions at the end-of-life in people with dementia: A 12-year nationwide population-based cohort study. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2020;17(24):9255.

126. Teno JM, Gozalo P, Khandelwal N, Curtis JR, Meltzer D, Engelberg R, et al. Association of increasing use of mechanical ventilation among nursing home residents with advanced dementia and intensive care unit beds. JAMA internal medicine. 2016;176(12):1809-16.

127. Teno JM, Gozalo PL, Bynum JP, Leland NE, Miller SC, Morden NE, et al. Change in end-of-life care for Medicare beneficiaries: site of death, place of care, and health care transitions in 2000, 2005, and 2009. Jama. 2013;309(5):470-7.

128. De Schreye R, Deliens L, Annemans L, Gielen B, Smets T, Cohen J. Trends in appropriateness of end-of-life care in people with cancer, COPD or with dementia measured with population-level quality indicators. Plos one. 2023;18(2):e0273997.

129. Bone AE, Gomes B, Etkind SN, Verne J, Murtagh FE, Evans CJ, et al. What is the impact of population ageing on the future provision of end-of-life care? Population-based projections of place of death. Palliative medicine. 2018;32(2):329-36.

130. Statistics Of N. Dementia and Alzheimer's disease deaths including comorbidities, England and Wales Dementia and Alzheimer's disease deaths including comorbidities, England and Wales: 2019 registrations. In: People pac, editor. 2020.

131. Teno JM, Clarridge BR, Casey V, Welch LC, Wetle T, Shield R, et al. Family perspectives on end-of-life care at the last place of care. Jama. 2004;291(1):88-93.

132. Houttekier D, Cohen J, Bilsen J, Addington-Hall J, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD, Deliens L. Place of death of older persons with dementia. A study in five European countries. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2010;58(4):751-6.

133. Reyniers T, Deliens L, Pasman HR, Morin L, Addington-Hall J, Frova L, et al. International variation in place of death of older people who died from dementia in 14 European and non-European countries. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2015;16(2):165-71.

134. Hoare S, Morris ZS, Kelly MP, Kuhn I, Barclay S. Do patients want to die at home? A systematic review of the UK literature, focused on missing preferences for place of death. PloS one. 2015;10(11):e0142723.

135. Kasteridis P, Rice N, Santos R. Heterogeneity in end of life health care expenditure trajectory profiles. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization. 2022;204:221-51.

136. Margo-Dermer E. How Many Fit? Latent Class Analysis of Administrative Data on Healthcare Utilization by Older Adults With Dementia in Quebec, Canada: McGill University (Canada); 2021.
137. Mondor L, Maxwell CJ, Hogan DB, Bronskill SE, Gruneir A, Lane NE, et al. Multimorbidity and healthcare utilization among home are clients with dementia in Ontaria. Canada: a retransportive

healthcare utilization among home care clients with dementia in Ontario, Canada: a retrospective analysis of a population-based cohort. PLoS medicine. 2017;14(3):e1002249.

138. Parasrampuria S, Bijelic E, Bott DM, Driessen J, Lipp MJ, Ling SM. Disaggregating the dementia monolith: An analysis of variation in Medicare costs and use by dementia subtype. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2023.

139. Gilissen J, Hunt L, Van den Block L, van der Steen J, Tahir P, Ritchie C. Earlier initiation of palliative care in the disease trajectory of people living with dementia: a scoping review protocol. BMJ open. 2021;11(6):e044502.

140. Sampson EL, Gould V, Lee D, Blanchard MR. Differences in care received by patients with and without dementia who died during acute hospital admission: a retrospective case note study. Age and ageing. 2006;35(2):187-9.

141. Feng Z, Coots LA, Kaganova Y, Wiener JM. Hospital and ED use among Medicare beneficiaries with dementia varies by setting and proximity to death. Health Affairs. 2014;33(4):683-90.

142. Martinsson L, Lundström S, Sundelöf J. Quality of end-of-life care in patients with dementia compared to patients with cancer: A population-based register study. PloS one. 2018;13(7):e0201051.

143. Donabedian A. The quality of care: how can it be assessed? Jama. 1988;260(12):1743-8.

144. Stewart AL, Teno J, Patrick DL, Lynn J. The concept of quality of life of dying persons in the context of health care. Journal of pain and symptom management. 1999;17(2):93-108.

145. Lawrence M, Olesen F. Indicators of quality in health care. The European Journal of General Practice. 1997;3(3):103-8.

146. Mainz J. Defining and classifying clinical indicators for quality improvement. International journal for quality in health care. 2003;15(6):523-30.

147. Raleigh VS, Foot C. Getting the measure of quality. Opportunities and challenges. 2010;522.
148. Mainz J. Developing evidence-based clinical indicators: a state of the art methods primer.
International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2003;15(suppl 1):i5-i11.

149. Rubin HR, Pronovost P, Diette GB. Methodology Matters. From a process of care to a measure: the development and testing of a quality indicator. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2001;13(6):489-96.

150. Wright T, O'Connor S. Reviewing challenges and gaps in European and global dementia policy. Journal of Public Mental Health. 2018;17(4):157-67.

151. Organization WH. Global action plan on the public health response to dementia 2017–2025. 2017.

152. Sleeman KE, Leniz J, Higginson IJ, Bristowe K. Is end-of-life care a priority for policymakers? Qualitative documentary analysis of health care strategies. Palliative medicine. 2018;32(9):1474-86.

153. Chambers RL, Pask S, Higginson IJ, Barclay S, Murtagh FE, Sleeman KE. Inclusion of palliative and end of life care in health strategies aimed at integrated care: a documentary analysis. Health Open Research. 2023;4(19):19.

154. NHS. The NHS Long Term Plan. 2019.

155. England N. NHS Five Year Forward View. 2019.

156. Charles A. Integrated care systems explained: making sense of systems, places and neighbourhoods: The King's Fund; 2022 [Available from:

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained#what-are-ICSs] Last access date: 06/12/2023

157. Pereira MJ, Tay RY, Tan WS, Molina JADC, Ali NB, Leong IYO, et al. Integrated palliative homecare in advanced dementia: reduced healthcare utilisation and costs. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2020.

158. Geoff A, Jillian O. Dementia Research and Care Can Big Data Help?: Can Big Data Help?: OECD publishing; 2015.

159. Deetjen U, Meyer ET, Schroeder R. Big data for advancing dementia research: an evaluation of data sharing practices in research on age-related neurodegenerative diseases. 2015.

160. Bauermeister S, Orton C, Thompson S, Barker RA, Bauermeister JR, Ben-Shlomo Y, et al. The dementias platform UK (DPUK) data portal. European journal of epidemiology. 2020;35:601-11.

161. Disparities OfHIa. Dementia data and analysis: a guide for health professionals. In: care Has, editor. 2023.

162. Hersh WR. Adding value to the electronic health record through secondary use of data for quality assurance, research, and surveillance. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2007;81(126-128):42.

163. Perera G, Stewart R, Higginson IJ, Sleeman KE. Reporting of clinically diagnosed dementia on death certificates: retrospective cohort study. Age and ageing. 2016;45(5):668-73.

164. De Schreye R, Smets T, Deliens L, Annemans L, Gielen B, Cohen J. Appropriateness of End-of-Life Care in People Dying With Dementia: Applying Quality Indicators on Linked Administrative Databases. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2020.

165. Tarraf W, Garcia M. DEMENTIA TRAJECTORIES, MEDICAID COVERAGE, AND HEALTHCARE SERVICES USE. Innovation in Aging. 2022;6(Suppl 1):132.

166. Ross M, Wei W, Ohno-Machado L. "Big data" and the electronic health record. Yearbook of medical informatics. 2014;23(01):97-104.

167. Liu D, Pace ML, Goddard M, Jacobs R, Wittenberg R, Mason A. Investigating the relationship between social care supply and healthcare utilization by older people in England. Health economics. 2021;30(1):36-54.

168. Xie J, Brayne C, Matthews FE. Survival times in people with dementia: analysis from population based cohort study with 14 year follow-up. bmj. 2008;336(7638):258-62.

169. Mueller C, Molokhia M, Perera G, Veronese N, Stubbs B, Shetty H, et al. Polypharmacy in people with dementia: associations with adverse health outcomes. Experimental gerontology. 2018;106:240-5.

170. Haaksma ML, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Rikkert MGO, Melis RJ, Leoutsakos JMS. Cognitive and functional progression in Alzheimer disease: A prediction model of latent classes. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2018;33(8):1057-64.

171. Henson KE, Elliss-Brookes L, Coupland VH, Payne E, Vernon S, Rous B, et al. Data resource profile: National cancer registration dataset in England. International journal of epidemiology. 2020;49(1):16-h.

172. Masoudi FA, Ponirakis A, de Lemos JA, Jollis JG, Kremers M, Messenger JC, et al. Trends in US cardiovascular care: 2016 report from 4 ACC national cardiovascular data registries. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017;69(11):1427-50.

173. Religa D, Fereshtehnejad S-M, Cermakova P, Edlund A-K, Garcia-Ptacek S, Granqvist N, et al. SveDem, the Swedish Dementia Registry—a tool for improving the quality of diagnostics, treatment and care of dementia patients in clinical practice. PloS one. 2015;10(2):e0116538.

174. Neuberger J, Guthrie C, Aaronovitch D. More care, less pathway: a review of the Liverpool Care Pathway. Department of Health. 2013.

175. Murray SA, Kendall M, Boyd K, Sheikh A. Illness trajectories and palliative care. Bmj. 2005;330(7498):1007-11.

176. Wallace LM, Theou O, Godin J, Andrew MK, Bennett DA, Rockwood K. Investigation of frailty as a moderator of the relationship between neuropathology and dementia in Alzheimer's disease: a cross-sectional analysis of data from the Rush Memory and Aging Project. The Lancet Neurology. 2019;18(2):177-84.

177. Vernooij-Dassen MJ, Moniz-Cook ED, Woods RT, Lepeleire JD, Leuschner A, Zanetti O, et al. Factors affecting timely recognition and diagnosis of dementia across Europe: from awareness to stigma. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry: A journal of the psychiatry of late life and allied sciences. 2005;20(4):377-86.

178. De Roo ML, Leemans K, Claessen SJ, Cohen J, Pasman HRW, Deliens L, et al. Quality indicators for palliative care: update of a systematic review. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2013;46(4):556-72.

179. Amador S, Sampson EL, Goodman C, Robinson L, Team SR. A systematic review and critical appraisal of quality indicators to assess optimal palliative care for older people with dementia. Palliative medicine. 2019;33(4):415-29.

180. Henson LA, Edmonds P, Johnston A, Johnson HE, Ling CNY, Sklavounos A, et al. Population-Based Quality Indicators for End-of-Life Cancer Care: A Systematic Review. JAMA oncology. 2019. 181. Hanratty B, Burton JK, Goodman C, Gordon AL, Spilsbury K. Covid-19 and lack of linked datasets for care homes. British Medical Journal Publishing Group; 2020.

182. Jones J, Hunter D. Consensus methods for medical and health services research. BMJ: British Medical Journal. 1995;311(7001):376.

183. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, Hovmand P, Aarons G, Bunger A, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. Administration and policy in mental health and mental health services research. 2011;38:65-76.

184. Cook J, Horrocks S. Community nursing quality indicators for end-of-life care in England: identification, preparation, and coordination. British Journal of Community Nursing. 2016;21(3):118-23.

185. Oborne CA, Hooper R, Li KC, Swift CG, Jackson SH. An indicator of appropriate neuroleptic prescribing in nursing homes. Age and ageing. 2002;31(6):435-9.

186. Roberts H, Khee TS, Philp I. Setting priorities for measures of performance for geriatric medical services. Age and ageing. 1994;23(2):154-7.

187. Towers A-M, Holder J, Smith N, Crowther T, Netten A, Welch E, et al. Adapting the adult social care outcomes toolkit (ASCOT) for use in care home quality monitoring: conceptual development and testing. BMC Health Services Research. 2015;15(1):1-12.

188. Boyd A, Cornish R, Johnson L, Simmonds S, Syddall H, Westbury L, et al. Understanding Hospital Episode Statistics (HES). London, UK: CLOSER. 2017.

189. Leniz J, Weil A, Higginson IJ, Sleeman KE. Electronic palliative care coordination systems (EPaCCS): a systematic review. BMJ supportive & palliative care. 2020;10(1):68-78.

190. Health NIf, Excellence C. Dementia: assessment, management and support for people living with dementia and their carers. Retrieved from NICE website:

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng97/chapter/recommendations. 2018.

191. Bouza C, Martínez-Alés G, López-Cuadrado T. Effect of dementia on the incidence, shortterm outcomes, and resource utilization of invasive mechanical ventilation in the elderly: a nationwide population-based study. Critical Care. 2019;23(1):1-9.

192. Fuchs C. From digital positivism and administrative big data analytics towards critical digital and social media research! European Journal of Communication. 2017;32(1):37-49.

193. Yefimov V. On pragmatist institutional economics. 2004.

194. Kaushik V, Walsh CA. Pragmatism as a Research Paradigm and Its Implications for Social Work Research. Social Sciences. 2019;8(9):255.

195. Arndt M, Bigelow B. Commentary: the potential of chaos theory and complexity theory for health services management. Health Care Management Review. 2000;25(1):35-8.

196. Earle CC, Ayanian JZ. Looking back from death: the value of retrospective studies of end-of-life care. Journal of clinical oncology. 2006;24(6):838-40.

197. Evans C, Yorganci E, Lewis P, Koffman J, Stone K, Tunnard I, et al. Processes of consent in research for adults with impaired mental capacity nearing the end of life: systematic review and transparent expert consultation (MORECare_Capacity statement). BMC medicine. 2020;18(1):1-55.

198. Sampson EL, Blanchard MR, Jones L, Tookman A, King M. Dementia in the acute hospital: prospective cohort study of prevalence and mortality. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2009;195(1):61-6.

199. Andrieu S, Reynish E, Nourhashemi F, Shakespeare A, Moulias S, Ousset PJ, et al. Predictive factors of acute hospitalization in 134 patients with Alzheimer's disease: a one year prospective study. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2002;17(5):422-6.

200. Voisin T, Andrieu S, Cantet C, Vellas B. Predictive factors of hospitalizations in Alzheimer's disease: a two-year prospective study in 686 patients of the REAL. FR study. The journal of nutrition, health & aging. 2010;14(4):288-91.

201. Sampson EL, Leurent B, Blanchard MR, Jones L, King M. Survival of people with dementia after unplanned acute hospital admission: a prospective cohort study. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2013;28(10):1015-22.

202. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Modern epidemiology: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.

203. Prince M, Stewart R, Ford T, Hotopf M. Practical psychiatric epidemiology: Oxford University Press Oxford; 2003.

204. Bach PB, Schrag D, Begg CB. Resurrecting treatment histories of dead patients: a study design that should be laid to rest. Jama. 2004;292(22):2765-70.

205. Teno JM, Mor V. Resurrecting treatment histories of dead patients. Jama. 2005;293(13):1591-2.

206. Davies JM, Gao W, Sleeman KE, Lindsey K, Murtagh FE, Teno JM, et al. Using routine data to improve palliative and end of life care. BMJ supportive & palliative care. 2016;6(3):257-62.

207. Gozalo P, Teno JM, Mitchell SL, Skinner J, Bynum J, Tyler D, et al. End-of-life transitions among nursing home residents with cognitive issues. New England Journal of Medicine. 2011;365(13):1212-21.

208. Dormann H, Eder PA, Gimpel H, Meindl O, Rashid A, Regal C. Assessing healthcare service quality using routinely collected data: Linking information systems in emergency care. Journal of Medical Systems. 2020;44(6):113.

209. Leniz J, Higginson IJ, Yi D, Ul-Haq Z, Lucas A, Sleeman KE. Identification of palliative care needs among people with dementia and its association with acute hospital care and community service use at the end-of-life: A retrospective cohort study using linked primary, community and secondary care data. Palliative Medicine. 2021:02692163211019897.

210. Hanratty B, Goldacre M, Griffith M, Whitehead M, Capewell S. Making the most of routine data in palliative care research–a case study analysis of linked hospital and mortality data on cancer and heart failure patients in Scotland and Oxford. Palliative medicine. 2008;22(6):744-9.

211. Downs JM, Ford T, Stewart R, Epstein S, Shetty H, Little R, et al. An approach to linking education, social care and electronic health records for children and young people in South London: a linkage study of child and adolescent mental health service data. BMJ open. 2019;9(1):e024355.

212. Thorn JC, Coast J, Cohen D, Hollingworth W, Knapp M, Noble SM, et al. Resource-use measurement based on patient recall: issues and challenges for economic evaluation. Applied health economics and health policy. 2013;11:155-61.

213. Wang SV, Verpillat P, Rassen J, Patrick A, Garry E, Bartels D. Transparency and reproducibility of observational cohort studies using large healthcare databases. Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2016;99(3):325-32.

214. Perera G, Broadbent M, Callard F, Chang C-K, Downs J, Dutta R, et al. Cohort profile of the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust Biomedical Research Centre (SLaM BRC) case register: current status and recent enhancement of an electronic mental health record-derived data resource. BMJ open. 2016;6(3):e008721.

215. Stewart R, Soremekun M, Perera G, Broadbent M, Callard F, Denis M, et al. The South London and Maudsley NHS foundation trust biomedical research centre (SLAM BRC) case register: development and descriptive data. BMC psychiatry. 2009;9(1):51.

216. Jewell A, Pritchard M, Barrett K, Green P, Markham S, McKenzie S, et al. The Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) data linkage service user and carer advisory group: creating and sustaining a successful patient and public involvement group to guide research in a complex area. Research involvement and engagement. 2019;5(1):20.

217. Organization WH. Psychiatric Case Registers. Report on a Working Group. WHO: Copenaghen; 1983.

218. Cunningham H. GATE, a general architecture for text engineering. Computers and the Humanities. 2002;36(2):223-54.

219. Caldicott F. Information: To share or not to share. The Information Governance Review Department of Health, Crown copyright. 2013.

220. Communities Df, Government L. English indices of deprivation. Crown Copyright London; 2015.

221. Jackson RG, Patel R, Jayatilleke N, Kolliakou A, Ball M, Gorrell G, et al. Natural language processing to extract symptoms of severe mental illness from clinical text: the Clinical Record Interactive Search Comprehensive Data Extraction (CRIS-CODE) project. BMJ open. 2017;7(1):e012012.

222. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. Journal of psychiatric research. 1975;12(3):189-98.

223. Pirkis JE, Burgess PM, Kirk PK, Dodson S, Coombs TJ, Williamson MK. A review of the psychometric properties of the Health of the Nation Outcome Scales (HoNOS) family of measures. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2005;3(1):76.

224. Canuto A, Weber K, Gold G, Notaridis G, Michon A, Giardini U, et al. Structured assessment of mental health status in psychogeriatrics: validity of the French HoNOS65+. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2007;52(1):37-45.

225. Spear J, Chawla S, O'Reilly M, Rock D. Does the HoNOS 65+ meet the criteria for a clinical outcome indicator for mental health services for older people? International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2002;17(3):226-30.

226. Office NA. Healthcare across the UK: A comparison of the NHS in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. National Audit Office London; 2012.

227. Digital N. National data opt-out 2022 [Available from:

https://digital.nhs.uk/services/national-data-opt-

out#:~:text=The%20national%20data%20opt%2Dout,used%20for%20research%20and%20planning. &text=Patients%20can%20find%20out%20more,choice%20on%20the%20NHS%20website.] Last access date: 21/03/2023

228. Herbert A, Wijlaars L, Zylbersztejn A, Cromwell D, Hardelid P. Data resource profile: hospital episode statistics admitted patient care (HES APC). International journal of epidemiology. 2017;46(4):1093-i.

229. Chaudhry Z, Mannan F, Gibson-White A, Syed U, Majeed A, Ahmed S. Research outputs of England's Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) database: a bibliometric analysis. BMJ Health & Care Informatics. 2017;24(4).

230. Burns EM, Rigby E, Mamidanna R, Bottle A, Aylin P, Ziprin P, et al. Systematic review of discharge coding accuracy. Journal of public health. 2012;34(1):138-48.

231. INVOLVE. Briefing note two: What is public involvement in research? 2012.

232. Johnson H, Davies JM, Leniz J, Chukwusa E, Markham S, Sleeman KE. Opportunities for public involvement in big data research in palliative and end-of-life care. Palliative Medicine. 2021;35(9):1724-6.

233. DEEP DEa. The Dementia Enquirers: Gold Standards for Ethical Research. 2023.

234. Riley E. Data Science: A guide for society Sense about Science2019 [Available from: https://senseaboutscience.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/SaS-DataScienceGuide-V8-SinglePages.pdf] Last access date: 04/01/2023

235. Dawson S, Ruddock A, Parmar V, Morris R, Cheraghi-Sohi S, Giles S, et al. Patient and public involvement in doctoral research: reflections and experiences of the PPI contributors and researcher. Research involvement and engagement. 2020;6:1-13.

236. UCL. EMBED-Care Patient and Public Involvement 2023 [Available from: https://www.ucl.ac.uk/psychiatry/research/marie-curie-palliative-care-researchdepartment/research/centre-dementia-palliative-care-24] Last access date: 04/01/2023

237. Research NIfH. Policy on payment of fees and expenses for members of the public actively involved with INVOLVE. NIHR Southampton; 2016.

238. Jamieson MK, Govaart GH, Pownall M. Reflexivity in quantitative research: A rationale and beginner's guide. Social and Personality Psychology Compass. 2022:e12735.

239. Trust SLaMNF. CRIS 2022 [Available from: <u>https://projects.slam.nhs.uk/research/cris</u>] Last access date: 04/01/2023

240. Benchimol EI, Smeeth L, Guttmann A, Harron K, Moher D, Petersen I, et al. The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected health Data (RECORD) statement. PLoS medicine. 2015;12(10):e1001885.

241. Ladha K, Zhao K, Quraishi S, Kurth T, Eikermann M, Kaafarani H. The Deyo-Charlson and Elixhauser-van Walraven Comorbidity Indices as predictors of mortality in critically ill patients. BMJ Open. 2015; 5 (9): e008990.

242. UK HDR. [Available from:

https://www.caliberresearch.org/portal/show/charlson_composite] Last access date: 13/01/2021 243. Health, Centre SCI. HES data dictionary: admitted patient care. NHS Digital London; 2017.

244. Ong MK, Mangione CM, Romano PS, Zhou Q, Auerbach AD, Chun A, et al. Looking Forward, Looking Back. Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes. 2009;2(6):548-57.

Yorganci E, Stewart R, Sampson EL, Sleeman KE. Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia: from diagnosis to the end of life. Age and Ageing. 2022;51(5):afac098.
Chen L, Reed C, Happich M, Nyhuis A, Lenox-Smith A. Health care resource utilisation in primary care prior to and after a diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a retrospective, matched case–control study in the United Kingdom. BMC geriatrics. 2014;14(1):1-9.

247. Mueller C, Perera G, Rajkumar AP, Bhattarai M, Price A, O'Brien JT, et al. Hospitalization in people with dementia with Lewy bodies: frequency, duration, and cost implications. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring. 2018;10:143-52.

248. Brüggenjürgen B, Andersohn F, Ezzat N, Lacey L, Willich S. Medical management, costs, and consequences of Alzheimer's disease in Germany: an analysis of health claims data. Journal of Medical Economics. 2015;18(6):466-73.

249. England PH. Research and analysis: Older people's hospital admissions in the last year of life. gov.uk: UK Government; 2020.

250. Dodd E, Cheston R, Cullum S, Jefferies R, Ismail S, Gatting L, et al. Primary care-led dementia diagnosis services in South Gloucestershire: Themes from people and families living with dementia and health care professionals. Dementia. 2016;15(6):1586-604.

251. Digital N. Recorded Dementia Diagnoses November 2020 2020 [Available from: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/november-2020</u>] Last access date: 07/01/2021

252. England PH. Statistical commentary: dementia profile, April 2019 update 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/dementia-profile-april-2019-data-</u>update/statistical-commentary-dementia-profile-april-2019-

update#:~:text=This%20update%20shows%3A,on%20the%20rate%20for%202017] Last access date: 16.02.2021

253. Gungabissoon U, Perera G, Galwey NW, Stewart R. Potentially avoidable causes of hospitalisation in people with dementia: contemporaneous associations by stage of dementia in a South London clinical cohort. BMJ open. 2022;12(4):e055447.

254. Leniz J, Evans CJ, Yi D, Bone AE, Higginson IJ, Sleeman KE. Formal and informal costs of care for people with dementia who experience a transition to hospital at the end of life: A secondary data analysis. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2022;23(12):2015-22. e5.

255. Hsu YH, Chou MY, Chen H-M, Chang W-C, Chu CS, Wang Y-C, et al. The trend of aggressive treatments in end-of-life care for older people with dementia after a policy change in Taiwan. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2020;21(6):858-63. e1.

256. (ICNARC) ICNARC. Intensive Care National Audit & Research Centre (ICNARC) 2023 [Available from: <u>https://www.icnarc.org/</u>] Last access date: 07/07/2023

257. Health NIf, Excellence C. Donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence; 2011.

258. O'connor D, Pollitt P, Hyde J, Fellows J, Miller N, Brook C, et al. The reliability and validity of the Mini-Mental State in a British community survey. Journal of psychiatric research. 1989;23(1):87-96.

259. Tombaugh TN, McIntyre NJ. The mini-mental state examination: a comprehensive review. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 1992;40(9):922-35.

260. Burns A, Beevor A, Lelliott P, Wing J, Blakey A, Orrell M, et al. Health of the Nation Outcome Scales for elderly people (HoNOS 65+). The British Journal of Psychiatry. 1999;174(5):424-7.

261. Statistics Of N. Dataset estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. 2022;Population estimates and components of population change. [Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationesti mates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland] Last access date: 08/04/2024

262. Owen-Williams R. Leading Causes of Death, UK: 2001 to 2018. London: Office for National Statistics; 2020.

263. Bronskill SE, Maclagan LC, Walker JD, Guan J, Wang X, Ng R, et al. Trajectories of health system use and survival for community-dwelling persons with dementia: a cohort study. BMJ open. 2020;10(7):e037485.

264. Teno JM, Sullivan DR, Bunker J, Gozalo P. Survival and Health Care Costs with IMV vs. NIV in Dementia Patients Admitted with Pneumonia and Respiratory Failure. Annals of the American Thoracic Society. 2022(ja).

265. StataCorp L. Stata Statistical Software: Release 15. 2017. College Station, Texas, United States of America doi: 101016/j lfs. 2018;4.

266. Klein JP, Moeschberger ML. Survival analysis: techniques for censored and truncated data: Springer; 2003.

267. Dey T, Mukherjee A, Chakraborty S. A practical overview and reporting strategies for statistical analysis of survival studies. Chest. 2020;158(1):S39-S48.

268. Society As. Critical care for people with dementia during the coronavirus pandemic

Monday 30 March 2020 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2020-03-</u> <u>30/critical-care-people-dementia-during-coronavirus-pandemic</u>] Last access date: 25/09/2023

269. Yorganci E, Sleeman KE, Sampson EL, Stewart R. Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a large English cohort. Age and Ageing. 2023;52(9):afad157.

270. Bagshaw SM, Webb SA, Delaney A, George C, Pilcher D, Hart GK, et al. Very old patients admitted to intensive care in Australia and New Zealand: a multi-centre cohort analysis. Critical Care. 2009;13:1-14.

271. Giebel CM, Sutcliffe C, Challis D. Activities of daily living and quality of life across different stages of dementia: a UK study. Aging & mental health. 2015;19(1):63-71.

272. Le Guen J, Boumendil A, Guidet B, Corvol A, Saint-Jean O, Somme D. Are elderly patients' opinions sought before admission to an intensive care unit? Results of the ICE-CUB study. Age and ageing. 2016;45(2):303-9.

273. Williamson LE, Sleeman KE, Evans CJ. Exploring access to community care and emergency department use among people with dementia: A qualitative interview study with people with dementia, and current and bereaved caregivers. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2023;38(7):e5966.

274. Excellence NIfHaC. NICE updates rapid COVID-19 guideline on critical care 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/news/article/nice-updates-rapid-covid-19-guideline-on-critical-care</u>] Last access date: 06/11/2023

275. Rockwood K, Theou O. Using the clinical frailty scale in allocating scarce health care resources. Canadian Geriatrics Journal. 2020;23(3):210.

276. Li M, Huang Y, Liu Z, Shen R, Chen H, Ma C, et al. The association between frailty and incidence of dementia in Beijing: findings from 10/66 dementia research group population-based cohort study. BMC geriatrics. 2020;20:1-9.

277. Abd ElHafeez S, D'Arrigo G, Leonardis D, Fusaro M, Tripepi G, Roumeliotis S. Methods to analyze time-to-event data: the Cox regression analysis. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity. 2021;2021:1-6.

278. Patil SJ, Ambulkar R, Kulkarni AP. Patient Safety in Intensive Care Unit: What can We Do Better? Indian Journal of Critical Care Medicine: Peer-reviewed, Official Publication of Indian Society of Critical Care Medicine. 2023;27(3):163.

279. Parker E, Baker C. Dementia: policy, services and statistics overview. 2018.

280. Frost R, Walters K, Aw S, Brunskill G, Wilcock J, Robinson L, et al. Effectiveness of different post-diagnostic dementia care models delivered by primary care: a systematic review. British Journal of General Practice. 2020;70(695):e434-e41.

281. Tolppanen AM, Taipale H, Purmonen T, Koponen M, Soininen H, Hartikainen S. Hospital admissions, outpatient visits and healthcare costs of community-dwellers with Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2015;11(8):955-63.

282. Sivananthan SN, McGrail KM. Diagnosis and Disruption: Population-Level Analysis Identifying Points of Care at Which Transitions Are Highest for People with Dementia and Factors That Contribute to Them. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2016;64(3):569-77.

283. Bradford A, Kunik ME, Schulz P, Williams SP, Singh H. Missed and delayed diagnosis of dementia in primary care: prevalence and contributing factors. Alzheimer disease and associated disorders. 2009;23(4):306.

284. Phelan EA, Debnam KJ, Anderson LA, Owens SB. A systematic review of intervention studies to prevent hospitalizations of community-dwelling older adults with dementia. Medical care. 2015;53(2):207.

285. Beeber AS, Thorpe JM, Clipp EC. Community-based service use by elders with dementia and their caregivers: a latent class analysis. Nursing research. 2008;57(5):312-21.

286. Doherty AS, Miller R, Mallett J, Adamson G. Heterogeneity in Longitudinal Healthcare Utilisation by Older Adults: A Latent Transition Analysis of the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing. Journal of aging and health. 2022;34(2):253-65.

287. Blumenthal D, Abrams MK. Tailoring complex care management for high-need, high-cost patients. Jama. 2016;316(16):1657-8.

288. Bishara D, Harwood D, Sauer J, Taylor DM. Anticholinergic effect on cognition (AEC) of drugs commonly used in older people. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2017;32(6):650-6.

289. Kline RB. Principles and practice of structural equation modeling: Guilford publications;2023.

290. MacCallum RC, Austin JT. Applications of structural equation modeling in psychological research. Annual review of psychology. 2000;51(1):201-26.

291. Fan Y, Chen J, Shirkey G, John R, Wu SR, Park H, et al. Applications of structural equation modeling (SEM) in ecological studies: an updated review. Ecological Processes. 2016;5:1-12.

292. Nylund-Gibson K, Choi AY. Ten frequently asked questions about latent class analysis. Translational Issues in Psychological Science. 2018;4(4):440.

293. Wurpts IC, Geiser C. Is adding more indicators to a latent class analysis beneficial or detrimental? Results of a Monte-Carlo study. Frontiers in psychology. 2014;5:920.

294. Weller BE, Bowen NK, Faubert SJ. Latent class analysis: a guide to best practice. Journal of Black Psychology. 2020;46(4):287-311.

295. Ruscio J, Ruscio AM. Categories and dimensions: Advancing psychological science through the study of latent structure. Current Directions in Psychological Science. 2008;17(3):203-7.
 206. Muthén LK. Muthén BO. Statistical analysis with latent variables. Malus Liser's guide.

296. Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Statistical analysis with latent variables. Mplus User's guide. 2009:1998-2012.

297. Bolck A, Croon M, Hagenaars J. Estimating latent structure models with categorical variables: One-step versus three-step estimators. Political analysis. 2004;12(1):3-27.

298. Nylund-Gibson K, Masyn KE. Covariates and mixture modeling: Results of a simulation study exploring the impact of misspecified effects on class enumeration. Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal. 2016;23(6):782-97.

299. Nylund-Gibson K, Garber AC, Carter DB, Chan M, Arch DA, Simon O, et al. Ten frequently asked questions about latent transition analysis. Psychological Methods. 2022.

300. Baldwin EE. A Monte Carlo simulation study examining statistical power in latent transition analysis: University of California, Santa Barbara; 2015.

301. Collins LM, Lanza ST. Latent class and latent transition analysis: With applications in the social, behavioral, and health sciences: John Wiley & Sons; 2009.

302. Muthén B, Asparouhov T. Latent transition analysis with random intercepts (RI-LTA). Psychological Methods. 2022;27(1):1.

303. White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. Statistics in medicine. 2011;30(4):377-99.

304. Asparouhov T, Muthén B. Auxiliary variables in mixture modeling: Using the BCH method in Mplus to estimate a distal outcome model and an arbitrary secondary model. Mplus web notes. 2014;21(2):1-22.

305. Nylund KL. Latent transition analysis: Modeling extensions and an application to peer victimization: University of California, Los Angeles Doctoral dissertation; 2007.

306. Masyn KE. Measurement invariance and differential item functioning in latent class analysis with stepwise multiple indicator multiple cause modeling. Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal. 2017;24(2):180-97.

307. Spurk D, Hirschi A, Wang M, Valero D, Kauffeld S. Latent profile analysis: A review and "how to" guide of its application within vocational behavior research. Journal of vocational behavior. 2020;120:103445.

308. Watson J, Green MA, Giebel C, Darlington-Pollock F, Akpan A. Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living with dementia in England (2002–2016). Aging & Mental Health. 2022:1-12.

309. Hill J, Fillit H, Shah SN, Del Valle MC, Futterman R. Patterns of healthcare utilization and costs for vascular dementia in a community-dwelling population. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2005;8(1):43-50.

310. Salzberg C, Hayes S, McCarthy D, Radley D, Abrams M, Shah T. Health system performance for the high-need patient: a look at access to care and patient care experiences [Internet]. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2016 Aug 29 [cited 2017 Oct 30].

311. Hoang MT, Kåreholt I, von Koch L, Xu H, Secnik J, Religa D, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in dementia diagnostic process and medication prescription: Experience from the Swedish Dementia Registry. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2021;17:e049802.

312. Naseer M, Agerholm J, Fastbom J, Schön P, Ehrenberg A, Dahlberg L. Factors associated with emergency department revisits among older adults in two Swedish regions: A prospective cohort study. Archives of gerontology and geriatrics. 2019:103960.

313. Levine A, Breshears B. Discrimination at every turn: An intersectional ecological lens for rehabilitation. Rehabilitation Psychology. 2019;64(2):146.

314. Gallini A, Renoux A, Siep S, Roustan A, Voisin T, Escudier G, et al. Clustering 5-year multidimensional health care trajectory patterns in Alzheimer's disease and related syndromes. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2021;22(7):1525-34. e3.

315. Bray BC, Lanza ST, Tan X. Eliminating bias in classify-analyze approaches for latent class analysis. Structural equation modeling: a multidisciplinary journal. 2015;22(1):1-11.

316. Clark SL, Muthén B. Relating latent class analysis results to variables not included in the analysis. Los Angeles, California, USA; 2009.

317. Bone A, Evans C, Henson L, Etkind S, Higginson I. Influences on emergency department attendance among frail older people with deteriorating health: a multicentre prospective cohort study. Public Health. 2021;194:4-10.

318. Mathew R. Rammya Mathew: Is the GP's professional opinion no longer valued? : British Medical Journal Publishing Group; 2023.

319. Wammes J, van der Wees P, Tanke M, Westert G, Jeurissen P. Systematic review of high-cost patients' characteristics and healthcare utilisation. BMJ Open 2018; 8: e023113.

320. Tsai CH, Eghdam A, Davoody N, Wright G, Flowerday S, Koch S. Effects of electronic health record implementation and barriers to adoption and use: a scoping review and qualitative analysis of the content. Life. 2020;10(12):327.

321. LaMantia MA, Stump TE, Messina FC, Miller DK, Callahan CM. Emergency department use among older adults with dementia. Alzheimer disease and associated disorders. 2016;30(1):35.

322. Curie M. In and out of hospital: Understanding disparities in emergency admissions in the final year of life. 2018.

323. Hart JT. The inverse care law. The Lancet. 1971;297(7696):405-12.

324. Inacio MC, Lang C, Caughey GE, Bray SC, Harrison SL, Whitehead C, et al. The Registry of Senior Australians outcome monitoring system: quality and safety indicators for residential aged care. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2020;32(8):502-10.

325. Wetle T, Teno J, Shield R, Welch L, Miller SC. End of life in nursing homes: Experiences and policy recommendations. Washington, DC: AARP Public Policy Institute. 2004;14.

326. Shebeshi DS, Dolja-Gore X, Byles J. Estimating unplanned and planned hospitalization incidents among older Australian women aged 75 years and over: The presence of death as a competing risk. The International Journal of Health Planning and Management. 2020.

327. Kalamägi J, Lavikainen P, Taipale H, Tanskanen A, Tiihonen J, Hartikainen S, et al. Predictors of high hospital care and medication costs and cost trajectories in community-dwellers with Alzheimer's disease. Annals of medicine. 2019;51(5-6):294-305.

328. Goldberg SE, Bradshaw LE, Kearney FC, Russell C, Whittamore KH, Foster PE, et al. Care in specialist medical and mental health unit compared with standard care for older people with cognitive impairment admitted to general hospital: randomised controlled trial (NIHR TEAM trial). Bmj. 2013;347.

329. Delgado J, Evans PH, Gray DP, Sidaway-Lee K, Allan L, Clare L, et al. Continuity of GP care for patients with dementia: impact on prescribing and the health of patients. British Journal of General Practice. 2022.

330. Imison C CN, Holder H, Castle-Clarke S, Nimmons D, Appleby J, Thorlby R and Lombardo S Shifting the balance of care: Great expectations. Research report. Nuffield Trust; 2017.

331. Dooley J, Booker M, Barnes R, Xanthopoulou P. Urgent care for patients with dementia: a scoping review of associated factors and stakeholder experiences. BMJ open. 2020;10(9):e037673.
332. Stokes J, Guthrie B, Mercer SW, Rice N, Sutton M. Multimorbidity combinations, costs of hospital care and potentially preventable emergency admissions in England: A cohort study. PLoS medicine. 2021;18(1):e1003514.

333. Hoare S, Antunes B, Kelly MP, Barclay S. End-of-life care quality measures: beyond place of death. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2022.

334. Cefalu MS, Elliott MN, Setodji CM, Cleary PD, Hays RD. Hospital quality indicators are not unidimensional: A reanalysis of Lieberthal and Comer. Health services research. 2019;54(2):502-8.
335. Donabedian A. Explorations in quality assessment and monitoring: the definition of quality and approaches to its assessment. 1980.

336. Lohr KN. Medicare: a strategy for quality assurance, volume I. 1990.

337. Murmann M, Manuel D, Tanuseputro P, Bennett C, Pugliese M, Roberts R, et al. Care trajectory in homes care users across mortality-risk profiles: an observational study. International Journal of Population Data Science. 2022;7(3).

338. Hansen AV, Mortensen LH, Trompet S, Westendorp R. Health care expenditure in the last five years of life is driven by morbidity, not age: A national study of spending trajectories in Danish decedents over age 65. PLoS One. 2020;15(12):e0244061.

339. Donabedian A. The seven pillars of quality. Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine. 1990;114(11):1115-8.

340. Secunda K, Wirpsa MJ, Neely KJ, Szmuilowicz E, Wood GJ, Panozzo E, et al. Use and meaning of "goals of care" in the healthcare literature: a systematic review and qualitative discourse analysis. Journal of general internal medicine. 2020;35:1559-66.

341. Aworinde J, Ellis-Smith C, Gillam J, Roche M, Coombes L, Yorganci E, et al. How do person-centered outcome measures enable shared decision-making for people with dementia and family carers?—A systematic review. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions. 2022;8(1):e12304.

342. Fleming MD, Shim JK, Yen IH, Thompson-Lastad A, Rubin S, Van Natta M, et al. Patient engagement at the margins: health care providers' assessments of engagement and the structural determinants of health in the safety-net. Social Science & Medicine. 2017;183:11-8.

343. Smith PC. Measuring value for money in healthcare: concepts and tools. London: The Health Foundation. 2009:54.

344. Bhattarai N, Mason H, Kernohan A, Poole M, Bamford C, Robinson L, et al. The value of dementia care towards the end of life—A contingent valuation study. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2020;35(5):489-97.

Perera G, Mueller C, Stewart R. Factors associated with slow progression of cognitive impairment following first dementia diagnosis. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2020.
Van De Vorst IE, Vaartjes I, Geerlings MI, Bots ML, Koek HL. Prognosis of patients with dementia: results from a prospective nationwide registry linkage study in the Netherlands. BMJ open. 2015;5(10):e008897.

347. Jacobson M, Ferido P, Zissimopoulos J. Health care utilization before and after a dementia diagnosis in Medicare Advantage versus traditional Medicare. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2023.

348. Mitchell SL, Teno JM, Kiely DK, Shaffer ML, Jones RN, Prigerson HG, et al. The clinical course of advanced dementia. New England Journal of Medicine. 2009;361(16):1529-38.

349. Joling KJ, Janssen O, Francke AL, Verheij RA, Lissenberg-Witte Bl, Visser PJ, et al. Time from diagnosis to institutionalization and death in people with dementia. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2020;16(4):662-71.

350. Podcasy JL, Epperson CN. Considering sex and gender in Alzheimer disease and other dementias. Dialogues in clinical neuroscience. 2016.

351. UK AsR. The Impact of Dementia on Women. 2022.

352. Statistics Of N. Older people living in care homes in 2021 and changes since 2011. 2023.

353. OECD. Health at a Glance 2023: OECD Indicators. Publishing, Paris; 2023.

354. Brick A, Smith S, Normand C, O'Hara S, Droog E, Tyrrell E, et al. Costs of formal and informal care in the last year of life for patients in receipt of specialist palliative care. Palliative medicine. 2017;31(4):356-68.

355. Kudra A, Lees C, Morrell-Scott N. Measuring carer burden in informal carers of patients with long-term conditions. British journal of community nursing. 2017;22(5):230-6.

356. Livingston G, Sommerlad A, Orgeta V, Costafreda SG, Huntley J, Ames D, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. The Lancet. 2017;390(10113):2673-734.

357. Nichols E, Steinmetz JD, Vollset SE, Fukutaki K, Chalek J, Abd-Allah F, et al. Estimation of the global prevalence of dementia in 2019 and forecasted prevalence in 2050: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet Public Health. 2022;7(2):e105-e25.

358. Foundation H. Build back fairer: the COVID-19 Marmot review. Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review-The Health Foundation; 2020.

359. Waheed W, Mirza N, Waheed MW, Blakemore A, Kenning C, Masood Y, et al. Recruitment and methodological issues in conducting dementia research in British ethnic minorities: A qualitative systematic review. International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research. 2020;29(1):e1806.

360. Mitani AA, Mercaldo ND, Haneuse S, Schildcrout JS. Survey design and analysis considerations when utilizing misclassified sampling strata. BMC Medical Research Methodology. 2021;21(1):1-13.

361. Disparities OfHI. Dementia Profile: Department of Health and Social Care; 2023 [Available from: <u>https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia</u>] Last access date: 03/10/2023

362. Gamble LD, Matthews FE, Jones IR, Hillman AE, Woods B, Macleod CA, et al. Characteristics of people living with undiagnosed dementia: findings from the CFAS Wales study. BMC geriatrics. 2022;22(1):409.

363. England N. Primary Care Dementia Data, February 2024 NHS Digital2024 [Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/primary-care-dementiadata/february-2024] Last access date: 30/03/2024

364. Aldridge Z, Ponnusamy K, Noble A, Collier P, Smith D. Dementia in care homes: increasing the diagnosis rate among undiagnosed residents. Nursing Older People. 2023;35(6).

365. Bhagianadh D, Arora K. Classifying End-of-Life Patterns: Evidence From the National Health and Aging Trends Study. The gerontologist. 2023;63(6):1039-48.

366. Welk B. Routinely collected data for population-based outcomes research. Canadian Urological Association Journal. 2020;14(2):70.

367. Jackson R, Kartoglu I, Stringer C, Gorrell G, Roberts A, Song X, et al. CogStack-experiences of deploying integrated information retrieval and extraction services in a large National Health Service Foundation Trust hospital. BMC medical informatics and decision making. 2018;18(1):1-13.

368. Henderson C, Knapp M, D Gamble L, Nelis SM, Quinn C, Pentecost C, et al. The use and costs of paid and unpaid care for people with dementia: longitudinal findings from the IDEAL cohort programme. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2021.

369. Leniz J, Yi D, Yorganci E, Williamson LE, Suji T, Cripps R, et al. Exploring costs, cost components, and associated factors among people with dementia approaching the end of life: A systematic review. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions. 2021;7(1):e12198.

370. Luta X, Diernberger K, Bowden J, Droney J, Howdon D, Schmidlin K, et al. Healthcare trajectories and costs in the last year of life: a retrospective primary care and hospital analysis. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2020:bmjspcare-2020-.

371. Samsi K, Orellana K, Cole L, Manthorpe J. Understanding factors influencing residential respite service use by carers of people living with dementia using Andersen's behavioural model of health services use: A qualitative study. Aging & Mental Health. 2023:1-10.

372. Pask S, Pinto C, Bristowe K, van Vliet L, Nicholson C, Evans CJ, et al. A framework for complexity in palliative care: a qualitative study with patients, family carers and professionals. Palliative medicine. 2018;32(6):1078-90.

373. Bronfenbrenner U. Ecological models of human development. International encyclopedia of education. 1994;3(2):37-43.

374. Stroud C, Larson EB, National Academies of Sciences E, Medicine, editors. COMPLEXITY OF SYSTEMS FOR DEMENTIA CARE, SERVICES, AND SUPPORTS. Meeting the Challenge of Caring for Persons Living with Dementia and Their Care Partners and Caregivers: A Way Forward; 2021: National Academies Press (US).

375. Beier K, Schweda M, Schicktanz S. Taking patient involvement seriously: a critical ethical analysis of participatory approaches in data-intensive medical research. BMC medical informatics and decision making. 2019;19(1):90.

376. Williamson L, Yorganci E, Martelli LL, Sampson EL, Evans C, Sleeman K. A Right to be Heard: Better palliative and end-of-life care for people affected by dementia: Policy Brief. 2023.

377. Bradley SH. The ethics and politics of addressing health inequalities. Clinical Medicine. 2021;21(2):147.

378. Hariyanto TI, Putri C, Arisa J, Situmeang RFV, Kurniawan A. Dementia and outcomes from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2021;93:104299.

Moynihan R, Sanders S, Michaleff ZA, Scott AM, Clark J, To EJ, et al. Impact of COVID-19
pandemic on utilisation of healthcare services: a systematic review. BMJ open. 2021;11(3):e045343.
Hazan J, Liu KY, Isaacs JD, Burns A, Howard R. Has COVID-19 affected dementia diagnosis
rates in England? International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2023;38(7):e5976.

381. Doraiswamy S, Abraham A, Mamtani R, Cheema S. Use of telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. Journal of medical Internet research. 2020;22(12):e24087.

382. Wood A, Denholm R, Hollings S, Cooper J, Ip S, Walker V, et al. Linked electronic health records for research on a nationwide cohort of more than 54 million people in England: data resource. bmj. 2021;373.

383. McDonnell L, Delaney BC, Sullivan F. Finding and using routine clinical datasets for observational research and quality improvement. British Journal of General Practice. 2018;68(668):147-8.

384. Hickey GL, Philipson P, Jorgensen A, Kolamunnage-Dona R. Joint models of longitudinal and time-to-event data with more than one event time outcome: a review. The international journal of biostatistics. 2018;14(1).

385. May P, Garrido MM, Del Fabbro E, Noreika D, Normand C, Skoro N, et al. Evaluating Hospital Readmissions for Persons With Serious and Complex Illness: A Competing Risks Approach. Medical Care Research and Review. 2019:1077558718823919.

386. Hubbard RA, Huang J, Harton J, Oganisian A, Choi G, Utidjian L, et al. A Bayesian latent class approach for EHR-based phenotyping. Statistics in medicine. 2019;38(1):74-87.

387. Grant RW, McCloskey J, Hatfield M, Uratsu C, Ralston JD, Bayliss E, et al. Use of latent class analysis and k-means clustering to identify complex patient profiles. JAMA network open. 2020;3(12):e2029068-e.

388. Allsop MJ, Ziegler LE, Mulvey MR, Russell S, Taylor R, Bennett MI. Duration and determinants of hospice-based specialist palliative care: a national retrospective cohort study. Palliative medicine. 2018;32(8):1322-33.

389. Kontopantelis E, Doran T, Springate DA, Buchan I, Reeves D. Regression based quasiexperimental approach when randomisation is not an option: interrupted time series analysis. bmj. 2015;350.

390. Saatchi AG, Pallotti F, Sullivan P. Network approaches and interventions in healthcare settings: A systematic scoping review. Plos one. 2023;18(2):e0282050.

391. Hosie A, Agar M. Critical care admission rates for people with dementia: too high, too low, or just right? : Oxford University Press; 2023. p. afad200.

392. Purdy S. Avoiding hospital admissions. What does the research evidence say. 2010:7-8.

393. Rahemi Z, Bacsu J-DR, Sefcik JS, Demiris G, Adams SA. Advance care planning and outpatient visits among older adults across cognitive levels. Aging and Health Research. 2023:100166.

394. van der Steen JT, Nakanishi M, Van den Block L, Di Giulio P, Gonella S, in der Schmitten J, et al. Consensus definition of advance care planning in dementia: A 33-country Delphi study. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2023.

395. Pyo J, Lee W, Choi EY, Jang SG, Ock M. Qualitative research in healthcare: necessity and characteristics. Journal of preventive medicine and public health. 2023;56(1):12.

396. Smith S, Parveen S, Sass C, Drury M, Oyebode J, Surr C. An audit of dementia education and training in UK health and social care: a comparison with national benchmark standards. BMC health services research. 2019;19(1):1-9.

397. Gaviola MA, Omura M, Inder KJ, Johnson A. Caring for people with dementia from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds in nursing homes: A scoping review. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2023:104674.

398. Bamford C, Lee R, McLellan E, Poole M, Harrison-Dening K, Hughes J, et al. What enables good end of life care for people with dementia? A multi-method qualitative study with key stakeholders. BMC geriatrics. 2018;18(1):1-15.

399. Dening KH. Palliative and end of life care for people with dementia. Nursing Standard (2014+). 2016;30(23):42.

400. Sutherland K, Levesque JF. Unwarranted clinical variation in health care: definitions and proposal of an analytic framework. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice. 2020;26(3):687-96.
401. Baker C. NHS key statistics: England. In: Commons Ho, editor. House of Commons Library2023.

402. Bielinska A-M, Archer S, Obanobi A, Soosipillai G, Darzi LA, Riley J, et al. Advance care planning in older hospitalised patients following an emergency admission: A mixed methods study. PLoS One. 2021;16(3):e0247874.

403. Allan S, Roland D, Malisauskaite G, Jones K, Baxter K, Gridley K, et al. The influence of home care supply on delayed discharges from hospital in England. BMC Health Services Research. 2021;21(1):1-11.

404. Challis D, Von Abendorff R, Brown P, Chesterman J, Hughes J. Care management, dementia care and specialist mental health services: an evaluation. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2002;17(4):315-25.

405. Duff C. Dementia: assessment, management and support for people living with dementia and their carers. 2018.

406. Bone AE, Evans CJ, Henson LA, Gao W, Higginson IJ, study B. Patterns of emergency department attendance among older people in the last three months of life and factors associated with frequent attendance: a mortality follow-back survey. Age and ageing. 2019;48(5):680-7.

407. Van der Steen JT, Radbruch L, Hertogh CM, de Boer ME, Hughes JC, Larkin P, et al. White paper defining optimal palliative care in older people with dementia: a Delphi study and recommendations from the European Association for Palliative Care. Palliative medicine. 2014;28(3):197-209.

408. Partnership NPaEoLC. Ambitions for Palliative and End of Life Care: A national framework for local action 2021-2026. 2021.

409. Quinn KL, Stukel T, Stall NM, Huang A, Isenberg S, Tanuseputro P, et al. Association between palliative care and healthcare outcomes among adults with terminal non-cancer illness: population based matched cohort study. bmj. 2020;370.

410. Disparities OfHI. Palliative and End of Life Care Profiles: Crown Copyright; 2023 [Available from: <u>https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life#2</u>] Last access date: 04/10/2023

411. Psychiatrists RCo. National Audit of Dementia. 2023.

412. Towers A-M, Gordon A, Wolters AT, Allan S, Rand S, Webster LA, et al. Piloting of a minimum data set for older people living in care homes in England: protocol for a longitudinal, mixed-methods study. BMJ open. 2023;13(2):e071686.

413. Sommerlad A, Perera G, Singh-Manoux A, Lewis G, Stewart R, Livingston G. Accuracy of general hospital dementia diagnoses in England: sensitivity, specificity, and predictors of diagnostic accuracy 2008–2016. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2018;14(7):933-43.

414. England N. Population Health Management. In: systems Ic, editor. 2022.

415. Leatherman S, Sutherland K. The quest for quality: refining the NHS reforms: Nuffield Trust London; 2008.

416. Kohn LT. Committee on quality of health care in America. To err is human: building a safer health system. 2000.

417. Maxwell RJ. Dimensions of quality revisited: from thought to action. Quality in health care. 1992;1(3):171.

418. Papanicolas I, Rajan D, Karanikolos M, Soucat A, Figueras J. Health system performance assessment: a framework for policy analysis: World Health Organization; 2022.

419. Bail K, Grealish L. 'Failure to Maintain': A theoretical proposition for a new quality indicator of nurse care rationing for complex older people in hospital. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2016;63:146-61.

420. Choi SO, Kim SN, Shin SH, Ryu JS, Baik JW, Kim JR, et al. Evaluation of Outcomes of the Busan Community-based Palliative Care Project in Korea. Asian Nursing Research. 2018;12(4):286-92.

421. Claessen SJ, Francke AL, Belarbi HE, Pasman HRW, van der Putten MJ, Deliens L. A new set of quality indicators for palliative care: process and results of the development trajectory. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2011;42(2):169-82.

422. Cook J, Horrocks S. Community nursing quality indicators for end-of-life care in England: identification, preparation, and coordination. British Journal of Community Nursing. 2016;21(3):118-23.

423. De Schreye R, Houttekier D, Deliens L, Cohen J. Developing indicators of appropriate and inappropriate end-of-life care in people with Alzheimer's disease, cancer or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease for population-level administrative databases: A RAND/UCLA appropriateness study. Palliative Medicine. 2017;31(10):932-45.

424. Gozalo P, Teno JM, Mitchell SL, Skinner J, Bynum J, Tyler D, et al. End-of-life transitions among nursing home residents with cognitive issues. New England Journal of Medicine. 2011;365(13):1212-21.

425. Guthrie DM, Harman LE, Barbera L, Burge F, Lawson B, McGrail K, et al. Quality Indicator Rates for Seriously III Home Care Clients: Analysis of Resident Assessment Instrument for Home Care Data in Six Canadian Provinces. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2019;22(11):1346-56.

426. Heckman GA, Crutchlow L, Boscart V, Hillier L, Franco B, Lee L, et al. Quality assurance as a foundational element for an integrated system of dementia care. International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance (09526862). 2019;32(6):978-90.

427. Kendell C, Lawson B, Puyat JH, Urquhart RM, Kazanjian A, Johnston G, et al. Assessing the Quality of Care Provided to Older Persons with Frailty in Five Canadian Provinces, Using Administrative Data. Canadian Journal on Aging-Revue Canadienne Du Vieillissement. 2020;39(1):52-68.

428. Kergoat M-J, Leclerc B-S, Leduc N, Latour J, Berg K, Bolduc A. Quality of care assessment in geriatric evaluation and management units: construction of a chart review tool for a tracer condition. BMC geriatrics. 2009;9(1):34.

429. Kröger E, Tourigny A, Morin D, Côté L, Kergoat M-J, Lebel P, et al. Selecting process quality indicators for the integrated care of vulnerable older adults affected by cognitive impairment or dementia. BMC health services research. 2007;7(1):195.

430. Leemans K, Deliens L, Van den Block L, Vander Stichele R, Francke A, Cohen J. Systematic quality monitoring for specialized palliative care services: development of a minimal set of quality indicators for palliative care study (QPAC). American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine[®]. 2017;34(6):532-46.

431. Leff B, Carlson CM, Saliba D, Ritchie C. The invisible homebound: setting quality-of-care standards for home-based primary and palliative care. Health Affairs. 2015;34(1):21-9.

432. Lind S, Adolfsson J, Axelsson B, Furst CJ. Quality indicators for palliative and end of life care: a review of Swedish policy documents. BMJ supportive & palliative care. 2013;3(2):174-80.

433. Lindenauer PK, Normand SLT, Drye EE, Lin ZQ, Goodrich K, Desai MM, et al. Development, Validation, and Results of a Measure of 30-Day Readmission Following Hospitalization for Pneumonia. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2011;6(3):142-50.

434. Lorenz KA, Rosenfeld K, Wenger N. Quality indicators for palliative and end-of-life care in vulnerable elders. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2007;55 Suppl 2:S318-26.

435. Masaki H, Kawai N, Matsumoto K, Kuwata M, Yoshioka S, Nishiyama M, et al. Consensus development of quality indicators for end-of-life care for elders in Japan. International Journal of Nursing Practice. 2017;23(1).

436. Mays AM, Saliba D, Feldman S, Smalbrugge M, Hertogh CMPM, Booker TL, et al. Quality Indicators of Primary Care Provider Engagement in Nursing Home Care. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2018;19(10):824-32.

437. Miranda R, Penders YWH, Smets T, Deliens L, Miccinesi G, Vega Alonso T, et al. Quality of primary palliative care for older people with mild and severe dementia: an international mortality follow-back study using quality indicators. Age & Ageing. 2018;47(6):824-33.

438. Morris JN, Fries BE, Frijters D, Hirdes JP, Steel RK. interRAI home care quality indicators. BMC geriatrics. 2013;13(1):127.

439. Mukamel DB, Caprio T, Ahn R, Zheng N, Norton S, Quill T, et al. End-of-life quality-of-care measures for nursing homes: Place of death and hospice. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2012;15(4):438-46.

440. Mularski RA, Curtis JR, Billings JA, Burt R, Byock I, Fuhrman C, et al. Proposed quality measures for palliative care in the critically ill: a consensus from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Critical Care Workgroup. Critical care medicine. 2006;34(11):S404-S11.

441. Nelson J, Mulkerin C, Adams L, Pronovost P. Improving comfort and communication in the ICU: a practical new tool for palliative care performance measurement and feedback. BMJ Quality & Safety. 2006;15(4):264-71.

442. Odenheimer G, Borson S, Sanders AE, Swain-Eng RJ, Kyomen HH, Tierney S, et al. Quality improvement in neurology: dementia management quality measures. Neurology. 2013;81(17):1545-9.

443. Roberts H, Khee TS, Philip I. Setting priorities for measures of performance for geriatric medical services. Age & Ageing. 1994;23(2):154-7.

444. Saliba D, Solomon D, Rubenstein L, Young R, Schnelle J, Roth C, et al. Quality indicators for the management of medical conditions in nursing home residents. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2005;6(3 Suppl):S36-48.

445. Schenck AP, Rokoske FS, Durham DD, Cagle JG, Hanson LC. The PEACE Project: Identification of Quality Measures for Hospice and Palliative Care. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2010;13(12):1451-9.

446. Schnitker LM, Martin-Khan M, Burkett E, Beattie ER, Jones RN, Gray LC, et al. Process quality indicators targeting cognitive impairment to support quality of care for older people with cognitive impairment in emergency departments. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2015;22(3):285-98.

447. Sinuff T, Dodek P, You JJ, Barwich D, Tayler C, Downar J, et al. Improving End-of-Life Communication and Decision Making: The Development of a Conceptual Framework and Quality Indicators. Journal of Pain & Symptom Management. 2015;49(6):1070-80.

448. Terrell KM, Hustey FM, Hwang U, Gerson LW, Wenger NS, Miller DK, et al. Quality indicators for geriatric emergency care. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2009;16(5):441-9.

449. Towers AM, Holder J, Smith N, Crowther T, Netten A, Welch E, et al. Adapting the adult social care outcomes toolkit (ASCOT) for use in care home quality monitoring: conceptual development and testing. Bmc Health Services Research. 2015;15.

450. Twaddle ML, Maxwell TL, Cassel JB, Liao S, Coyne PJ, Usher BM, et al. Palliative care benchmarks from academic medical centers. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2007;10(1):86-98. 451. van der Ploeg E, Depla MFI, Shekelle P, Rigter H, Mackenbach JP. Developing quality indicators for general practice care for vulnerable elders; transfer from US to The Netherlands. Quality & Safety in Health Care. 2008;17(4):291-5.

452. van Riet Paap J, Vernooij-Dassen M, Droes RM, Radbruch L, Vissers K, Engels Y, et al. Consensus on quality indicators to assess the organisation of palliative cancer and dementia care applicable across national healthcare systems and selected by international experts. BMC Health Services Research. 2014;14:396.

453. Wenger NS, Solomon DH, Amin A, Besdine RK, Blazer DG, Cohen H, et al. Application of Assessing Care of Vulnerable Elders-3 quality indicators to patients with advanced dementia and poor prognosis. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2007;55:S457-63.

454. Zimmerman DR, Karon SL, Arling G, Clark BR, Collins T, Ross R, et al. Development and testing of nursing home quality indicators. Health care financing review. 1995;16(4):107.

Appendices

Appendix 1. Definitions of different domains of quality of care

Table. Definitions of different domains of quality of care

Access	'the ability to obtain care when needed, and to obtain it easily and
	conveniently'
Safety	'the avoidance of harm from care, as well as from the environment
	in which care is carried out'415
Effectiveness	'improvement in health that is achieved, or can be expected to be
	achieved, under the ordinary circumstances of everyday practice' ³³⁹
	'the extent to which care delivers its intended outcome or results' ⁵¹
Outcomes of care	'changes in health status or quality of life' ¹⁷⁹
Person-centred / experience	'Putting the person who uses services at the centre of their care,
	treatment and support, ensuring that everything that is done is
	based on what is important to that person from their own
	perspective'93
Timely	'reduction in waits and sometimes harmful delays for both those
	who receive and those who give care' ⁴¹⁶
Efficiency	'maximizing output for a given input' ⁴¹⁷
	'a measure of the cost at which any given improvement in health is
	achieved' ³³⁹
Value for money	'the ratio of some measure of valued health system outputs to the
	associated expenditure'343
Capacity	'sufficiently well-resourced and with adequate distribution to
	enable delivery of appropriate services' ⁴¹⁵
Equity	'what is just or fair in the distribution of care and its benefits among
	the members of a population' ³³⁹
Healthy, independent living	'care that supports independence of individuals' 93
Health improvement	'care that aims to improve health status of individuals or
	population' ⁴¹⁸

Appendix 2. Supplementary material for the systematic review

Supplementary Table S1: Search terms

	Dementia	Terms relating to older people	End of life	Quality Indictors
Medical subject headings	exp Dementia/	Exp elder care/ Exp geriatric patients/ Exp geriatrics/ Exp gerontology/	exp Palliative Care/ exp Terminally III Patients/	Outcome and Process Assessment (Health Care) Exp Quality Assurance, Health Care Exp Quality Improvement
Keywords	dement*.mp alzheimer*.mp chronic* adj3 cerebrovascular.mp memory adj3 (impair* or insufficien* or complain*).mp cognit* adj2 (impair* or declin*).mp	Ag?ing.tw Old* person.tw Old* people.tw Elder*.tw Old* adult*.tw Geriatric*.tw Gerontol*.tw Senior*.tw Nursing home*.tw Long term care.tw	palliat*.mp end of life.mp EOL.mp life limit*.mp terminal*.mp dying.mp end stage.mp late stage.mp advanced.mp ceiling adj3 care.mp goal* adj3 care.mp last adj4 life.mp	Quality of Health Care.sh Qualit*.mp Utilisation Performance Assurance Benchmark Measur* Criter* Assess* Indicat* Validat* Evaluat*

Appendices

			Scale
	Limit	to human	

Electronic Search Strategy for PsycINFO (above)

Electronic Search Strategy for EMBASE

		Terms			
	Dementia	relating to	End of life	Quality Indictors	
		older people			
		Exp Aged/		Outcome and	
		Exp Aged		Process Assessment (Health Care)	
		patient/		("Outcome and	
Medical subject headings	exp Dementia/	Exp Elderly care/ *Veteran/	exp Terminal care/ exp Terminally III Patient/ exp Dying/	Process Assessment (Health care)" or "Quality Assurance, Health care" or "Quality Improvement" or "Quality indicators, health care" or "quality of health care").sh.	
	dement*.mp	Ag?ing.tw	palliat*.mp	((quality or qualities	
	alzheimer*.mp chronic* adj3	alzheimer*.mp Old*	end of life.mp	or utili?ation or performance or	
		P	EOL.mp	assurance or	
Keywords	cerebrovascular.mp	Old*	life limit* mn	benchmark*) adj2	
	memory adj3 (impair*	people.tw		(measur* or criter*	
	or insufficien* or	Elder*.tw	terminal*.mp	or assess* or	
	complain*).mp	Ol4*	dying.mp	indicator* or validat*	
				or evaluat*)).tw.	

cognit* adj2 (impair*	adult*.tw	end stage.mp	
or decline).mp	Geriatric*.tw	late stage.mp	
	Gerontol*.tw	advanced.mp	
	Senior*.tw	ceiling adj3	
	Nursing	care.mp	
	home*.tw	goal* adj3 care.mp	
	Long term	last adj4 life.mp	
	care.tw		
	Limit t	o humans	

Electronic Search Strategy for CINAHL

	Dementia	Terms relating to older people	End of life	Quality Indictors
Medical subject headings	(MH "Dementia+")	(MH "Aged") (MH "Health Services for the Aged")	(MH "Terminally III Patients+") OR (MH "Palliative Care")	MW Outcome and process assessment (MH "Quality Assurance") (MH "Quality Improvement")
	TX dement*	TI Ag?ing OR AB Ag?ing	TX palliat*	
	TX alzheimer*	TI Old*	TX end of life	TX ((quality or qualities or utili?ation
Keywords	TX (chronic N3	person OR AB	TX EOL	or performance or
	TY and the No	Old* person	TX life limit*	assurance or
	i x memory N3	TI Old*	TX terminal*	benchmark*) N2
	insufficien* or	Old* people	TX dying	(measur* or criter* or assess* or indicator*

complain*)	TI Elder* OR	TX end stage	or validat* or
TX cognit* N2	AB Elder*	TX late stage	evaluat*))
(impair* or declin*)	TI Old*	TX advanced	TX Assess*
	adult* OR Old* adult*	TX ceiling N3 care	TX Indicat*
	TI Geriatric*	TX goal* N3 care	Validat*
	OR AB	TX last N4 life	Evaluat*
	Geriatric*		Scale
	TI Gerontol*		
	OR AB		
	Gerontol*		
	TI Senior* OR		
	AB Senior*		
	TI Veteran*		
	OR AB		
	Veteran*		
	TI Nursing		
	home* OR AB		
	Nursing		
	home*		
	TI Long term		
	care OR AB		
	Long term		
	care		
	Limi	t to human	l

Electronic Search Strategy for Web of Science

Dementia	Terms relating to older people	End of life	Quality Indictors
----------	--------------------------------	-------------	-------------------

		TS=(Elder*)		TS=("Quality of
	TS=(Dement*)	TS=("Old*	TS=(Palliat*)	Health Care")
	TS=(Alzhoimor*)	person")	TS=("end of life")	TS=(Qualit*)
		TS=("Old*	TS=(EOL)	TS=(Utilisation
	TS=(chronic AND	people")	TS=(life limit*)	OR
		TS=("Old*	TS=(terminal*)	Performance OR
	impair*)	adult*") TS=(Geriatric*)	TS=(dying)	Assurance OR
Keywords	TS=(Memory near/2		TS=(end stage)	Benchmark)
	insufficien*)		TS=(late stage)	TS=(Measur*)
	TS=(Memory near/2		TS=(advanced)	TS=(Criter*)
			TS=(ceiling near/3	TS=(Assess*)
	impair*)		care)	TS=(Indicat*)
	TS=(Cognit* near/2		TS=(goal* near/3	TS=(Validat*)
	declin*)		care)	TS=(Evaluat*)
			TS=(last near/4 life)	TS=(Scale)

Supplementary Table S2 has been presented in the Chapter 2, Section 2.2.1

Supplementary Table S3: PRISMA 2009 Checklist

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review, meta-analysis, or both.	1
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: background; objectives; data sources; study eligibility	2
		criteria, participants, and interventions; study appraisal and synthesis methods; results; limitations; conclusions	
		and implications of key findings; systematic review registration number.	
INTRODUCTION	<u> </u>		
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known.	4
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions,	5
		comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).	
METHODS	-		
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address), and, if available, provide	6
		registration information including registration number.	

Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered,	6
		language, publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale.	(Supplementary
			Table S2)
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify	6
		additional studies) in the search and date last searched.	
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it could be	6&
		repeated.	Supplementary
			Table S1
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if	6-7
		applicable, included in the meta-analysis).	
Data collection process	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any	7
		processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and	7&
		simplifications made.	Supplementary
			Link S4
Risk of bias in individual	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was	N/A
studies		done at the study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means).	N/A

Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of	7
		consistency (e.g., I ²) for each meta-analysis.	

Page 1 of 2

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #			
Risk of bias across studies	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (e.g., publication bias, selective reporting within studies).	N/A			
Additional analyses	16	Describe methods of additional analyses (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression), if done, indicating which were pre-specified.	N/A			
RESULTS						
Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally with a flow diagram.	8			
Study characteristics	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (e.g., study size, PICOS, follow-up period) and provide the citations.	Supplementary Link S4			
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome level assessment (see item 12).	N/A			
Results of individual studies	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present, for each study: (a) simple summary data for each	N/A			
		intervention group (b) effect estimates and confidence intervals, ideally with a forest plot.				
-----------------------------	----	--	-------	--	--	--
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence intervals and measures of consistency.	N/A			
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see Item 15).	N/A			
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression [see Item 16]).	N/A			
DISCUSSION						
Summary of evidence	24	Summarize the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups (e.g., healthcare providers, users, and policy makers).	11-13			
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review-level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias).	14			
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	15-16			
FUNDING						
Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the systematic review.	18			

From: Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The

PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 6(7): e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1000097 For more information, visit: <u>www.prisma-statement.org</u>.

Supplementary Link S4: Data Extraction Sheet

Excel sheet which includes all data is stored in Figshare Repository can be downloaded from this link: https://figshare.com/s/2595153c63b923eaa0e8

Supplementary Table S5 has been presented in Chapter 2, Section 2.2.2

Supplementary Table S6: Summary of papers included in the systematic review

Author,	Year	Study design and	Target population	Setting	Data source	Number of	Example quality indicator
country		aim				quality	
						indicators*	
Bail et al. 419	2016	a narrative analysis	Complex older adults	Hospital	Not specified	4 – 0	Pressure injuries
Australia		of acute care	(including patients with				Numerator: Number of patients with
		literature to develop a conceptual	dementia)				pressure injuries who were untreated
		proposition					Denominator: The number of patients
							admitted to hospital
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Outcome
							Domain: Physical aspects
							Usability: Weak
Choi et al. 420	2018	a comparative	Palliative care patients	Community	Administrative	5-0	Changes in patients' symptoms
Popublic of		design approach to		palliative	data**		Numerator: Number of people who received
Keree		evaluate the		care			numerator. Number of people who received
когеа		outcomes of a					paillative care
		community-based					Denominator: Number of registered people

		palliative care					Benchmark: -
		project conducted in					Type: Outcome
		Busan city, Korea,					Type. Outcome
		from 2013 to 2015.					Domain: Physical aspects
							Usability: Moderate
Claessen et	2011	Phased approach:	End of life care	Applicable	Survey	49 – O	Dying peacefully
al. 421		Inventory (Existing		across care			Numerator: The number of relatives who
The		QIs, Systematic		settings			indicate that their relative died peacefully
Netherlands		Review) &					
Nethenands		Development and					Denominator: The total number of relatives
		testing of draft sets (among whom this quality indicator was
		Expert Panel					measured
		Consultation) to					Benchmark: -
		describe the					
		development and					Type: Outcome
		initial testing of a set					Domain: Spiritual and cultural aspects
		of quality indicators					Heekiit u Madarata
		for palliative care,					Usability: Moderate
		applicable for all					
		settings in which					
		palliative care is					

		being provided for					
		adult patients in The					
		Netherlands					
Cook et al.	2016	a survey of	Palliative care patients	Community	Survey	13 – P	Use of a diary issued to all patients in the
422		Commissioning for		nursing			last few days of life to improve the
ПК		Quality and					communication with relatives, on their
ÖK		Innovation (CQUIN)					satisfaction with the End of Life care of their
		indicators for					loved one; in order to identify areas for
		community nursing					change and improvements in care in the last
		in focusing on					few days of life.
		indicators for end of					Numerator: Number of nationts who use the
		life care					diary within last few days of life to improve
							communication and satisfaction with end of
							life care
							Denominator: Number of people on the end
							of life register
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: Communication, advance care

							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Weak
De Schreye	2017	modified	People with	Applicable	Population-	28	Gastric protectors
et al. ⁴²³ Belgium		RAND/UCLA appropriateness method to develop indicators of appropriate and Weak end-of-life care for people with cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or Alzheimer's disease, measurable with population- level administrative	Alzheimer's disease	across care settings	level administrative data	17 – P 11 - O	Numerator: those who received two or more prescriptions of gastric protectors in the last 6 months prior to death (i.e. prescription until death) Denominator: number of people who died with Alzheimer's disease Benchmark: <22.4% Type: Process Domain: Physical aspects Usability: Robust
	2011				.		
Gozalo et al.	2011	Secondary data	Nursing home residents	Applicable	Population-	3 – Y	Any transfer in the last 3 days of life
424		analysis to describe		across care	level		Numerator: the number of residents who
		rates of burdensome		settings	administrative		

USA		transition in this			data		transfer within the last 3 days of life
		population, identify					Denominator: the number of nursing home
		factors that were					residents who died
		associated with an					residents who died
		increased rate of					Benchmark: -
		burdensome					Type: Process
		transition, and					
		examine the					Domain: Multiple care domains
		association between					Usability: Weak
		regional rates of					
		burdensome					
		transition and					
		outcomes that are					
		markers of Weak					
		quality in end-of-life					
		care.					
Guthrie et al.	2019	Secondary data	Seriously ill home care	Home care	Standardized	11-0	Prevalence of social isolation
425		analysis to propose	residents				Numeratory Client is close for long periods
Canada	and then examine a			assessment		of time or all of the time. AND Client	
Candüa		preliminary set of			1001		indicator faoling langly OP Decline in social
		QIs for seriously ill					multates reening ionery - OK Decline III SOCIAI

home care	activities, client is distressed
clients in six	Denominator: All clients who were
Canadian provinces.	reassessed
	Benchmark: -
	Type: Outcome
	Domain: Psychosocial aspects
	Usability: Robust

Heckman et	2019	Qualitative	Dementia end of life	Applicable	Administrative	14 – P	Patients referred to a specialist if one or
al. 426		interviews of quality		across care	Data		more of the following is documented:
Canada		assurance		settings			1. Course of the dementia is rapidly
		framework to					progressive
		understand					P 0
		physicians' and					2. Characteristics suggest rare types of
		specialists'					dementia, such as focal or frontal features or
		perspectives on such					visual hallucinations in early stages of the
		a system and					dementia
		identify barriers to					3. Persistent patient or caregiver complaints
		its implementation					of problematic symptoms, or unexplained

investigation results
4. Uncertainty about the diagnosis
5. Patient is younger than 65 years
Numerator: The number of patients referred
for one of the five criteria
Denominator: All patients seen with
documentation of one or more of these five
criteria
Benchmark: -
Type: Process
Domain: Multiple domains
Usability: Moderate

Kendell et al.	2020	Literature review	Older people with	Long-term	Administrative	8	Readmission within 30 days of previous
427		and stakeholder	frailty	care	Data	7– P	discharge
Canada		interviews/Delphi to			Data	, ,	Numerator: The number of natients who
Cunudu		describe the current				1-0	were re-admitted within the last 30 days of
		state of care for					were re-admitted within the last 50 days of

		older persons with					last discharge
		frailty					Denominator: Number of people who had an admission
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Outcome
							Domain: Multiple domains
							Usability: Moderate
Kergoat et	2009	Reliability and	End of life care	Hospital	Administrative 5 -	– P	Patient-centred care - Level of care as
al. 428		feasibility study to			Data		expressed by the patient) - item 165; Inform
Caralla		create a quality			Data		the patient and brief the family on the
Canada		assessment tool for					patient's clinical situation, Ordinal variable
		acute care					with 3 levels : - neither item present - at
							least one item present - both items present
							Numerator: -
							Denominator: -
							Benchmark: -

							Type: Process
							Domain: Other/multiple domains
							Usability: Moderate
Kröger et al.	2007	Literature review	Dementia	Applicable	Medical files	63 – P	IF a vulnerable elder presents with
429		and RAND/UCLA		across care	or by		symptoms of dementia that correspond in
Canada		evaluating face and		settings	interview		time with the initiation of new medications
Canada		content validity,					(prescriptions, over the counter or
		feasibility and					supplements) THEN the physician should
		reliability of					discontinue or justify the necessity of
		process quality					continuing these medications
		indicators developed					Numerator: Number of people where the
		previously in the					physician discontinued or justified the
		United States or					necessity of continuing newly initiated
		other countries for					medications
		Canada					Denominator: Vulnerable elders who present with symptoms of dementia
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process

Domain: Structure and process

Usability: Robust

Leemans et	2017	Two round	End of life care	Applicable	Survey	31	Pain assessment
al. ⁴³⁰		RAND/UCLA expert		across care		15 – P	Numerator: number of patients who were
Belgium		consultation to		settings			subjected to a general symptom assessment
		develop a minimal				16 - 0	on a validated scale
		indicator set for					
		efficient quality					Denominator: total number of patients for
		assessment in					whom this indicator was measured
		palliative care					Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: Physical aspects
							Usability: Moderate
Leff et al. 431	2015	RAND Modified	Homebound older	Home care	Administrative	19	Pain
USA		Delphi for the	people with complex		data	7 – P	Numerator: Unclear
00/1		network's quality-of-	conditions			, ,	
		care framework,				12 - 0	Denominator: Unclear
		which includes ten					Benchmark: -
		quality-of-care					

		domains, thirty-two					Type: Outcome
		standards, and					Domain: Physical domain
		quality indicators					
		that are being tested					Usability: Weak
		in the field.					
Lind et al. 432	2013	Review of existing	End of life care	Applicable	Not specified	2 -P	Pain
Swodon		QIs in national		across			Numerator: Eraction of poople aged 65
Sweden		Swedish policy		settings			wave and elder whe have diad, for whom
		documents relevant					years and older who have died, for whom
		to palliative care and					pain was estimated with the aid of a
		end of life care.					scientifically evaluated instrument such as
							an NRS or a VAS, during the final week of
							lite
							Denominator: People aged 65 years and
							older who have died
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: Physical aspects
							Usability: Weak

Lindenauer	2011	Secondary data	End of life care	Hospital	Administrative	1-0	Rehospitalization within 30 days of
et al. 433		analysis to describe			Data		treatment for pneumonia
USA		the development,			Dutu		Numerator: People who were admitted
		validation, and					within 30 days of treatment for pneumonia
		results of a risk-					
		standardized					Denominator: All patients with a principal
		measure of hospital					discharge diagnosis of pneumonia
		readmission rates					Benchmark: -
		among elderly					-
		patients with					Type: Outcome
		pneumonia					Domain: Multiple domains
		employed in federal					Usability: Robust
		quality					
		measurement and					
		efficiency initiatives.					
Lorenz et al.	2007	Literature review	End of life care	Applicable	Administrative	16 – P	ALL vulnerable elders (VEs) should have in
434		and expert panel to		across care	data		the outpatient chart patient's surrogate
1154		develop a set of		settings			decision maker, or documentation of a
USA		quality indicators					discussion to identify or search for a
		(QIs) broadly					surrogate decision maker.
		addressing palliative					Numerator: ALL VEs should have in the

		and end-of-life care					outpatient chart patient's surrogate decision
		as it applies to					maker, or documentation of a discussion to
		vulnerable elders					identify or search for a surrogate decision
		(VEs).					maker
							Denominator: Unclear (All VEs who died)
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Weak
Masaki et al.	2017	Literature review,	Older people	Applicable	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or
Masaki et al.	2017	Literature review, expert panel, Delphi	Older people	Applicable across care	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or care THEN The medical team should reach a
Masaki et al. 435	2017	Literature review, expert panel, Delphi process to develop	Older people	Applicable across care settings	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or care THEN The medical team should reach a consensus about the prognosis and
Masaki et al. ⁴³⁵ Japan	2017	Literature review, expert panel, Delphi process to develop and build a	Older people	Applicable across care settings	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or care THEN The medical team should reach a consensus about the prognosis and treatment goals —based on the state of
Masaki et al. ⁴³⁵ Japan	2017	Literature review, expert panel, Delphi process to develop and build a consensus of quality	Older people	Applicable across care settings	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or care THEN The medical team should reach a consensus about the prognosis and treatment goals —based on the state of functional decline due to age and stage of
Masaki et al. ⁴³⁵ Japan	2017	Literature review, expert panel, Delphi process to develop and build a consensus of quality indicators for	Older people	Applicable across care settings	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or care THEN The medical team should reach a consensus about the prognosis and treatment goals —based on the state of functional decline due to age and stage of illness.
Masaki et al. ⁴³⁵ Japan	2017	Literature review, expert panel, Delphi process to develop and build a consensus of quality indicators for end-of-life care for	Older people	Applicable across care settings	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or care THEN The medical team should reach a consensus about the prognosis and treatment goals —based on the state of functional decline due to age and stage of illness. Numerator: Number of people who had a
Masaki et al. ⁴³⁵ Japan	2017	Literature review, expert panel, Delphi process to develop and build a consensus of quality indicators for end-of-life care for elders in Japan from	Older people	Applicable across care settings	Not specified	29 – P	Usability: Weak IF the elderly is undergoing treatment or care THEN The medical team should reach a consensus about the prognosis and treatment goals —based on the state of functional decline due to age and stage of illness. Numerator: Number of people who had a decision-making/discussion around where

		nursing science					discussion jointly with family *or if they
							don't have a family, appointment of
							someone else in case a decision is needed to
							be made in future)
							Denominator: Number of elderly undergoing
							treatment or care
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Ucability: Moderate
							Usability. Moderate
Mays et al.	2018	Expert consultation	Nursing home residents	Community	Not specified	77 – P	IF a NHR has suspected or definite diagnosis
436		to identify QIs that		– PCPs			of delirium, acute confusional state, or
115.4		could be used to		participating			reduced level of consciousness, THEN there
UJA		assess the quality of		in NH			should be a documented attempt to identify
		care of primary care		practices			a potential aetiology.
		providers (PCPs)					
		participating in NH					Numerator: Number of NHRs with suspected
		practices.					or definite diagnosis of delirium, acute
		h					confusional state, or reduced level of

							consciousness with attempted identification
							of aetiology
							Denominator: Number of NHRs with
							suspected or definite diagnosis of delirium,
							acute confusional state, or reduced level of
							consciousness
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: Structure and processes
							Usability: Moderate
Miranda et	2018	Literature review	Dementia	Community	Survey	9	Multidisciplinary consultation
al. 437		and expert panel to		– Primary			
		answer the research		palliative		7 – P	Numerator: Number of patients for whom a
Belgium,		question:		care		2 – 0	multidisciplinary consultation took place
Italy, Spain		question		cure			approximately once a week or approximately
		'What is the quality					everyday
		of primary palliative					Denominator: All natients for whom the
		care in Belgium, Italy					question was answered
		and Spain for older					question was answered
		people who died					Benchmark: "At least once a week"

		non-suddenly with					Type: Process
		mild or severe					Demoin communication advance care
		dementia?' using					Domain: communication, advance care
		quality indicators					planning, and ethical and legal aspects
		(QIs)					Usability: Weak
Morris et al.	2013	Expert opinion for	Frail older living in the	Community	Standardized	23 – 0	Falls
438		the development of interRAI's second-	community	– home	assessment		Numerator: Number of home care clients
Europe, Canada, USA		generation home			τοοι		who had a fall.
		care quality					Denominator: Number of home care clients
		indicators					Benchmark: 22.3%
		(HC-QIs)					Type: Outcome
							Domain: Physical aspects
							Usability: Robust
Mukamel et	2012	To develop	End of life care	Community	Administrative	2	Place of death
al. 439		prototype EOL QMs		– nursing	Data	1 – P	Numerator: Percentage of people who died
USA		that can be		homes			in the hospital
		calculated from data				1-0	
		sources available for					Denominator: All who died
		all nursing homes					

		nationally					Benchmark: -
							Type: Outcome
							Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Weak
Mularski et	2006	Literature review	Critically ill	Hospital	Administrative	14 – P	Goals of care and resuscitation status
al. 440		and expert		care (Critical	data		Numerator: Total number of patients
USA		consensus group to		care)			transferred out of the ICU with
		use a consensus					documentation that the goals of care and
		process to develop a					resuscitation status were communicated to
		preliminary set of					the receiving team.
		quality measures to					
		assess palliative care					Denominator: Total number of patients
		in the critically ill					transferred out of the ICU alive to another
							service in the hospital or other care facility.
							(Exclusions: Patients who die in the ICU and
							patients discharged to home from the ICU
							without home care services.)
							Benchmark: -

							Type: Process
							Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Moderate
Nelson et al.	2006	Literature review	Critically ill	Intensive	Standardized	8	Social work support
441		and expert panel to		care units	assessment	4 – P	Numerator: Number of patients with
USA		develop a practical			tool		documentation that social work support was
		set of measures for				4 – 0	offered to the patient/ family
		routine monitoring,					Denominatory Total number of nationts with
		performance					Denominator: Total number of patients with
		feedback, and					ICU length of stay >3 days
		improvement in the					Benchmark: -
		quality of palliative					Type: Process
		care in the intensive					
		care unit (ICU).					Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Moderate
Oborne et al.	2002	Cross-sectional	Nursing home residents	Community	Administrative	2 – P	Appropriate neuroleptic prescription (a)
185		survey to develop an		– nursing	data		psychotic disorders; b) organic mental
		indicator of					syndromes with behaviour presenting

UK		appropriate		home			danger to patient, others or interfering with
		neuroleptic					provision of care; c) hiccough, nausea,
		prescribing based on					vomiting (short-term only)
		US OBRA guidelines					Numerator: Percentage of NH residents who
							were prescribed neuroleptic medications
							appropriately.
							Denominator: Number of NHs residents
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: Physical aspects
							Usability: Robust
Odenheimer	2013	A new measurement	People with dementia	Applicable	Not-specified	10 - P	Palliative care counselling and advance care
et al. 442		set for dementia		across care			planning
USA		management		settings			Numerator: Percentage of patients
00/1		developed by an					regardless of age, with a diagnosis of
		interdisciplinary					
		Dementia Measures					dementia, or their caregiver(s), who 1)
		Monte Crown					received comprehensive counselling
		work Group					regarding ongoing palliation and symptom
		(DWG) representing					management and end-of-life decisions and

	the major national					2) have an advance care plan or surrogate
	organizations and					decision-maker in the medical record or
	advocacv					documentation in the medical record that
	organizations					the patient did not wish or was not able to
	concerned with the					name a surrogate decision-maker or provide
	care of individuals					an advance care plan within 2 years of initial
						diagnosis or assumption of care
	with definentia					Denominator: All patients with dementia diagnosis Benchmark: - Type: Process Domain: communication, advance care planning, and ethical and legal aspects
						Usability: Weak
Roberts et al. 199	4 Two round Delphi	Old people end of life	Hospital –	Not specified	11	Reduce carer burden
443	study to obtain a		geriatric		3 – P	Numerator: Number of carers with reduced
UK	consensus view		care			carer burden
-	from consultant				8 – 0	
	geriatricians about					Denominator: All those who use geriatric

Schenck et	2010	To develop a set of	End of life care	Hospice and	Standardized	47	Numerator: Percent of patients who have
		vulnerable elders.					
		institutionalized					
		targets for					
		improvement					Usability: Robust
		as quality					Domain: Physical aspects of care
		conditions identified					iype: Process
		general medical					
		outcomes for					Benchmark: 0.34
		with better					Denominator: Number of home care clients
USA		processes associated					did not have a flu vaccination
		specific care		homes	interview		Numerator: Number of nome clients who
444		develop a set of		– nursing	records or		Numero allowed and a filments when
Saliba et al.	2005	Delphi study to	Nursing home residents	Community	Medical	110 – P	Flu vaccination
							Usability: Weak
		services					Domain: Psychosocial aspects of care
		geriatric medical					Type: Outcome
		measures for					
		performance					Benchmark: -
		appropriate					services

al. 445	quality measures,		palliative	assessment	31 – P	documented discussion to identify spiritual
	with complete		care	tool	16 0	or religious concerns as they affect care
USA	specifications, and				10-0	Denominatory Dalliative care and bespice
	data collection tools					Denominator: Pallative care and hospice
	for use by hospice					patients for whom the process/outcome was
	and palliative care					expected
	providers in quality					Benchmark: -
	improvement					
	improvement.					Type: Outcome
						Domain: Spiritual and cultural aspects of
						care
						Usability: Moderate
Schnitker et 2015	Literature review	Dementia end of life	Hospital –	Administrative	11 – P	Delirium Screening
al. 446	and expert panel to	care	Emergency	data		Numerator: The number of older ED
Australia	develop process		departments			patients who have a suspected or definite
	quality indicators					' '
	(PQIs) to support the					documented an attempt to attribute the
	improvement of core					altered mental state to a potential sticlogy
	improvement of care					altered mental state to a potential etiology
	services for older					Denominator: The number of older ED
	people with					Denominator: The number of older ED patients who have a suspected or definite

		impairment in					medical record review)
		emergency					Benchmark: 70%
		departments					
							Type: Process
							Domain: Structure and processes
							Usability: Robust
Sinuff et al.	2015	Delphi study to	End of life care	Applicable	Not specified	26	Before hospitalization, the patient and/or a
447		develop quality		across		24 – P	family member discussed their preferences
Canada		indicators related to		settings		27 1	for using or not using medically appropriate
Canada		EOL communication				2 – 0	life-sustaining treatments with their family
		and decision making					doctor or other doctor
							Numerator: The number of patients and/or
							family members that discussed their
							preferences for using or not using medically
							appropriate life-sustaining treatments with
							their family doctor or other doctor before
							hospitalization
							Denominator: All patients admitted to acute
							care setting

							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Weak
Terrell et al.	2009	Literature review	Older vulnerable	Hospital –	Administrative	23	Detecting Whether Cognitive Abnormalities
448		and expert panel to	people attending	Emergency	data	21 – P	Were Previously Recognized 5. IF an older
115.4		develop ED-specific	emergency	departments		21 1	adult presenting to an ED is 1) found to have
UJA		quality indicators for	departments			2 – 0	an abnormal mental status, 2) has no change
		older patients to					in mental status from baseline, and 3) is
		help practitioners					discharged home, THEN the ED provider
		identify quality gaps					should document whether there has been
		and focus quality					previous recognition or diagnosis of an
		improvement efforts					abnormal mental status by another health
							care provider (or document an unsuccessful
							attempt to determine this)
							Numerator: Number of older adults
							presenting to an ED where the ED provider
							documented a previous recognition or
							diagnosis of an abnormal mental status by

							another health care provider (or document
							an unsuccessful attempt to determine this)
							Denominator: Number of older adults
							presenting to an ED who were found to have
							an abnormal mental status, 2) had no
							change in mental status from baseline, and
							3) was discharged home
							Benchmark: -
							Type: Process
							Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Weak
Towers et al.	2015	To create a draft	End of life care	Community	Standardized	8-0	Personal safety - Feeling safe and free from
449		toolkit and explore		– Care home	accoccmont		fear Residents feel safe and free from fear of
		its feasibility as a			assessment		physical and psychological harm and are
UK		care home quality			1001		supported to manage risks
		indicator					Numeratory The number of residents who
							Numerator: The number of residents who
							teel sate and tree from fear of physical and
							psychological harm and are supported to

					manage risks
					Denominator: All care home residents
					Benchmark: -
					Type: Outcome
					Domain: Psychosocial aspects of care
					Usability: Robust
Secondary data	Patients with advanced	Hospital	Administrative	10	Documentation of discharge plan
analysis to provide	chronic conditions		Data	7 – P	Numerator: The percentage of all cases with
practice standards,					documentation that such a meeting
guidelines and				3-0	between patient/family and members of the
performance					healthcare team to discuss the patient's
measures for					treatment preferences or the plans for
delivering effective					discharge dispecition accurred during the
palliative care and to					
					first week of the hospital stay

Denominator: All admitted patients

Benchmark: 90%

Twaddle et

al. 450

USA

2007

assess current levels

of performance for

these measures.

							Type: Process
							Domain: communication, advance care
							planning, and ethical and legal aspects
							Usability: Moderate
Van der	2008	A modified	Old people end of life	Applicable	Not specified	7- P	Depression - IF a vulnerable elder has
Ploeg et al.		version of the	care	across care			comorbid dementia or a somatic disease,
451		RAND/UCLA		settings			THEN an existing depression should still be
The		appropriateness					treated.
Netherlands		method to describe					Numerator: Number of people where
		the adaptation of a					depression is treated
		set of systematically					Denominator: Number of vulperable elders
		developed US					with depression and comorbid dementia or a
		quality indicators for					somatic disease
		healthcare for					
		vulnerable elders in					Benchmark: -
		The Netherlands					Type: Process
							Domain: Psychosocial aspect

							Usability: Robust
Van Riet	2014	a modified RAND	Dementia end of life	Applicable	Not specified	10 – P	Use of opioids - Opioids are accessible and
Paap et al. 452		Delphi procedure to	care	across care	·		available for persons in need of palliative
Tho		compose a set of		settings			care 24/7.
Netherlands		palliative care QIs					Numerator:
Nethenanus		based on existing					Numerator
		sets of QIs on the					Denominator: -
		organisation of					Benchmark: -
		palliative care					Tunel Drocoss
							Type. Process
							Domain: Physical aspects
							Usability: Weak
Wenger et	2007	Literature review	Vulnerable elders (VEs)	Applicable	Medical	248 – P	IF an outpatient VE was referred to a
al. 453		and expert panel to	with advanced	across care	records or		consultant and revisited the referring
1154		use a formal	dementia (AD) or Weak	settings	interviews		physician, THEN the referring physician's
03/(decision-making	prognosis (PP).				medical record should acknowledge the
		strategy to reach					consultant's recommendations, include the
		clinically					consultant's report, or indicate why the
		appropriate,					consultation did not occur.
		internally consistent					Numerator: Outpatient VEs of whom the
		decisions on the					

		application of quality					referring physician's medical record
		indicators (QIs) to					acknowledges the consultant's
		vulnerable elders					recommendations, includes the consultant's
		(VEs) with advanced					report, or indicates why the consultation did
		dementia (AD) or					not occur
		Weak prognosis (PP).					Denominator: Outpatient VEs who were referred to a consultant and revisited the referring physician Benchmark: - Type: Process Domain: Structure and processes
							Usability: Robust
Zimmerman	1995	Development and	Nursing home residents	Community -	Administrative	23	Prevalence of little or no activity
et al. ⁴⁵⁴ USA		testing of a set of indicators		nursing homes	data	7- P 16-0	Numerator: Number of people with little or no activity
		of quality of care in					Denominator: Total number of nursing
		nursing homes, using					home residents
		resident-level					Benchmark: -

assessment data

Type: Outcome

Domain: Physical aspects of care

Usability: Robust

*P: Process, O: Outcome, QI: Quality indicator, NH: Nursing home, ED: Emergency department, PCP: primary care providers

** Administrative data includes routinely collected data that were not predominantly collected for research/purpose-specific (e.g. electronic medical records, and data collected for insurance purposes)

Supplementary Table S7. Shortlist of Recommended Quality Indicators Grouped by Domain of Care

QI Description	Quality in	ndicator	Psychometri	c properties					Population	Setting	Data Source
	Characte	ristics									
	Standar	Indicato	Acceptabili	Evidence	Definition	Feasibilit	Reliability	Validity	Dementia	Place of care	
	d	r type	ty	base		У			Older people	& Place of	
										residence	
									Both	where	
										applicable	
Operational aspects	s of care										
No. of people who	>6.2%	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
received official		е									level health
palliative care											insurance
status, enabling											registry linked
financial											with
government											healthcare
support for											databases
palliative care at											
any point prior to											
death/ No. of											
people who died											

with Alzheimer's

disease

No. of people who	>9.5%	Process	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
received					ate						level health
specialized											insurance
palliative care											registry linked
(hospital palliative											with
unit OR palliative											healthcare
day care centre											databases
OR											
multidisciplinary											
<i>home care</i>) in the											
last two years											
prior to death/No.											
of people who											
died with											
Alzheimer's											
disease											
No. of people who	<2.6%	Process	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
had a first referral					ate						level health
to specialized											insurance

palliative care OR										registry linked
received the										with
official palliative										healthcare
statute in the last										databases
week										
hafara daath / Na										
before deathy No.										
of people who										
died with										
Alzheimer's										
disease										
No. of people who NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Hospital –	Population-
had one or more	е								Place of	level health
hospital									residence	insurance
admissions in the									not specified	registry linked
last [6, 3, 1]										with
month/s prior to										healthcare
death/ No. of										databases
people who died										
people who died with Alzheimer's										
people who died with Alzheimer's disease										

No. of people with	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Intensive	Population-
at least one ICU		е								care unit –	level health
admission during										Place of	insurance
last 30 days of										residence	registry linked
life/										not specified	with
The number of											healthcare
patients who were											databases
' admitted to ICU in											
the last 30 days											
,											
No. of people who	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Emergency	Population-
visited ED within		e			ate					department	level health
the last month											insurance
and year of life/											registry linked
No of people who											with
had ED visits for											healthcare
any diagnosis											databases
No. of people who	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Intensive	Population-
had one or more		е								care unit –	level health
ICU admissions in										Place of	insurance
the last month of										residence	registry linked
life/No. of											with
patients who were										not specified	healthcare
----------------------	----	--------	----------	----------	-----------	----------	----------	----------	------	---------------	-----------------
admitted to ICU in											databases
the last 30 days											
Overall 30-day	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Both	Hospital –	Population-
readmission rate		е								Place of	level health
for people who										residence	insurance
had a principal										not specified	registry linked
discharge											with
diagnosis of											healthcare
pneumonia											databases
No. of inpatient	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Hospital	Population-
days in the last 30		е			ate						level health
days of life OR last											insurance
year life OR most											registry linked
recent year/No. of											with
patients admitted											healthcare
in the last 30 days											databases
of life OR last year											
life OR most											
recent year											

Proportion of	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Not specified	Population-
patients who		е			ate						level health
received											insurance
continuity of care											registry linked
(defined as seen											with
by the same											healthcare
family physician)											databases
within the last											
year of life/most											
recent year											
	> 02 C	Outeen	Desitive	Desitive		Desitivo			Domontio	Duineautraana	Deputation
An increase in	>82.6	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Primary care	Population-
average number		е			ate					– Place of	level health
of contacts with a										residence	insurance
family physician in										not specified	registry linked
the last month											with
prior to death											healthcare
compared to the											databases
previous 23											
months/ No. of											
people who died											
with Alzheimer's											

disease

No of innationt	ΝΔ	Outcom	Positivo	Positivo	Intermedi	Positivo	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Hospital	Population-
	NA	Outcom	FUSILIVE	FUSILIVE	intermeur	FUSILIVE	UTIKITUWI	UTKHUWI	DUII	ποεριται	
days in the last 30		е			ate						level health
days of life OR last											insurance
year life OR most											registry linked
recent year/No. of											with
patients admitted											healthcare
in the last 30 days											databases
of life OR last year											
life OR most											
recent year											
No. of people who	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Hospital –	Population-
died in hospital/		е								Place of	level health
No. of people who										residence	insurance
died with										not specified	registry linked
Alzheimer's											with
disease											healthcare
											databases
No. of people who	>58.9	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Nursing	Population-
died at home or		е								home – Place	level health
nursing home/										of residence	insurance

No. of people who	not specified	registry linked
died with		with
Alzheimer's		healthcare
disease		databases

Communication, advance care planning and

ethical and legal aspects of care

No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Hospital - –	Medical
had their follow-										Place of	records
up appointment										residence	
after being										not specified	
discharged (or											
documented that											
it was postponed											
or not needed)											
from a											
hospital/No of											
people who had a											
scheduled follow-											
up appointment											
after being											
discharged from											

the hospital

No. of people with	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Hospital - –	Medical
a discharge					ate					Place of	records
summary/No of										residence	
people who were										not specified	
discharged from a											
hospital to home											
or to a nursing											
home											
No. of people who	ΝΔ	Process	Positivo	Positivo	Intermedi	Unknown	Unknown	Positivo	Both	Not specified	Population-
	NA .	1100033	rositive	rositive	interneur	OTIKITOWIT	OTIKITOWIT	rositive	both	Not specified	
received					ate						level health
education about											insurance
the purpose of the											registry
drug, how to take											
it, and the											
expected side											
effects or											
important adverse											
reactions/No of											
people who were											
prescribed a new											

medication											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical
discussed											records
treatment with a											
cholinesterase											
inhibitor/No of											
people with mild											
to moderate											
Alzheimer's											
disease											
No. of people (and	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical
caregivers) who											records
discussed patient											
safety,											
information on											
education on how											
to deal with											
conflicts at home,											
and community											
resources for											
dementia/No of											

people with

dementia

No. of people with	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Hospital -	Medical
dementia (and/or										Place of	records
caregivers) the										residence	
target behavioural										not specified	
disturbance/safet											
y issue justifying											
the use of											
restraints was											
documented in											
the medical											
record and											
communicated to											
the patient and/or											
caregiver/guardia											
n. / No. of people											
with dementia											
who were											
physically											
restrained in											

hospital											
No. of people	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
whose specific											records
treatment											
preferences were											
followed/No. of											
people with											
specific treatment											
preferences (for											
example, a do-											
not-resuscitate											
order, no tube											
feeding, or no											
hospital transfer)											
documented in a											
medical record											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Older people	Not specified	Population-
are able to										– People	level health
identify a										who live at	insurance
physician or a										home	registry
clinic to call for											

medical care or										
know the										
telephone										
number or other										
mechanism to										
reach this source										
of care/No of										
people who live at										
home										
No. of people who NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Both	Hospital -	Population-
had a									Place of	level health
documentation									residence	insurance
(during the									not specified	registry
emergency										
department visit										
or within the first										
2 days after										
admission) of										
communication										
with a continuity										
physician, of an										

attempt to reach a		
continuity		
physician, or that		
there is no		
continuity		
physician/No. of		
people who were		
treated at an		
emergency		
department or		
admitted to a		
hospital		
No. of outpatients NA Process Positive Positive	Intermedi Unknown Unknown Positive Both	Hospital - Population-
who had one of	ate	Place of level health
the following at		residence insurance
the follow-up		not specified registry
visit: Result of the		
test initiated or		
acknowledged,		

note that the test

was not needed or

reason why it will											
not be performed,											
Note that the test											
is pending/No. of											
outpatients who											
were given an											
order for a											
diagnostic test											
No. of people with	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
dementia who					ate					·	level health
had a discussion											insurance
around											registry
antipsychotic risk-											
benefit/No of											
people with											
dementia and											
behavioural											
symptoms newly											
treated with an											
antipsychotic											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	People who	Population-

had the name and										live at a	level health
contact										nursing	insurance
information for										home	registry
the patient's											
surrogate decision											
maker or a											
discussion to											
identity or search											
for a surrogate											
decision maker											
within 48 hours of											
nursing home											
admission/No. of											
nursing home											
residents											
No. of people	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Both	Intensive	Population-
where the		1100003	1 Osterve	1 OSICIVE	i ostave	on known	child with	1 OSICIVE	both	care unit	level health
where the											
treatment										Place of	insurance
preferences were										residence	registry
considered or										not specified	
attempt was											

made to identify											
them within 48											
hours of ICU											
admission/No. of											
people who were											
admitted to the											
ICU and survived											
48 hours											
No. of people	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Hospital –	Population-
where life-										Place of	level health
sustaining										residence	insurance
treatment										not specified	registry
withdrawal orders											
were											
followed/No. of											
people with											
treatment											
preferences s to											
withhold or											
withdraw life-											
sustaining											

treatment

Sum of number of	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Primary care	
contacts with a		e			ate					– Place of	
family physician or										residence	
other primary										not specified	
care professional											
in the last three											
months prior to											
death/ No. of											
people who died											
with Alzheimer's											
disease											
	te of caro										
Psychosocial aspect	is of care										
No. of people	<7.2%	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
received serotonin				te							level health
reuptake											insurance
inhibitors in the											registry linked
last three months											with
prior to death/											healthcare
No. of people who											databases
died with											

Alzheimer's

disease

No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical
had their					ate						records
performance in											
communicating											
and personal care											
was											
evaluated/Numbe											
r of people with a											
diagnosis of											
dementia in an											
intermediate											
stage											
No. of people	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
whose depression											level health
was treated/ No.											insurance
of vulnerable											registry
elders with											
depression and											
comorbid											

dementia or a

somatic disease

No of vulnerable	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Older people	Not specified	Medical
elders with											records
depression who											
were offered											
psychotherapy, or											
antidepressant											
treatment within											
2 weeks after											
diagnosis unless											
there is											
documentation											
(e.g., "watchful											
waiting") within											
that period that											
the patient has											
improved, or											
unless the patient											
has substance											
abuse or											

dependence, in											
which case											
treatment may											
wait until six											
weeks after the											
patient is in a drug											
or alcohol-free											
state/ No. of											
vulnerable elders											
with depression											
No of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
were screened for		11000033	i ositive	rositive	1 OSICIVE	onknown	onknown	i ositive	Dementia	Not specified	level health
depression/No.of											insurance
neonle who were											registry
people who were											registry
with domentia											
with dementia											
No. of people with	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Older people	Not specified	Population-
the presence or											level health
absence of											insurance
suicidal ideation											registry
and psychosis											

(consisting of, at											
minimum,											
auditory											
hallucinations or											
delusions)											
documented in											
medical											
records/No. of											
people diagnosed											
with depression											
Caroro											
Curers											
No. of people	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical
No. of people whose caregivers	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about their needs for	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about their needs for support	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about their needs for support services/No of	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about their needs for support services/No of people with a	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about their needs for support services/No of people with a diagnosis of	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about their needs for support services/No of people with a diagnosis of cognitive	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records
No. of people whose caregivers were asked about their needs for support services/No of people with a diagnosis of cognitive impairment/deme	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi ate	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical records

ntia

No. of caregivers	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
who were					ate						records
assessed for											
depression or											
thoughts of											
suicidality within 6											
months of losing											
their spouse/No.											
of vulnerable											
elders who lost											
their spouse											
No. of people	NA	Process	Positive	Unknown	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	People who	Medical
whose caregivers					ate					live at home	records
were asked about											
their needs for											
support											
services/No. of											
community-											
dwelling people											
aged 75+ with a											

diagnosis of											
cognitive											
impairment/deme											
ntia receiving											
home care											
services											
Physical aspects of	care										
Screening											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	People who	Medical
were checked for										live at home	records
tobacco use/No.											
of community-											
dwelling people											
aged 75+ with a											
diagnosis of											
cognitive											
impairment/deme											
ntia											
All community-	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	People who	Medical
dwelling should										live at	records

be weighed at		home/in
least every 6		community
months and these		
weights should be		
documented in		
the medical		
record - No. of		
people who were		
weighed every 6		
months/No. of		
community-		
dwelling patients		
aged 75+ with a		
diagnosis of		
cognitive		
impairment/deme		
ntia		
No of people for NA Process Positive Unknown	Intermedi Positive Unknown Positive Older people	People who Medical
which it was	ate	live at home records
documented that		
the provider		

inquired again											
about symptoms											
of cognitive											
impairment within											
12 months of the											
first											
presentation/No											
of community-											
dwelling people											
aged 75+ with											
symptoms of											
cognitive											
impairment but											
without a											
diagnosis of											
dementia											
No. of people with	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Hospital –	Medical
		11000033	1 OSITIVE	1 OSICIVE	1 OSICIVE	1 OSILIVE	onknown	1 OSICIVE	both		in calcula
a documented										Place of	records
mediation change										residence	
within 6 weeks of										not specified	
discharge/No. of											

vulnerable adults											
who were											
discharged from a											
hospital to home											
and he or she											
received a new											
prescription											
medication or											
change in											
medication											
(medication											
termination or											
change in dosage)											
before discharge											
No. of people who	<0.3%	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Hospital –	Population-
received blood				te						Place of	level health
transfusion in the										residence	insurance
last month prior										not specified	registry linked
to death /No. of											with
people who died											healthcare
with Alzheimer's											databases

disease

No. of people who	Below	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Hospital –	Population-
had diagnostic	25.5,			te						Place of	level health
testing	Diagnos									residence	insurance
(spirometry OR	tic									not specified	registry linked
radiography OR	testing e										with
blood drawn OR	Medical										healthcare
electrocardiogram	imaging										databases &
) in the last month	< 24.9,										Medical
prior to death/No.	Diagnos										records and
of people who	tic										administrative
died with	testing e										datasets
Alzheimer's	ECG or										
disease	pulmon										
	ary										
	function										
	testing										
	<15.5										
No. of people who	<0.5	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Hospital –	Population-
received surgery	-0.5	1000033		te	1 0511170	1 0511170	CHRIGWI	CHILIDWIT	Dementia	Place of	level health
in the last [6, 3, 1]										residence	insurance

month(s) prior to										not specified	registry linked
death/ No. of											with
people who died											healthcare
with Alzheimer's											databases &
disease											Medical
											records
No. of people who	<4.7	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
received statins				te							level health
and did not have											insurance
declining statin											registry linked
use in the last [12,											with
6, 1] months prior											healthcare
to death/ No. of											databases &
people who died											Medical
with Alzheimer's											records &
disease and											administrative
received statins											data
No. of people who	<22.4	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
received two or				te							level health
more											insurance
prescriptions of											registry linked

gastric protectors											with
in the last 6											healthcare
months prior to											databases
death (i.e.											
prescription until											
death)/ No. of											
people who died											
with Alzheimer's											
disease											
No. of people who	<5.5	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
received calcium				te							level health
or vitamin D in the											insurance
last [6, 3, 1]											registry linked
months prior to											with
death/ No. of											healthcare
people who died											databases &
with Alzheimer's											Medical
disease											records &
											administrative
											data
No. of people who	<41.1	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-

received a				te							level health
No. of people who	<31.1	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
dementia											
diagnosed with											
who were newly											
vulnerable elders											
measured/No of											
hormone											
stimulating											
and thyroid-											data
of vitamin B12											administrative
had serum levels											records &
No of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Dementia	Not specified	Medical
disease											
with Alzheimer's											
people who died											databases
death/ No. of											healthcare
months prior to											with
in the last [6, 3, 1]											registry linked
antihypertensives											insurance
received				te							level health

-	prescription for											insurance
	prophylactic gout											registry linked
	medication in the											with
	last 3 months											healthcare
	prior to death/											databases &
	No. of people who											Medical
	died with											records &
	Alzheimer's											administrative
	disease											data
	No. of people who	0.0	Process	Positive	Intermedia	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
	had a cancer				te							level health
	diagnosis and											insurance
	received											registry linked
	chemotherapy in											with
	the [12, 6] months											healthcare
	prior to death/											databases
	No. of people who											
	died with											
	Alzheimer's											
	disease and had a											
	cancer diagnosis											

No. of people who	>2.7	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Dementia	Not specified	Population-
received											level health
neuropathic											insurance
medication when											registry linked
receiving											with
morphine in the											healthcare
last 2 years prior											databases
to death/ No. of											
people who died											
with Alzheimer's											
disease											
No. of people	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Hospital –	Population-
patients admitted					ate					Place of	level health
in the last 30 days										residence	insurance
of life who use										not specified	registry linked
mechanical											with
ventilation at least											healthcare
once/No of											databases
people who were											
admitted to a											
hospital within											

the last 30 days of

life

No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Population-
received the											level health
following											insurance
medications as											registry linked
first- or second-											with
line therapy:											healthcare
Tertiary amine											databases &
tricyclics											Medical
(amitriptyline,											records &
imipramine,											administrative
doxepin,											data
clomipramine,											
trimipramine)											
Monoamine											
oxidase inhibitors											
(unless atypical											
depression is											
present),											
Benzodiazepines											

Stimulants (except											
methylphenidate)											
/No of vulnerable											
elders who											
received											
antidepressant											
medication											
No. of people with	ΝΔ	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
a baseline FCG		1100035	1 OSITIVE	1 OSITIVE	1 Ostive	1 Ositive	onknown	1 OSITIVE	both	Not specifica	records &
hefore initiation if											administrative
											data
											uata
performed in the											
prior 3 months/No											
of people with a											
history of cardiac											
disease who are											
started on a											
tricyclic											
medication											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
were prescribed											records &

monoamine										administrative
oxidase inhibitors										data
(MAOI) is not used										
for at least 2										
weeks after										
termination of the										
selective										
serotonin										
reuptake inhibitor										
(SSRI) and for at										
least 5 weeks										
after termination										
of fluoxetine)/No.										
of people taking a										
selective										
serotonin										
reuptake inhibitor										
(SSRI)										
No. of people who NA	Proces	ss Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
did not receive										records &
medications that										administrative

have the potential											data
for serious											
interactions with											
MAOIs or for at											
least 2 weeks											
after termination											
of the MAOI/No.											
of people who											
were taking an											
MAOI											
			B 111	-				a 111	D		
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
had electrolytes											records &
checked at least											administrative
yearly/No. of											data
people who were											
prescribed a											
thiazide or loop											
diuretic											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
were prescribed a											records &
medication with											administrative

strong											data
anticholinergic											
effects when											
alternatives were											
available/No of											
vulnerable elders											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
were treated											records &
concomitantly											administrative
with misoprostol											data
or a proton pump											
inhibitor/No. of											
people with a risk											
factor for											
gastrointestinal											
bleeding (aged ≥											
75, peptic ulcer											
disease, history of											
GI bleeding,											
warfarin use,											
chronic											

glucocorticoid											
use) who are											
treated with a											
nonselective											
NSAID											
No. of people with	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
documentation											records &
that the goal for											administrative
the INR is 2.0 to											data
3.0 or reason for											
other goal/ No. of											
vulnerable elders											
who were											
prescribed											
anticoagulants for											
atrial fibrillation											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Population-
had a											level health
documented											insurance
screening of											registry linked
occurrence of											with

recent falls											healthcare
annually/No. of											databases &
vulnerable elders											Medical
											records &
											administrativ
											data
Prevalence of falls	NA	Outcom	Unknown	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Intermedia	Both	Nursing	Medical
– No. of people		е						te		home	records
who had a fall/No.											
of nursing home											
residents not											
completely											
dependent on bed											
mobility (Risk											
adjusted for											
Parkinson's											
disease, ADL											
impairment, vision											
impairment)											
Prevalence of	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Not specified	Medical
delirium – No. of		е									records &
sudden newdataonset/change in											

onset/change in mental function OR had become agitated or disoriented/No of people who are											
mental function OR had become agitated or disoriented/No of people who are											
OR had become agitated or disoriented/No of people who are											
agitated or disoriented/No of people who are											
disoriented/No of people who are											
people who are											
on reassessment											
Prevalence of NA Outcom Positive Positive Positive Positive Unknown Unknown Both Not specified Medical											
statis/ulcers - No. e records &											
of people who											
had any lesion data											
caused by											
pressure, shear											
force, resulting in											
damage of											
underlying tissues											
-OR had an open											
lesion caused by											
poor circulation in											

the lower											
extremities/ No of											
people who are											
on reassessment											
No. of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Intermedi	Positive	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
were screened for					ate						records &
chronic pain											administrative
targeted history											data
and physical											
examination											
initiated within 1											
month and											
treatment											
offered/No. of											
vulnerable elders											
No. of people with	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Both	Not specified	Medical
a medical record											records
that contains											
documentation											
about presence or											
absence of pain											

during the last 7											
days of life/No. of											
people who were											
conscious during											
the last 7 days of											
life and who died											
an expected death											
Prevalence of	NA	Outcom	Positive	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Both	Not specified	Medical
constipation – No.		е									records &
of people who											administrative
had no bowel											data
movement in 3											
days/ No of											
people who are											
on reassessment											
Spiritual and cultura	al aspects o	of care									
No of people who	NA	Process	Positive	Positive	Positive	Unknown	Unknown	Positive	Older people	Not specified	Medical
had an interpreter											records
or translated											
materials which											
were used to											

facilitate	
communication/N	
o. of vulnerable	
elders who were	
deaf or did not	
speak English	
(excluding people	
with advanced	
dementia)	

Appendix 3. CRIS data application form, the approval email, honorary SLaM contract

CRIS Project Application Form

1. Details: First Name Emel Last name Yorganci Job Title ESRC PhD T Department Cicely Saun 2. Preferred email address (please use KCL, SLaM or an NHS email addresses for any communications regarding CRIS) emel.yorgar 3. Do you have a substantive or honorary contract with SLaM? View Guidance Notes Honorary SLaM Contract ٠ Project Title Identifying p 5. Lay Summary: Please provide just one sentence summarising the reasoning behind the project, and just one sentence describing what the project will do View Guidance Notes 4 4 D. 6. Objectives of the analysis View Guidance Notes - \mathbf{v} 4 ÷. 7. Rationale for the analysis (i.e. anticipated benefits / useful knowledge will arise from the results) View Guidance Notes

_____b

8. Types of variables you envisage using to define groups View Guidance Notes



12a. Will your project require linking CRIS data to one of the external datasets held by the SLAM secure clinical data linkage service (CDLS), e.g. HES (acute hospital admissions, outpatient and A&E attendance), cause of death data etc.? If Yes, please complete Q12b. If No, please continue to Q13 <u>View Guidance Notes</u>

|--|

12b. Please select which dataset you envisage your project will require linkage to (i.e. HES, Mortality)

HES, ONS/Mortality	4
4	▼

13. Names of anyone else who will be involved in CRIS use for this project (or state 'None'). Please provide the roles, affiliation and email addresses (They must have SLaM honorary contracts or be a SLaM member of staff)



14. Please provide details of your supervisor (Name, Profession, Department, Work address, Telephone number). Please note we would like the details of the supervisor for the project you've detailed in this application (This may not necessarily be your line manager) If you are applying as the supervisor for this project, please indicate your level of clinical and/or academic seniority.



15. How long do you envisage requiring use of CRIS for this project? <u>View Guidance</u> <u>Notes</u>



16. Is this project a BRC project? If so, which theme does it fall under?



17. Would you class your project as research, audit, service development or service evaluation?

Research	•
----------	---

18a. If audit, please confirm the project has received appropriate SLAM Clinical Governance approval and email the approval to the CRIS administrator along with this filled out application <u>View Guidance Notes</u>



18b. State the Directorate responsible for this approval



18c. Give the title of the approved project if different from above



19a. If research is intended to be published, please, State what is the output envisaged to directly arise from this analysis (publication/pilot study)? <u>View Guidance Notes</u>



19b. Is it likely that texts from CRIS will be quoted in the publications?



19c. Please give an indication of where you are intending to publish



20. Please list the CAG(s) for which your study may have relevance / utility



21. Use of CRIS requires adherence to the security model Please note here that you have read and understood these requirements . <u>View Guidance Notes</u>

I have read and understood the 🔺
7
22. Does this application relate to a study forming all or part of an MSc dissertation?
No 💌
22. In this president departition on industry funded 0
23. Is this project described as industry funded?

5. Lay Summary: Please provide just one sentence summarising the reasoning behind the project, and just one sentence describing what the project will do

One third of people aged over 65 will die with dementia, where England has one of the highest rates of hospital death in dementia (40%), with few people dying at home. This project aims to describe groups of patients with dementia who experience distinct end of life care outcomes related to healthcare utilisation.

6. Objectives of the analysis

 To describe the trajectories of healthcare utilisations of patients with dementia from the point of diagnosis to death

2. To identify sociodemographic and illness-related factors associated with healthcare utilisation of individuals with dementia approaching the end of life

 To identify groups of people with dementia who experience different patterns of healthcare utilisation over the course of the illness trajectory and how individuals change group membership overtime

 To project the future population burden of healthcare utilisation by patients with dementia approaching the end of life

Rationale for the analysis (i.e. anticipated benefits / useful knowledge will arise from the results)

About one third of people with dementia live until advanced stages, but many will die in the early or moderate stages from diseases other than dementia. Hence it is important to explore the healthcare utilisation across different stages of dementia. There is evidence that hospital admissions in individuals with dementia increases around the point of diagnosis and during the year of death. There is also evidence that multiple hospital admissions in the last 90 days of life of people with dementia are associated with sociodemographic factors such as being male, from a deprived area, depressed mood and presence of physical illness. However, we know very little about how the healthcare utilisation changes over the course of the illness trajectory and who are the groups who experience these

outcomes. Understanding how the healthcare utilisation differs for distinct groups of individuals with dementia at different points of the illness trajectory and how it changes over time is important in order to inform preventative interventions, and for setting policy and funding priorities. This study will shed light on variability in groups and healthcare utilisation trajectories of individuals with dementia towards the end of life. Better characterisation of these groups, how and when they might change towards the end of life could have significant implications for understanding modifiable risk factors, which could be targeted by interventions. We will also gain a better understanding about people who experience indicators of poor quality of care, such as unplanned hospital admissions.

8. Types of variables you envisage using to define groups

MMSE scores

Diagnosis – Coded ICD, NLP

First point of contact with the services

Time period/year

Age

Sex

Deprivation of area

9. Types of variables you envisage needing as outputs

Services used within SLaM

HES – hospital contacts – A&E, critical care, admissions, length of stay (date of admission and date of discharge)

10. Are there any variables / combinations of variables which might identify individuals on the database? (If yes: what steps will be taken to avoid de-anonymisation?)

The only thing I can think of is potentially looking at information around whether they have an informal carer or not, whether they live alone or not. But Megan warned me that the reliability of this information depends on the timepoint the information is extracted from. E.g. if a carer assessment was completed at the time of diagnosis, we can assume that the person had a close carer at that point, but not necessarily later.

Emel Yorganci

- 113
ve.pdf

Dear Emel

Happy new year!

Y our CRIS application reference number: Project 19 -113 '<u>Identifying patterns in health care</u> <u>utilisation and inequalities towards the end of life for individuals with dementia</u>' is now approved, with the following for your attention:

Your fine has you have SLaM Honorary contract but anyone accessing the HES data on the project will also require either a substantive or honorary SLaM contract or a KHP passport.

Please find attached our Welcome to CRIS Guide for your reference, <u>C4C Notes</u> and the link to the BRC website. Please be aware that CRIS users are requested to provide feedback on the progress of their study. You will be contacted for this purpose, for a mid-year review, after project approval by the CRIS administrator, until project completion. If your study has experienced a delay of greater than 3 months in starting, the oversight committee may request the application is resubmitted

http://www.maudsleybrc.nihr.ac.uk/

CRIS is a service and the team is available to answer any queries and offer guidance throughout y our time using CRIS. As a first step, please meet with M egan Pritchard, CRIS training and Development Lead (megan.pritchard@slam.nhs.uk), to discuss your search strategy.

We hold regular CRIS training sessions, if you are interested in attending a session please let either myself or Megan know and we will keep you informed of the next session to take place.

Best wishes, Debbie

Debbie Cummings BRC Nucleus Administrator

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust SLaM Biomedical Research Centre Nucleus | Maudsley Site | Ground Floor | Mapother House | De Crespigny Park | Denmark Hill | London | SE5 8AF Telephone: 020 3228 8553

020 3228 6000 The switchboard number for SLaM

For more information about CRIS, see our website: http://www.maudsley.brc.nihr.ac.uk/aboutus/core-facilities/clinical-record-interactive-search-cris/



South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust

Honorary Contract Request Form

In order to process an Honorary Contract the Manager needs to email ALL of the documents listed below to: <u>HRTransactions@slam.nhs.uk</u>

- Fully completed honorary contract request form (this form) •
- Fully completed honorary contract request form (and form)
 Fully completed honorary contract / non-substantive joiners form
 A relevant job description or list of duties
 2 references sourced and approved by the requesting manager

To speed up the Honorary Contract recruitment process for all applicants please send these documents in one single email.

Applicant Details (to be completed by the applicant)					
Surname	Yorganci		Title:	Miss	
First Name	Emel				
Home address and postcode					
Email address	emel.yorgar	nci@kcl.ac.uk			
Telephone number (s)			Date of Birth		
Professional body details (if applicable to hon. contract)	-		Professional Registration No.	-	
Current employer (if applica	Current employer (if applicable)				
Current job title (if applicab	le)	ESRC PhD Training Fellow			
Current place of study (if applicable) King's College London					
Current qualification working towards (if PhD applicable)					
applicable) Health Declaration As part of your application please indicate which of the below statements relate to you: Please tick <u>one</u> of the following options: A: I am not aware of any health conditions or disability which might impair my ability to undertake <u>x</u> effectively the duties required under this honorary contract. Image: Imag					

Honorary Contract Details (to be completed by the requesting manager)					
Type of placement being requested Please tick appropriate		CLINICAL (e.g. therapist, therapy assistant/trainee, research, observation)			
		NON-CLINICAL (e.g. research, admin, observation) 🔍			
		OTHER (please specify)			
Please note that unless HR is informed of an extension, this contract will be terminated on the given END date and a new application will need to be submitted.		Start date (Proposed)	End date (max. 1 year)		
References					
Please tick to confirm the	hat as the recruitir	ng manager you have			
 a) sent 2 approve b) you are satisfie 	d references to H d with these refer	R with all other required documentatio ences.			
		Supervisor Details			
(NB. One of either the Supervisor or Authorising Manager must be a substantive SLaM employee)					
Surname	STEWART				
First name	ROBERT				
Job title	Professor of Psychiatric Epidemiology & Clinical Informatics				
Work base and Team	Maudsley NIHR Biomedical Research Centre				
Telephone number	80240				
I confirm that I will supe	I confirm that I will supervise the placement being requested and will facilitate the agreed learning objectives.				
Signed	SignedName				
Date	Date				
Authorising Manager					
Surname	Broadbent				
First name	Matthew				
Job title	SLaM Clinical Informatics Lead				
Telephone number	Telephone number 0203 228 8553				
I confirm authorisation for the placement being requested.					
Signed Date 19 th Nov 2020					

Appendix 4. Supplementary material for Study 1

In order to identify diagnosis of dementia, Structured Query Language (SQL) (codes) as well as GATE (text) were used from the following source tables in the electronic health records: Attachment, Diagnosis, Event Correspondence, Presenting circumstances, Mental state formulation, Ward progress notes

Table. Identification of dementia diagnosis from CRIS dataset

Example terms (Used in NLP to search text)	ICD-10 Codes
Vascular dementia	F01*
Alzheimer's and vascular	
Alzheimer's Dementia	F00*, F05.1
atypical dementia	
atypical dementia, both vascular and	F00.2
Alzheimer's disease	
Dementia - Unspecified	F03, F03.0, F03.0, F00.3
Dementia Mixed	F00.1, F00.2, F02, F009
Lewy Body Dementia	F02.3
Parkinson's Dementia	F023

Supplementary material available online with Publication $2^{\rm 245}$

	Decedents	edents (n=12,667)										o were alive	at the stud	ty end (n=6	,554)				
Follow-up since	<1	1-2	2-3	3-4	4-5	5-6	6-7	7 – 9	9-12	>12	1-2	2-3	3-4	4-5	5-6	6-7	7-9	9-12	>12
dementia diagnosis	(n=3,231)	(n=2,290)	(n=1,871)	(n=1,52	(n=1,216)	(n=843	(n=610)	(n=709)	(n=335)	(n=38)	(n=1,309)	(n=1,252)	(n=973)	(n=703)	(n=582)	(n=473)	(n=545)	(n=565)	(n=152)
(years)				4))													
Had at least one	66.8	87.0	89.9	92.3	92.4	93.1	93.1	94.2	94.3	97.4	46.6	56.9	85.1	69.1	71.0	69.8	69.5	68.5	65.8
unplanned hospital																			
admission after																			
dementia diagnosis (%)																			
(n=14,759)																			
Gender (%)	571	572	61.6	60.8	64.0	63.6	66 7	70.1	60	60 F	64.0	65 5	CF	61	25.1	24	24	24	20
Telliale	57.1	57.5	01.0	00.0	04.5	03.0	00.7	70.1	09	00.5	04.5	0.0	05. 7	8	33.1	54.	54. 3	54. 3	36. 2
Ethnicity (%)													-			-	-	-	
Black	8	9.4	11.4	9.9	11.9	12.5	14.3	13.7	17.3	18.4	23.5	21.8	23.1	20.9	21.0	23.0	23.9	23.7	17.8
Asian	2.9	3.6	2.8	2.5	3.2	4.4	4.4	3.8	3.6	2.6	6.0	6.8	6.8	4.8	6.7	7.2	7.3	5.8	10.5
Other ethnic group	2.4	2.8	2.4	1.3	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.8	1.5	2.6	3.4	9.0	9.0	3.1	3.1	3.8	4.4	4.8	5.9
White	76.8	78.4	79.3	82.7	79.7	75.4	75.4	76.7	73.1	73.7	62.6	59.7	59.7	68.9	67.7	64.7	63.5	63.9	58.6
Missing	9.9	5.9	5.9	3.6	3.5	4.3	4.3	4.0	4.5	2.6	4.4	2.7	2.7	2.3	1.6	1.3	0.9	1.8	7.2
Age at diagnosis	84.7 (7.3)	83.7 (7.7)	83.1(7.4)	82 (7.7)	81.4(7.5)	80.4	79.5	78.6	76.8	74.1	80.3	79.7	78.9	77.8	77.8 (8.2)	76	74.5	73.7	72.5
Mean (SD)						(7.6)	(7.9)	(7.6)	(7.9)	(9.2)	(8.6)	(8.0)	(8.6)	(9.1)		(8.8)	(9.1)	(8.8)	(9.9)
	05 4 (7 4)	05 0 17 7	05 6 17 41	05.5	05.0 (7.5)			0.5 5			01.0 (0.0)	00.0 /0.01				0.0 5			
Age at death/window	85.1 (7.1)	85.2 (7.7)	85.6 (7.4)	85.5	85.9 (7.5)	85.8	85.9	80.5	80.9	87.4	81.8 (8.6)	82.2 (8.0)	82.4	82.3	85.5 (8.2)	82.5	82.3	84.1 /0 0\	85.9
end Mean (SD)				(7.7)		(7.0)	(8.0)	(7.0)	(7.9)	(9.1)			(8.0)	(9.0)		(0.0)	(9.1)	(0.0)	(9.9)
First recorded dementia																			
diagnosis (%)																			
Alzheimer's disease	36.5	42.4	47.4	49.1	47.0	52.0	53.8	52.8	57.3	63.2	52.9	59.4	60.6	55.3	55.3	52.9	53.2	45.1	44.7
Vascular dementia	30.5	30.2	25.3	24.0	28.5	23.8	22.5	24.1	23.3	23.7	17.3	16.9	1/./	19.2	19.1	18.0	22.8	25.3	31.6
Unspecified dementia	29.6	24.1	24.0	22.5	21.3	20.6	20.8	20.0	16.7	7.9	26.0	20.9	17.6	20.8	22.9	26.0	19.8	23.2	17.8
Lewy body dementia	1	1.1	1.2	1.1	0.5	0.8	0.5	0.0	0	5.2	1.8	0.9	1.5	1.0	1.2	0.2	1.1	0.5	0.7
<u>Outer</u> dementia	2.5	2.5	2.1	3.4	2.9	2.7	2.5	2.5	2.7	5.5	2.1	2.0	2.8	3./	1.0	3.0	3.1	3.8	5.5
MMSE ^a nearest to the	17.1(6.4)	17.6 (6.4)	17.6 (6.4)	18.2	18.6 (6.2)	18.7	18.8	19.1	18.4	20.6	20.2 (6.2)	20.0 (6.1)	19.4	20.1	20.6 (5.8)	20.2	20.4	20.0	20.8
diagnosis (%)				(6.4)	,	(6.2)	(6.2)	(6.3)	(6.7)	(6.9)	/	/	(6.1)	(6.0)	/	(6.3)	(6.1)	(6.2)	(6.8)
(n=12, 236)																			

Table 1. Characteristics of people with dementia stratified by time to death/ end of the follow-up period (n=19,221)

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·																			
MMSE categories (%)																			
Mild (≥20)	24.7	31.8	34.4	40.7	40.6	42.6	43.6	46.7	43.0	57.9	49.6	50.6	50.8	53.1	57.7	55.2	55.8	49.0	40.1
Moderate (10-19)	32.7	35.6	37.2	33.7	37.1	36.9	33.0	30.8	30.5	18.4	30.6	29.7	33.4	29.0	27.8	29.2	27.7	28.0	17.8
Severe (<10)	8.4	9.2	9.8	8.7	7.0	6.8	8.0	6.2	9.6	7.9	4.8	7.0	7.0	5.6	4.6	6.6	5.3	5.3	4.6
Missing	34.2	23.4	18.6	15.3	15.3	13.8	15.4	16.4	17.0	15.8	15.0	8.8	8.8	12.4	9.8	9.1	11.2	17.7	37.5
IMD Quintiles (%)																			
1 (most deprived)	29.9	30.1	28.8	29.3	29.5	27.5	27.9	29.3	26.6	18.4	30.9	29.4	32.0	26.3	26.5	31.5	31.6	34.0	31.6
2	35.8	33.7	35.0	34.1	34.1	34.2	37.4	35.4	40.0	42.1	35.8	35.9	31.8	37.4	32.5	34.5	33.0	30.3	37.5
3	16.6	18.2	17.4	18.2	18.8	19.3	14.9	18.2	16.7	15.8	18.2	18.8	19.1	19.5	21.8	19.5	18.2	20.0	14.5
4	9.1	10.1	9.6	9.3	9.4	8.5	9.7	9.3	6.0	10.5	8.1	8.1	9.0	9.0	9.3	7.4	10.3	8.0	7.9
5 (least deprived)	6.9	6.9	7.6	7.6	6.8	8.8	8.4	6.5	9.3	13.2	6.3	7.2	7.4	7.5	9.5	7.0	6.6	6.4	4.6
Missing	1.7	1.1	1.7	1.6	1.4	1.7	1.8	1.3	1.5	0	0.8	0.7	0.7	0.3	0.5	0.2	0.4	1.4	4.0

^aMMSE scores range between

Circum and the last														
Six- monthly														
time intervals														
from time of														
diagnosis (0)														
to death	0.5	1	1.5	2	2.5	3	3.5	4	4.5	5	5.5	6	6.5	7
Duration														
between														
diagnosis and														
death (number	Rate													
of people)	95% Cls -	Lower limi	t											
(number of	95% Cls -	Upper Lim	it											
admissions)	Standard	Error												
less than one-														
less than one- year n=3,231	275.2	333.7												
less than one- year n=3,231 n-4,226	275.2 265.5	333.7 315.4												
less than one- year n=3,231 n-4,226	275.2 265.5 285.2	333.7 315.4 352.7												
less than one- year n=3,231 n-4,226	275.2 265.5 285.2 5	333.7 315.4 352.7 9.5												
less than one- year n=3,231 n-4,226	275.2 265.5 285.2 5	333.7 315.4 352.7 9.5												
less than one- year n=3,231 n-4,226	275.2 265.5 285.2 5	333.7 315.4 352.7 9.5												
less than one- year n=3,231 n-4,226 between 1-2 years n=3,599	275.2 265.5 285.2 5 98.8	333.7 315.4 352.7 9.5 99.9	141.6	205.3										

Table 1. Incidence rates and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia (n=19,221) – Corresponding to Figure 1, Appendix 2

	103	104.2	147.5	217.8								
	2.1	2.2	3	6.2								
2-3 years												
n=3,123	76.5	73.6	69.6	84.4	128.6	191						
n=8,367	72.6	69.8	65.9	80.3	122.7	178.6						
	80.5	77.5	73.4	88.6	134.6	204.1						
	2	2	1.9	2.1	3	6.5						
3-4 years												
n=2,479	66.8	59.9	58.7	64.6	65.9	80	118.9	166.3				
n=7,865	62.8	56.1	55	60.6	61.9	75.6	112.6	153.7				
	71	64	62.7	68.8	70.2	84.7	125.5	179.7				
	2.1	2	2	2.1	2.1	2.3	3.3	6.6				
4-5 years												
n=1,919	62.7	52	51.7	53.3	58.7	54.6	65.9	71.3	115.3	149.5		
n=6,821	58.3	47.9	47.7	49.2	54.4	50.4	61.3	66.5	108.3	135.8		
	67.4	56.3	56	57.6	63.3	59	70.7	76.3	122.7	164.3		
	2.3	2.1	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.2	2.4	2.5	3.7	7.3		
5-6 years												
n=1,425	58.2	49.5	46.7	50.8	48.7	52.5	50.5	49.8	53.9	71.8	106.5	118.8
n=5,470	53.3	44.9	42.3	46.2	44.1	47.8	45.9	45.3	49.2	66.3	98.7	104.6

	63.5	54.4	51.4	55.7	53.5	57.5	55.5	54.7	59	77.7	114.8	134.4		
	2.6	2.4	2.3	2.4	2.4	2.5	2.4	2.4	2.5	2.9	4.1	7.6		
6-7 years														
n=1,083	48.5	38	35.3	37.6	40.5	35.1	37.7	44.9	47.4	46.2	49.8	54.4	86.9	128.3
n=3,971	43.3	33.5	30.9	33.1	35.8	30.8	33.2	40	42.3	41.2	44.6	49	78.8	111.4
	54	43	40	42.5	45.6	39.9	42.7	50.3	52.9	51.6	55.5	60.3	95.6	147.1
	2.7	2.4	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.3	2.4	2.6	2.7	2.7	2.8	2.9	4.3	9.1
7-9 years														
n=1,254	42.9	33.5	35.9	33.7	36.5	40.7	39.9	41.5	42.7	41.5	42.7	39.3	40.3	48.9
n=5,138														
	38.4	29.5	31.8	29.8	32.4	36.3	35.5	37	38.2	37	38.2	35	35.9	44.1
	47.8	37.8	40.3	38.1	41.1	45.4	44.6	46.3	47.5	46.3	47.5	44	45	54.1
	2.4	2.1	2.2	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.3	2.4	2.4	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.6
9-12 years														
n=900	32.2	29.2	28.3	24.6	29.4	25.5	28.3	34.8	32.9	29.6	33.3	41.8	32.2	38.1
n=3,866	27.7	24.9	24.1	20.7	25.1	21.5	24.1	30.1	28.4	25.3	28.7	36.6	27.7	33.2
	37.2	34.1	33.1	29.1	34.3	30.1	33.1	40	38	34.5	38.4	47.5	37.2	43.6
	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.1	2.3	2.2	2.3	2.5	2.5	2.3	2.5	2.8	2.4	2.7
more than 12														
years n=190	24	11.6	10.9	15.3	15.3	9.5	13.1	19.7	17.5	10.9	16	9.5	13.1	16

n=665	16.8	6.9	6.4	9.7	9.7	5.3	8	13.2	11.5	6.4	10.3	5.3	8	10.3
	33.3	18.5	17.6	22.9	22.9	15.7	20.3	28.2	25.6	17.6	23.8	15.7	20.3	23.8
	4.2	2.9	2.8	3.3	3.3	2.6	3.1	3.8	3.6	2.8	3.4	2.6	3.1	3.4
Six- monthly														
time intervals														
from time of														
diagnosis (0)														
to death	7.5	8	8.5	9	9.5	10	10.5	11	11.5	12	12.5	13	13.5	14
7-9 years														
n=1,254	58.7	73.9	80.3	114.5										
n=5,138		0												
	53.3	66	69.3	91.1										
	64.5	82.5	92.7	142										
	2.9	4.2	6	13										
9-12 years														
n=900	35.5	36.3	38.8	40.1	48.1	44.5	43	37.9	63.9	67.4				
n=3,866	30.8	31.4	33.9	35.1	42.2	38.2	35.8	30.1	49.7	39.4				
	40.8	41.6	44.4	45.8	54.6	51.7	51.3	47.3	80.8	108.4				
	2.6	2.6	2.7	2.7	3.2	3.4	4	4.4	7.9	17.4				
more than 12														
years n=190	16	22.6	21.8	15.3	16	17.5	25.5	19.7	18.2	39.4	24.2	33.8	20.4	33.1

n=665	10.3	15.6	15	9.7	10.3	11.5	18	13.2	12.1	27.9	16.7	23.6	11.7	20.3
	23.8	31.6	30.7	22.9	23.8	25.6	35	28.2	26.4	54.2	34.1	47.1	33.4	51.2
	3.4	4.1	4	3.3	3.4	3.6	4.3	3.8	3.6	6.7	4.4	6	5.5	7.8

Six- monthly	0.5	1	1.5	2	2.5	3	3.5	4	4.5	5	5.5	6	6.5	7
time														
intervals														
from time of														
diagnosis (0)														
to death														
Duration	Rate													
between	95% CIs -	Lower limit												
diagnosis	95% CIs -	Upper Limit												
and death	Standard	Error												
(number of														
people)														
(number of														
admissions														
less than	275.2	333.7												
one-year														
n=3,231														
n-4,226	265.5	315.4												
	285.2	352.7												
	5	9.5												

Table 2. Incidence rates and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for unplanned hospital admissions of people who died with dementia (n=12,677) – Corresponding to Figure 1, Manuscript

between 1-2	111.2	118.9	190	288.5								
years												
n=2,990												
n=6,018	105.7	113.2	181.6	270.6								
	116.9	124.7	198.7	307.3								
	2.8	2.9	4.4	9.4								
2-3 years	85.3	84.7	79.9	103	175.3	285.8						
n=1,871												
n=6,211	80.1	79.5	74.8	97.2	166.6	266.1						
	90.9	90.2	85.3	109	184.4	306.5						
	2.8	2.7	2.7	3	4.6	10.3						
3-4 years	75.9	69.6	64.1	71	74.5	94.9	157.9	228				
n=1,524												
n=5,747	60.5	47.3	48.9	53.4	69	88.8	148.6	209.7				
	72.3	57.8	59.5	64.6	80.2	101.4	167.5	247.4				
	2.9	2.8	2.6	2.8	2.9	3.2	4.8	9.6				
4-5 years	66.2	52.4	54	58.8	62	60.7	73.5	82.1	157.1	224.9		
n=1,216												
n=4,932	60.5	47.3	48.9	53.4	56.4	55.3	67.4	75.7	146.7	203.1		
	72.3	57.8	59.5	64.6	67.9	66.6	79.9	88.9	168.1	248.4		

	3	2.7	2.7	2.8	2.9	2.9	3.2	3.4	5.4	11.6				
5-6 years	61.3	51.4	49.2	51.4	52	56.9	58.3	51.2	62.1	89.4	146.4	181.3		
n=843														
n=3,722	54.7	45.4	43.4	45.4	46	50.6	52	45.3	55.5	81.4	134.6	158.5		
	68.4	57.9	55.6	57.9	58.6	63.8	65.3	57.7	69.2	97.9	159	206.4		
	3.5	3.2	3.1	3.2	3.2	3.4	3.4	3.2	3.5	4.2	6.2	12.2		
6-7 years	55.2	42.3	38.8	40.4	55.5	40.4	42.3	50	53.8	52.5	56.3	66.9	122.7	196.3
n=610														
n=2,670	36	30.8	32.6	26.9	48.2	34.3	36.1	43.1	46.7	45.4	49	58.9	110	168
	48.3	42.3	44.3	37.7	63.5	47.4	49.4	57.6	61.7	60.3	64.4	75.7	136.5	228.2
	3.9	3.4	3.3	3.3	3.9	3.3	3.4	3.7	3.8	3.8	3.9	4.3	6.8	15.3
7-9 years	41.8	36.2	38.1	32	37.6	40.4	44.4	48.2	52.7	46.3	44.7	44.2	46.5	59.9
n=709														
n=3,382	36	30.8	32.6	26.9	32.1	34.7	38.4	41.9	46.1	40.2	38.6	38.2	40.4	52.9
	48.3	42.3	44.3	37.7	43.8	46.8	51.1	55.1	59.9	53.1	51.4	50.9	53.4	67.6
	3.1	2.9	3	2.7	3	3.1	3.2	3.4	3.5	3.3	3.2	3.2	3.3	3.8
9-12 years	34.3	23.4	26.9	25.9	31.3	32.3	36.8	39.8	43.3	36.3	45.3	66.2	40.8	50.2
n=335														
n=1,875														
	43.2	30.8	34.8	33.6	39.8	40.9	45.9	49.3	53.1	45.4	55.3	78.1	50.4	60.8

	4.1	3.4	3.7	3.6	3.9	4	4.3	4.4	4.6	4.3	4.7	5.7	4.5	5
more than	27.2	23.8	10.2	27.2	20.4	3.4	23.8	44.2	40.8	23.8	27.2	27.2	27.2	20.4
12 years														
n=49														
n=287	12.8	10.6	2.8	12.8	8.5	0.3	10.6	24.8	22.3	10.6	12.8	12.8	12.8	8.5
	51.3	46.8	27.2	51.3	42.1	15.9	46.8	73.5	69.1	46.8	51.4	51.4	51.3	42.1
	9.6	9	5.9	9.6	8.3	3.4	9	12.3	11.8	9	9.6	9.6	9.6	8.3
Six- monthly	7.5	8	8.5	9	9.5	10	10.5	11	11.5	12	12.5	13	13.5	14
time														
intervals														
from time of														
diagnosis (0)														
to death														
7-9 years	73.7	99.6	109.7	164.3										
n=709														
n=3,382	65.9	87.7	92.6	128.9										
	82.1	112.7	129	206.7										
	4.1	6.4	9.3	19.8										
9-12 years	46.3	49.3	52.7	55.7	78.7	82.7	79.7	82	161.3	243.3				
n=335														
n=1,875	37.6	40.3	43.4	46.1	66.3	67.8	62.1	59.2	116.9	124.9				

	56.4	59.7	63.5	66.8	92.8	99.8	100.7	110.9	217.3	431.6				
	4.8	5	5.1	5.3	6.8	8.1	9.8	13.1	25.5	76.9				
more than	20.4	37.4	37.4	20.4	34	51	57.8	61.2	51	68	64	86.9	51.9	84.2
12 years														
n=49														
n=287	8.5	19.9	19.9	8.5	17.5	29.8	35	37.6	29.8	42.9	38.7	51.7	23.1	43.2
	42.1	64.8	64.8	42.1	60.3	82	90.5	94.7	82	103	100.1	137.7	101.8	149.3
	8.3	11.3	11.3	8.3	10.8	13.2	14	14.4	13.2	15.2	15.5	21.7	19.6	26.6
Six- monthly	-													
time														
intervals														
from time of														
diagnosis (0)														
to death	14.5	15	15.5											
more than														
12 years														
n=49	24.7	35.7	10.1											
n=287	4.9	9.9	0.9											
	79.1	95.3	47.1											

Table 3. Incidence rates and 95% CIs for unplanned hospital admissions of people with dementia who were alive by the study end (n=6,544) – Corresponding to Manuscript, Fi	igure
3	

Six- monthly	0.5	1	1.5	2	2.5	3	3.5	4	4.5	5	5.5	6	6.5	7
time intervals														
from time of														
diagnosis (0) to														
death														
Duration	Rate													
between	95% CIs L	ower limit.												
diagnosis and	95% CIs l	Jpper Limit	:											
death (number	Standard	Error												
of people)														
(number of														
admissions)														
between 1-2	76.5	65.9	58.1	67.4										
years n=1,279														
n=1,565	70.5	60.4	52.2	56.7										
	82.9	71.9	64.6	79.5										
	3.2	2.9	3.2	5.8										
2-3 years	63.3	56.9	54.1	56.7	58.4	49.3								

n=712

n=2,156	57.8	51.7	49.1	51.5	52.3	39.9								
	69.2	62.5	59.6	62.2	65	60.4								
	2.9	2.8	2.7	2.7	3.2	5.2								
3-4 years	52.6	44.9	50.4	54.6	52.6	56.7	55.8	49.3						
n=607														
n=2,118	46.9	39.7	44.8	48.9	46.9	50.8	49	38.3						
	58.7	50.6	56.4	60.9	58.7	63.1	63.3	62.5						
	3	2.8	2.9	3.1	3	3.1	3.6	6.2						
4-5 years	56.7	51.3	47.7	43.7	53.2	43.9	52.7	52.5	47.2	37.8				
n=486														
n=1,889	49.9	44.8	41.5	37.7	46.6	37.9	46.1	45.9	40.2	27.7				
	64.3	58.5	54.7	50.3	60.5	50.6	60	59.7	55.1	50.4				
	3.7	3.5	3.4	3.2	3.6	3.2	3.5	3.5	3.8	5.8				
5-6 years	53.8	46.7	43	49.8	43.8	46.1	39.2	47.8	42.1	46.4	47.7	28.5		
n=413														
n=1,748	46.5	39.9	36.5	42.8	37.3	39.4	33.1	41	35.7	39.7	39.8	18.7		
	62	54.3	50.3	57.7	51.2	53.6	46.2	55.5	49.3	54	56.7	41.6		
	3.9	3.7	3.5	3.8	3.5	3.6	3.4	3.7	3.5	3.6	4.3	5.8		
6-7 years	39.8	32.5	30.7	33.9	21.3	28.3	31.8	38.4	39.1	38.1	41.6	38.4	39.7	48.9

n=330

n=1,301	33	26.4	24.8	27.6	16.5	22.6	25.8	31.7	32.4	31.4	34.6	31.7	31.7	34.6
	47.7	39.6	37.7	41.2	27.2	35	38.8	46.1	46.9	45.8	49.6	46.1	49	67.2
	3.7	3.4	3.3	3.4	2.7	3.1	3.3	3.7	3.7	3.6	3.8	3.7	4.4	8.3
7-9 years	44.4	29.9	33	36	35.1	41	33.9	32.7	29.6	35.1	40	33	32	34.5
n=379														
n=1,801														
	37.6	24.4	27.2	29.9	29.1	34.4	28	26.9	24.1	29.1	33.6	27.2	26.3	28.5
	52.1	36.3	39.7	43	42	48.4	40.7	39.3	35.9	42	47.4	39.7	38.7	41.3
	3.7	3	3.2	3.3	3.3	3.6	3.2	3.2	3	3.3	3.5	3.2	3.1	3.3
9-12 years	30.9	32.7	29.2	23.9	28.3	21.5	23.3	31.8	26.8	25.6	26.2	27.4	27.1	30.9
n=387														
n=1,991	25.4	27	23.8	19.1	23	17	18.5	26.2	21.7	20.7	21.2	22.2	22	25.4
	37.3	39.2	35.3	29.5	34.4	26.9	28.8	38.2	32.7	31.4	32.1	33.4	33.1	37.3
	3	3.1	2.9	2.7	2.9	2.5	2.6	3.1	2.8	2.7	2.8	2.8	2.8	3
more than 12	23.1	8.3	11.1	12	13.9	11.1	10.2	13	11.1	7.4	13	4.6	9.3	14.8
years n=99														
n=378	15.3	4.1	6.1	6.7	8.1	6.1	5.4	7.4	6.1	3.5	7.4	1.8	4.8	8.8
	33.6	15.2	18.8	20	22.3	18.8	17.6	21.2	18.8	14	21.2	10.1	16.4	23.5
	4.6	2.8	3.2	3.3	3.6	3.2	3.1	3.5	3.2	2.6	3.5	2.1	2.9	3.7

Six- monthly	7.5	8	8.5	9	9.5	10	10.15	11	11.5	12	12.5	13	13.5	14
time intervals														
from time of														
diagnosis (0) to														
death														
7-9 years	35.2	36.7	42	34.4										
n=379														
n=1,801	0	0	0	0										
	28.8	28.4	30.6	17										
	42.7	46.7	56.4	62.8										
	3.6	4.7	6.6	11.5										
	0	0	0	0										
9-12 years	29.2	28.6	30.6	30.9	30.9	25.6	27.2	24	32.5	27.6				
n=387														
n=1,991	23.8	23.3	25.2	25.4	25.2	19.9	20.5	17.1	21.5	10.5				
	35.3	34.7	36.9	37.3	37.6	32.4	35.3	32.8	47.2	60.4				
	2.9	2.9	3	3	3.2	3.2	3.8	4	6.5	12.3				
more than 12	14.8	18.5	17.6	13.9	11.1	8.3	16.7	8.3	9.3	25.3	13.4	21	12.7	18.8
years n=99														
n=378	8.8	11.7	10.9	8.1	6.1	4.1	10.2	4.1	4.8	14.8	7.5	12.5	5.7	8.9
	23.5	28	26.9	22.3	18.8	15.2	25.8	15.2	16.4	40.6	22.2	33.3	25	35.5
	3.7	4.1	4	3.6	3.2	2.8	3.9	2.8	2.9	6.5	3.7	5.2	4.8	6.7

Six- monthly			
time intervals			
from time of			
diagnosis (0) to			
death	14.5	15	15.5
more than 12			
years n=99	18.4	6.3	16.5
n=378	1.3	5.5	0.4
	20.3	39.3	20.5
	4.5	8.3	4.4



Figure 1. Unplanned hospital admission rates per person-month for six-monthly intervals of 19,221 of people with dementia. Each point indicates the rate of unplanned hospital admissions for the six-month long time interval in person-months (rates range from 0.010 – 0.334)

Table. Sociodemographic and illness-related characteristics of the cohort grouped by mortality at the study end (N=19,221)

Characteristic	All			ne study	Decedents		
	(n= 19,211)		end date		(n=12,6	67)	
			(n=6,554))			
	No	%	No	%	No	%	
Age at diagnosis							
(mean, SD)	81.0 (8.5)		78.0 (8.9)		82.6 (7.8)		
Age categories							
50-59	397	2.1	258	3.9	134	1.1	
60 - 64	462	2.4	290	4.4	173	1.4	
65 – 69	949	4.9	528	8.1	412	3.3	
70 – 74	2,012	10.5	876	13.4	1,122	8.9	
75 – 79	3,571	18.6	1,476	22.5	2,085	16.5	
80 - 84	4,711	24.5	1,506	23.0	3,177	25.1	
85 – 89	4,421	23.0	1,144	17.5	3,292	26.0	
90 - 94	2,098	10.9	399	6.1	1,731	13.7	
≥ 95	600	3.1	77	1.2	541	4.3	
Age at window end/death							
(mean, SD)	84.5(8.1)		82.6 (8.6)		85.6 (7.6)		
Age at window end							
Age categories							
50-59	152	0.8	95	1.5	52	0.4	
60 - 64	260	1.4	165	2.5	99	0.8	
65 – 69	527	2.7	274	4.2	248	2.0	
70 – 74	1,193	6.2	544	8.3	632	5.0	
75 – 79	2,436	12.7	994	15.2	1,425	11.3	
80 - 84	4,108	21.4	1,516	23.1	2,576	20.3	
85 – 89	5,120	26.6	1,571	24.0	3,542	28.0	
90 - 94	3,841	20.0	1,028	15.7	2,843	22.4	
≥ 95	1,584	8.2	367	5.6	1,250	9.9	
Sex							
Female	11,847	61.4	4,129	63.0	7,718	61.0	

Male	7,374	38.4	2,425	37.0	4,949	39.0
Ethnicity						
British	11,987	62.4	3,345	51.0	8,642	68.2
African Caribbean	2,811	14.6	1,475	22.5	1,336	10.6
White other	2,065	10.7	774	11.8	1,291	10.2
Asian	831	4.3	426	6.5	405	3.2
Any other ethnicity	510	2.7	293	4.5	217	1.7
Mixed	131	0.7	79	1.2	52	0.4
Missing	886	4.6	162	2.5	724	5.7
IMD quintiles closer to diagnosis						
1	5,687	29.6	1,983	30.3	3,704	29.4
2	6,685	34.8	2,250	34.3	4,435	35.0
3	3,476	18.1	1,249	19.1	2,227	17.6
4	1,743	9.1	560	8.5	1,183	9.3
5	1,392	7.2	464	7.1	928	7.3
Missing	238	1.2	48	0.7	190	1.4
First recorded dementia diagnosis						
Alzheimer's disease	9,310	48.4	3,600	54.9	5,710	45.1
Vascular dementia	4,714	24.5	1,256	19.2	3,458	27.3
Unspecified dementia	4,500	23.4	1,440	22.0	3,060	24.2
Other dementia	510	2.7	186	2.8	324	2.6
Lewy body dementia	187	1.0	72	1.1	115	0.9
Whether they were ever diagnosed with						
Alzheimer's disease	10,107	52.6	4,106	62.7	6,001	47.4
Vascular dementia	5,819	30.3	1,633	24.9	4,186	33.1
Lewy Body	411	2.1	418	2.3	263	2.1
Parkinson's dementia	1,142	5.9	417	6.4	725	5.7
Mixed dementia	3,819	19.9	1,447	22.1	2,372	18.7
Other	4,546	23.7	1,339	20.4	3,207	25.3

MMSE closest to diagnosis
7,795	40.6	3,388	51.7	4,407	34.8
6.308	32.8	1.938	29.6	4.370	24.5
1,427	7.4	361	5.5	1,066	8.4
3,691	19.2	867	13.2	2,824	22.3
6,555	34.1	3,039	46.4	3,516	27.8
6,720	35.0	2,047	31.3	4,673	36.9
2,555	11.7	601	9.2	1,654	13.1
3,691	19.2	867	13.2	2,824	22.3
3,638	21.3	901	14.9	2,737	24.7
5,674	33.7	1,701	28.3	3,973	36.6
2,187	12.9	672	11.1	1,515	13.9
10,606	62.1	3,010	49.9	7,596	68.8
3,082	18.1	879	14.6	2,203	20.0
4,663	27.7	1,604	27.0	3,059	28.1
2,346	13.8	723	12.0	1,623	14.7
9,455	55.3	2,761	45.6	6,694	60.5
14,558	85.1	4,866	80.4	9,692	87.7
554	3.2	234	3.9	320	2.9
284	1.7	91	1.5	193	1.8
2,578	15.1	962	15.9	1,616	14.7
	7,795 6.308 1,427 3,691 6,555 6,720 2,555 3,691 2,555 3,691 3,691 3,691 3,691 3,691 3,638 2,187 10,606 3,082 4,663 2,346 9,455 14,558 554 284 2,578	7,79540.66.30832.81,4277.43,69119.26,55534.16,72035.02,55511.73,69119.23,63821.35,67433.72,18712.910,60662.13,08218.14,66327.72,34613.89,45555.314,55885.15543.22841.72,57815.1	7,79540.63,3886.30832.81.9381,4277.43613,69119.28676,55534.13,0396,72035.02,0472,55511.76013,69119.28673,63821.39015,67433.71,7015,67433.71,70110,60662.13,0103,08218.18794,66327.71,6042,34613.872314,55885.14,8665543.22342841.7912,57815.1962	7,79540.63,38851.76.30832.81.93829.61,4277.43615.53,69119.286713.26,55534.13,03946.46,72035.02,04731.32,55511.76019.23,69119.286713.23,69119.286713.23,63821.390114.95,67433.71,70128.32,18712.967211.110,60662.13,01049.94,66327.71,60427.02,34613.872312.014,55885.14,86680.45543.22343.92841.7911.52,57815.196215.9	7,795 40.6 3,388 51.7 4,407 6.308 32.8 1.938 29.6 4.370 1,427 7.4 361 5.5 1,066 3,691 19.2 867 13.2 2,824 6,555 34.1 3,039 46.4 3,516 6,720 35.0 2,047 31.3 4,673 2,555 11.7 601 9.2 1,654 3,691 19.2 867 13.2 2,824 3,691 19.2 867 13.2 2,824 3,691 19.2 867 13.2 2,824 3,691 19.2 867 13.2 2,824 3,691 19.2 867 13.2 2,824 3,638 21.3 901 14.9 2,737 5,674 33.7 1,701 28.3 3,973 10,606 62.1 3,010 49.9 7,596 3,082 18.1 879 14.6 2,203 4,663 27.7 1,604 27.0 3,0

Year of diagnosis

<= 2000	67	0.4	61	0.9 ^b	62	05
2001 – 2004	732	3.8			676	4.3
2005 – 2008	5,727	29.8	598	9.1	5,129	40.5
2009 – 2012	5,641	29.4	1,492	22.8	4,149	32.8
2013 – 2016	6,632	34.5	4,046	61.7	2,586	20.4
2017	422	2.2	357	5.5	65	0.5
Year of death						
<=2000	-	-	-	-	13	0.1
2001-2003	-	-	-	-	58	0.5
2004-2006	-	-	-	-	761	6.0
2007-2009	-	-	-	-	2,323	18.3
2010-2012	-	-	-	-	3,118	24.6
2013-2015	-	-	-	-	3,506	27.7
2016-2018	-	-	-	-	2,888	22.8
People who had at least one unplanned	Total (14,7	759)	Alive a	t the study	Deceo	dents
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admission	Total (14,7	759)	Alive a end da	t the study te	Deceo (n=12	dents 2,667)
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admission	Total (14,7	759)	Alive a end da (n=6,5	t the study te 54)	Deceo (n=12	dents 2,667)
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admission Charlson comorbidity index for the first	Total (14,7	759)	Alive a end da (n=6,5	t the study te 54)	Deceo (n=12	dents 2,667)
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admission Charlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis	Total (14,7	759)	Alive a end da (n=6,5	t the study te 54)	Deced (n=12	dents 2,667)
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admission Charlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis 0	Total (14,7	45.4	Alive a end da (n=6,5 4,352	t the study te 54) 66.4	Deced (n=12 6,813	dents 2,667) 53.8
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis01	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309	759) 45.4 8.9	Alive a end da (n=6,5 4,352 479	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3	Deceo (n=12 6,813 830	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-4	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6	Alive a end da (n=6,5 4,352 479 560	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5	Deced (n=12 6,813 830 1,442	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-45-7	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002 3,048	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6 20.7	Alive a end da (n=6,5) 4,352 479 560 785	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5 12.0	Deceo (n=12 6,813 830 1,442 2,263	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4 17.9
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-45-7>8	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002 3,048 1,697	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6 20.7 11.5	Alive a end da (n=6,5) 4,352 479 560 785 378	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5 12.0 5.8	Deceo (n=12 6,813 830 1,442 2,263 1,319	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4 17.9 10.4
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-45-7>8Charlson comorbidity index for the last	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002 3,048 1,697	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6 20.7 11.5	Alive a end da (n=6,5) 4,352 479 560 785 378	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5 12.0 5.8	Deced (n=12 6,813 830 1,442 2,263 1,319	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4 17.9 10.4
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-45-7>8Charlson comorbidity index for the last unplanned hospital admission before	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002 3,048 1,697	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6 20.7 11.5	Alive a end da (n=6,5) 4,352 479 560 785 378	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5 12.0 5.8	Deceo (n=12 6,813 830 1,442 2,263 1,319	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4 17.9 10.4
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-45-7>8Charlson comorbidity index for the last unplanned hospital admission before death/window end	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002 3,048 1,697	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6 20.7 11.5	Alive a end da (n=6,5) 4,352 479 560 785 378	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5 12.0 5.8	Deceo (n=12 6,813 830 1,442 2,263 1,319	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4 17.9 10.4
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-45-7>8Charlson comorbidity index for the last unplanned hospital admission before death/window end0	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002 3,048 1,697 6,477	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6 20.7 11.5 43.9	Alive a end da (n=6,5) 4,352 479 560 785 378 378	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5 12.0 5.8 66.6	Deceo (n=12 6,813 830 1,442 2,263 1,319 6,558	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4 17.9 10.4 51.8
People who had at least one unplanned hospital admissionCharlson comorbidity index for the first unplanned hospital admission after diagnosis012-45-7>8Charlson comorbidity index for the last unplanned hospital admission before death/window end01	Total (14, 7 6,703 1,309 2,002 3,048 1,697 6,477 1,319	759) 45.4 8.9 13.6 20.7 11.5 43.9 8.9	Alive a end da (n=6,5) 4,352 479 560 785 378 378 4,363 483	t the study te 54) 66.4 7.3 8.5 12.0 5.8 66.6 7.4	Deceo (n=12 6,813 830 1,442 2,263 1,319 6,558 836	dents 2,667) 53.8 6.6 11.4 17.9 10.4 51.8 6.6

2-4	1,968	13.3	556	8.5	1,430	11.3
5-7	3,391	23.0	802	12.2	2,589	20.4
>8	1,604	10.9	350	5.3	1,254	9.9

MMSE: mini-mental state examination; SD: standard deviation; IMD: index of multiple deprivation (1 = most deprived, 5 = most affluent). ^a HoNOS contains 12 sub-scales covering behaviour, impairment, symptoms, and social functioning/context, with each scored on a five- point scale ranging from 0 (no problem) to 4 (severe/very severe problem) [16]. HoNOS scores were dichotomised (scores 0 and 1— no or minor problems, scores 2 to 4—mild to severe problems) to facilitate interpretation. Reported only people who mild to severe problems. ^bOne of the cells was smaller than 10, hence merged.

Table. 20 most common primary diagnoses (ICD-10 three-digit code) for the first and last hospitalisations following their first ever recorded dementia diagnosis (n=14,759)

Three-digit ICD-10 primary				
discharge diagnosis	n(%)		n (%)	
Urinary tract infection, site not	1,390	(9.42)		(9.59)
specified			1,416	
Lobar pneumonia, unspecified	658	(4.46)	635	(4.3)
Pneumonia, unspecified	502	(3.4)	479	(3.25)
Fracture of neck of femur	441	(2.99)	448	(3.04)
Unspecified acute lower	410	(2.78)		(2.63)
respiratory infection			388	
Pneumonitis due to food and	330	(2.24)		(2.01)
vomit			296	
Tendency to fall, not elsewhere	327	(2.22)		(2.23)
classified			329	
Syncope and collapse	312	(2.11)	319	(2.16)
Sepsis, unspecified	264	(1.79)	243	(1.65)
Acute renal failure, unspecified	244	(1.65)	271	(1.84)
Unspecified dementia	213	(1.44)	201	(1.36)

Senility	196	(1.33)	201	(1.36)
Disorientation, unspecified	187	(1.27)	186	(1.26)
Alzheimer disease, unspecified	181	(1.23)	176	(1.19)
Cerebral infarction, unspecified	178	(1.21)	162	(1.1)
Unknown and unspecified	170	(1.15)		(1.21)
causes morbidity and mortality			179	
causes morbidity and mortality Constipation	167	(1.13)	179 145	(0.98)
causes morbidity and mortality Constipation Chest pain, unspecified	167 154	(1.13) (1.04)	179 145 147	(0.98) (1.0)
causes morbidity and mortality Constipation Chest pain, unspecified Congestive heart failure	167 154 145	(1.13) (1.04) (0.98)	179 145 147 148	(0.98) (1.0) (1.0)

Appendix 5. Supplementary material for Study 2

Supplementary data for the manuscript titled "Survival and critical care use among people with dementia in a large English cohort"

Table 1. Population characteristics

	Total	No critical care	Had ≥1 Critical care
		admission	admission
Ν	19,787	19,061	726
Sex			
female	12071 (61.0%)	11696 (61.4%)	375 (51.7%)
male	7716 (39.0%)	7365 (38.6%)	351 (48.3%)
Age at diagnosis			
<60	309 (1.6%)	285 (1.5%)	24 (3.3%)
>=60 - <=64	430 (2.2%)	401 (2.1%)	29 (4.0%)
>=65 - <=69	916 (4.6%)	845 (4.4%)	71 (9.8%)
>=70 - <=74	1998 (10.1%)	1896 (9.9%)	102 (14.1%)
>=75 - <=79	3615 (18.3%)	3441 (18.1%)	174 (24.0%)
>=80 - <=84	4820 (24.4%)	4653 (24.4%)	167 (23.0%)
>=85 - <=89	4749 (24.0%)	4639 (24.3%)	110 (15.2%)
>=90 - <=94	2278 (11.5%)	2237 (11.7%)	41 (5.6%)
>=95	672 (3.4%)	664 (3.5%)	8 (1.1%)
Age at diagnosis,	82.0 (77.0,	82.0 (77.0, 87.0)	79.0 (73.0, 84.0)
median (IQR)	87.0)		
MMSE near diagnosis,	20.0 (15.0,	19.0 (15.0, 23.0)	21.0 (17.0, 24.0)
median (IQR)	23.0)		
MMSE categories			
mild	5313 (26.8%)	5046 (26.5%)	267 (36.8%)
moderate	4274 (21.6%)	4115 (21.6%)	159 (21.9%)
severe	1041 (5.3%)	1020 (5.4%)	21 (2.9%)
missing	9159 (46.3%)	8880 (46.6%)	279 (38.4%)
HoNOS cognitive	15807 (79.9%)	15244 (80.0%)	563 (77.5%)
problems			

MMSE: mini-mental state examination; HoNOS (health of the nation outcome scale) scores were dichotomised (scores 0 and 1—no or minor problems, scores 2 to 4—mild to severe problems) to facilitate interpretation.

Appendix 6. Supplementary material for Study 3

Sections:

- 1. Sample characteristics
- 2. Further information about the methods
- 3. Comparison of included vs excluded people with dementia
- 4. Decedents, three-class model for the last year of life & latent transition analysis
- 5. Modelling specifications
- 6. Sensitivity analysis (complete case analysis multinomial logistic regression)
- 7. Transitions between classes over time (descriptive tables)

1. Sample characteristics

Neighbourhood-level socioeconomic status was estimated using the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).¹¹ This is the official measure of relative deprivation in England which encompasses living conditions of individuals from 32,844 neighbourhoods termed Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs). Each LSOA contains around 1500 people. IMD was derived from the LSOA associated with the patient's address (recorded closest to the diagnosis) and converted into quintiles of the national distribution (1 – most deprived, 5 – least deprived).

The Health of the Nation Outcome Scale (HoNOS) is used to rate adult mental health service users. Together, the scales rate various aspects of mental and social health. Each question can be rated from 0-4:

- 0 No problems within the period stated
- 1 Minor problem requiring no action
- 2 Mild problem but definitely present
- 3 Moderately severe problem
- 4 Severe to very severe problem

Number of medications include anticholinergics, anticoagulants, hypertensives, antidepressants, and antipsychotics.¹³

A social care package means that people may be entitled to free healthcare, personal care (such as help with getting washed and dressed), or care home fees, including accommodation costs.^{28, 29}

2. Further information about the methods

Latent class analysis (LCA) can identify subpopulations who differ from one another in term of their patterns of selected indicators. Within the LCA, count variables were used for each healthcare measure and we reported means (SDs) instead of item response probabilities. For a clear interpretation of which indicators are above or below the sample means, we used the z-standardised mean scores in figures.³⁰⁷ I also reported the predicted probabilities of each healthcare use for each class. I took a three-step approach to account for covariates in LCA models.³⁰¹ After defining the latent classes according to measures of healthcare use, the next step was to determine how the set of indicator variables (measures of healthcare use) and biopsychosocial characteristics varied according to latent class group.

3. Comparison of included vs excluded people with dementia

	Deerelewith	Decale with demonstic who
	People with	People with dementia who
	included in the main	were excluded from the
	analysis (lived for two	two or loss years with a
	or more years with a	dementia diagnosis)
	dementia diagnosis)	
Ν	8,623	5,874
Gender		
woman	5,323 (61.7%)	3,286 (56.2%)
man	3,300 (38.3%)	2,561 (43.8%)
Age at diagnosis – death	81.5 (7.7) - 86.3 (7.4)	84.4 (7.5)- 85.3 (7.5)
Ethnicity groups		
White	6,487 (75.2%)	4,503 (77.0%)
Mixed	55 (0.6%)	25 (0.4%)
Asian	405 (4.7%)	249 (4.3%)
Black	1,337 (15.5%)	613 (10.5%)
Other	176 (2.0%)	111 (1.9%)
Not known	163 (1.9%)	346 (5.9%)
First dementia diagnosis	. ,	. /
Alzheimer's disease	3,030 (35.1%)	1,601 (27.4%)
Mixed dementia	1.223 (14.2%)	812 (13.9%)
Unspecified dementia	2.140 (24.8%)	1.543 (26.4%)
Vascular dementia	1.624 (18.8%)	1 367 (23 4%)
Dementia in other diseases	606 (7 0%)	524 (8 9%)
IMD quintiles		524 (0.576)
1 (Most deprived)	1 600 (18 6%)	1 067 (18 2%)
2	3 280 (38 0%)	2 326 (30 8%)
2	1 810 (21 1%)	1 177 (20 1%)
	1,010 (21.1%)	1,177 (20.176) 669 (11 49/)
E (Losst doprived)	601 (7 0%)	200 (6.8%)
S (Least deprived)		
MASE at diagraphic mappin (CD)	525 (5.7%) 18 2 (C.4)	
	18.2 (6.4)	17.0 (6.5)
	2,583 (30.0%)	8/0 (14.8%)
moderate	2,259 (20.2%)	1,077 (18.3%)
severe	5/4 (6./%)	300 (5.1%)
Missing	3,207 (37.2%)	3,627 (62.0%)
Hypertension	3,803 (44.1%)	2,272 (38.7%)
Depression	371 (4.3%)	279 (4.8%)
HoNOS cognitive problems		
0	95 (1.1%)	44 (0.8%)
1	999 (11.6%)	469 (8.0%)
2	3,642 (42.2%)	1,885 (32.2%)
3	2,799 (32.5%)	2,207 (37.7%)
4	676 (7.8%)	719 (12.3%)
Missing	412 (4.8%)	523 (9.0%)
Physical illness or disability problems	4,259 (49.4%)	3,818 (54.1%)
Other mental and behavioural problems	2,060 (23.9%)	1,721 (29.3%)

Problems with relationships	1,316 (15.3%)	1,084 (18.5%)
Problems with activities of daily living	4,797 (57.7%)	4,056 (69.1%)
Problems with living conditions	984 (11.4%)	792 (13.5%)
Living alone at the time of diagnosis recorded in notes		
Yes	1,498 (17.4%)	868 (14.8%)
No	7,125 (82.6%)	5,006 (85.2%)
Recorded as a care package recipient at the time of diagnosis		
Yes	3,879 (45.0%)	1,840 (31.3%)
No	4,744 (55.0%)	4,034 (68.7%)

4. Decedents, three and four-class model for the last year of life & latent transition analysis

Decedents

11,209 decedents (Mean age 82 (SD 8), 61% women, 34% Alzheimer's disease, 75% White ethnicity) with dementia were grouped into four groups based on their healthcare use in the last year of their lives (Figure). Almost a third of people (29%) with dementia had no or very low numbers of interactions with hospital or specialist mental health services and all died outside of a hospital (100%). People with intermediate healthcare use (43%) were characterised by not attending EDs, having community mental health nurse visits, and having fewer hospital admissions. Despite fewer admissions and short stays, 40% of people in this group died in a hospital. Of people who had high community mental healthcare use and occasional acute (secondary care) hospital admissions (29%), 43% died in a hospital. People in the high ED attendance group (8%) had the highest percentage (54%) of dying in a hospital. People of Asian ethnicity, those with vascular dementia and mixed dementia, people who were diagnosed at an older age, and those with significant physical illnesses were more likely to be in this group.



Three class models

	Last year of life class 1	Last year of life class 2	Last year of life class 3
	N=2,809	N=1,655	N=4,159
A&E visits	0.1 (0.3)	6.1 (14.1)	5.4 (10.5)
Unplanned hospital	1.3 (0.7)	2.9 (2.7)	2.5 (1.9)
Planned hospital admissions	0.0 (0.1)	0.1 (0.8)	0.1 (2.3)
Length of hospital stay	0.0 (0.1)	16.7 (24.4)	14.1 (18.0)

Face-to-face SLaM appointments	0.0 (0.2)	6.5 (8.3)	0.1 (0.2)
Community mental health nurse visits	0.0 (0.1)	3.4 (9.8)	0.0 (0.0)
Therapists visits	0.0 (0.1)	1.7 (5.7)	0.0 (0.0)
Outpatient appointments	0.5 (1.2)	2.7 (4.6)	3.0 (5.7)

Table. Transition probabilities of staying within class and transitioning out of class at follow-up

	Last year of life class 1 (Low healthcare use)	Last year of life cla 2 (Mental health a unplanned hospit use)	ass Last year of life class 3 and (Unplanned hospital use) al
Diagnosis class 1 (Low hospital, minimal mental health use)	0.31	0.22	0.47
Diagnosis class 2 (Unplanned hospital use, minimal community mental healthcare use)	0.32	0.13	0.55
Diagnosis class 3 (Mental healthcare use)	0.30	0.35	0.35
Table. The effect of proxi	mity to death on transitio	n probabilities (odds	ratio, 95% CIs)
	Last year of life class 1	Last year of life cla	Ass 2 Last year of life class 3
	(Low healthcare use)	(Mental health an	d (Unplanned hospital
		unplanned hospit	al use) use)
Diagnosis class 1			
(Low hospital, minimal			
mental health use)	1.00 (1.00,1.00)	0.34(0.29-0.40)	0.66(0.58-0.74)
Diagnosis class 2 (Unplanned hospital use, minimal community mental healthcare use)			
	1.97(1.56 - 2.50)	1.00(1.00-1.00)	1.18(0.94-1.48)
Diagnosis class 3 (Mental healthcare use)	1.30(1.05-1.62)	0.47(0.37-0.59)	1.00(1.00-1.00)
*Significant findings are b	olded.		
Table. The effect of gende	er (0=female, 1=male) on	transition probabilitie	es (odds ratio, 95% Cls)
	Last year of life class 1	Last year of life	Last year of life class 3
	(Low healthcare use)	class 2 (Mental health and unplanned hospital use)	(Unplanned hospital use)
Diagnosis class 1			
(Low hospital, minimal			
mental health use)	1.00(1.00-1.00)	2.08(1.67-2.58)	1.28(1.07-1.53)
Diagnosis class 2			
(Unplanned hospital	0.52(0.38-0.70)	1.00(1.00-1.00)	0.76(0.57-1.01)

use, minimal					
community mental					
healthcare use)					
Diagnosis class 3					
(Mental healthcare use)	0.94(0.68-1.29)	1.57(1.15-2.14)	1.00(1.00-1.00)		
*Significant findings are bolded.					

5. Modelling specifications

To deal with zero-inflated count variables that are not normally distributed, instead of a Maximum Likelihood (ML) estimator, using MLR (maximum likelihood parameter estimates with standard errors) or MLF (maximum likelihood estimation with standard errors based on the first-order derivatives) estimators is recommended. These estimators (MLR and MLF) provide robust estimation and avoid model misspecification. In large samples, such as in our sample, all estimator methods are equivalent.²⁷

A z-score (standard) measures the distance between a data point and the mean using standard deviations. Zscores can be positive or negative. The sign tells you whether the observation is above or below the mean and can be helping for understanding where a specific observation falls within a distribution.

6. Sensitivity analysis (complete case analysis – multinomial logistic regression)

Table. Patient characteristics associated with the year after diagnosis classes: reference class: Class 1Lov	N
healthcare use after diagnosis (complete case analysis, N=8,210)	

Channa at a sistin	RRR (95% CI)				
Characteristic	Planned and unplar dia	nned hospital use after gnosis	Mental healthca	are use after diagnosis	
	Unadjusted	Adjusted for age & sex	Unadjusted	Adjusted for age & sex	
Sex [Ref, woman]	1.16 (1.05-1.27)	1.26 (1.14-1.39)	1.09 (0.96-1.23)	0.99 (0.88-1.13)	
Age at diagnosis	1.03 (1.01-1.03)	1.03 (1.02-1.04)	0.97 (0.97-0.98)	0.97 (0.96-0.98)	
Dementia diagnosis [Ref, Alzheimer's disease]					
Mixed dementia	1.50 (1.29-1.72)	1.45 (1.26-1.68)	1.17 (0.95-1.45)	1.20 (0.97-1.48)	
Unspecified dementia	1.44 (1.27-1.63)	1.44 (1.27-1.63)	1.90 (1.62-2.24)	1.89 (1.62-2.23)	
Vascular dementia	1.64 (1.44-1.88)	1.67 (1.46-1.91)	1.97 (1.65-2.34)	1.94 (1.62-2.31)	
Dementia in other diseases	1.77 (1.44-2.18)	1.97 (1.60-2.43)	4.07 (3.26 -5.10)	3.75 (2.97-4.73)	
IMD Quintiles [Ref, 5 (least deprived)]					
1	1.45 (1.17-1.79)	1.51 (1.22-1.87)	1.46 (1.10-1.93)	1.40 (1.06-1.86)	
2	1.43 (1.17 -1.74)	1.48 (1.22-1.81)	1.72 (1.33-2.23)	1.67 (1.29-2.17)	
3	1.22 (0.98-1.49)	1.25 (1.01-1.54)	1.34 (1.02-1.77)	1.31 (1.00-1.73)	
4	1.16 (0.92-1.45)	1.18 (0.94-1.48)	0.96 (0.70-1.32)	095(0.70-1.30)	
Ethnicity groups [Ref, White]					
Mixed	0.45 (0.23-0.88)	0.45 (0.23-0.89)	0.75 (0.36-1.57)	0.71 (0.34-1.49)	
Asian	0.90 (0.72-1.12)	0.95 (0.76-1.18)	0.55 (0.39-0.77)	0.52 (0.37-0.73)	
Black	0.94 (0.82-1.07)	0.98 (0.86-1.13)	1.24 (0.96-1.45)	1.16 (0.99-1.36)	
Other	0.91 (0.66 -1.25)	0.93 (0.67-1.28)	0.45 (0.26-0.77)	0.43 (0.25-0.75)	

Care package recipient [Ref, no]	1.14 (1.03-1.25)	1.16 (1.05-1.28)	2.35 (2.08-2.66)	2.33 (2.06-2.64)
Living alone [Ref, no]	1.55 (1.36-1.76)	1.53 (1.35-1.74)	2.04 (1.76-2.37)	2.16 (1.86-2.52)
Number of medications	1.12 (1.06-1.19)	1.15 (1.09-1.22)	2.17 (2.05-2.31)	2.15 (2.03-2.28)
HoNOS cognitive problems score	1.11 (1.05-1.18)	1.12 (1.05-1.18)	1.06 (0.98-1.14)	1.06 (0.98-1.14)
HoNOS physical problems score	1.34 (1.30-1.41)	1.34 (1.29-1.40)	1.23 (1.17-1.29)	1.25 (1.18-1.32)

Abbreviations: RRR (95% CI): Relative Risk Ratio (95% Confidence Intervals), Bold findings are statistically significant (p<.005). Ref: Reference Class, IMD: Index of Multiple Deprivation * 1= Most deprived, 5 = Least deprived, HoNOS: Health of the Nation Outcome Scales

Appendices

		RRR (95	% CI)			
Characteristic	Moderate healthcare	use in the last year of life	High hospital use i	n the last year of life	Community healthcare	use in the last year of life
	Unadjusted	Adjusted for age & sex	Unadjusted	Adjusted for age & sex	Unadjusted	Adjusted for age & sea
Sex [Ref, woman]	1.21 (1.09-1.35)	1.22 (1.09-1.35)	2.59 (2.20-3.060	2.51 (2.11-2.69)	1.77 (1.56-2.02)	1.69 (1.48-1.92)
Age at diagnosis	0.99 (0.99-1.01)	1.00 (0.99-1.01)	0.98 (0.97-0.99)	0.98 (0.97-0.99)	0.98 (0.97-0.99)	0.98 (0.98-0.99)
Dementia diagnosis [Ref, Alzheimer's disease]						
Mixed dementia	1.26 (1.08-1.48)	1.25 (1.07-1.46)	1.36 (1.06-1.75)	1.31 (1.02-1.67)	1.36 (1.06-1.74)	1.18 (0.96-1.44)
Unspecified dementia	1.07 (0.94-1.22)	1.06 (0.94-1.21)	0.93 (0.75-1.16)	0.89 (0.71-1.11)	0.93 (0.75-1.16)	1.05 (0.89-1.240
Vascular dementia	1.43 (1.24-1.65)	1.41 (1.22-1.62)	1.49 (1.20-1.78)	1.33 (1.06-1.67)	1.50 (1.20-1.87)	1.04 (0.86-1.26)
Dementia in other diseases	1.29 (1.04-1.59)	1.26 (1.01-1.56)	1.42 (1.02-1.79)	1.12 (0.80-1.56)	1.42 (1.02-1.98)	1.40 (1.07-1.81)
IMD Quintiles [Ref, 5 (least deprived)]						
1	1.03 (0.83-1.28)	1.03 (0.83-1.28)	0.85 (0.59-1.23)	0.84 (0.58-1.20)	1.29 (0.96-1.74)	1.26 (0.93-1.70)
2	1.05 (0.82-1.28)	1.05 (0.86-1.29)	1.09 (0.78-1.51)	1.10 (0.79-1.54)	1.32 (1.00-1.75)	1.32 (1.00-1.75)
3	0.95 (0.76-1.15)	0.95 (0.77-1.18)	1.13 (0.80-1.60)	1.12-0.79-1.59)	1.46 (1.09-1.95)	1.44 (1.07-1.93)
4	0.91 (0.64-1.25)	0.92 (0.73-1.16)	1.11 (0.76-1.61)	1.14 (0.78-1.67)	1.11 (0.78-1.79)	1.13 (0.81-1.56)
Ethnicity groups [Ref, White]						
Mixed	1.04 (0.57-1.19)	1.01 (0.55-1.86)	1.08 (0.40-2.93)	0.91 (0.33-2.48)	0.73 (0.30-1.76)	0.64 (0.26-1.59)
Asian	1.06 (0.84-1.35)	1.05 (0.83-1.33)	1.76 (1.26-2.45)	1.58 (1.12-2.22)	0.85 (0.61-1.17)	0.78 (0.56-1.08)
Black	1.08 (0.94-1.24)	1.06 (0.92-1.21)	1.26 (0.99-1.57)	1.10 (0.87-1.37)	1.09 (0.92-1.31)	0.98 (0.82-1.17)
Other	0.66 (0.47-0.93)	0.66 (0.47-0.92)	1.19 (0.79-1.39)	1.09 (0.67-1.78)	0.47 (0.28 - 0.79)	0.44 (0.26-0.73)
Care package recipient [Ref, no]	0.99 (0.89-1.09)	0.99 (0.90-1.10)	0.92 (0.78-1.09)	0.94 (0.79-1.11)	2.40 (2.11-2.74)	2.41 (2.15-2.77)
Living alone [Ref, no]	0.91 (0.81-1.04)	0.93 (0.82-1.06)	0.78 0.63-0.98)	0.89 (0.71-1.11)	0.98 (0.82-0.98)	1.06 (0.90-1.26)
Number of medications	0.99 (0.94-1.04)	0.99 (0.94-1.05)	0.89 (0.82-0.97)	0.88 (0.81-0.97)	1.37 (1.29-1.45)	1.35 (1.28-1.44)

Abbreviations: RRR (95% CI): Relative Risk Ratio (95% Confidence Intervals), Bold findings are statistically significant (p<.005). Ref: Reference Class, IMD: Index of Multiple Deprivation * 1= Most deprived, 5 = Least deprived, HoNOS: Health of the Nation Outcome Scales

0.97 (0.91-1.03)

1.05 (1.01-1.09)

HoNOS cognitive problems score

HoNOS physical problems score

0.97 (0.91-1.03)

1.05 (1.00-1.09)

0.76 (0.68-0.82)

0.99 (0.93-1.07)

0.76 (0.69-0.83)

0.99 (0.93-1.07)

0.90 (0.84-0.98)

0.95 (0.89-1.00)

0.91 (0.84-0.99)

0.96 (0.90-1.01)

7. Transitions between classes over time (descriptive tables)

Table. Transition groups from 'low healthcare use after diagnosis' class to the last year of life classes

	Low healthcare use in the last	Moderate hospital use in the	High hospital use in the last	Community mental healthcare use
	year of life	last year of life	year of life	in the last year of life
N (4,258)	33% (1,421)	40% (1,710)	11% (463)	16% (663)
Gender				
woman	983 (69.2%)	1,118 (65.4%)	231 (49.9%)	360 (54.3%)
man	438 (30.8%)	592 (34.6%)	232 (50.1%)	303 (45.7%)
Age at diagnosis – death	81.4 (7.8)			
	- 87.1 (7.3)	81.5 (7.6) -	80.8 (6.9) -	80.6 (7.4) -
		86.6 (7.2)	85.1 (6.7)	84.9 (7.1)
Ethnicity groups				
White	1,044 (73.5%)	1,267 (74.1%)	336 (72.6%)	522 (78.7%)
Mixed	13 (0.9%)	14 (0.8%)	3 (0.6%)	5 (0.8%)
Asian	70 (4.9%)	92 (5.4%)	32 (6.9%)	28 (4.2%)
Black	206 (14.5%)	265 (15.5%)	73 (15.8%)	97 (14.6%)
Other	48 (3.4%)	28 (1.6%)	14 (3.0%)	8 (1.2%)
Not known	40 (2.8%)	44 (2.6%)	5 (1.1%)	3 (0.5%)
First dementia diagnosis				
Alzheimer's disease	603 (42.4%)	683 (39.9%)	176 (38.0%)	280 (42.2%)
Mixed dementia	178 (12.5%)	250 (14.6%)	79 (17.1%)	93 (14.0%)
Unspecified dementia	344 (24.2%)	401 (23.5%)	87 (18.8%)	156 (23.5%)
Vascular dementia	221 (15.6%)	305 (17.8%)	91 (19.7%)	94 (14.2%)
Dementia in other diseases	75 (5.3%)	71 (4.2%)	30 (6.5%)	40 (6.0%)
IMD quintiles				
1 (Most deprived)	264 (18.6%)	320 (18.7%)	68 (14.7%)	110 (16.6%)
2	491 (34.6%)	629 (36.8%)	169 (36.5%)	237 (35.7%)
3	309 (21.7%)	348 (20.4%)	112 (24.2%)	163 (24.6%)
4	195 (13.7%)	207 (12.1%)	63 (13.6%)	81 (12.2%)
5 (Least deprived)	117 (8.2%)	143 (8.4%)	39 (8.4%)	43 (6.5%)
Missing	45 (3.2%)	63 (3.7%)	12 (2.6%)	29 (4.4%)

MMSE at diagnosis mean (SD)		18.4 (6.3)	19.3 (6.2)	17.6 (6.8)
	18.2 (6.5)			
Hypertension	569 (40.0%)	708 (41.4%)	192 (41.5%)	326 (49.2%)
HoNOS cognitive problems				
0	13 (0.9%)	10 (0.6%)	8 (1.7%)	8 (1.2%)
1	157 (11.0%)	209 (12.2%)	75 (16.2%)	81 (12.2%)
2	594 (41.8%)	743 (43.5%)	207 (44.7%)	306 (46.2%)
3	447 (31.5%)	523 (30.6%)	124 (26.8%)	207 (31.2%)
4	119 (8.4%)	122 (7.1%)	16 (3.5%)	51 (7.7%)
Missing	91 (6.4%)	103 (6.0%)	33 (7.1%)	10 (0.6%)
Physical illness or disability problems	596 (44.8%)	735 (45.8%)	187 (43.5%)	257 (39.4%)
Problems with depressed mood	162 (12.2%)	160 (10.0%)	38 (8.8%)	72 (11.0%)
Other mental and behavioural problems	353 (26.9%)	326 (20.7%)	101 (23.8%)	176 (27.3%)
Problems with relationships	167 (12.6%)	204 (12.7%)	41 (9.6%)	102 (15.6%)
Problems with activities of daily living	757 (57.0%)	883 (55.0%)	205 (47.9%)	358 (55.0%)
Problems with living conditions	126 (9.6%)	149 (9.4%)	30 (7.0%)	50 (7.7%)
Living alone at the time of				
diagnosis recorded in notes				
Yes	197 (13.9%)	234 (13.7%)	62 (13.4%)	84 (12.7%)
Recorded as a care package recipient at the time of				
diagnosis				
Yes	522 (36.7%)	630 (36.8%)	174 (37.6%)	395 (59.6%)
Time in contact with SLaM	343.0 (22.0-1075.0)			
(days) median (range)		327.5 (14.0-1004.0)	691.0 (107.0-1204.0)	1273.0(936.0-1779.5)

*Numbers smaller than 10 are not reported.

	Low healthcare use in the last	Moderate hospital use in the	High hospital use in the last	Community mental healthcare
	year of life	last year of life	year of life	use in the last year of life
N (2,939)	31% (908)	51% (1,489)	8% (225)	11% (317)
Gender				
woman	598 (65.9%)	905 (60.8%)	71 (31.6%)	183 (57.7%)
man	310 (34.1%)	584 (39.2%)	154 (68.4%)	134 (42.3%)
Age at diagnosis – death	83.4 (7.4) - 88.3 (7.0)	82.7 (7.4) - 86.9 (7.2)	80.3 (7.7) - 84.3 (7.7)	82.0 (7.4) - 85.9 (7.1)
Ethnicity groups				
White	701 (77.2%)	1,138 (76.4%)	150 (66.7%)	242 (76.3%)
Mixed	*	*	*	*
Asian	42 (4.6%)	62 (4.2%)	20 (8.9%)	17 (5.4%)
Black	116 (12.8%)	218 (14.6%)	41 (18.2%)	48 (15.1%)
Other	20 (2.2%)	29 (1.9%)	*	*
Not known	26 (2.9%)	37 (2.5%)	*	*
First dementia diagnosis				
Alzheimer's disease	317 (34.9%)	434 (29.1%)	61 (27.1%)	100 (31.5%)
Mixed dementia	136 (15.0%)	234 (15.7%)	38 (16.9%)	62 (19.6%)
Unspecified dementia	243 (26.8%)	370 (24.8%)	50 (22.2%)	83 (26.2%)
Vascular dementia	157 (17.3%)	346 (23.2%)	55 (24.4%)	53 (16.7%)
Dementia in other diseases	55 (6.1%)	105 (7.1%)	21 (9.3%)	19 (6.0%)
IMD quintiles				
1 (Most deprived)	168 (18.5%)	303 (20.3%)	36 (16.0%)	71 (22.4%)
2	352 (38.8%)	574 (38.5%)	97 (43.1%)	116 (36.6%)
3	188 (20.7%)	288 (19.3%)	47 (20.9%)	71 (22.4%)
4	98 (10.8%)	171 (11.5%)	28 (12.4%)	34 (10.7%)
5 (Least deprived)	56 (6.2%)	97 (6.5%)	11 (4.9%)	15 (4.7%)
Missing	46 (5.1%)	56 (3.8%)	6 (2.7%)	10 (3.2%)
MMSE at diagnosis mean (SD)	18.5 (6.2)	18.0 (6.4)	19.9 (5.2)	18.0 (6.1)
Hypertension	371 (40.9%)	621 (41.7%)	107 (47.6%)	160 (50.5%)
HoNOS cognitive problems				
0	6 (0.7%)	12 (0.8%)	*	*

Table. Transition groups from 'Planned and unplanned hospital use after diagnosis' class to the last year of life classes

1	83 (9.1%)	153 (10.3%)	34 (15.1%)	41 (12.9%)
2	365 (40.2%)	603 (40.5%)	99 (44.0%)	128 (40.4%)
3	316 (34.8%)	518 (34.8%)	63 (28.0%)	118 (37.2%)
4	70 (7.7%)	125 (8.4%)	13 (5.8%)	*
Missing	68 (7.5%)	78 (5.2%)	28 (12.5%)	25 (8.2%)
Physical illness or disability problems	495 (58.9%)	893 (63.3%)	143 (68.1%)	168 (53.5%)
Problems with depressed mood	107 (12.7%)	167 (11.9%)	32 (15.2%)	47 (15.0%)
Other mental and behavioural problems	210 (25.5%)	456 (32.9%)	48 (23.2%)	75 (24.1%)
Problems with relationships	99 (11.8%)	207 (14.7%)	31 (14.9%)	61 (19.4%)
Problems with activities of daily living	555 (66.5%)	931 (66.2%)	121 (57.6%)	196 (62.6%)
Problems with living conditions	115 (14.0%)	207 (14.9%)	20 (9.5%)	40 (12.9%)
Living alone at the time of diagnosis recorded in notes				
Yes	187 (20.6%)	279 (18.7%)	40 (17.8%)	68 (21.5%)
Recorded as a care package recipient at the time of diagnosis				
Yes	375 (41.3%)	613 (41.2%)	89 (39.6%)	203 (64.0%)
Time in contact with SLaM	151.5 (0.0-673.0)	159.0 (5.0-601.0)	452.0 (34.0-1056.0)	
(days) median (range)				1141.0 (857.0-1559.5)

* Numbers smaller than 10 are not reported.

	Table. Transition groups from	'Mental healthcare use a	fter diggnosis' class	s to the last year of life classes
--	-------------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------	------------------------------------

	Low healthcare use in the last	Moderate hospital use in the	High hospital use in the last	Community mental healthcare use
	year of life	last year of life	year of life	in the last year of life
N (1,426)	30% (427)	34% (490)	5% (66)	31% (443)
Gender				
woman	289 (67.7%)	319 (65.1%)	36 (55%)	230 (51.9%)
man	138 (32.3%)	171 (34.9%)	30 (45%)	213 (48.1%)
Age at diagnosis – death	80.1 (8.5) -	79.8 (7.7) -	78.6 (7.2) -	79.3 (8.0) -
	85.7 (8.2)	84.8 (7.9)	82.9 (6.9)	83.2 (7.7)
Ethnicity groups				
White	289 (67.7%)	365 (74.5%)	47 (71%)	341 (77.0%)
Mixed	333 (78.0%)	*	*	-
Asian	*	19 (3.9%)	*	10 (2.3%)
Black	10 (2.3%)	92 (18.8%)	15 (23%)	88 (19.9%)
Other	78 (18.3%)	*	-	*
Not known	*	*	-	-
First dementia diagnosis				
Alzheimer's disease	133 (31.1%)	117 (23.9%)	16 (24%)	110 (24.8%)
Mixed dementia	49 (11.5%)	54 (11.0%)	*	47 (10.6%)
Unspecified dementia	130 (30.4%)	129 (26.3%)	24 (36%)	123 (27.8%)
Vascular dementia	78 (18.3%)	114 (23.3%)	18 (27%)	92 (20.8%)
Dementia in other diseases	37 (8.7%)	76 (15.5%)	6 (9%)	71 (16.0%)
IMD quintiles				
1 (Most deprived)	80 (18.7%)	84 (17.1%)	12 (18%)	84 (19.0%)
2	175 (41.0%)	226 (46.1%)	27 (41%)	186 (42.0%)
3	79 (18.5%)	98 (20.0%)	14 (21%)	102 (23.0%)
4	45 (10.5%)	35 (7.1%)	*	35 (7.9%)
5 (Least deprived)	27 (6.3%)	28 (5.7%)	*	22 (5.0%)
Missing	21 (4.9%)	19 (3.9%)	*	14 (3.2%)
MMSE at diagnosis mean (SD)	18.0 (6.5)	17.3 (6.9)	18.6 (6.2)	17.9 (7.0)
Hypertension		228 (46.5%)	37 (56%)	245 (55.3%)
	237 (55.5%)			
HoNOS cognitive problems				
0	*	12 (2.4%)	*	11 (2.5%)

1	42 (9.8%)	54 (11.0%)	*	64 (14.4%)
2	182 (42.6%)	192 (39.2%)	34 (52%)	189 (42.7%)
3	144 (33.7%)	184 (37.6%)	24 (36%)	130 (29.3%)
4	45 (10.5%)	12 (2.4%)	*	46 (10.4%)
Missing	*	48 (9.8%)	-	*
Physical illness or disability	229 (54.3%)	271 (55.8%)	39 (59%)	246 (55.9%)
Droblems with depressed mood	70 (16 6%)	97 (17 00/)	10 (15%)	01 (20 7%)
Problems with depressed mood	70 (16.6%)	87 (17.9%)	10 (15%)	91 (20.7%)
Other mental and behavioural problems	153 (36.5%)	156 (32.4%)	21 (32%)	155 (35.6%)
Problems with relationships	122 (28.9%)	135 (27.8%)	23 (35%)	124 (28.2%)
Problems with activities of daily living	297 (70.9%)	338 (69.5%)	43 (65%)	294 (67.1%)
Problems with living conditions	83 (20.0%)	85 (17.6%)	*	70 (16.1%)
Living alone at the time of diagnosis recorded in notes				
Yes	120 (28.1%)	112 (22.9%)	11 (17%)	103 (23.3%)
Recorded as a care package recipient at the time of diagnosis				
Yes	252 (59.0%)	286 (58.4%)	37 (56%)	302 (68.2%)
Time in contact with SLaM	568.0 (251.0-1134.0)	515.0 (250.0-1030.0)	772.5 (449.0-1254.0)	1120.0 (826.0-1601.0)
Number of medications with strong anticholinergic effects	1.0 (0.0-2.0)	· · ·	· · ·	
Median (range)		1.0 (0.0-2.0)	1.0 (0.0-2.0)	2.0 (1.0-3.0)
* Numericana and all and have 10 and	a wat was a stard			

* Numbers smaller than 10 are not reported.

Appendices

THE END